한국어 l 영어(English) l 중국어(汉语)로 간추린

# 이단 바로 알기

Comprehending Christian Heresies and Cults

올바른 신앙 건강한 삶을 위한

현 대 종 교

### 한국어 | 영어(English) | 중국어(汉语)로 간추린

## 이단 바로 알기

Comprehending Christian Heresies and Cults

도서출판 현대종교

### 한국어 | 영어(English) | 중국어(汉语)로 간추린 이단 바로 알기

Copyright © 도서출판 현대종교

편 집:탁지일 | 김정수

번 역: L변호사(영어) I S선교사(중국어)

표 지 : 김정희

교 정 : 조민기 장인희 발행일 : 2021일 5월 1일 발행처 : 도서출판 현대종교

발행인 : 탁지원

주 소 : 서울특별시 중랑구 용마산로 122길 12

02.439.4391~4

hd4391@hdjongkyo.co.kr

www.hdjongkyo.co.kr

ISBN: 978-89-85200-17-2

복음 전도와 선한 영향력 확산을 위해 세계 곳곳에서 헌신하는 신실한 신앙인들에게 이 책을 바칩니다.

이 책의 내용은 저작권의 보호를 받습니다. 내용 중 일부를 발췌하여 상업적인 용도로 사용할 수 없으며, 복사 배포 및 인터넷 게재를 원할 경우「현대종교」의 허락이 필요합니다. 이 책의 제작을 위한 작성자 및 번역자의 헌신과 수고가 있었음을 기억해 주시고 사용해주시기 부탁드립니다.

### 머리말

코로나19와 신천지 문제로 인해, 이단문제는 교회 안의 교리적인 문제를 넘어, 언제든지 심각한 사회문제를 야기할 수 있다는 교훈을 얻게 되었다.

이단이 문제라면, 교회가 답이다. 공권력은 이단문제의 사후 처리에 초점을 맞추고, 언론은 사후 공론화에 관심을 갖는다. 교회만이 이단문제를 예방하는데 효과적인 역할을 감당할 수 있다.

안타깝게도 비대면 코로나 환경으로 인해, 온라인 이단들이 시공을 초월 해 활동하고 있다. 한국 이단들이 한류를 이용해 적극적인 해외진출을 시 도하고 있다.

「현대종교」에는 세계 곳곳의 선교사 및 목회자들로부터 정보 요청 및 상담이 이어지고 있다. 이에 주요 기독교 이단들에 대한 정보가 신속하게 필요한 분들에게 전달될 수 있도록 eBook 형태로 제작했다.

무엇보다도 이 책을 위해 헌신한 손길들이 있다. 먼저 영어 번역을 해주신 L변호사님과 중국어 번역을 해주신 S선교사님의 수고에 깊이 감사드린다. 비록 이름을 밝힐 수는 없지만, 하나님께서 아시오니, 복주시고 은혜로 함께 하시기를 믿는다. 두 분의 헌신이 없었다면 이 책의 발간은 불가능했다.

「현대종교」를 통해, 한국교회와 사회를 위해 작은 사역을 감당하게 하신하나님의 은혜에 감사드린다.

2021년 부활절에 「현대종교」

### 목 차

### 1. 신천지예수교증거장막성전 8

Shincheonji Church of Jesus the Temple of the Tabernacle of the Testimony 新天地耶稣见证帐幕圣殿

### 2. 세계복음화전도협회(다락방) \_28

World Evangelization Association(Darakbang) 世界福音化传道协会(马可楼)

### 3. 구원파 \_46

The Salvation Sect 救赎派(救恩派)

### 4. 하나님의교회 세계복음선교협회 \_64

The World Mission Society Church of God 上帝的教会 世界福音宣教协会

### 5. 지방교회 \_86

The Local Church 地方教会

### 6. 사랑하는교회 \_106

Beloved Church 相爱的教会

### 7. 통일교(세계평화통일가정연합) \_124

The Unification Church (Family Federation for World Peace and Unification) 统一教(世界和平统一家庭联合)

### 8. 기독교복음선교회(JMS) \_142

Christian Gospel Mission (Providence: Religious Movement) JMS 基督教福音宣教会(IMS)

### 9. 제칠일안식일예수재림교회 164

Seventh-day Adventist Church 第七日安息日耶稣再临教会

### 10. 예수중심교회 184

Jesus Centered Church 耶稣中心教会

### 11. 만민중앙교회 \_202

Manmin Central Church 万民中央教会

### 12. 여호와의 증인 220

Jehovah's Witnesses 耶和华见证人

### 13. 예수그리스도후기성도교회(몰몬교) \_238

The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saint (Mormon Church) 耶稣基督后期圣徒教会 (摩门教)

### 14. 전능하신 하나님 교회 \_254

The Church of Almighty God 全能神教会

### 15. 성락교회 \_272

Sungrak Church 圣乐教会

### 16. 은혜로교회 290

Grace Road Church 恩典之路教会

부록: 교단별 이단 규정 현황 307

### 1 신천지예수교증거장막성전

Shincheonji Church of Jesus
the Temple of the Tabernacle of the Testimony
新天地耶稣见证帐幕圣殿

### 1. 신천지예수교증거장막성전

신천지예수교증거장막성전(대표 이만희, 신천지)으로 인한 피해사례가 급 증하고 있다. 갈수록 진화하는 신천지 포교전략은 다양한 방법으로 기성 교회 교인을 포교하고, 교회를 분열시키며 가정을 파괴하는 등 큰 피해를 안겨주고 있다.

과천 신천지 본부 앞에서는 신천지에 미혹된 후 가출한 아들, 딸을 찾는 어머니들의 1인 시위가 진행 중에 있고, 가출한 아내를 찾아 생업까지 포 기한 남편들의 한숨이 잦아지고 있다. 이처럼 사회적 물의를 일으키는 신 천지는 과연 어떤 단체인가?

### (1) 신천지 이만희는 누구인가?

이만희는 1931년 9월 15일 경북 청도군 풍각면 현리에서 태어났다. 17세 때 서울 성동구 금호동에 기거하며 건축업을 하던 중, 전도사에게 이끌려 경복궁 앞 천막교회에서 세례를 받았다. 고향에 내려가 풍각장로교회에 출석하며 본격적으로 신앙생활을 시작했다.

서울로 돌아온 그는 전도관 박태선의 신앙촌에 있다가 이탈하여 1967년 장막성전을 이끌던 유재열의 집회에 참석한 후 그를 따르게 된다. 이후 재산을 빼앗기고 사기를 당했다며 이탈한다. 1971년 9월, 유재열과 신도 김창도를 고소해 법정에 세우기도 했다.

1978년에는 장막성전에서 '솔로몬'(영명)으로 통하던 백만봉을 추종하며 '솔로몬 창조교회' 12사도 중 한 명으로 있었다. 이후 1984년 자신을 따르 는 세력을 규합해 경기도 안양에 신천지 중앙교회를 설립했다.

초기에는 이만희와 홍종효 두 사람을 각각 '두 증인', '모세와 아론'으로 지칭하며 이만희가 설교를, 홍종효가 예배의 사회와 기도를 맡아 교회를 이끌었다. 두 사람은 1987년 사소한 문제로 결별했다. 홍종효는 자신만이 '진짜 예수'라고 주장하며 서울 홍제동에 증거장막성전을 세워 활동하다가 2012년경 사망했다.

이만희는 과거 유재열의 장막성전을 답습했다. '피로 세운 새 언약'이라고하여 자신의 피를 뽑아 새 언약(새 언약서 뒷면에는 피로 그은 십자가가있다)을 맺고, 이를 통해 영적 새 이스라엘 나라의 선민이 된다며 추종자들에게' 사령장'을 나눠주었다. 이만희는 스스로를 '보혜사', '이긴 자'라 칭한다. 신천지 신도들은 이만희를 육체로 영생불사하는 이 시대의 구원자로 믿고 있다.

### (2) 신천지는 무엇을 주장하는가?

신천지가 말하는 성경은 비유와 비사로 기록된 상징의 말씀이다. 특히 요한 한계시록은 앞으로 일어날 일에 대해 비유와 비사로 기록됐다. 특히 요한 계시록은 앞으로 일어날 일에 대해 비유, 비사로 기록됐고, 성경은 암호로 기록된 말씀이라고 가르친다. 이들은 구원에 대해 "오늘날 성령으로 온지상 사명자 즉 약속한 목자로부터 듣고, 보고, 믿고, 지키는 자가 구원을 받는다"고 주장한다. 여기서 '성령으로 온 지상 사명자'는 이만희씨를 지칭한다.

또 예수님은 실제 구름을 타고 오시는 것이 아니며 빛이 없는 밤에 인자 인 한 육체의 사명자에게 영으로 임한다고 주장한다. 결국 이만희씨는 자 신이 보혜사 성령으로부터 직접 계시를 받은 '보혜사 육'이라는 것이다.

나아가 이씨는 그의 저서 『계시록 완전해설』에서 신천지 본부(과천)에서 새하늘 새예루살렘이 시작된다고 주장한다. "필자(이만희씨)는 해 돋는 동 방사람이라 해서 억지로 동방이라고 끌어다 붙이는 것이 아니라 성경에 말씀하신 그대로요, 본대로이다. 동방 해 돋는 극동이 우리나라라는 것은 틀림없는데 우리나라 중 그곳은 어디일까? 출애굽기 25장에서 본 바 하나님께서 자기가 거하실 장막을 지으시고 그 안에 일곱 등잔을 만들었다. 그러므로 우리나라 일곱 금촛대가 있는 곳이 하나님이 계신 장막이 된다."

재림 예수님은 실제 구름을 타고 오시는 것이 아니다. 재림은 빛이 없는 밤에 인자인 한 육체의 사명자(이만희 지칭)에게 성령이 임하시는 것을 말한다. '이만희가 보혜사 성령이며 신천지에만 구원이 있고 신천지 신도 14만 4000명이 모이면 새하늘 새 땅이 과천에서 시작되며 신천지인만 구 원을 받는다'는 것이다. 하지만 신도 14만 4000명이 채워지자, 구원의 조 건을 '인 맞은' 14만 4000명과 '흰무리'로 교리를 변개했다.

예장통합(1995년 제80회 총회)은 신천지의 교리에 대해 다음과 같이 그 문제점을 지적하고 있다.

- 1. 개요: 이만희는 장막성전(당시 교주 유재열)에서 이탈하여 안 양에 신천지교회(신천지예수교증거장막성전)라는 것을 세웠다. 이씨는 '도서출판 신천지'를 통해서 『영원한 복음 새노래 계시록 완전해설』, 『천국비밀 계시록의 진상』, 『하늘에서 온 책의 비밀 계시록의 진상 2 등의 책을 펴냈는데, 이 책들은 장막성전에서 일어난 일을 말세의 사건으로 보고 거기에 맞추어 성경을 억지 로 해석한 반 기독교적인 책들이다. 무료성경신학원(또는 기독교 신학원)이란 곳에서는 무료로 성경을 가르쳐 준다고 선전함으로 성도들을 미혹하고 있는데 여기에서 사용되는 교재들은 이만희 가 저술한 책들과 그의 사상을 토대로 만들어진 것들이다.
- 2. 계시론: 이씨는 마태복음 24장과 요한계시록만 새 언약이며 (『하늘에서 온 책의 비밀 계시록의 진상2』, 522), 신약과 구약은 무효라고 한다(『영원한 복음 새노래 계시록 완전해설』, 27).
- 3. 기독론: 이만희에 의하면 예수님의 성육신뿐만 아니라 예수님 의 신성까지 부인된다. 그의 책에 따르면 "예수님은 육신을 입고 오신 하나님이 아니라 성령이 인간 예수의 육체에 임하심으로 하나님의 아들이 되었다"고 한다(『하늘에서 온 책의 비밀 계시 록의 진상 2』, 40).
- 4. 구원론: (1) 이씨는 예수를 믿음으로서 구원을 얻는 것이 아 니라 사도 요한적인 사명자를 만나야 한다고 하며(『하늘에서 온 책의 비밀 계시록의 진상 2』, 52), 사도 요한적인 사명자(보혜사) 의 말씀을 듣고 지켜야만 영생에 이르며(『하늘에서 온 책의 비 밀 계시록의 진상 2』537), 요한을 말미암지 않고는 예수님에게 올 자가 없다.(『하늘에서 온 책의 비밀 계시록의 진상 2』, 179~180)고 한다. (2) 이씨는 "성령이신 예수께서 직접 보여주고

들려주신 것을 전하는 진리의 한 사자가 출현하여 영생의 말씀을 전파하고 있다"(『영원한 복음 새노래 계시록 완전해설』 46) 면서, 자신의 책을 "성령이 나를 통해서 교회들에게 하시는 말씀"이며 "일곱 인으로 봉한 하나님의 책 계시록의 비밀이 이제 개봉되어 만천하에 공개되는 계시" (『영원한 복음 새노래 계시록 완전해설』, 7)라고 함으로 자신을 아담, 노아, 아브라함, 모세, 예수와 동등한 대언자 또는 사도 요한적인 보혜사로 암시하고 있다.(『영원한 복음 새노래 계시록 완전해설』, 46).

5. 신론: (1) 이씨가 말하는 삼위일체는 정통교회의 삼위일체와 전혀 다른 것이다. 이씨는 구약의 아브라함과 이삭과 야곱을 삼위일체에 비유하여 "성령이신 성부(아브라함)는 성자 예수(이삭)를 낳았고 성령이신 예수(이삭)는 성자 보혜사(야곱)를 낳으셨으니 이것이 삼위이다" (『하늘에서 온 책의 비밀 계시록의 진상 2』, 37)라고 하는데, 이는 성령이 예수와 하나 되신 후에 다시그 성령과 하나 된 예수의 영이 지상의 사명자 육체에 임함으로 삼위일체가 이루어지는 것이 된다는 말이다(『천국비밀 계시록의 진상』, 306). (2) 이씨의 신관은 결국 범신론이다. 이씨는 계시록의 사건을 성령과 악령의 싸움으로 해석하면서, '성령'을 삼위일체 하나님의 한 위가 아닌 악령의 반대 개념으로 가르치고 있다. 더구나 목 베인 순교자들의 영혼도 성령이라고 하고(『영원한복음 새노래 계시록 완전해설』, 210~211) '보혜사'를 성령(하나님)이 아닌 '대언자로서의 인간'이라고 함으로 그의 신관은 범신론이라 할 수밖에 없다.

6. 종말론: 이씨는 요한계시록의 예언 성취(종말)의 장소를 장막성전이 시작되었던 한국의 과천 소재 청계산이라고 하면서 (『하늘에서 온 책의 비밀 계시록의 진상 2』, 49~50, 469, 『영원한복음 새노래 계시록 완전해설』, 227), '신천지예수교증거장막성전'에서 종말의 사건이 완성된다고 암시하고 있다(『하늘에서 온책의 비밀 계시록의 진상 2』, 300~301, 306).

7. 연구결론: 이만희는 장막성전(당시 교주 유재열) 계열로서, 그가 가르치고 있는 계시론, 신론, 기독론, 구원론, 종말론 등 대부

분의 교리는 도저히 기독교적이라고 볼 수 없는 이단이다. 따라서 이런 이씨의 교리나 주장을 가르치고 따르고 있는 신천지 교회 (신천지예수교증거장막성전)나 무료성경신학원(기독교신학원)에 우 리 총회 산하 교인들이 가는 것을 금해야 한다.

### (3) 2018년 신천지 교세 현황

신천지는 2016년 17만 2775명, 2017년 18만 6175명, 2018년 20만 2899 명 매년 약 8% 정도 성장해왔다고 주장한다. '2018 신천지 교세 현황' 자 료에 따르면, 총회 재정은 821억 1800만 원이며 12지파[편집자 주: 신천 지는 전국을 12개 지파로 나누어 체제를 유지하고 있다! 재정은 2119억 7642만 원이다. 부동산은 성전 71개, 선교센터 266개, 사무실 100개 기타 (복음방, 위장교회, 위장문화센터 등) 921개를 소유하고 있다. 이는 약 2373억 7900만 원의 가치다. 자료에는 국내뿐만 아니라 해외 신도 통계 도 기록되어 있었다. 신천지는 2016년 해외 각국에 79개소의 센터를 보유 하고 있었고, 2017년엔 127개소로 48개소가 늘어났다. 2018년엔 총 167 개로 전년 대비 40개가 늘어났다. 신도 수는 2000년도 645명이었으나 2018년 현재 2만 2478명으로 상승했다. 신천지 내부 자료만 보았을 땐 신천지가 꾸준히 성장한 것으로 보인다. 하지만 이만희의 신도 수 증가 요구에 대한 각 지파별 허위 확대보고 가능성도 제기되고 있다.

### Shincheonji Church of Jesus the Temple of the Tabernacle of the Testimony

The number of victims who suffer from "Shincheonji Church of Jesus, the Temple of the Tabernacle of the Testimony" (hereinafter referred to as "Shincheonji" or "Shincheonji Church") which is represented and established by Mr. Man Hee Lee, has been rapidly increasing in the last decade.

This cult organization has tempted general Christians into wrongful religious beliefs with many diverse methods and such temptation has destroyed churches and Christian families.

Even in this moment, many mothers whose sons and daughters never come back home after joining this cult, are protesting against this organization, in front of its head office located at Gwacheon, Korea. Many men give up their jobs to find their wives who fell in this Shincheonji. Then, what is the Shincheonji which causes this much troubles in the society?

### (1) Who is "Man Hee Lee"?

Mr. Man Hee Lee was born at Hyun-ri, Punggak-myeon, Cheongdo-gun, Gyeongsangbuk-do, Republic of Korea, on 15th September, 1931. He moved to Geumho-dong, Seongdong-gu, Seoul when he was 17 and worked as a temporary worker in many construction sites. At that time, a missionary recommended him to go to church and he attended at the church where he was baptized. A few years after his baptism, he came back to his hometown. He joined Punggak Presbyterian Church and started his church life in earnest.

He did not stay in this Presbyterian church long, but he moved to Seoul again and joined Shinangchon established by Tae Seon Park.<sup>1)</sup> Mr. Lee did not stay in this cult long. In 1967, he left Shinangchon and joined another cult called as "Temple of Tabernacle" established by Mr. Jae Yeol Yu.<sup>2)</sup> Nevertherless, Mr. Man Hee Lee and Mr. Jae Yeol Yu became alienated from each other. Mr.Lee left this organization by claiming that Mr. Jae Yeol Yu took his property. In September 1971, Mr. Man Hee Lee accused Mr. Jae Yeol Yu and Mr. Chang Do Kim, a follower of Mr. Yu, of fraud.

In 1978, Mr. Lee joined Solomon Creation (Changjo) Church established by Mr. Man Bong Baek who had been designated as Solomon by Mr. Yu, as one of twelve disciples in the Temple of Tabernacle. This Solomon Creation Church is also a cult organization. Afterwards, Mr. Lee gained supports from some of believers in this Solomon Creation Church and established Shincheonji Centeral Church, as known as Shincheonji Church in 1984.

In early days of this Shincheonji Church, Mr. Lee and Mr. Jong Hyo Hong, another founder of Shincheonji Church called themselves as "Two Witnesses" and "Moses and Aron". Lee was in charge of sermon and preach, Hong was in charge of service management and prayer. They split in 1987 for trivial and minor trouble. Mr. Hong

<sup>1)</sup> Shinangchon is a cult organization which had a huge influence in Korea, during 1950s and 60s.

<sup>2)</sup> Shincheonji's full name is quite similar to the name of the cult established by Mr. Yu. Mr. Man Hee Lee copied the name and concepts of the Mr. Yu's organization. For clearance of doubts, Mr. Man Hee Lee's organization shall be referred to as "Shincheonji" or "Shincheoji Church" and Mr. Yu's organization shall be referred to as "Temple of Tabernacle", respectively in this Journal.

insisted that he is only true "Jesus Christ" and established an organization in Hong jae-dong, Seoul, but he died in about 2012 (the exact date of Mr. Hong's death is not known).

Lee has imitated Yu's Temple of Tabernacle. Mr. Lee insists "New Promise made by Blood" which means that a new promise shall be delivered only by his blood.<sup>3)</sup> Also, he asserts that a new and spiritual Israel will be established with his blood and only his followers can become chosen people of God. To this end, Mr. Lee gives written appointment to his followers. He calls himself "Paraclete" "Helper Spirit" and "Winner". His followers believe him as an immortal savior of this age."

### (2) What does Shincheonji insist?

In Shincheonji, the bible is a book of secrets. Also, Shincheonji insists that "the Book of Revelations of St. John" describes the future events and secrets of such future events and it is a book of code. Shincheonji claims that the salvation could only be brought by a person sent by the Holy Spirit with a great mission. In other words, the followers may achieve the salvation via a person sent by Holy Spirit, i.e. a good shepherd, by listening the shepherd's preach, seeing the shepherd, believing this shepherd as a Redeemer, and protecting this shepherd. And in Shincheonji, the person sent by the Holy Spirit and a good shepherd refer to Mr. Man Hee Lee.

<sup>3)</sup> On the back of Shincheonji's Book of Convenant - New Promise made by Blood (published by Shincheonji Church), there is a cross drawn in blood as "paraclete" and "winner". Followers of Mr. Lee believe that he is immortal and the Savior of this generation.

Additionally, Shincheonji asserts that Jesus Christ does not come on the cloud (as mentioned in Revelations 1:6), but he comes as a spirit at a night without a single light and the spirit resides in a human being. At the end of these assertions of Shincheonji and Mr. Man Hee Lee, Shincheonji claims that Mr. Man Hee Lee is a Paraclete in flesh and blood who directly receives divine messages from God and Mr. Man Hee Lee is a person in whom the Holy Spirit resides.

Furthermore, Mr. Man Hee Lee claims that the new Jerusalem will be started from the head office of Shincheonji located at the Gwacheon and this insistence is prescribed in the [Complete Explanation: The Book of Revelations of St. John] written by Mr. Man Hee Lee. The followings are quotes from his book " I (Man Hee Lee) do not make unreasonable claims. Korea is the sun-rising place having the seal of the living God (Revelation 7:2), as prescribed in the bible. This is because the end of the East (Asian continent) where the sun rises shall be Korean peninsular. Then where is the exact location of the sun-rising place having God's seal? According to Chapter 25 of Exodus, God built the tabernacle where he will stay and seven lamps in it. Therefore, the place where seven lamps exist is the tabernacle where God stays."

As mentioned above, Shincheonji asserts that, at the time of the second advent of Chirst, Jesus does not come on the cloud. Shincheonji insists that Jesus Christ comes as the Holy Spirit in very dark night without a single light and such holy spirit stays with a human being in flesh and blood. It is obvious that Shincheonji conclusively claims that Mr. Man Hee Lee is the Paraclete and a person in whom the Holy Spirit resides. Also they claim that the salvation will only exist under this doctrine. At the beginning of the

establishment, Shincheonji asserted that new sky and land will be started at Gwacheon when the number of followers becomes 144,000 and only these followers will be saved.

However, Shincheonji changed its doctrine when the number of followers exceeded 144,000. Shincheonji now insists that 144,000 believers who have been sealed by God and others in white clothes shall be redeemed. The Presbyterian Church of Korea (80th General Meeting in 1995) pointed out problems of the Shincheonji's doctrines, as follows:

- 1. Outline: Mr. Man Hee Lee left the Temple of the Tabernacle(of which religious secret leader was Jae Yeol Yu) and firstly established Shincheonji Church at Anyang. Mr. Lee published books named as [Complete Explanation of Revelation, Eternal Gospel and New Song], Revelation, the Secret of Heaven], [Truth of Revelation 2, Secret of Heaven's Bookl, and etc., via a company named "Shincheonji Publishing Company". These books are anti-Christ books, since they describe the events occurred during the time of the Temple of Tabernacles as events of the end of the world and these books misinterpret the bible in accordance with these events. Shincheonji operates а free Bible Institute Institute of Theology). This institue tempts normal Christians into wrongful religious beliefs by providing free lectures and this institute uses the books written by Mr. Man Hee Lee as textbooks.
- 2. Doctrine of Revelation: Mr. Lee claims that Chapter 24 of the Gospel of Matthew and the Revelations are only

new promises of God (refers to 522 of [Truth of Revelation 2, Secret of Heaven's Book]) and the New Testament and Old Testament are invalid (refers to 27 of [Complete Explanation of Revelation, Eternal Gospel and New Song]).

- 3. Doctrine of Jesus Christ: Under Shincheonji's doctrines, not only the Incarnation, but also the sanctity of Jesus Christ is denied. According to one of Mr. Lee's books, it says that "Jesus Christ is not God in blood and flesh, but a person in whom the Holy Spirit resides." (refers to 40 of [Truth of Revelation 2, Secret of Heaven's Book])
- 4. Soteriology: (1) Mr. Lee insists that the salvation shall not be achieved by faith and belief, but it shall be achieved by meeting a Johannine missioner (refers to 52 of [Truth of Revelation 2, Secret of Heaven's Book]). He also insists that the eternity may be achieved by listening and keeping the texts given by such Johannine missioner (Paraclete) (refers to 537 of [Truth of Revelation 2, Secret of Heaven's Book]) and beilivers may access to Jesus Christ only through such Johannine missioner (refers to 179~180 of [Truth of Revelation 2, Secret of Heaven's Book]). (2) Mr. Lee also asserts that "a truthful messenger who conveys the messages shown and informed by Jesus Christ (i.e the Holy Spirit) comes and he is now spreading the gospel of the eternity." (refer to 46 of [Complete Explanation of Revelation, Eternal Gospel and New Songl). Mr. Lee implies himself as a representative of God and/or Johannine Paraclete, identical to Adam, Noah, Abraham, Moses, and even Jesus Christ, based on his insistence prescribed in his books. He asserts that his books are (a)

God's words for churches written by himself in whom the Holy Spirit resides and (b) publicly revealed Revelations which contains the secrets of Revelations sealed by seven seals (refers to 7 and 46 of [Complete Explanation of Revelation, Eternal Gospel and New Song]).

5. The doctrine of God: (1) The trinity explained by Mr. Man Hee Lee is totally different from the Holy Trinity of traditional Christian church. Mr. Lee compares the Holy Trinity to people in the Old Testament; Abraham, Isaac, and Jacob. In his book, he explains the Trinity as follow: "the father (Abraham), also known as holy spirit gave a birth of son (Isaac) and the son who also has holy spirit, gave birth of his son (Jacob), the paraclete, and this shall be called as the Trinity (refers to 37 of [Truth of Revelation2, Secret of Heaven's Book]), and this indicates that the Trinity means the Holy Spirit which becomes Jesus Christ and the Johannine missioner in whom the Holy Spirit resides (refers to 306 of [Truth of Revelations, the Secret of Heaven])." (2) Mr. Man Hee Lee's view toward God shall be described as pantheism. He teaches his followers that the events in the Revelations are a war between the Holy Spirit and evil spirits and the Holy Spirit is an opposite to the evil spirit, not the one of three pillars of the Holy Trinity. Furthermore, he explains that souls of the martyrs decapitated are holy spirits (refers to 210~211 of [Complete Explanation of Revelation, Eternal Gospel and New Song]), and he asserts that the Paraclete is not the Holy Spirit (God), but a human being as a representative of God. Based on these assertions of Mr. Lee, his doctrine of God shall be described as pantheism.

- 6. Eschatology: Mr. Lee insists that Cheonggye Mountain located at Gwacheon where the Temple of Tabernacle was firstly established is the place where the End described in Revelations is completed (refers to 49~50 of [Truth of Revelation 2, Secret of Heaven's Book] and 227 of [Complete Explanation of Revelation, Eternal Gospel and New Song]). According to his insistences, all events which will be occurred at the time of end of the world will be completed in the Shincheonji Church (refers to 300~301, 306 of [Truth of Revelation 2, Secret of Heaven's Book]).
- 7. Conclusion of Study: Man Hee Lee actually has copied the doctrines of the Temple of Tabernacle (of which leader was Jae Yeol Yu) and Mr. Lee's doctrines regarding Revelation, Jesus Christ, God, and his Soteriology and Eschatology shall not be seen as reasonable Christian doctrines, but a cult. Therefore, Christians shall not attend at the Shincheonji Church and other Shincheonji institutes which teach Mr. Lee's doctrines and insistences. These shall be prohibited.

#### (3) Current Status of the Shincheonji Church 2018

Shincheonji Church insists that the number of its followers has been increasing around eight (8) % in every year since 2016, as follows: ▲2016, 172,775 followers ▲2017, 186,175 followers ▲2018, 202,899 followers. According to "Current Status of Shincheonji Church 2018", the financial current status for general meeting of Shincheonji is KRW 82,118,000,000 and the current financial status for twelve branches<sup>4)</sup> of Shincheonji is KRW 211,976,420,000. The real estates owned by Shincheonji Church are as follows: 71

temples, 266 missionary centers, 100 offices, and 921 real estates other than the main church and center(gospel rooms, fake churches, fake culture centers, and etc.). The estimated overall value of real estates is about KRW 237,379,000,000. In this current status document, not only the Korean followers, but also foreign followers are recorded. In 2016. Shincheonii operated 79 missionary centers worldwide, and in 2017, the number of missionary centers increased by 48 and became 127 missionary centers. In 2018, the total number of missionary centers becomes 167. The number of foreign followers of Shincheonji was 645 in 2000, but in 2018 it became According the internal documents to published Shincheonji, Shincheonji has been steadily grown. However, such growth may be manipulated by each branch which were forced to attract more people by Mr.Lee.

<sup>4)</sup> Shincheonji is being operated in twelve divisions called as twelve branches.

### 1. 新天地耶稣见证帐幕圣殿

受害于新天地见证帐幕圣殿(代表:李万熙,新天地)的案例与日俱增。不断 讲化的新天地传教战略透过各种方法影响现今教会。

在果川新天地本部门前常常可看到一些父母为寻找离家出走的儿女进行个人示威,也有很多丈夫为寻找出家的妻子在门前叹息。给社会带来巨大混乱的新天地到底是一个怎样的团体?

### (1) 新天地的李万熙是谁?

李万熙 1931年 9月 15日出生于庆尚北道清道郡丰角面岘里。17岁在首尔城东区琴湖洞做建筑工作的时候由一位传道士带领到景福宫前的帐篷教会受洗。回到家乡后在丰角长老教会正式开始自己的信仰生活。

之后他回到首尔在朴太善的传道馆的信仰村逗留一段时间后脱离,1967年他在参加帐幕圣殿柳在烈的集会后开始追随他,之后被欺骗失去所有财产并离开, 离开后李万熙将柳在烈和其信徒金昌道告上法庭。

1978年他追随在帐幕圣殿被称为"所罗门"(灵名)的百万峰,成为"所罗门创造教会" 12使徒之一。1984年招聚跟随自己的势力在京畿道安养建立新天地中央教会。

初期称李万熙与洪宗孝二人被称为"两个证人"(亚伦和摩西),李万熙负责讲道洪宗孝负责礼拜和 代表祈祷,二人一直领导教会。直到1987年二人因一些琐碎的事情分手,之后洪宗孝主张只有自己是"真耶稣"在首尔的弘济洞建立见证帐幕教会并于 2012年离世。

李万熙模仿过去柳在烈的帐幕圣殿,主张"用血所立的新约" 抽自己的血(新契约书背面有用血所画的十字架)立新约,宣传透过这些才能成为新以色列的选民,并向追随者发放"任命状。"李万熙称自己为"保惠师"和"得胜者,"新天地信徒相信李万熙是肉体永生不灭,是时代的救赎者。

#### (2) 新天地在主张什么?

新天地认为圣经是以比喻和隐秘的方式所记录的象征性话语,约翰启示录就是以比喻和隐秘的方式记录了未来要发生的事情。并教导圣经是以密码的方式所记录的话语。关于救赎,他们主张 "今日透过成为圣灵来到的地上使命者就是所应许的牧者听,看,信和遵守的人可以得救。"在此"成为圣灵来的地上使命者"就指李万熙。

耶稣并不是真的驾云再临,是在一个没有光的夜晚成为灵降临在一位人子就是一位肉身使命者的身上,李万熙主张自己就是直接从圣灵领受启示的"保惠师肉体。"

在他的著书"启示录完整解说"中进一步主张新天和新耶路撒冷从新天地本部(果川)开始。李万熙在书中说:"太阳升起之地的东方人,这并不是牵强的主张,是圣经所记录,所看到的。东方太阳升起的远东分明就是韩国,那么在韩国的哪里呢?出埃及记 25章记录,神建造自己所居住的帐幕之后在里面放置了七灯台,因此在韩国黄金七灯台所在的地方就是神所在的帐幕。"

再临的耶稣并不是真的驾云再临,再临是指在一个没有光的夜晚圣灵降临在肉体使命者身上(李万熙) 临在一位人子就是一位肉身使命者的身上。李万熙就是保惠师,只有新天地才有救赎,当 14万 4000名信徒聚集的时候就开始新天新地,只有属于新天地的人才能得救。但是当信徒满 14万 4000信徒的数目填满之后他们把救赎的范围修改为 14万 4000加上"受印的穿白衣的一群人"。

耶稣教长老会统合(1995年 第80次总会)教派指出新天地以下问题:

- 1. 概要: 李万熙脱离帐幕圣殿(当时的教主柳在烈)在安养建立新天地(新天地耶稣见证帐幕圣殿)教会。李万熙透过"图书出版新天地"出版了《永恒的福音新歌启示录完整解说》,《天国的奥秘启示录的真相 2》等书籍。这些书籍将圣经的话语曲解成为出现在帐幕圣殿里的事情,是绝对的反基督教书籍。免费圣经神学院(或称基督教神学院),他们透过免费教授圣经为诱饵迷惑信徒,在此所使用的教材都是李万熙的书籍和以他的思想为基础写成的。
- 2. 启示论: 李万熙主张只有马太福音24章与约翰启示录是新契约 《从天而来之书的奥秘启示录真相 2》522页,新约和旧约都无效《永 恒的福音新歌启示录完整解说》27页。

- 3. 基督论: 李万熙不单否认耶稣道成肉身,还否认耶稣的神性。他在自己的书籍里说: "耶稣并不是披戴肉身的神,是圣灵降临在耶稣这个人身上使其成为神的儿子。" (《从天而来之书的奥秘启示录真相 2》40页)。
- 4. 救赎论: (1) 李万熙主张:即使不通过相信耶稣也能得到救赎,只要遇见像使徒约翰那样的使命者(《从天而来之书的奥秘启示录真相 2》52页),聆听和遵守像使徒约翰那样的使命者(保惠师)才能获得永生(《从天而来之书的奥秘启示录真相 2》537页)。若不通过约翰没有人能够来到耶稣面前(《从天而来之书的奥秘启示录真相 2》179-180页)。(2) 李万熙主张"会出现一位使者,传达从圣灵的耶稣直接观看和领受的永生话语。"(《永恒的福音新歌启示录完整解说》46页)。并将自己的话说成是"圣灵通过自己向教会传达的话语"也是"将七印所封印的内容公开展现给全世界的启示"(《永恒的福音新歌启示录完整解说》7页)。由此暗示自己是与亚当、挪亚、亚伯拉罕、摩西和耶稣同等的代言者,是像使徒约翰一样的保惠师(《永恒的福音新歌启示录完整解说》46页)。
- 5. 神论: (1) 李万熙所主张的三位一体与正统教会完全不同,他通过旧约亚伯拉罕,以撒,雅各来比喻三位一体"圣灵圣父(亚伯拉罕) 生圣子耶稣(以撒),圣灵圣子(以撒) 生保惠师(雅各),这就是三位一体"(《从天而来之书的奥秘启示录真相 2》37页)。这意味着圣灵与耶稣成为一体之后与圣灵成为一体的耶稣的灵降临到地上使命者的肉体,由此构成三位一体(《天国的奥秘启示录的真相》306页)。(2) 李万熙的神观是泛神论,他把启示录的事件解释为圣灵与恶灵的争战,并教导圣灵并不是三位一体的一位,而是恶灵的相反概念。他教导被砍头颅的殉道者的灵魂也是圣灵(《永恒的福音新歌启示录完整解说》210-211页)。他认为'保惠师'不是圣灵(神)只是'代言的人'因此他的神观就是泛神论。
- 6. 末世论: 李万熙主张约翰启示录预言成就(末世)的场所就是帐幕圣殿开始的韩国果川地区的清溪山(《从天而来之书的奥秘启示录真相 2》49-50页,469页.《永恒的福音新歌启示录完整解说》46页),并暗示末世事件在新天地耶稣教见证帐幕圣殿得到完成(《从天而来之书的奥秘启示录真相 2》300~301页,306页)。

7. 研究结论: 李万熙属于帐幕圣殿(当时教主柳在烈)一派,他所教导的启示录,神论,基督论,救赎论,末世论等大部分教义不属于基督教,是的的确确的异端。所以我们(要)禁止我们总会所属教会信徒进入主张和教导他教义的新天地教会(新天地耶稣教见证帐幕圣殿)及免费圣经神学院(基督教神学院)。

### (3) 2018年新天地教势现状

新天地的信徒数量2016年拥有 17万 2775名 , 2017年 18万 6175名 , 2018年 20万 2899名 , 每年成长率为 8%。根据 2018年新天地教势现状资料发现,总会财政金额为 821亿 1800万韩元,12支派[编者注:新天地把全国分为 12支派维持自身体系]的财政金额为2119亿 7642万韩元。房地产方面圣殿 71个,宣教中心 266个 , 办公室 100个 , 其它(福音房 , 伪装教会 , 伪装文化中心等) 921个 ,总价值为 2373亿 7900万。资料还统计了海外信徒 , 新天地 2016年在海外各国建立 79个活动中心 , 2017年 127个中心 , 增加 48个 , 2018年共有 167个 ,与前一年相比增加 40个。信徒数在 2000年 645名 ,但 2018年现在增长为 2万 2478名。透过新天地内部资料可发现新天地在持续成长 , 但李万熙对信徒增加强烈要求导致各支派虚报人数也值得注意。

### 2 세계복음화전도협회(다락방)

World Evangelization Association(Darakbang) 世界福音化传道协会(马可楼)

### 2. 세계복음화전도협회(다락방)

신약성서에 등장하는 '다락방'은 보혜사 성령이 임재한 곳이며, 교회와 예 수 운동이 본격화된 출발점으로 알려져 있다. 하지만 '다락방(세계복음화 전도협회)'의 이미지는 성서의 그것과 사뭇 다르다. 류광수씨의 다락방전 도운동은 여러 교단들(고려, 고신, 통합, 합동, 기성, 기침, 기감 등)로부터 이단으로 분류되어 있다. 그 이유는 무엇일까?

### (1) 류광수는 누구인가?

세계복음화전도협회(대표 류광수, 다락방) 설립자 류광수씨는 1951년 10 월, 경남 밀양시 상남면에서 태어났다. 류씨는 부산 수정동의 예장합동 일 신교회에 출석했다. 이후 1978년부터 1985년까지 고신대학교와 총신대학 교에서 신학 공부를 했다. 졸업 후 예장합동 부산노회에서 목사 안수를 받고 부산동성교회 부목사로 시무하던 중 1987년 부산동삼제일교회 청빙 을 받아 부임하게 됐다. 류씨는 이때부터 본격적으로 다락방전도운동을 전개하기 시작했다.

교세의 성장을 이어가던 류씨는 1991년 11월 26일 부산노회 제133차 1 회 임시노회에서 다락방 교리 및 도덕적인 문제로 목사 면직을 판결받았 다. 그 후 류씨는 1993년 10월, 교단을 옮겨 예장고신 남부산노회에 가입 하지만, 곧 가입 무효가 되고, 이에 1994년 10월, 예장합동 총회 산하 부 산노회에 목사면직에 대한 재심 청구를 올렸다. 예장합동 측은 1995년 제 80회 총회에서 "다락방 확산 방지 및 이단성 규명 위원회"를 구성, 다락 방 운동에 대한 구체적인 연구 조사에 착수하고, 제81회 총회에서 다락방 을 이단으로 결의했다.

이후 장로교, 감리교, 성결교, 침례교를 비롯해 대부분의 기성 교단들이 다락방전도운동을 "이단" 혹은 "사이비"로 규정하고 교단 소속 목회자들이 여기에 참여하는 것을 엄격하게 금지했다. 이단으로 결의된 류씨는 1997 년 "대한예수교장로회 전도총회"를 결성했고, 지금까지 조직적으로 다락방 전도운동을 전개하고 있다. 2011년 이후 예장개혁 교단에 소속해 활동하 고 있으며, 다락방 지교회 수는 500여 곳으로 알려져 있다.

### (2) 다락방은 무엇을 주장하는가?

### 1) 다락방 운동

류광수씨는 다락방전도운동에 대해서 "우리가 처해 있는 곳에 하나님의 계획과 목적이 있는 줄을 믿고, 전도 지역에 침투해 들어가 전도 활동을 펴기 위한 성경공부 활동"이라고 정의하고 있다.

이러한 "다락방전도운동"이 문제가 되는 이유는 류씨의 잘못된 사상을 전파한다는데 근본적인 문제가 있다.

류씨의 다락방전도운동에 대한 예장합동 연구보고서(제81회 총회, 1995년)에 따르면 "기존 신자들을 요원화하고 다락방화한다는 점에서 교회론에 심각한 문제를 제기하고 있다고 판단된다"며 "다락방 전도 훈련은 구원론에 있어 신자를 오도할 우려가 있을 뿐만 아니라 교회 내에서 다락방화 된 신자와 그렇지 못한 신자 사이에 위화감을 조장하고 분열을 일으킬위험성이 있다"고 밝히고 있다.

### 2) 마귀 사상

류씨의 핵심 사상은 구속사를 마귀와의 대결로 보는 잘못된 마귀론에 있다.

예장고려 연구보고서(제45회 총회, 1995년)에 따르면 류씨의 신학을 "비개 혁주의 신학사상이요, 비복음주의적이며 균형 잃은 신학"이라며 "체험과 증거를 강조하는 감정신학이며, 사탄, 마귀, 귀신을 중심으로 인간의 죄와 구원을 풀어 가는 일종의 사탄신학 내지 축사신학이다"라고 밝히고 있다.

총신대학교 박용규 교수도 자신의 논문 "류광수다락방전도운동 비판"(「신학지남」, 2005년 봄호)에서 "류광수는 김기동의 귀신론의 영향을 받아 구속사를 마귀와의 대결로 보고 있다"며 "귀신론 중심의 성경 해석과 구속사 이해는 김기동 베뢰아의 가르침과 일치하고 있다"고 주장했다.

### 3) 다락방식 성경공부에 역점을 둔 전도운동

류씨는 다락방전도운동을 한다고 하지만 실상은 전도운동을 목적으로 다락방식 성경공부에 역점을 두고 있으며, 정통교회에서 수용할 수 없는 다락방 사상들을 주입함으로 성도들을 혼란케 하고 있다.

예장통합 연구보고서(제81회 총회, 1995년)는 "류광수씨의 다락방전도운동은 비록 전도운동이라 주장하지만, 그 가르침 가운데 마귀론에서 오류를 범하고 있는 것으로 밝혀졌고 교회를 어지럽히고 성도를 혼란하게 한다"며 "이 운동(다락방전도운동)을 그대로 답습하는 일이 없어야 될 것이다"라고 천명하고 있다.

### (3) 다락방 활동 현황

### 1) 렘넌트 운동

다락방전도운동이 이단으로 결의되자 류씨는 다락방전도운동의 확산을 위해 '렘넌트 운동'을 전개하고 있다. 류씨는 렘넌트에 대해서 "시대와 국가의 어두운 앞날을 책임지고 나아갈 남은 자, 흩어진 자"라 정의하며 이운동의 당위성을 강조하고 있다.

#### 2) RUTC

RUTC는 렘넌트 공동체 훈련장을 의미한다. 다락방은 RUTC란 이름으로 다락방전도운동을 펼치고 있다. 경기도 이천시 호법면 매곡리 산53-5일대에 약 9만 평의 부지를 매입해 RUTC라는 이름으로 착공 중에 있다. 그곳에는 집회시설, 숙박시설, 학교, 스포츠 시설 등을 세워, "전세계 렘넌트들의 교류의 장"으로 활용할 계획이다. 이 외에도 RUTC 방송국을 개국해다락방 측의 설교와 찬양 다큐멘터리 등을 송출하고 있다.

#### 3) 세계선교대회

다락방 측은 세계선교대회를 개최하여 다락방 내 결속을 다지고 있다. 선교총국 홈페이지는 "세계선교대회는 류광수씨의 다락방전도운동의 역사와 흐름을 배우는 대회"라고 대회 성격을 밝히고 있다.

### 4) 교육 및 복지 활동

"렘넌트 지도자 학교" 등 대안학교를 운영하여 다락방의 사상적인 교리를 전하고 있고, '사회복지법인 렘넌트'를 설립해 어린이, 청소년, 노인복지분 야를 중심으로 활동하고 있다. 대학현장에서 학생들을 포교하여 전문화된 요원을 양성하기 위한 DCM(Department of College Ministry) 전문포교 단체를 만들어 현재 전국 대부분의 대학에 조직적으로 뿌리를 내리고 있 으며, 필리핀 '아름다운 미션센터'를 설립해 필리핀 현지 유학생과 유학을 준비하는 학생들을 포교하고 있다.

### 5) OMC 설립

다락방 활동을 지원하고, 목적사업을 지속할 수 있도록 돕는 OMC (ONENESS MISSION CLUB)를 설립해 풍부한 재원 확보 사업을 진행하고 있다.

### (4) 예장개혁 교단 소속 다락방

다락방은 예장개혁이라는 교단에 소속해 있어 성도들의 혼란이 가중되고 있다. 예장개혁 교단 목회자와 장로들의 강력한 반대에도 불구하고, 2011 년 6월 21일 일산 킨텍스에서 다락방 영입예배가 열렸다.

예장개혁 교단에서 다락방을 받아들인 것이다. 이로 인해 기존의 예장개 혁 교단이 둘로 갈라졌다. 11개 교단이 성명서를 발표하고, 전국 신학대학 교수들이 기자회견을 여는 등 다락방 영입 문제를 강하게 규탄했다.

한기총은 둘로 갈라진 예장개혁 교단 중에 다락방을 영입한 예장개혁 교 단을 한기총 회원교단으로 유지했고, 더 나아가 2012년에는 다락방을 이 단에서 해제하는 초유의 사태가 벌어졌다.

이것은 한국교회연합이라는 새로운 교단연합기구의 탄생에 일조했고, 다락방을 이단으로 결의한 대형 교단들은 한기총을 탈퇴하게 되었다.

현재 예장개혁 교단 내에는 다락방 비율이 상당하다. 다락방 교회수가 77%를 차지하고 있으며, 총회 임원 10명 중에 7명이 다락방 출신이다.

게다가 예장개혁 교단에서 목회자가 되기 위해서는 다락방 신학교를 졸업 해야 한다. 예장개혁 교단은 렘넌트신학연구원을 총회 인준 최종신학교로 결정하고 총회에서 재정 보조를 허락한 상황이다. 다락방 목회자를 기르 던 신학원이 예장개혁 교단 목회자를 양성하는 곳으로 탈바꿈하게 되었 다.

류광수씨의 다락방전도운동은 조직적인 방법으로 직장, 학교, 교회 등 곳 곳에서 성경공부 등을 매개로 활동하고 있다. 또한 복지, 교육, 문화, 산업 등 여러 현장을 다락방전도운동의 시장으로 삼고 그 영향력을 확대해 나 아가고 있다.

과거 한국 교계는 다락방전도운동의 신학적 연구를 통해 이단으로 분류하 였으나, 현재는 기성 교단 안으로 들어와 이단시비에서 벗어나기 위해 시 도하고 있다. 하지만 그 변화의 진실성에 대한 문제제기는 계속되고 있으 며, 다락방을 이단으로 규정한 교단들의 입장에도 변화가 없는 상태이다.

### 2. World Evangelization Association(Darakbang)<sup>5)</sup>

The 'Loft' appeared in the New Testament is the place at where the Paraclete presented and the church and movement for Jesus Christ started. However. the Loft, a.k.a Darakbang (World Evangelization Association) is quite different from the Loft described in the bible. Darakbang Evangelism Movement of Mr. Kwang Su Ryu has been classified as а heresy organization bv denominations (the Presbyterian Church of Korea(Korveo), the Koshin Presbyterian Church in Korea(Koshin), the Presbyterian Church of Korea(Tonghap), the General Assembly of Presbyterian Church of Korea(Hapdong), Korea Evangelical Holiness Church, the Korea Baptist Convention, the Korean Methodist Church etc.). Why is it classified as a cult and heresy?

### (1) Who is Mr. Kwang Su Ryu?

Mr. Kwang Su Ryu, the founder of World Evangelization Association (represented by Kwang Su Ryu, Darakbang) was born in Sangnam-myeon, Miryang-si, Gyeongsangnam-do, Republic of Korea in October, 1951. He attended at the Ilshin Church, located at Sujeongdong, Busan, of which denomination is the General Assembly of Presbyterian Church of Korea(Hapdong) (hereinafter referred to as the "General Assembly"). During the period from 1978 to 1985, he attended at Koshin University and Chongshin University and his major was theology. After graduation, he was ordained as a minister in the Busan Presbytery. During his work in Busan Dongseong Church as a curate, he was appointed as a minister of the Busan

<sup>5)</sup> Mark's Loft or upper room in Korean word. For this Journal, "Darakbang" collectively refers and represents all of Mr. Ryu's heresy churches, organizations and/or his doctrines.

Dongsam Chaeil Church. At that time, Mr. Ryu began in earnest his Darakbang movement. (hereinafter referred to as "Darakbang Evangelism Movement")

The number of followers belonged to Mr. Ryu's church increased, but he was officially dismissed from the position of minister by Busan Presbytery becase of his Darakbang doctrines and his ethical problems in the 133th Presbytery Meeting and 1st Special Meeting of Presbytery. Mr. Ryu joined another denomination called the Koshin Presbyterian Church in Korea(Koshin) and South Busan Presbytery, right after his dismissal from the Busan Prebytery, but his membership in the Koshin Presbyterian Church in Korea and South Busan Presbytery soon became void for same reasons. He appealed against his dismissal to the Busan Presbytery in the General Assembly. The General Assembly composed "Committee for Prevention and Investigation Against Darakbang's Expansion" and started detailed research for Darakbang Evangelism Movement. In the 81st General Meeting of the General Assembly, Mr. Ryu's Darakbang has been decided as a heresy.

The most denominations, such as Presbyterian, Methodist, Holiness, and Baptist, have decided that the Darakbang Evangelism Movement is a heresy, and strictly prohibited their own ministers from attending at this movement. Mr. Ryu decided as a leader of heresy by many denominations established "the Presbyterian Church of Korea, Evangelization Assembly" in 1997 and has been systematically developing his Darakbang Evangelism Movement since then. Mr. Ryu and his Darakbang Evangelism Movement have entered into a denomination called as the Revolutionary Presbyterian Church in Korea(hereinafter referred to as "RPCK") and it is known that there are about 500 Darakbang churches, at present.

# (2) What does the Darakbang insist?

#### 1) Darakbang Evangelism Movement

Mr. Ryu defines Darakbang Evangelism Movement as a "bible study for followers who believe that there is God's plan and purpose at where we are and who will propagate their belief to the target areas".

The main criticism about the Darakbang Evangelism Movement is that this movement actually spreads Mr. Ryu's wrong interpretation as to the bible.

According to the Research Report on Mr. Ryu's Darakbang Evangelism Movement written by the General Assembly (published in the 81st General Meeting 1995), "this movement changes existing Christians to a secret agent of the Darakbang Evangelism Movement and this causes serious problem to the ecclesiology of such Christians exposed to the Darakbang doctrines." and "the training provided by Darakbang may mislead Christians into wrongful soteriology, but also, it may cause serious conflict between existing Christians and Darakbang followers."

#### 2) Demonology

Mr. Ryu interprets the history of salvation as a confrontation with demons. It is wrong.

According to the Research Report of the Presbyterian Church of Korea(Koryeo) (published in the 45th General Meeting, 1995), Mr. Ryu's theology is "non-revoluntionary, anti-gospel, and unbalanced"

and "his doctrine focuses on experiences and evidences and it is a demonology and/or theology of demon casting which explains human being's sins and salvation based on the Satan, demon and ghost".

Professor Yong Kyu Park of Chongshin University criticized Mr. Ryu's doctrines, in his journal entitled "Criticism on Darakbang Evangelism Movement of Kwang Su Ryu" (published in the Theological Review 2005 Spring edition). In his journal, Professor Park argued that "Kwang Su Ryu is influenced by Mr. Ki Dong Kim's Demonology and he defines the history of salvation as a confrontation with demon" and "his interpretation of bible and history of salvation based on the Demonology is identical to the Berea's bible interpretation insisted by Ki Dong Kim."

# 3) The Darakbang Evangelism Movement which focuses on the Darakbang's bible study

Mr. Ryu says that he is conducting Darakbang Evangelism Movement, but in fact, his movement focuses on the Darakbang's bible study, not the movement for pure gospel and evangelization. His bible study makes existing Christians confused, by brainwashing them into believing only Darakbang doctrine which is unacceptable to the traditional churches.

According to the Research Report of the Presbyterian Church of Korea(Tonghap) (published by the 81st General Meeting, 1995), it held that "even though Mr. Ryu insists that Darakbang Evangelism Movement is only a typical evangelization quite similar to existing churches' propagation activities, it is revealed that demonology in his movement commits fallacy and his doctrine makes existing churches and Christians confused" and declared that "Darakbang Evangelism

Movement shall not be allowed and permitted in ordinary and common churches".

#### (3) Current Activity Status of Darakbang

#### 1) Ramnent Movement

Mr. Ryu has been developing another movement called "Ramnent Movement" in order to widely spread the Darakbang Evangelism Movement, since the Darakbang Evangelism Movement was decided as a heresy by many denominations. Mr. Ryu defines the Ramnent as "a left and remained person who takes responsibility over the dark age and future of country" and he emphasizes the reasonableness and necessity of this movement.

# 2) RUTC

RUTC means and refers to a 'Ramnent Unity Training Center'. RUTC is a word which Darakbang frequently uses in their Darakbang Evangeliztion Movement. Darakbang purchased a piece of land sized as 29.75 hr and located at San53-5, Maegok-ri, Hobeopmyeon, Icheon-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea. This land is for RUTC and now it is in the course of construction. At that place, assembly facility, accommodation, schools, sports complex and etc. are under construction and Darakbang publicly says that this place will be utilized as a place of cultural exchange for Ramnents. Also, it is known that RUTC broadcast system opens and it is broadcasting Darakbang's sermons, praises and documentaries.

#### 3) World Mission Conventions

Darakbang holds World Mission Conventions and strengthens the unity of members. In the website of World Mission Convention, DARAK.NET, it quotes that "World Mission Convention is a convention for learning history and trend of the Darakbang Evangelism Movement of Mr. Kwang Su Ryu".

### 4) Education and Social Care Activity

Darakbang operates alternative schools, such as "Ramnent Leader School" which teaches the Darakbang ideological doctrines to its students. Also, Darakbang established the "Ramnent Social Welfare Foundation" which make social care activities for children, teenagers and aged people. In order to educate and train agents specialized to persuade university and college students, Darakbang established the Department of College Ministry (hereinafter referred to as "DCM") and this organization works in every university and college all over the nation of Korea. Also Darakbang established "Beautiful Mission Center" at Philippine for tempting students originally from Philippine and oversea students preparing their university life in Philippine into Darakbang doctrine.

#### 5) Establishment of OMC

Oneness Mission Club (hereiafter referred to as "OMC") is established by Darakbang and this OMC supports the Darakbang activities and target businesses. This OMC operates and conducts a business to secure funds for Darakbang Evangelism Movement

# (4) Darakbang a member of Revolunationary Presbyterian Church of Korea

Darakbang is a member of a denomination called as 'RPCK' and this causes serious confusion to Christians, since it seems and sounds a normal Christian denomination. Despite of strong opposition from existing ministers and elders in this denomination, Darakbang was welcomed by the RPCK and celebration service for welcoming Darakbang to the denomination was held on June 21st, 2011 at Ilsan KINTEX.

The RPCK made its choice to take Darakbang into the denomination. As a result, this denomination has been divided into two parts. Eleven (11) Christian denominations published their statements respectively but the contents are identical and they are critical about this choice of RPCK. Several professors in the theology colleges all over the nation made press conferences for opposing the RPCK's decision to take Darakbang.

The Christian Council of Korea has maintained the membership of RPCK who received Darakbang as a proper denomination, and further it released Darakbang from the heresy decision in 2012.

This caused the birth and establishment of the Communion of Churches in Korea, a new united churches and denominations which decided Darakbang as a heresy and took their names out of the Christian Council of Korea.

At present, Darakbang is a major faction in RPCK. In the denomination, the number of Darakbang churches occupies 77% in RPCK and 7 members of general assembly of this RPCK belong to Darakbang churches. The full number of general assembly members is 10.

Furthermore, in order to become a minister in RPCK, graduation from Darakbang theology school is essential. RPCK's general assembly approves the 'Ramnent Theology Seminary' as an official seminary of RPCK and it approves its financial supports to this school. A school for Mr. Ryu's doctrines became an official seminary of RPCK.

Mr. Ryu's Darakbang Evangelism Movement is systematically spreading in a form of bible study toward workplaces, schools, churches and etc. Also, followers of Mr. Ryu targets Christians in every area, such as social welfare, culture, industry and etc. and their influence has been expanded.

In the past, Korean churches classified Mr. Ryu's Darakbang Evangelism Movement as a heresy based on theological studies, and their position is still calm. But Mr. Ryu and his Darakbang entered into existing denomination and has attempted to be released from decision of heresy or cult. However, the veracity of Mr. Ryu and his Darakbang has been continuously suspected and the denominations which decided Darakbang as heresy have never changed their position about their decision for Darakbang.

# 2. 世界福音化传道协会(马可楼)

新约圣经中出现的"马可楼"是保惠师圣灵降临的场所,是教会与耶稣运动的起点。不过"马可楼"(世界福音化传道协会)的形象与圣经具有相当大的差距,柳光洙的马可楼传道运动被多个教派(高丽,高神,统合,合同,基圣,基意,基监等)定为异端,其理由是什么呢?

# (1) 柳光洙是谁?

世界福音化传道协会(代表:柳光洙,马可楼)的创立者柳光洙,1951年 10月出生在庆南密阳市上南面,开始他在釜山市水晶洞参加耶长合同教派一新教会聚会,1978-1985年间先后在高神大学与总神大学攻读神学。毕业后在耶长合同教派釜山老会被按立为牧师,在釜山东成教会担任副牧师,1987年被邀请到釜山东三第一教会牧会,从此时开始正式开展马可楼运动。

其教会正扩张的 1991年11月 26日在釜山老会第133次 1届临时老会中因马可楼教义和道德问题被免去牧师资格。1993年10月柳光洙更换教籍加入耶长高神南釜山老会,但成员资格被判定为无效。1994年 10月向耶长合同总会属下釜山老会递交有关牧师免职再审请求。耶长合同教派在1995年第80次总会里组成"防止马可楼扩散及判定异端委员会"开展对马可楼运动的研究和调查,接着在第81次总会马可楼再次被判定为异端。

之后长老会、监理会、圣洁教会和浸礼会等现有教派把马可楼传道运动归类为"异端"或"邪教"严格限制自身教派传道人参与此项运动。被判为异端后柳光洙于 1997年创立"大韩耶稣教长老会传道总会"至今仍然扩展马可楼运动。根据统计至今隶属于马可楼的教会有五百多所。

#### (2) 马可楼主张是什么?

# 1) 马可楼运动

柳光洙称马可楼运动为"相信神的计划和目的就在我们所处的位置,为渗透到传道地区开展传道活动,为此进行圣经学习"。

马可楼传道运动引发诸多问题的根本原因在于,他们传播柳光洙错误的思想。 关于马可楼传道运动大韩耶长合同研究报告(第81届总会,1995年)记录"马可 楼把现有教会信徒培养为要员和马可楼化,由此判断他们给教会论带来严重影响"并记录"马可楼传道训练在救赎论方面有误导信徒的可能性,在教会里有 可能引发马可楼化信徒与非马可楼化信徒之间的违和感和分裂。"

# 2) 魔鬼思想

柳光洙的核心思想是把救赎史当做与魔鬼的对决,是错谬的魔鬼论。

耶长高丽研究报告(第45届总会,1995年)中把柳光洙的观点判定为"非改革主义和非福音主义神学思想,同时是失去平衡的神学"并且"是注重体验和神迹的情感神学。以撒旦,魔鬼,鬼为中心解释人的罪与救赎,因此是撒旦神学的一种,驱邪神学。

总神大学朴容圭教授也说(神学指南,2005年春季,批评柳光洙的马可楼运动),"柳光洙作为受到金基东的魔鬼论影响的人,把救赎史当做与魔鬼的对决。他以魔鬼为中心的圣经解释和对救赎史的理解与金基东的庇哩亚教义一致。"

#### 3) 建立在马可楼式圣经学习之上的传道运动

柳光洙虽然以马可楼传道运动为旗号开展活动,实际上其中心就是马可楼式圣经学习,透过灌输正统教会所无法接受的马可楼式思想来搅乱信徒。

耶长统合研究报告(第81届总会,1995年)中记载 "柳光洙的马可楼传道运动 虽主张传道运动但已认定其教导在魔鬼论上犯下误区,搅乱教会和信徒" 并且 "不可学习和模仿这一运动(马可楼传道运动)"

# (3) 马可楼活动现状

#### 1) 残存者运动(Ramnent Movement)

马可楼传道运动被定为异端后,柳光洙为扩展马可楼传道运动开展残存者运

动。他对残存者定义为"是负责时代和国家暗淡未来的残存者和失散者"并强调此运动的正当性。

#### 2) RUTC

RUTC是残存者共同体训练场,马可楼以RUTC的名义开展马可楼传道运动,他们在京畿道利川市戸法面梅谷里 53-5地区购买 9万平(约27万平方米)土地,并以RUTC的名称进行建设。在那里建设集会设施,住宿设施,学校和体育设施,将来要把此地使用为全世界残存者的交流场所。除此之外RUTC还创建电视台转播与马可楼相关的讲道与纪录片。

### 3) 世界宣教大会

马可楼还透过开展世界宣教大会促进内部团结,宣教总局网页上把大会性质规定为"世界宣教大会是学习柳光洙马可楼宣教运动的历史及方向的大会。"

# 4) 教育及福利活动

透过运营 "残存者领袖学校" 等代案学校传播马可楼式的思想和教义,设立 "社会福利法人残存者" 在儿童,青少年和老人福利方面进行活动。在大学 为培养专业要员而建立DCM(Department of College Ministry)团体,在全国 大多数大学里有组织地生根,在菲律宾设立"美丽宣教中心"向当地留学生与 预备留学人员传教。

#### 5) 设立OMC

为支援马可楼运动,持续帮助具有目的性事业设立OMC(ONENESS MISSION CLUB)来继续丰富财力。

# (4) 所属耶长改革教派的马可楼

马可楼属于耶长改革教派,这一点给众信徒带来极大混乱,耶长改革教派的牧师和长老们极力反对,但 2011年 6月 21日在一山博览中心举行加入礼拜。

这就是耶长改革教派接收马可楼,为此耶长改革教派分裂,11个教派联名反对,全国神学院教授通过举办记者会强烈指责马可楼加入耶长改革教派问题。

韩基总(韩国基督教总联合会)维持了分裂的耶长改革教派中接收马可楼一方会员资格,2012年公开解除马可楼异端嫌疑。

这一举动推动了 "韩国教会联合会"的诞生。那些定马可楼为异端的大教派 退出了韩基总。

现今耶长改革教派马可楼占相当大的比率,马可楼教会数占77%,总会委员 10 人中 7人来自马可楼教会。

在耶长改革教派按立牧师必须在马可楼神学院毕业,耶长改革教派把残存者神 学研究院定为总会认准最终神学院,并决议由总会给予补助,曾经培养马可楼 牧会者的神学院改头换面成为培养耶长改革教会牧会者的神学院。

柳光洙的马可楼传道运动有组织的方法,在职场,学校和教会等地方以圣经学 习为媒体活动。并且把福利,教育,文化和产业等现场当做马可楼运动的场地 扩大其影响力。

过去韩国教界透过对马可楼传道运动的神学研究把马可楼定为异端,现在却进入到现有教派内部为脱离异端争论而努力。但对他们的变化仍有诸多质疑,现今那些定马可楼为异端的教派对他们的态度没有任何变化。

# 3 구원파

The Salvation Sect 救赎派(救恩派)

# 3. 구원파

구원파는 일반적으로 기독교복음침례회(설립자 권신찬, 유병언), 생명의말씀선교회(설립자 이요한, 대한예수교침례회), 기쁜소식선교회(설립자 박옥수)를 말한다. 구원파는 침례교를 표방한 명칭 때문에 기성 교단인 "기독교한국침례회"에 큰 피해를 주고 있다. 여러 교단에서 이단으로 결의하는세 구원파의 특징은 무엇일까?

# (1) 기독교복음침례회(설립자 권신찬, 유병언)

권신찬씨는 1923년 1월 13일, 경북 영덕군 병곡면 원황리 934번지에 태어났다. 1951년 11월 30일 목사 안수를 받고 1962년 12월 21일 경북노회로부터 이단으로 목사 면직처분을 받기까지 12년간 주로 경북지방에서목회를 했다.

권씨의 기독교복음침례회는 1961년 11월 네덜란드 선교사 케이스 글라스의 영향으로 "죄사함을 깨달았다"는 권신찬과, 미국인 독립선교사 딕 욕(Dick York)의 영향으로 "복음을 깨달았다"는 그의 사위 유병언에 의해 시작됐다.

1962년 12월 30일 독립교회에서 시무하다가 1966년 2월 10일 경기도 인천에 있던 복음주의방송국(현 극동방송국)의 전도과장으로 일했다. 이후권씨는 사위 유병언씨를 부국장에 앉히고 구원파 신도들로 간부직을 맡기는 등 극동방송국을 점거하려 했으나 실패하게 되고, 1974년 9월 10일극동방송국 측으로부터 파면 당했다. 파면 이후 권씨는 은밀하게 소위 '방교회'라 불렸던 것을 표면화해 "한국평신도선교회"라 하여 서울 삼각지를중심으로 기성교단에 노골적인 대적자로 등장한다.

유병언씨는 방송국에서 쫓겨난 후에 넘어져 가는 무역회사를 인수하여 삼 우트레이딩 사장에 취임했다. 그리고 이 시기에 무역거래를 이유로 미국, 독일을 왕래하면서 교세를 확장시켰다. 이즘 유씨는 "기업이 곧 교회"라는 논리를 펴게 된다.

기독교복음침례회는 환경단체 "한국녹색회"와 "전도 집회"를 통해 포교하

고 있다. 청년 대학생 활동 중 "녹색회 활동"이라는 이름으로 주말마다 활동하고 있으며, 대학 동아리나 순수한 환경단체로 가장해 사람들을 끌어들이고 있다. 또 여러 곳에서 전도집회를 통해 포교하고 있다. 이들의 전도집회 순서는 먼저 인생과 성경의 과학적인 부분을 주제로 다루고 이스라엘 역사, 인생의 죄와 그 죄를 해결하기 위한 복음에 대한 내용을 다루고 있다. 최근 주일집회는 사망한 유병언의 설교 영상을 시청하고 있다.

2014년 4월 16일 청해진해운에서 운항하는 세월호가 침몰했다. 청해진해 운의 실질적인 소유주가 유병언씨 일가라는 점이 드러나면서 문제가 불거 졌고, 6월 12일 유병언씨의 변사체가 발견됐다.

### (2) 생명의말씀선교회(설립자 이요한, 대한예수교침례회)

이요한(본명 이복칠)씨는 중학교 졸업 후 한국전쟁 기간 중 대구 임시 신학교에서 기독교복음침례회의 설립자 권신찬씨에게 잠시 지도 받은 것이 교육배경의 전부인 것으로 알려지고 있다. 구원파 초창기인 1960년 대 중반부터 목포에서 권씨와 함께 활동하다 1971년 권씨에게 목사안수를 받았다.

기성교회를 비판하고 시한부 종말론 등을 내세운 이씨는 1983년 교회 헌금을 사업에 전용하는 것을 문제 삼아 "유병언의 사업이 천국 일"이라고 주장하는 유씨를 비판하면서 "교회와 사업은 분리돼야 한다"는 성명을 내고 "복음수호파"로 분리해 서울 서초구 방배동에 "대한예수교침례회"를 설립했다. 서울교회로 활동하다 1994년 경기도 안양 인덕원의 1천여 평 대지에 교회를 신축하고 서울중앙교회로 개칭했다.

생명의말씀선교회는 홈페이지를 통해 이요한씨 측의 국내외 교회 소식과 성경강연회 일정을 공개하고 있으며, 설교 동영상과 MP3 파일을 제공하 고 있어 사이트를 방문한 사람은 누구나 설교를 들을 수 있도록 하고 있 다. 출판사 "영생의말씀사"에서 이요한씨 측의 전도용 소책자와 신앙서적 을 발행하고 있으며, "신앙상담", "성경강연회" 등을 열어 자신의 교리를 설명, 포교하고 있다.

# (3) 기쁜소식선교회(설립자 박옥수)

박옥수씨는 경북 경산 선산군에서 1944년 6월 출생했다. 네덜란드 선교사 케이스 글라스(Case Glass)의 집회에서 크게 감화 받은 박씨는 1968년 6 월 8일 전역 후 신림동 어린이 천막집회 후 김천에 가서 전도하기 시작했다.

이후 선교사들이 본국으로 돌아가면서 박씨가 선교학교를 이어받게 되고 이때부터 박옥수 구원파는 본격적으로 시작됐다. 1990년 대전 한밭중앙교회를 중심으로 활동하던 박씨는 2004년 서울 양재동에 위치한 기쁜소식 강남교회로 옮겼다.

박씨는 "믿음의 방패 선교회"의 딕 욕 선교사에게 목사 안수를 받았다고 주장하지만, '목사'라는 직위 자체에 대해 부정적인 딕 욕 선교사는 박씨 가 스스로 목사 안수를 준 것이라고 밝혔다.

박옥수씨는 '또별'이라는 녹차분말가루를 암과 에이즈에 효능이 좋은 것처럼 설교했다가 500만 원의 벌금에 처하기도 했으며, 박씨의 설교를 믿은 신도가 병원과 약을 포기하고 또별을 복용해 사망하기도 했다.

기쁜소식선교회는 여름과 겨울수양회 및 학생캠프를 통해 박옥수씨의 설교를 전파하고 있다. 주간 「기쁜소식」을 신문 형태로 발행해 무료배포하고 있고, 최근에는 청소년 교양잡지로 가장한 월간 「Tomorrow」를 창간해청소년들을 포교하고 있다.

기쁜소식선교회의 핵심조직인 IYF(International Youth Fellowship)를 2001 년 3월 조직, 대학교 내에서 영어말하기대회, 영어동아리 등 학생들이 관심을 가지는 외국어나 문화적 요소로 접근해 포교하고 있다. 또 청소년들의 해외문화에 대한 관심과 흥미를 자극해 굿뉴스코 해외봉사활동 봉사단을 모집하고, 각종 문화공연과 국내외 박옥수 성경세미나를 열어 포교하고 있다.

최근 박씨는 『나를 끌고 가는 너는 누구냐』, 『마음을 파는 백화점』, 『내 안에 있는 나 아닌 나』라는 책을 출판, 마인드 교육 전문가란 이미지를 구축해 "마인드강연"이란 이름으로 세미나를 개최하고 있다.

# (4) 구원파가 이단인 이유

구원파는 성경을 하나님 말씀으로 인정하고 있지만 정통 교회와 달리 성경을 자의적으로 해석, 자신들만이 깨달은 진리를 전하고 있어 기성 교단으로 부터 "이단", "이단사이비집단"으로 결의됐다.

구원파는 "깨달음"을 통해서 구원을 받으며 한 번 구원의 확신을 받으면 어떤 죄를 지어도 구원이 취소되지 않는다고 주장하고 있다. 따라서 구원 받은 후에는 회개할 필요가 없다고 말하고 있다. 또 이들은 회개하는 자는 죄가 있다는 증거요, 죄가 있으면 구원의 반열에 들지 못한다고 말해 기성교회 성도들을 혼란케 하고 있다.

정동섭 교수는 그의 저서 『구원파를 왜 이단이라 하는가?』에서 "구원파는 회개와 믿음이 빠진 '깨달음'을 통해서 구원을 받는다고 주장한다"며 "이는 역사적인 정통 개신교의 입장과 판이하게 다른 것이다"라고 비판했다. 또 "정통교회에서는 회개하고 예수님을 영접하게 되면 신분이 죄인에서 자녀로 바뀌지만 성품은 여전히 사함 받은 죄인이며 하나님 뜻대로 살지 못하는 자녀로서 여전히 반복적인 회개가 필요하다"고 말했다.

차정식 교수는 「현대종교」 2008년 11월호에서 "예수를 알고 나서도 회개하는 것이 사죄의 확신이 없는 불신의 증표이고 구원받지 못한 지옥백성의 증거라는 억설은 그야말로 성경을 잘못 읽어도 한참을 잘못 읽은 유치한 맹신의 발로이다"라고 비판했다.

#### (5) 기성교회 제도의 부정

구원파는 기성교회를 부정적으로 보고 있다. 정동섭 교수는 그의 저서 『구원파를 왜 이단이라 하는가?』에서 "구원파는 개인예배 및 공중예배를 드린다는 관념도 없다"며 "예배는 성도의 생활 그 자체, 다시 말해서 성도의 교제가 기도요 예배라고 믿고 가르치기 때문에 개인 및 공중기도, 경배와 찬양을 부정한다"고 말했다.

구원파는 구원받았기 때문에 교회의 제도에 얽매일 필요가 없고 주일성 수, 새벽기도, 십일조 등도 율법의 소산이므로 지킬 필요가 없다고 주장하 고 있다. 이에 대해 대한예수교장로회총회는 『사이비이단 연구 보고집』에 서 "성수주일, 새벽기도, 십일조 등은 구원을 얻기 위한 조건이 아니라 구 원받은 하나님의 자녀들의 마땅한 의무일 뿐이며, 구원을 받았다고 해서 이것들을 모두 버려야할 이유는 없다"고 주장했다.

구원의 진리를 깨달았다는 구원파의 포교로 기성 교인 및 새롭게 예수를 영접한 이들이 구원으로부터 멀어지고 있다. 이들은 전국 각처는 물론 해 외 현장까지 침투하여 교회를 혼란시키고 성도를 미혹하고 있어 한국교회 뿐 아니라 국외 교회까지 위기를 주고 있다. 구원파의 포교활동에 대한 한국교회의 신중한 대처가 요구된다.

#### 3. The Salvation Sect

The "Salvation Sect" composes of and collectively includes 'Evangelical Baptist Church of Korea' (founded by Shin Chan Kwon and Byung Eon Yu) New Word Mission (founded by Johan Lee) and Good News Mission Church (founded by Ok Soo Park). The Salvation Sect's official name includes the word "Baptist" and this causes serious problems to the Korea Baptist Convention, the existing denomination of traditional church. What is the Salvation Sect designated as a heresy by various denominations of traditional churches?

# (1) Evangelical Baptist Church of Korea(Established by Shin Chan Kwon and Byung Eon Yu)

Mr. Shin Chan Kwon was born on January 13th, 1923, at the place of which address is 934 Wonhwang-ril, Byeonggok-myeon, Yeongdeok-gun, Gyeongsangbuk-do, Republic of Korea. On November 30th, 1951, he was ordained as a minister and had worked as a pastor for twelve (12) years from his ordinance. On December 21st, 1961, Gyeongbuk Presbytery dismissed Mr. Kwon for heresy suspicion.

In November 1961, the Evangelical Baptist Church of Korea (hereinafter referred to as "EBCK") was founded by (1) Mr. Shin Chan Kwon who was influenced by Case Glass, a Dutch missionary, and who insisted that "I realize the forgiveness of sin" and (2) Mr. Byung Eon Yu (Mr. Know's son in law) who was influenced by Dick York, an American independent missionary, and who insisted that "I realize the gospel".

Mr. Kwon worked as a pastor until December 30th, 1962, but he

moved his workplace to Evangelism Broadcasting Company (Present "Far East Broadcasting Company"), and worked as a manager of missionary department, since he was dismissed as a pastor by the Gyeongbuk Presbytery. However, Mr. Kwon attempted to occupy the Far East Broadcasting Company (hereinafter referred to as "FEBC") by appointing Mr. Byung Eon Yu. his son in law as a Vice Chairman and employing his followers as senior managers, but his plan to occupy and control the FEBC failed. After failure of control plan, Mr. Kwon was dismissed by the FEBC on September 10th, 1974. After his dismissal from the FEBC. Mr. Kwon secretly started 'a room church', a concept of small sized churches and established 'Korea Laymen Evangelical Fellowship' at Samgakji, Seoul and made its entrance to the society as an opposer of existing presbyteries.

Mr. Byung Eon Yu, Mr. Kwon's son in law, was dismissed by the FEBC, as well. After his dismissal, Mr. Yu took over a trading company which was just about bankrupt, and took office of CEO of Sam Woo Trading Co., Ltd., and engaged in transactions with companies located in America and Germany. Based on this business expansion, Mr. Kwon's influence increased. At that time, Mr. Yu put forth a slogan that "business is church".

EBCK spreads its doctrines via the "Green Club", an organization of environment protection, and "Missionary Rally". Also, it runs "Green Clubs" which disguises as a normal environment club or a common university club for the young adults and university students. Also, Missionary Rally is held in various places. In the Missionary Rally, instructors and lecturers start the Rally with lectures of scientific parts of life and bible, and then give lectures related to Israel's history, sins and forgiveness of sins, based on EBCK's doctrines.

Recently in the EBCK's weekend rally, deceased Mr. Yu's sermons are played.

On April 16th, 2014, Sewolho, a ship operated by Cheonghaejin Shipping Co., Ltd., sank to the bottom of the sea. Mr. Byung Eon Yu and his family were revealed as the practical owners of the Cheonghaejin Shipping Co., Ltd., and Mr. Byung Eon Yu's body was found on June 12th, 2014.

# (2) LIFE WORD MISSION(founded by Johan Lee)

The only theological education which Mr. Johan Lee(Real Name: Bok Chil Lee), the founder of the Life Word Mission (hereinafter referred to as "LWM"), has had was a short guidance given by Mr. Shin Chan Kwon(the founder of the EBCK) at a temporary seminary held in Daegu, during the time of the Korean War. In the middle of 1960s, Mr. Lee worked with Mr. Kwon at Mokpo and he was ordained as a minister by Mr. Kwon.

Mr. Lee criticizes the traditional churches and insists his own doctrine of eschatology which has the exact date of final judgement. In 1983, Mr. Lee criticized Mr. Byung Eon Yu who argued that the "Business is church." and officially made pronouncement that the "Business shall be separated from the Church". According to his pronouncement on the church and faith, his church was separated from the Mr. Yu's Church as a sect of "Gospel Protection" and Mr. Lee founded Seoul Church, the "LWM" in Bangbae-dong, Seocho-gu, Seoul. In 1994, LWM acquired 0.33 ha sized site located at Indeogwon, Anyang, Gyeonggi-do and established new church building, and named it as "Seoul Central Church".

LWM discloses Mr. Lee's semons, shedule, domestic and foreign news (related to the LWM) and seminar schedule, via its official website. Anybody who visits the website may download sermon videos and mp3 files uploaded in this website. LWM operates its own publishing company, "the life of light publishing company" which publishes brochures and books for spreading Mr. Lee's doctrines. Also, LWM regularly holds "Bible Seminars" and "Faith Consulting" for same purpose.

### (3) Good News Mission Church(founded by Ok Soo Park)

Mr. Ok Soo Park was born in June 1944 at Seonsangun, Gyeongsan, Gyeongbuk, in Korea. The turning point for Mr. Park was the seminar given by Case Glass, a Dutch Missionary, and Mr. Park was truly touched by this seminar. On June 8th, 1968, Mr. Park finished his military service and he started his missionary work in Gimcheon, after he participated in the Children Tent Congregation at Sillimdong.

Mr. Park became a person in charge of operation of the missionary school which was run by the foreign missionaries who went back to their hometowns. Mr. Park started to expose his tendency to become Salvation Sect when he took the charge of the school. In 1990s, Mr. Park worked in Hanbat Central Church, Daejeon. And he moved to Good News Gangnam Church located at Yangjaedong, Seoul. in 2004.

Mr. Park has argued that he was ordained as a minister by Mr. Dick York, a missionary of the "Shield of Faith Mission", but Mr. Dick York who is negative about the system of minister ordainment officially stated that the Mr. Park was ordained as minister by himself.

Moreover, Mr. Park strongly advertised the green-tea powder named as "Ddobyul" as a cure for cancer and AIDS during his sermon, and he was criminally fined KRW 5,000,000 for violation of Food Hygiene Regulations. Also, one of his followers died since he gave up any medical supports and took only "Ddobyul".

The Good News Mission Church(hereinafter referred to as "GNMC") spreads Mr. Park's sermons and doctrines by holding Summer and Winter Spiritual Conference and Student camps. Also, GNMC publishes a weekly free newspaper [the Good News]. Recently, it monthly publishes a magazine called [Tomorrow] which disguises as a magazine for teenagers.

GNMC established IYF(International Youth Fellowship) in March 2001 and this is a core organization of GNMC. This organization approaches students who are interested in English and foreign culture by holding English Speaking Contest and by organizing English Groups in universities. Also, GNMC recruits volunteers for Good Newsco Foreign Voluntary Activities from teenagers who are interested in foreign cultures and invites such teenagers to various kinds of culture events and Mr. Park's Bible Seminars.

Recently, Mr. Park published a couple of books titled "Who are you who is leading me" "Department store which sells minds" and "Me inside of me, but not me". He has been building his public image as a mind education professional and holding "Mind Seminars".

# (4) Why is the Salvation Sect a heresy?

The Salvation Sect acknowledges the Holy Bible as the God's words, but interprets the Holy Bible at its sole discretion and gives false

information to its believers. According to this fact, the traditional churches in Korea decided that the Salvation Sect is a "heresy" and/or a "cult organization".

The Salvation Sect argues that once a believer is redeemed by his enlightenment, his salvation will not be canceled by any sin committed by himself. Thus, there is no need to repent his sins after such salvation, under the Salvation Sect's doctrine. Also, the Salvation Sect insists that a person who repents is a sinner, and such sinner will never be able to be raised to the salvation. This kind of insistence makes the Christians in the traditional churches confused.

In the book titled "Why is the Salvation Sect a heresy?", written by Professor Dong Seob Chung, Professor Chung criticizes the Salvation Sect for the reason that "under doctrines of the Salvation Sect, neither faith nor repentance will be required for the salvation and redemption, but the enlightenment." Moreover, in his book, quotes that "in case of traditional churches' Christians, he/she will be a son/daughter of Jesus Christ when he/she repents and meets Jesus Christ. However, he/she is still a sinner whereas he/she is forgiven and a repetitive repentance is required if he/she does not live by the God's will."

Professor Jeong Sik Cha criticized the Salvation Sect's doctrine. In his book, "the Salvation Sect's insistence that repetitive repentance means unbelief and doubts about the forgiveness, and the Salvation Sect insists that such person belongs to the hell". Such insistence is a conjecture and a silly belief based on wrongful interpretation of the Holy Bible, in Modern Religion Monthly published in November 2008.

# (5) Denial to the Traditional churches' System

The Salvation Sect criticizes traditional churches. In the book titled [Why is the Salvation Sect a heresy?] written by Professor Dong Seob Chung, Professor Chung wrote that "the Salvation Sect does not have any concepts of personal and public worship service" and "the Salvation Sect teaches that the believer's life itself is the worship service, in other words, the believer's acquaintance is a prayer and worship. Thus, the Salvation Sect denies the personal and public prayers, worship, and praise."

The Salvation Sect also insists that believers does not need to follow the system of traditional church; such as Sunday Worship Service, Dawn Prayer, and tithe which are outcomes of old commandaments, since the salvation is acquired by enlightment. According to [Research Reports on Cult/Heresy] published by the General Assembly of the Presbyterian Church of Korea, quotes "Sunday Worship Service, Dawn Paryer, and tithe are the duties of God's children redeemed and salvated, not a condition of the salvation. Therefore, there is no reason to throw these duties away."

Under this doctrine of the Salvation Sect, Christians in traditional churches and new believers are being directed away from the real salvation. The Salvation Sect sends their followers to traditional churches located in Korea and worldwide and seduces believers by spreading false doctrines. This is such a big risk to the traditional churches. Therefore, cautious prevention measures are required by the traditional churches in Korea.

# 3. 救赎派(救恩派)

救赎派是指基督教福音浸礼会(创始人:俞炳言,权新灿),生命话语宣教会(创始人:李约翰 大韩耶稣教浸礼会),好消息宣教会(创始人:朴玉洙)。救赎派模仿浸礼会的名称因此给"基督教韩国浸礼会"带来极大的损害。被多数教派判为异端的这三个救赎派特点是什么呢?

# (1) 基督教福音浸礼会(创始人: 俞炳言, 权新灿)

权新灿 1923年 1月 13日出生在庆尚北道盈德郡柄谷面远黄里 934号,从1951年 11月 30日被按立为牧师到 1962年 12月 21日被庆北老会判定为异端和罢免的 12年里一直在庆尚北道牧会。

权新灿的基督教福音浸礼会在1961年11月受荷兰宣教士凯斯·格拉斯(Kays Glass)影响获得"赦罪"的权新灿和受到美国独立宣教士迪克·约克(Dick York)影响"领悟福音"的女婿俞炳言开始。

1962年 12月 30日在独立教会服事,1966年 2月 10日在京畿道仁川的福音主义广播电台(远东电台)成为传道科长。之后权新灿使女婿俞炳言成为副科长,让更多的救赎派信徒成为远东电台的干部试图掌握此机构,但后来以失败告终。1974年 9月 10日远东电台罢免其职位,之后权新灿把所谓的'房教会'公开化后改名为"韩国平信徒宣教会"以首尔的三角地为中心公开对抗其它教派。

俞炳言被逐出远东电台后接管了一家濒临倒闭的贸易公司,成为"三友贸易"的董事长。并在这一时期以贸易为名来往于美国,德国等国家扩展自己的势力。从这时候俞炳言开始推广 "企业即教会" 理论。

基督教福音浸礼会与环境团体 "韩国绿色会" 合作通过传道聚会传教,在青年大学生中以"绿色会"的名义每周末举行活动,并以大学团体和单纯的环境团体为诱饵引诱他人。并且在到处举行传道集会传教,他们的集会开始的时候讲有关人生、圣经和科学的主题之后再讲以色列历史、人生的罪与为解决罪而必要的福音,在最近的主日礼拜观看已故俞炳言的讲道视频。

2014年 4月 16日清海镇海运所运营的世越号沉船事件,经过调查之后发现清

海镇海运的实际所有人是俞炳言。这引发巨大的轰动,当年 6月 12日发现俞 炳言的腐尸。

### (2) 生命话语宣教会(创始人:李约翰, 大韩耶稣教浸礼会)

李约翰(原名:李福七)在中学毕业,韩国战争时期在大邱的临时神学院接受基督教福音浸礼会的创始人权新灿的指导,这就是他全部教育背景。救赎派建立初期 1960年代中在木浦市与权新灿一起活动,1971年被权新灿按立为牧师。

他批判其它教会,并主张限时末世论。 1983年批判俞炳言把信徒的奉献使用在公司的经营,并反对 "俞炳言的公司事务就是天国事工"的主张,并坚持"教会与公司要分开。" 他主张自己是"福音守护派"在首尔瑞草区方背洞建立"大韩耶稣教浸礼会" 1994年在京畿道安养仁德院新建 3千多平方米的占地的教会,改名为首尔中央教会。

生命话语宣教会透过网页公开李约翰的国内外消息,提供讲道视频和 MP3,使访问网页的所有人都可以听到讲道,他们还出版小册子和信仰书籍,透过"信仰咨询"和"圣经讲解"等活动传道他们的教义。

#### (3) 好消息宣教会(创始人: 朴玉洙)

朴玉洙 1944年 6月出生于庆尚北道庆山仙山君,在荷兰宣教士凯斯·格拉斯 (Kays Glass)的集会里大受感动。1968年 6月 8日军队复原后在新林洞举行儿 童帐篷聚会后到金川传道。

宣教士回国后接手管理宣教学校,从此朴玉洙的救恩派正式出台, 1990年以 大田一田中央教会为中心活动的朴玉洙在 2004年转移到首尔良才洞好消息江 南教会。

朴玉洙主张自己是从迪克•约克(Dick York)宣教士按立为牧师,但对'牧师'这一职分无任何好感的约克宣教士说:"朴玉洙是自己给自己按立的牧师。"

朴玉洙在讲道时宣传"DDOBYUL"品牌的绿茶粉末对癌症和艾滋病有特效,因此被判 500万韩元罚款,轻信他的患者抛弃医院治疗和药品,只吃绿茶粉末后死亡。

好消息宣教会透过夏季、冬季的研讨会和学生聚会传播朴玉洙的讲道。每周免费发行传播名为《好消息》的报刊。最近发行伪装为青少年杂志的《Tomorrow》向青少年传道。

2001年 3月建立好消息宣教会的核心组织IYF(International Youth Fellowship),在大学内透过举办英语对话大会和英语团契向学生传教。并刺激青少年对海外文化的关心,招聚好消息团(Good new Corps)海外服事活动团,在国内外举办各种文化演出和圣经学习班传教。

最近朴玉洙出版《引领我的你是谁》,《出售心灵的百货商店》,《在我里面不是我的我》等书籍,通过建立思维教育专家的形象,并以"思维课程演讲"的名义举行研讨会。

### (4) 救赎派为何是异端?

救赎派承认圣经是神的话语,但他们与正统教会不同的部分是随意解释圣经, 只传讲他们自己认为的真理,因此被现今教派指为异端。

救赎派主张可通过"领悟"得救,一旦得到救赎的确信,即使犯再大的罪,也不会失去救恩。得救之后没有必要悔改,悔改意味着有罪,有罪就无法进入到救赎的班列,这些内容给现今教会的信徒带来极大的混乱。

郑东燮教授在自己的著作《为何称救赎派为异端?》里写道"救赎派主张缺少悔改与信心的领悟得救,这与正统新教的立场大为不同,正统教会主张,悔改接受耶稣基督身份就会从罪人变为神的子女,但性情仍然是得赦免的罪人,无法按着神的旨意生活的子女仍然需要悔改。"

车正植教授在《现代宗教》2008年 11月号批判 "认识耶稣之后仍然悔改是没有得救地狱百姓的标志" 这种谬说是对圣经严重误解和幼稚盲信导致的。

#### (5) 否定现有教会制度

救赎派负面看待现有教会,郑东燮教授在自己的著作《为何称救赎派为异端?》里写道"救赎派没有举行个人礼拜或公众礼拜的概念,他们将圣徒的交通看做礼拜,因此他们不承认个人和会众的祷告、赞美、礼拜。

救赎派主张,得救了就没有必要被教会制度所捆绑。守主日,晨更祷告,十一奉献等都是律法的产物,所以没有必要守。大韩耶稣教长老会总会在《邪教异端研究报告集》里主张"守主日,晨更祷告,十一奉献并不是获得救恩的条件,这只是得救的子女当尽的义务,得救之后没有必要抛弃这些。"

因着那些所谓领悟到救赎真理的救赎派传教,有很多现有教会的信徒与刚刚迎接耶稣的人逐渐远离救赎。他们在韩国全地以及渗透到海外现场混乱教会迷惑信徒,这不单是对韩国教会并且对世界各地的教会带领危机,需要韩国教会对救赎派传教活动慎重的对策。

# 4 하나님의교회 세계복음선교협회

The World Mission Society Church of God 上帝的教会 世界福音宣教协会

# 4. 하나님의교회 세계복음선교현회

하나님의교회 세계복음선교협회(대표 김주철, 이하 하나님의교회)의 활발 한 대외 활동으로 그 이미지가 수면 위로 부상하고 있다. 이 단체를 알지 못하는 일반인들에게는 사회활동을 열심히 하는 한국교회 중 한 교회로 오인될 소지가 다분하다. 하나님의교회는 설립자 안상홍을 하나님으로 믿 는 단체이며, 한국의 여러 교단에서 "이단"으로 결의했다.

## (1) 안상홍은 누구인가?

안상홍은 1918년 1월 13일 전북 장수군 계남면 명덕리에서 태어났고, 1947년 7월 안식교에 입교했다. 1953년 안씨는 진리를 깨달았다며 재림 시기를 주장하는 "시기파" 운동에 참여했다가 1962년 3월 17일 출교 당 했다.

이후 안씨는 23명의 안식교 교인과 함께 탈퇴해 1964년 4월 28일 부산에 서 하나님의교회 예수증인회를 창설했고, 자신을 "육신을 입고 온 하나님, 보혜사 성령" 등으로 가르치기 시작했다. 안씨를 하나님으로 따르는 신도 들은 안상홍의 이름으로 기도하고 침례를 베푼다.

하나님으로 자신을 신격화한 안씨는 1985년 2월 25일, 67세의 나이로 부 산의 한 식당에서 식사 중에 뇌졸중으로 사망했다. 안씨 사후 안상홍증인 회는 첫 부인을 하나님의 부인으로 섬기는 "새언약 유월절 하나님의교회" 파와 장길자를 섬기는 파로 나누어졌으며 그외 몇몇 분파가 더 있는 것으 로 알려지고 있다.

그 중 제일 큰 세를 갖춘 곳이 장길자가 "하늘어머니"로, 김주철씨가 총회 장으로 있는 하나님의교회 세계복음선교협회이다. 1985년 3월 22일, 본부 를 부산에서 서울로 옮긴 안씨의 추종자들은 단체명을 하나님의교회 안상 홍증인회로 개칭했으며, 10월에는 관악구 봉천동으로 본부를 이전했다. 1988년, 1999년, 2012년 등 계속되는 시한부종말설의 불발과 이로 인한 사회 비판적 여론을 의식, 지금의 하나님의교회 세계복음선교협회로 개칭 해 활동하고 있다.

# (2) 하나님의교회는 무엇을 주장하는가?

하나님의교회는 안상홍을 하나님으로 믿고 있으며, 장길자를 하늘 어머니로 믿고 있다. 또 안상홍이 안식교 출신이기에 기초적인 교리 형태는 안식교와 유사하다. 이들은 유월절과 안식일을 지켜야 구원을 얻는다고 주장하고 있다.

# 1) 재림 그리스도 안상홍 하나님

하나님의교회에서 안상홍을 하나님으로 믿는 이유는 다음과 같다.

예수님께서 어떻게 해서 다윗의 왕위역사 40년이 이루어 질 것인가? 예수님은 30세에 침례 받으시고 겨우 3년 동안 실지 교훈으로 행하시고 복음을 전하시며 온 인류의 죄값으로 속죄 제물로 십자가에 희생되심으로 육신사업을 3년으로 끝마치셨다. 40년 역사가 겨우 3년으로 끝났으니 나머지 37년을 어떻게 처리해야 될 것인가? 이 37년이 마지막 때에 암행어사로 나타나셔서 37년 복음사업을 행하게 됨으로 40년의 예언이 성취될 것이다. 다윗왕의 40년 역사는 예언이 되어 예수님께서도 역시 육체로오셔서 40년을 채우셔야 완전한 예언 성취가 된다. (안상홍,『하나님의 비밀』, 79)

예수님은 다윗의 위로 왔고, 다윗의 재위기간이 40년인데 반해 예수님은 3년밖에 일하지 못했기에 재림예수가 다시 와서 37년을 채워야 다윗의 재위기간 40년이 완성된다는 논리이다. 그렇다면 안씨가 주장하는 재림예수는 누구인가? 안씨는 마지막 때에 잃어버렸던 절기(새언약)를 발견해회복하는 사람이 성령이고, 그 성령이 곧 육체로 오시는 예수라고 주장하고 있다.

멜기세덱 당시에 떡과 포도주로 복을 빈 사람은 멜기세덱 뿐이 었으며, 신약에도 떡과 포도주로 복을 빌어 주신 분은 오직 예수님뿐이었다. 오늘날 유월절에 떡과 포도주로 제사 드려 생명을 이어받는 교회는 오직 우리 교회뿐이다. (안상홍, 『하나님의비밀』, 162)

마지막 때에도 말씀이 육신이 되어 멜기세덱의 반차로 오셔서 우리 가운데 거하시게 되니 새 언약의 유월절 떡과 포도주로 생 명을 주시게 됐다. (안상홍,『하나님의 비밀』, 164)

하나님의교회 총회장 김주철씨는 자신의 저서 『내 양은 내 음성을 듣나 니』에서 마태복음 28장 19절 "아버지와 아들과 성령의 이름으로 세례를 주고"라는 말씀을 근거로 성령은 이름이 있는 인격체라고 주장하고 있다. 즉 안상홍이 바로 성령의 이름이라는 것이다.

결론적으로 이들의 주장을 종합해 볼 때 마지막 때에 잃어버렸던 절기(새 언약)를 발견해 회복한 사람은 성령이고, 이 성령은 육체로 오는 예수이 며, 안상홍씨가 이 진리를 발견해 회복했기 때문에 약속된 성령, 육체로 온 예수라고 주장하는 것이다.

# 2) 하늘 어머니 장길자

하나님의교회는 하나님 형상 안에 남녀의 형상이 공존해 있고, 하와를 가리켜 재림 그리스도의 어린양의 아내를 표상하고 있다고 주장하고 있다.

하나님이 "우리의 형상" 곧 "하나님의 형상"을 모델 삼아 그대로 창조하신 존재가 남자와 여자였다. 이는 곧 하나님의 형상 안에 는 복수의 형상, 정확히 말하자면 남자의 형상과 여자의 형상이 존재하고 있다는 말씀이다. (김주철, 『하나님의 부르심을 입은 자들』, 186)

아담은 오실 자, 즉 재림 그리스도의 표상이었다. 그러므로 아담의 아내인 하와는 재림 그리스도이신 어린양의 아내를 표상하고 있다. (김주철, 『하나님의 부르심을 입은 자들』, 193)

또 하나님의교회 성경 교재 『모세의 지팡이』에서는 "계시록 22장의 '신부'를 계시록 21장에서는 '하늘 예루살렘'이라고 했고, 갈라디아서 4장에서는 하늘 예루살렘을 '우리 어머니'라고 했다"며 "신부는 우리 어머니를 뜻한다"고 주장한다. 즉 이들이 말하는 "우리 어머니"는 안상홍이 하나님의 신부로 택한 장길자를 가리킨다.

이들이 주장하는 것처럼 "어린양의 아내", "신부", "새 예루살렘"은 "하늘어머니"를 가리키는 것인가? 진용식 목사는 『안상홍 증인회의 실체는?』에서 "에베소서 5장 22절부터 32절까지의 말씀의 '부부의 관계'는 예수 그리스도와 교회의 관계로 비유로 말하고 있다"며 그 의미를 밝혔다. 또 하나님의교회에서 "하늘 어머니" 주장을 위해 택한 갈라디아서 본문 말씀에대해 "유대교와 초대교회를 비교하는 비유"라며, "신약의 영적 성전 새 예루살렘은 하나님의 새로운 백성인 교회를 가리킨다"고 "하늘 어머니" 교리를 비판했다.

# 3) 유월절을 통한 구원

하나님의교회 신자들은 기성교회 성도를 포교할 때 "혹시 구원 받았는 가?"라고 접근, 대상자가 구원받았다고 대답하면 "유월절을 지키고 있는 가?"라고 다시 묻는다. 이처럼 하나님의교회에서 주장하는 구원의 조건은 "유월절" 준수 여부에 두고 있다.

유월절은 죽을 수밖에 없는 우리 인생들에게 영원한 생명을 주기 위해 재정된 하나님의 계명이다. 예수님께서 영생을 얻으려면 유월절을 행하라고 가르쳐 주셨다. (김주철, 『내 양은 내 음성을 듣나니』, 82)

우리는 죄와 사망의 법에서 해방됐다. 그것은 생명의 법, 즉 새 언약 유월절로 말미암아 성취되는 그리스도의 최고의 계명이며 규례를 통해 이루어졌다. (김주철, 『내 양은 내 음성을 듣나니』, 86)

하나님의교회는 타락한 인류의 역사는 세 시대로 구분할 수 있는데 곧 성부, 성자, 성령의 시대라고 주장하고 있다. 구약, 즉 성부시대에는 여호와 하나님이 구원의 주체로 유월절을 재정해 지키도록 명령해 이스라엘 백성을 구원하셨고, 성자시대에는 예수께서 유월절 어린양으로 오셔서 예표된 절기를 그대로 이행하여 구원의 길을 열어 놓으셨다고 한다.

또 예수께서 십자가에 돌아가시기 전 유월절을 성만찬으로 번역해 새 언 약으로 세우셨다고 주장하고 있다. 마지막으로 성령시대에는 약속된 성령 곧 육체로 오신 예수(안상홍)께서 잃어버린 새 언약 곧 유월절을 회복하 시게 되는데, 이로 말미암아 구원이 완성하게 된다고 주장하고 있다.

하나님의교회의 주장처럼 유월절의 준수가 구원의 조건이 되는가? 이에 대해 진용식 목사는 『안상홍 증인회의 실체는?』에서 "유월절을 지켜서 죄사함을 받는 것이라면 성경에 죄사함 받은 수많은 사례들 중에 유월절을 지킴으로 죄사함 받은 사례가 있어야 한다"며 "신약성경 어디에도 유월절을 지킴으로 죄사함을 받은 기록은 없다"고 비판했다.

### 4) 안식일 성수

안식교 출신인 안상홍은 토요일을 안식일로 지켜야 한다고 주장한다.

하나님께서 지키라 명하신 창조주의 기념일, 안식일. 안식일(安息日)은 "쉬는 날"이란 의미에 앞서 "천지 만물을 창조하신 창조주 하나님을 기념하는 날"입니다. 하나님께서는 창조주의 기념일 인 안식일을 특별히 구분하여 십계명 가운데 네 번째 계명으로 도 정해주셨습니다. (하나님의교회 홈페이지)

예수님께서 부활하신 안식 후 첫날은 일요일입니다. 전 세계 기독교 신자들이 일요일에 부활절을 지키는 이유도 이 때문입니다. 안식일 다음날이 일요일이면 전날인 안식일은 당연히 토요일입니다. 그래서 예수님과 예수님의 본을 따르던 사도들은 신령과 진정으로 안식일, 즉 토요일에 예배를 드렸습니다. (하나님의교회 홈페이지)

진용식 목사는 『안상홍 증인회의 실체는?』에서 "안식일은 구약에서 이스라엘 백성에 주어진 절기이다. 그러나 신약에 와서는 지킬 필요가 없어졌다"며 "십자가에서 구약의 절기와 규례들이 폐했기 때문이다"라고 말한다. 이어서 "골로새서 2장 14~17절에 보면 '우리를 거스르고 불리하게 하는 법조문으로 쓴 증서를 지우시고 제하여 버리사 십자가에 못 박으시고 통치자들과 권세들을 무력화하여 드러내어 구경거리로 삼으시고 십자가로그들을 이기셨느니라 그러므로 먹고 마시는 것과 절기나 초하루나 안식일을 이유로 누구든지 너희를 비판하지 못하게 하라 이것들은 장래 일의 그

림자이나 몸은 그리스도의 것이니라'고 되어 있다"며 "이 문제는 십자가에서 폐한바 된 것이기 때문에 더 이상 폄론치 말라는 것이다"라고 반증한다.

하나님의교회는 죽은 안상홍을 하나님 아버지로, 살아 있는 장길자를 하나님 어머니로 믿고, 구약의 절기를 현시대에도 반드시 지켜야 한다고 주장한다. 시한부 종말을 주장해 신도들에게 공포심을 심어주고 재산을 바치도록 했다는 피해자들의 주장이 허위가 아니라는 대법원 판결(2018. 10. 4.)이 있었으며, 가출, 이혼 등 여러 사회적인 문제로 인해 미국과 호주 등국내외 언론에도 수차례 등장한 바 있다.

# 4. The World Mission Society Church of God

The World Mission Society Church of God(represented by Joo-Cheol Kim, hereinafter referred to as "Church of God") lately obtains an image as a voluntary organization. Such an image may cause serious misunderstanding to the general public who does not know the truth about this organization. Church of God is a cult organization which believes in the Sahng Hong Ahn, a founder of the Church of God and it is determined as a "heresy" by many denominations of the traditional churches

## (1) Who is Mr. Sahng Hong Ahn?

Mr. Sahng Hong Ahn (hereinafter referred as "Mr. Ahn" or "Ahn") was born at Gyenammyeon, Jangsu-gun, Jeollabuk-do, the Republic of Korea, on January 13th, 1918. In July 1947, he joined the Seventh Day Adventist Church. During his time in the Seventh Day Adventist Church, Mr. Ahn insisted that he realized the truth of the second coming of the Jesus Christ and joined a movement called "Sigipa" (a movement to count the time for the second coming of the Jesus Christ). However, he was expelled from the Seventh Day Adventist Church, on March 17th, 1962.

Mr. Ahn established Church of God in Busan with twenty three people who were expelled with him, on April 28th, 1964. And he started to teach his followers a lesson that "he is a God in flesh and Paraclete, the Holy Spirit". From that time, Mr. Ahn had prayed and baptized his followers in his name until his death.

Mr. Ahn deified himself as God, but he died of a stroke at a restaurant located in Busan, on February 25th, 1985. He was sixty

seven years old, when he was deceased. After the death of Mr. Ahn, the Witness of AhnSahngHong (another name of Church of God) was divided into several parts, including two major groups. One of two major groups is named as "New Promise Passover the Church of God" and this group believed in the first wife of the God (which means Mr. Ahn). Another major group believed in Gil Ja Jang. Small sized groups whose theories are different from the major groups also existed.

The strongest and biggest group among these groups was the World Mission Society Church of God which has been represented by Mr. Joo Cheol Kim and which believes in "God the Mother", Ms Gil Ja Jang (hereinafter referred to as "Ms Jang"). This group occupied the organization. After Mr. Ahn's death. Church of God and the followers of Mr. Ahn moved the headquarter of Church of God from Busan to Seoul, on March 22nd, 1985, and changed the name to "Church of God, Witness of Ahn Sahng Hong". In October of the same vear, the headquarter of this heresy moved Bongcheon-dong, Seoul. Church of God made predictions of Armageddon in 1988, 1999, and 2012, but every prediction of Armageddon made by this Church of God ended in failure. Church of God was conscious of public's attention caused by this failed predictions, and it changed its name to the "World Mission Society Church of God".

#### (2) What does the Church of God insist?

The followers of the Church of God believes in Mr. Ahn as "God the Father", and Ms Gil Ja Jang as "God the Mother." Since Mr. Ahn was used to be the member of the Seventh Day Adventist Church, Church of God's doctrines and theories are quite similar to

the doctrines and theories of the Seventh Day Adventist Church. Church of God teaches its followers a doctrine that Salvation is only available to the followers who obey and follow the doctrines of Passover and Sabbath Day.

#### 1) Mr. Ahn, the Second Coming Christ and God the Father

Church of God believes in Mr. Ahn as "God the Father" based on the following reasons:

> How will Jesus Christ achieve the forty year long period of King David's reign? Jesus Christ was baptized when he was thirty and worked as a messiah only for three years. In this three year period, Jesus Christ taught the public, spread the gospel and self sacrificed himself as a scapegoat for human race's sins. In comparison with the David's forty year reign, Jesus Christ spent only three years on his work. And then, how should the rest period, thirty seven years, be achieved? This thirty seven year period will be worked by a secret inspector (undercover King's agent) and then the prediction of the forty year period will be completely achieved. The period of David's reign (which was forty year long), is a prediction which shall be achieved by Jesus Christ in flesh and he shall work for full forty years for perfect completion of the prediction ([Secret of God], written by Sahng Hong Ahn, 79).

Jesus Christ, God in flesh, only worked for three years as messiah in the New Testament. Mr. Ahn insisted that thirty seven years shall be also worked by Jesus Christ, God in flesh, in comparison with the period of David's reign, forty years. Then, who is God in flesh

working for the rest period? Mr. Ahn insisted that a person who will find and achieve the new covenant at the last time is the Paraclete and the Paraclete is the Jesus Christ who will come in a human being.

It is a quotation from Mr. Ahn's book: In the time of Melchizedek, a person who prayed to God for mercy with bread and wine was only Melchisedek. In the time of the New Testament, only Jesus prayed to God for mercy with bread and wine. At present days, Church of God is only church which prays to God for mercy, in the Passover season. ([Secret of God] written by Sahng Hong Ahn, 162)

It is a quotation from Mr. Ahn's book: In the last time, God's words will become flesh and blood which will come to us as the order of Melchisedek, and he will reside with us. And he will give us lives with the Passover's bread and wine ([Secret of God] written by Sahng Hong Ahn, 164)

Mr. Joo-cheol Kim, the General Pastor of Church of God insists, in his book named [My sheep listens to my voices], that the Holy Spirit is a human being with certain name, based on the Holy Bible, Matthew 28:19 "baptizing them in the name of the Father, and of the Son, and of the Holy Spirit". In other words, Mr. Kim insists that Mr. Ahn's name is the Holy Spirit's name.

Church of God's insistences collectively means that a person who finds and recovers the season lost in the last time (new covenant) is the Holy Spirit and the Holy Spirit is God in flesh. According to its doctrine, Mr. Ahn is God in flesh, since he found and achieved this new covenant.

#### 2) God the Mother, Gil Ja Jang

Church of God insists that man and woman images co-exist in God's image and that Eve is the wife of Agnus Dei, second Coming Jesus Christ.

God created male and female in the image of God. In other words, in God's image, there are two images; male and female images ([People called by God] written by Joo-cheol Kim, 186)

Adam is a symbol of second coming of Jesus Christ. Therefore, Eve, Adam's wife represents Agnus Dei's wife. (People called by God] written by Joo-cheol Kim, 193)

Moreover, Church of God insists that 'the bride' mentioned in Chapter 22 of the Revelation is the 'Jerusalem coming down out of heaven from God' in Chapter 21 of the Revelation. This insistence is referred to Church of God's textbook called as [Moses' Staff]. Also, Church of God insists that Jerusalem is 'our mother' in accordance with Chapter 4 of Galatians and 'the bride' means 'our mother' in [Moses' staff]. In other words, "our mother" means Ms Jang chosen by Mr. Ahn as a bride of God, under the doctrine of Church of God.

Do the terms "Wife of Agnus Dei", "Bride" and "New Jerusalem" truly mean "God the Mother"? Pastor Yong Sik Jin (hereinafter Pastor Jin) explained the true meanings of such terms in his journal named as [The Truth of Witness of AhnSahngHong]. Pastor Jin said that 'according to Ephesians 5:22~23, the Bible compares the relationship between Church and Jesus Christ to the relationship

between husband and wife'. And Pastor Jin explained that the quotes from the Galatians by Church of God does not mean "God the Mother", but it is a comparison to the "relationship between the Judaism and the first church of Christianity". Based on these explanations, Pastor Jin criticized the doctrine of "God the Mother" which insists that "the New Jerusalem, the holy chapel in New Testament means the new people, Church of God".

#### 3) Salvation through Passover

If Church of God's followers try to propagate traditional Christians, followers of Church of God will firstly approach to Christians by asking the question "Are you truly saved and redeemed?". In case where the questioned Christian answers "yes", then they will probably ask "Do you fulfill the Passover obligation?" Church of God insists that the Salvation shall be based on the Passover.

Passover is the God's commandment prescribed in order to provide eternal lives for us. Jesus Christ taught a lesson that Passover is essential for the eternal life ([My sheep listens to my voices] written by Joocheol Kim, 82)

We are released from the laws of sin and death. This release is achieved by new law of life, the best commandment and regulation, in other words, New Covenant, "Passover."

Church of God divides the human history into three parts; Father's era Son's era, and the Holy Spirit's era. According to insistence of Church of God, in the Old Testament, a.k.a Father's era, God saved and redeemed Israelis by establishing the Passover. In the New

Testament, a.k.a Son's era, Church of God insists that Jesus Christ came as a lamb for the Passover, fulfilled the promise of the season, and opened the path for Salvation.

Additionally, Church of God insists that Jesus Christ interpreted the Holy Communion as the Passover and established a new covenant prior to his death on the cross. Lastly, Church of God insists that in the Holy Spirit's era, the promised Holy Spirit, in other words, Christ in flesh or God in flesh (Mr. Ahn) will recover the Passover, the new covenant, and he will complete the Salvation.

Is the Passover truly necessary to the Salvation, as the Church of God insists? Pastor Jin criticized in his journal [The Truth of Witness of AhnSahngHong] that "if the sin is forgiven by fulfilling the Passover obligations, there should be many examples and precedents which show that forgiveness is granted to people by fulfilling of the Passover obligations, but there is no such example in the New Testament of Holy Bible."

#### 4) Sabbath Day, the Worship day

Ahn was used to be a member of the Seventh Day Adventist Church and he insisted that Saturday should be the worship day.

God commanded us to keep the Sabbath day, the memorial day of God the Creator. It is a day of rest, but first and foremost it is a day to commemorate God's creation of the heaven and the earth. God distinguished the Sabbath day and appointed it as the fourth of the Ten Commandments. (https://watv. org/bible\_word/sabbath-day/)

The first day of the week, on which Jesus was resurrected, is Sunday. That's why Christians worldwide celebrate Jesus' resurrection on Sunday. Since the first day of the week is Sunday, the seventh-day Sabbath is Saturday without a doubt. That's why Jesus and the apostles who followed his example worshiped God in spirit and in truth on the Sabbath—Saturday. (https://watv.org/bible word/sabbathday/)

Pastor said his Journal The truth of Witness AhnSahngHong] that "Sabbath Day was an Israeli season in the Old Testament, but in the New Testament, it does not need to be kept and fulfilled, since the Cross took away the seasons and regulations of the Old Testament." Also Pastor Jin guoted the Colossians 2:14~17 for basis of his argument; "Having canceled the written code, with its regulations, that was against us and that stood opposed to us; he took it away, nailing it to the cross. And having disarmed the powers and authorities, he made a public spectacle of them, triumphing over them by the cross. Therefore, do not let anyone judge you by what you eat or drink, or with regard to a religious festival, a New Moon celebration of a Sabbath day. These are a shadow of the things that were to come, the reality, however, is found in Christ."

Church of God believes deceased Ahn as God the Father and living Jang as God the Mother and insists that seasons in the Old Testament shall be kept and fulfilled in present days. In Korean Supreme Court, victims of Church of God argued that Church of God frequently and repetitively insisted Armageddon and such insistence and predictions forced followers to contribute their property to Church of God. Korean Supreme Court held that this argument is not false (held Oct 4th, 2018). Also, Church of God was

shown in various countries' medias, because of disappearance, missing, divorce of its followers and other social problems caused by it.

## 4. 上帝的教会 世界福音宣教协会

因着上帝的教会世界福音宣教协会(代表:金柱哲,以下称上帝的教会)活跃的 对外活动其形象不断浮出水面。对于不了解这一团体的一般人来讲,这只是热 心进行社会运动的诸多韩国教会之一,上帝的教会是信他们的创始人安商洪的 团体,在韩国大多数教派定为异端。

#### (1) 安商洪是谁?

安商洪1918年1月13日出生在全罗北道的长水郡桂南面明德里,1947年7月入安息日会,1953年他声称自己领悟了真理参与到主张耶稣再临时期的"时期派"运动,1962年3月17日被逐出安息日教会。

之后安商洪带领 23名安息日信徒于1964年4月28日创办上帝的教会耶稣证人会,主张自己是披戴肉身来临的神,保惠师圣灵,跟随他的人以安商洪的名祷告和受洗。

把自己升格成神的安商洪67岁的那年,也就是 1985年 2月 25日在釜山一家饭店吃饭的时候中风死亡。他死后安商洪证人会分为高举第一任夫人为神夫人的"新契约逾越节上帝的教会"与追随第二任夫人为神夫人的两派,除此之外还分为几个小派系。

其中教势最强的是以第二任夫人张吉子为"天之母"金柱哲为总会长的上帝的教会世界福音宣教协会。1985年 3月 22日把本部从釜山移到首尔的安商洪追随者把团体名称改为上帝的教会安商洪证人会,10月把本部移到冠岳区奉天洞。因着1988年,1999年,2012年时限末世预言持续没有应验受到很多社会批判舆论,现今又改名为上帝的教会世界福音宣教协会活动。

#### (2) 上帝的教会主张什么?

上帝的教会接受安商洪为神,奉他的妻子张吉子为天母,因他是安息日会出身因此基础教义与安息日会类似,他们主张守安息日与逾越节才能得救。

#### 1) 再临基督安商洪神

上帝的教会相信安商洪是神的原因如下。

大卫做王40年,作为大卫后裔的耶稣怎样才能成就40年王位事工呢?耶稣 30岁受浸礼,实际上教导和传播福音3年之后牺牲在十字架上,因此他肉身的事工只有 3年。40年的事工只进行 3年那么剩余的 37年该怎样处理呢?在最后时期的 37年里耶稣成为暗行御史进行福音事工,满足 40年期限。大卫王 40年的事工成为预言,耶稣也要成为肉体满足 40年的事工这预言才能成就(《神的奥秘》安商洪著 79页)。

耶稣接续大卫的位来临,大卫在位期间是 40年但耶稣只有 3年,因此再临耶稣重新来临填满 37年的在位时间,此时 40年将会完成。那么安商洪所主张的再临耶稣是谁呢?安商洪主张,在最后的时期发现失去的节期(新契约)并使之得以恢复的人就是圣灵,这位圣灵就是道成肉身来临的耶稣。

麦基洗德当时用饼和葡萄酒祈福的人只有麦基洗德,在新约通过饼和葡萄酒祈福的只有耶稣基督。今日通过逾越节的饼和葡萄酒献祭继承生命的教会只有我们教会(《神的奥秘》安商洪著 162页)。

在最后时期道成肉身以麦基洗德的班次来到我们中间居住,通过新契约逾越节的饼和葡萄酒赐我们生命(《神的奥秘》安商洪著164页)。

上帝的教会总会长金柱哲在自己的书《我的羊听我的声音》中以马太福音 28:19 "奉父、子、圣灵的名给他们施洗"为根据主张圣灵是有名字的人格 体,就是说安商洪就是圣灵。

综合这些人的主张可发现,他们主张在最后时期发现所失去的节期(新契约)并恢复的就是圣灵,这圣灵就是道成肉身的耶稣,安商洪发现和恢复真理因此他就是所约定的圣灵和道成肉身的耶稣。

## 2) 天母(母亲上帝)张吉子

他们主张上帝的教会在神的形象里共存着男女的形象,夏娃预表着再临基督羔

羊的妻子。

神按着"我们的形象"即"神的形象"为模型所创造的存在就是男人与女人,这意味着神的形象里有复数的形象,更准确的讲就是男人和女人的形象共存在神里面(《蒙神呼召的人》金柱哲,186页)。

亚当是将来来临者就是基督的预表,因此亚当的妻子夏娃预表再临基督羔羊的妻子(《蒙神呼召的人》金柱哲,193页)。

上帝的教会圣经教材《摩西的杖》里记录,启示录 22章的新妇在 21章里称为 "天上的耶路撒冷"并且在加拉太书 4章称天上的耶路撒冷为我们的母亲,因此新妇就是我们的母亲。他们所说的"我们的母亲"就是被安商洪拣选为新妇的张吉子。

是否按着他们所主张"羔羊的妻子,"新妇,"新耶路撒冷"就是"天母"呢?陈勇植牧师在《安商洪证人会真面目?》一书中说明"以弗所书 5:22-32中所说的夫妻关系是用来比喻耶稣基督与教会的关系,并且为主张'天母'而使用的加拉太书经文是对犹太教与初期教会的比喻,新约圣经当中属灵的圣殿新耶路撒冷所指的就是成为神新百姓的教会,"他通过这些内容批判了"天母"教义。

#### 3) 通过逾越节的救赎

上帝的教会信徒向现有教会信徒传教的时候问 "你是否得救了?" 对方若回答已经得救了就接着问是否守逾越节?由此可发现上帝的教会所主张救赎的条件是遵守逾越节。

逾越节是神为赐永恒的生命给必死的我们而立定的诫命,耶稣教导 我们若想得永生就要守逾越节(《我的羊听我的声音》金柱哲著,82 页)。

我们从罪和死亡的律获得释放,这就是生命的律即因着新契约的逾越节所成就的基督最高的诫命,是通过规条所成就的(《我的羊听我的声音》金柱哲著,86页)。

他们主张堕落人类的历史可分为三个时代,就是圣父,圣子,圣灵的时代,旧约即圣父时代耶和华神命令遵守救赎的主体逾越节,在圣子时代耶稣成为逾越节的羔羊来到我们中间,施行了所预表的节期打开救赎的道路。

并且耶稣在被钉死在十字架之前把逾越节转换为圣餐建立新的契约,最后圣灵的时代所应许的圣灵即成为肉身来临的耶稣(安商洪)恢复失去的新契约(逾越节),由此救赎就得以完成。

真的如同上帝的教会所说,遵守逾越节是得救的条件呢?对此陈勇植牧师在《安商洪证人会真面目?》一书中写道"若守逾越节能够得救,那么圣经中诸多得救的事例中应有守逾越节得救的例子"并批判新约圣经任何地方都没有守逾越节得救的记载。

#### 4) 守安息日

安息日会出身的安商洪主张要守周六的安息日。

神所命令的"创造主纪念日"就是安息日。安息日虽然有"休息日"的意思,但更重要的是"纪念创造主创造天地万物"的日子。神将创造主的纪念日,也就是安息日放在十诫命的第四诫命(上帝的教会网站)。

耶稣复活后安息日后第一日是周日,全世界基督徒在主日守安息日的理由也是如此,安息日后的第一日是主日那么前一天理所当然是周六,因此耶稣和效法耶稣的使徒以心灵和诚实献上安息日即周六的礼拜(上帝的教会网站)。

陈勇植牧师在《安商洪证人会真面目?》一书中写道"安息日是旧约中神赐给以色列百姓的节期,但到了新约没有必要守这节期,因耶稣基督在十字架上废弃了旧约的节期和规条,歌罗西书2:14-17记载 "又涂抹了在律例上所写攻击我们有碍于我们的字据,把它撤去,钉在十字架上。既将一切执政的掌权的掳来,明显给众人看,就仗着十字架夸胜。所以不拘在饮食上,或节期、月朔、安息日,都不可让人论断你们。这些原是后事的影儿,那形体却是基督,并且这一问题已经在十字架上被废弃没有必要加以任何评论。"

上帝的教会把已死的安商洪当作父亲上帝,把活着的张吉子当作母亲上帝,并主张现今也必须守旧约的节期,并通过限时末世论给信徒带来恐惧心理掠夺信徒的财产,法院也曾经判决这些事件是真实的(2018. 10. 4),并且引发离家出走和离婚等社会问题而被美国和澳大利亚媒体数次曝光。

# <sup>5</sup> 지방교회

The Local Church 地方教会

## 5. 지방교회

지방교회는 중국에서 건너온 단체로 국내에는 1966년 양태론, 신인합일주의 등 정통 교리에서 벗어난 주장으로 예장고신, 통합 등 한국 교단에서 "이단"으로 결의되었다.

#### (1) 한국 지방교회 국내 유입 현황

한국의 지방교회는 중국의 공산화 이후에 워치만 니의 직계 제자라고 자칭하던 왕중생(한국 본명: 권익원)씨의 지도 아래 1966년 시작됐다. 권위주의적이고 폐쇄적인 성향을 띠었던 한국의 지방교회는 위트니스 리의 지방교회와는 교류가 거의 없다가, 왕씨의 사망을 계기로 80년대에 들어오면서 활발한 교류를 갖기 시작했다. 이로 인해 위트니스 리는 일 년에 한두 차례 내한해 전국 수련회를 인도했고, 미국과 대만 등에서 활동하고 있던 지도자들도 내한하기 시작했다. 이때쯤 한국 지방교회는 적극적인활동이 시작돼 대도시는 물론, 중소도시를 중심으로 교세가 확장되어 집회소들이 늘어나기 시작했고, 한국복음서원(www.kgbr.co.kr)을 설립해 출판 문서 활동을 시작했다.

현재 한국 지방교회는 약 90여 개의 집회소가 있고, 신도 수는 1만여 명을 상회하고 있다. 서울, 대전, 부산 등 20여 개 지역에 교회가 있고, 각교회마다 다시 소 단위 지역으로 세분화해 집회소를 세웠다. 신도들은 집회소에 소규모 단위로 모여 예배를 드린다. 한편 1974년에는 지방교회 출판사인 한국복음서원이 세워져 책을 출판하고 있다. 한국복음서원 인터넷홈페이지(www.kgbr.co.kr)에는 "성경에 대한 탁월한 이해와 풍성한 사역의말씀으로 전 세계 그리스도인들에게 크나큰 영향을 미쳐온 워치만 니와위트니스 리의 저서들을 전문적으로 출판하고 있다"고 홍보하고 있다.

## (2) 지방교회 창교자

한국교회는 보통 지방교회가 워치만 니의 가르침을 이어받은 위트니스 리의 그릇된 성서해석에 기초하고 있다고 보지만, 일각에선 워치만 니의 사상에 문제를 제기하며 지방교회의 창시자를 워치만 니로 보기도 한다. 워치만 니와 위트니스 리는 누구인가?

#### 1) 워치만 니

워치만 니는 1903년 11월 4일에 중국 후저우에서 태어났다. 1920년 4월 도루아라는 여전도사가 인도하던 부흥집회에서 예수를 구주로 영접하게 되고 이후 후저우의 트리니티 대학을 다니며 설교와 가르침에 전념했다.

1927년 폐결핵을 진단받은 워치만 니는 2년간 요양생활을 하게 됐고, 이시기에 "영에 속한 사람"이라는 방대한 책을 저술, 인간의 본성을 영과 혼그리고 몸으로 나누어 이해하는 3분설을 주장하기 시작했다.

워치만 니는 중일전쟁의 영향으로 어려움을 겪게 되지만, 1942년 교회 개 척자들과 전도자들의 재원을 조달할 목적으로 화학공장을 운영하기 시작 했다. 일본의 항복과 1945년 세계2차대전이 끝남과 동시에 사업에서 물러 난 워치만 니는 설교와 가르침에 전념하지만 이후 중화인민공화국이 들어 서면서 1952년 4월, 부패한 사업 운영을 행한 혐의로 체포돼 15년 형에 처해지게 된다.

15년 형이 마무리 되고 출소를 앞둔 1967년, 공산정부는 워치만 니를 개조되지 않은 죄수로 간주해 5~7년형을 더 선고했고, 1972년 6월 워치만 니는 운명하게 됐다. 공식적 이유는 심장병으로 돼 있으나 주변 정황으로 볼 때 처형됐을 가능성이 높은 것으로 보인다.

워치만 니는 신약교회 유형을 재현하려는 시도에서 교단명칭을 사용하지 않았고, 신자들을 단순히 '그리스도인'이라 불렀으며, 교회를 위한 모임장소를 '집회소'라고 불렀다.

#### 2) 위트니스 리

위트니스 리는 1905년 중국의 즈푸(Chefoo)지방에서 태어났다. 1927년 워치만 니 그룹이 발간하는 잡지를 연구하기 시작한 이후 그룹에 합세해 설교를 시작, 수년 동안 "작은 무리 운동"을 인도했다. 그 후 워치만 니를 도우라는 요청을 받고 후저우 지방으로 건너온 위트니스 리는 상해와 필리핀을 담당하는 대표 사역자가 된다.

워치만 니가 투옥된 이후 위트니스 리와 "작은 무리 운동"의 다른 지도자들 사이에 분열이 일어나게 되면서 위트니스 리는 대만과 필리핀 교인들중 다수를 데리고 독자적인 교회를 개척했고, 워치만 니와 그의 추종자들이 중국에서 "작은 무리 운동"을 전개했던 방식대로 그의 운동을 전개해나갔다. 1962년 위트니스 리는 미국 로스앤젤레스에 최초의 미국 지방교회를 설립했고, 이 애너하임교회는 지방교회의 세계 본부가 된다.

## (3) 지방교회의 주요 주장

#### 1) 하나님과 사람의 연합 - 신인합일주의 사상

위트니스 리는 하나님께서 사람을 만드신 이유에 대해 하나님 자신을 사람 속에 공급함으로 하나님과 같게 되게 하기 위함이라고 주장한다.

하나님의 경륜이란 오로지 하나님께서 자신을 사람 속에 공급하시는 것이다. (중략) 그 분은 마치 거대한 자본을 가진 능력 있는 사업가와 같은 분이다. 하나님에게는 이 우주 가운데 한 가지 사업이 있다. 그분의 거대한 재산이 바로 그분의 자본이다. (중략) 그 자본을 가지고 하나님은 자신을 대량으로 '생산'할 것을 계획하신다. (위트니스 리, 『하나님의 경륜』, 10)

오늘날 그분은 하늘들에서 한 가지 일을 하시는데, 그것은 그분께서 구속받고 거듭난 모든 사람들에게 일하시어 그들을 하나님이 되게 하시는 것이다. (중략) 그분은 그들 안에서 계속하여 그들을 거룩하게 하시고 새롭게 하시고 변화시킴으로써 그들을 하나님이 되게 하신다. 이 변화가 바로 그들을 신화(神化)한다. 변화의 목적은 사람이 하나님의 형상과 같은 형상을 이루어 그분과 완전히 똑같아질 때까지 사람을 하나님이 되게 하는 것이다. (워치만 니, 위트니스 리, 『아침 부흥을 위한 거룩한 말씀』, 19)

말에서 난 것은 말들이요, 영이신 하나님으로부터 난 우리는 영 들이요 하나님들이다. (위트니스 리, 『하나님-사람의 생활』, 21)

위와 같이 위트니스 리의 주장으로 볼 때 하나님이 사람을 창조한 목적은

자신을 대량으로 생산하기 위함으로 비춰지고, 창조자 하나님과 피조물인 사람의 엄연한 관계가 흐려져 차이의 구분이 모호하게 된다.

이러한 위트니스 리의 주장에 대해 대한예수교장로회(통합)에서 발간한 『사이비이단연구 보고집』에서는 "전능하사 천지를 지으신 창조주 하나님과 피조물인 인간 사이의 뛰어넘을 수 없고 엄격한 차이를 인정해야 하는 우리의 신앙과 정면으로 위배되는 것이다"라고 비판했다.

#### 2) 사탄이 거하고 있는 사람을 입은 예수

위트니스 리는 예수가 인간을 구원하기 위해 죄 있는 육신을 입고 왔다고 주장하고 있다. 따라서 부활 전 예수는 육신으로는 하나님의 아들이 아니 었다고 한다.

하나님은 육신을 입으심으로 그 안에 사탄이 있는 이 사람의 모양을 입으신 것이다. 하나님이 사람으로 육신을 입으셨을 때 그가 입은 사람은 사탄에 의해 타락된 사람의 모양이었다. 그가육신을 입으실 때 사람은 순수한 사람이 아니라 사탄에 의해 파괴당한, 부패된 사람이었다. (중략) 주 예수께서 자기 자신을 육체로 거하게 하셨을 때 그분은 '죄의 육신의 모양'이었다. 그분안에는 죄가 없었다. 그러나 죄의 육신의 모양은 있었다. (위트니스 리, 『하나님의 경륜』, 155-156)

그리스도께서 사람으로 오셨을 때, 그는 인성을 입었다. 그러나이 인성은 거룩하지 않았다. 왜냐하면 그것은 우리의 성품과 똑같았기 때문이다. 오직 한 가지 차이점은 우리의 성품에는 죄가있었으나 그의 성품에는 죄가 없었다. (중략) 그의 육신은 죄 있는 것도 아니었고 거룩한 것도 아니었다. (중략) 그러므로 인성을 입은 그리스도는 거룩하게 될 필요가 있었다. 이것은 그의부활을 통해 완성됐다. (위트니스 리,『그 영과 몸』, 76)

요약하면 위트니스 리의 기독론은 예수의 인성에 변화가 있었다고 본다. 즉 하나님의 독생자에게는 신성만 있고 하나님의 아들로 인정된 인성이 없었지만 부활함으로 예수는 신성과 인성을 다 지닌 하나님의 맏아들이 됐다는 것이다. 이러한 위트니스 리의 주장에 대해 대한예수교장로회(통합)에서 발간한 『사이비이단연구 보고집』에서는 "결국 사람이 하나님과 똑같이 될 수 있다는 신인합일 사상에서 나온 것으로서 예수님이 나실 때부터 승천하시기까지 참 하나님이시요 참 인간이신 그리스도의 양성교리에 어긋나는 것"이라고 비판했다.

## 3) 삼일 하나님은 양태론

기성교회에서는 신론을 이해할 때 삼위일체(三位一體)라는 표현을 사용한다. 삼위일체는 하나님께서 하나의 본질에 세 위격으로 계신다는 신학 용어다. 그러나 삼위일체는 그 안에 담긴 내용 자체의 오묘함으로 풀이가쉽지 않은 것이 사실이다. 한 분 하나님을 강조하게 되면 양태론으로 빠질 위험이 있고, 세 분의 인격을 강조하게 되면 삼신론으로 이해되기 쉽다. 위트니스 리는 삼위일체 대신 삼일 하나님을 주장하며, 양태론적인 사상을 주장하고 있다. 양태론이란 무엇인가? 신학사전에서는 "하나님께서창조주로서는 성부로 나타나셨고, 구주로서는 성자로 나타나셨으며, 성화의 주로서는 성령으로 나타나셨다는 것"으로 정의돼 있다. 즉 양태론은삼위일체가 아닌 일위일체를 주장하는 것이다. 위트니스 리의 삼일 하나님 교리는 어떠한가?

하나님, 그리스도, 성령도 세 인격 안에 나타난 한 분 하나님이다. 하나님은 근본이요, 그리스도는 하나님의 표현이요, 성령은 그리스도 안에서 하나님을 사람 안에 전해주는 것이다. 그러므로 삼일성(三一性)의 세 인격은 하나님의 경륜의 과정 안에서 이어지는 세 단계가 된다. (위트니스 리, 『하나님의 경륜』, 12)

하나님은 신성과, 인성과, 성육신되심과, 인생과, 십자가와, 부활과, 승천을 지닌 과정을 거친 하나님이다. 이 과정을 거친 우리하나님은 이제 만유를 포함한 생명주는 영이시다. (중략) 하나님의 경륜 안에서 과정을 거치신 하나님인 만유를 포함한 이 영은우리 안에 나야 하고, 우리는 그로 나야 한다. (위트니스 리,『그영과 몸』, 106-107)

요약하면 위트니스 리가 주장하는 삼일 하나님은 과정을 거친 삼일 하나 님으로 하나님께서 사람에게 자신을 분배하기 위해 과정을 거치셨다는 것 이다. 다시 말해 구약에서 하나님은 신성만 있었으나 성육신의 과정으로 '하나님-사람'이 됐고, 부활을 통해 인성을 포함한 영이 됐다는 것이다. 하나님이 아들로 아들이 그 영으로 과정을 거쳤다는 것인데 이러한 주장은 양태론적인 사상이다.

위트니스 리의 삼일 하나님 주장에 대해 대한예수교장로회(통합)에서 발간한 『사이비이단연구 보고집』에서는 "위트니스 리가 비록 양태론적 삼위일체관을 변형된 형태로 표현하고는 있지만 명백한 양태론으로서, 그의사상은 하나님의 전능성에도 위배될 뿐만 아니라 또한 어제나 오늘이나동일하신 하나님의 불변성과 영원성을 무너뜨리는 잘못된 것"이라고 비판했다.

한국에서 지방교회에 대한 인식은 1980년 대 위트니스 리가 내한하기 시작하면서 수면 위로 부상하기 시작했다. 정통신앙에서 벗어난 주장으로 기성 교회에서 이단으로 결의됨에 따라 경계의 대상이 됐지만 교세는 점진적으로 성장했다. 지방교회가 도덕적으로 문제가 있는 단체는 아니지만, 정통신앙에서 수호하는 믿음의 고백들에 비춰 볼 때 그들의 주장은 많은 차이를 보이고 있다.

#### 5. The Local Church

The Local Church is a heresy originally founded in the People's Republic of China (China). This organization insists "the Sabellianism" and "the union of God and human" which are against traditional Christian doctrines. As a result, the Koshin Presbyterian Church in Korea (Koshin) and the Presbyterian Church of Korea (Tonghap) decided this organization as a heresy.

#### (1) Current Status of the Local Church in the Republic of Korea

The Local Church in Korea (Korean Local Church) was started in 1966, by Joong Saeng Wang (Korean real name: Ik Won Kwon) who asserted himself as a disciple of Watchman Nee, a founder of the Local Church. The Korean Local Church had been operated in a very authoritative and closed manner, and it had rarely contacted to Witness Lee until the death of Mr. Wang. In 1980s, after Mr. Wang's death, the Korean Local Church has made active contacts to Witness Lee's Local Church. Based on this connection, Mr. Witness Lee has regularly visited Korea a couple of times in a year and led retreats of the Korean Local Church, with other leaders from the Local Churches of Taiwan and USA. At the same time, the Korean Local Church actively started its propagation work in Korea and the number of its followers increased, in big and small cities in Korea. The number of its assembly facilities and halls increased by such propagation work, as well. And the Korean Local Church established its publishing company named 'Korean Gospel Book Room' (www.kgbr.co.kr) and started its publishing business.

The Korean Local Church has currently about 90 places of assembly facilities and halls for meeting and services for their own, and the

number of followers are more than 10,000. There are 20 Korean Local Churches in Seoul, Daejeon, Busan and other cities. Each Korean Local Church takes its own district and builds its assembly facility or hall for each small district. Followers residing in a small district go to services held at such assembly facility or hall. As mentioned above, in 1974, the Korean Local Church established its publishing company named 'Korean Gospel Book Room'.

#### (2) The Founder of the Local Church

Most traditional Christian churches in Korea consider that the Local Church's doctrine is based on a wrongful bible interpretation of Witness Lee, a disciple of Watchman Nee. However, some people argues that Watchman Nee's theories and doctrines are wrongful, as well, and that the founder of the Local Church is Watchman Nee. Then who are these people, Watchman Nee and Witness Lee?

#### 1) Watchman Nee

Watchman Nee was born in Huzhou, China, on 4th November, 1903. He accepted Christ as his savior at a revival assembly held by an evangelist called "Dorua" in April 1920. After his acceptance, Watchman Nee went to the Trinity College located at Huzhou and studied sermon and lessons in the college.

In 1927, Watchman Nee was diagnosed with tuberculosis and rested for his health recovery for 2 years. During this period, he wrote a book named the "Spiritual Man" which insists that the human nature is divided into three parts; spirit, soul and body.

Watchman Nee went through financial difficulties caused by the

Sino- Japanese War, and he and his followers operated a chemical factory for financing purpose, in 1942. In 1945, Japan's surrender and the end of the 2nd World War, Watchman Nee stopped operating the factory and focused on his sermon and lessons. However, the Communist regime seized the power in China, and the Chinese Government arrested Watchman Nee for corruptive/unfair operation of business and he was sentenced to imprisonment for 15 years.

In 1967, after 15 year long imprisonment, the Communist regime sentenced Watchman Nee to additional 5~7 year long imprisonment, again. Watchman Nee passed away in June 1972. The official cause of death was a heart disease, but, it was presumed that he was executed, under various circumstances.

Watchman Nee did not use any name of traditional religious organizations (denomination), since he wanted to re-create the church of the New Testament. Therefore, he called his followers as "Christians" and his followers' meeting place as "assembly".

#### 2) Witness Lee

Wintess Lee was born in Chefoo, China, in 1905. In 1927, Witness Lee started to study the contents of the magazines published by Watchman Nee and he joined the Watchman Nee's group. Witness Lee participated in the activities of the group and he led "small group movement". He moved from Chefoo to Huzhou with a request for help and support from Watchman Nee and he became the one of representative leaders of the Watchman Nee's group in Shanghai and Phillippines.

After Watchman Nee's imprisonment, his absence tore his group apart. Witness Lee were in conflict with other leaders of "small group movement". Witness Lee founded and established his own church with his followers in Taiwan and Philippines and he proceeded "small group movement" by himself, as Watchman Nee did in China. In 1962, Witness Lee founded American Local Church in Los Angeles and this Local Church located at Anaheim became the worldwide headquarter of the Local Church.

#### (3) Main insistence of the Local Church<sup>6)</sup>

# 1) Union of God and Human - Union between God and Human

Witness Lee insists that God creates a human being and dispenses himself to the human being for making the humans same with God himself.

The Economy of God is only God's intent to dispense himself to the human race... He is like a successful businessman who has an enormous amount of capital. God has a business in this universe, and his vast wealth is his capital... All of this capital is simply Himself, and with it he intends to "manufacture" himself in mass production. (Witness Lee, "The Economy of God, 10)

Today, he works only for one thing in the heaven and his

96

<sup>6)</sup> For clearance of doubts, all quotations in this article are either translation of Korean version of the relevant book or quotations uploaded in the public website (https://www.ministrybooks.org) from an ordinary websearch engine.

sole work is to transform the saved and secured humans into the God... He stays within the humans and makes them holy and new. He changes the humans to the God. This change makes them deified. The purpose of such change is to make the humans in same figure with God's figure and to change them into the God. (Watchman Nee & Witness Lee, "The Holy Word for Morning Survival,", All inheriting vision of the Age, 19)

That which is born of a horse is a horse. We are born of the Spirit, and the Spirit is God. The bible tells us clearly that God is Spirit.(Witness Lee, "The God living man,", 21)

According to the books' quotes mentioned above, Witness Lee insists that God created the human race for mass producing himself. His insistence blurs the distinction between the God, the creator, and the human race, the creature.

As to Witness Lee's such insistence, the book called [Cult/Heresy Research Report] published by the Presbyterian Church of Korea (Tonghap) criticized Witness Lee that "Christians must admit prominent and impassable difference and distinction between the God, the almighty creator and the human, only a creature. This admission is the basis of Christian's belief and faith."

#### 2) Jesus Christ in a body of a human being with Satan

Witness Lee insists that Jesus was born in a sinful body of human, since he was born to salvate the human race. In his insistence, lesus had not been the Son of the God until the Resurrection.

God put man upon himself - a man all-inclusive of the old creation, Satan. When God put man upon himself, the man was not a pure man, but a body fell from grace, corrupted and destroyed by Satan... When Jesus Christ was alive, he had a body of sinful flesh. Jesus Christ had no sin inside of himself, but Jesus had a sinful body. (Witness Lee, The Economy of God, 155-156)

When Christ came to this world, he put a man upon himself. However, the personality of man was not holy, since it was same to the personality that we have. Only the difference is that Christ does not have any sin within him, but we do... His flesh and body were neither sinful nor holy... Therefore, Christ with a human body had to become holy and sacred and his holiness was completed by the Resurrection. (Witness Lee, "The Spirit and Body,", 76)

In summary of Witness Lee's insistence, Jesus Christ's personality was changed. In other words, Witness Lee asserts that the only-begotten Son has divinity, but no personality as the Son of the God. And he insists that Jesus became the eldest son of the God who has both divinity and personality, only after the Resurrection.

[Cult/Heresy Research Report] published by the Presbyterian Church of Korea (Tonghap) criticized Witness Lee's assertions that "a man may become same with the God. In a traditional Christian doctrine, Jesus Christ was always both a man and the God for the period from the birth of himself to the Ascension. Witness Lee's assertion is against this traditional and rightful doctrine."

#### 3) Sabellianism

In a traditional Christian doctrine of the God, the expression, "Trinity" is commonly used. The Trinity means Father, Son, and Holy Spirit as three persons in one Godhead. However, the Trinity is a truly profound and mysterious area which is not easily explained. If the Godhead is emphasized, then the Trinity could fall into the Sabellianism. If the three persons are emphasized, then the Trinity could fall into the tritheism. Witness Lee focuses on the Godhead, rather than the Trinity, and his interpretation on the Godhead conforms to the Sabellianism. Then, what is the Sabellianism? In a theological dictionary, quote "Modalism, also called Sabellianism, is the unorthodox belief that God is one person who has revealed himself in three forms or modes, as a creator (Father), a savior (Son) and a deified figure (Holy Spirit), in contrast to the Trinitarian doctrine where God is one being eternally existing in three persons."

God, Christ, and the Holy Spirit are one God expressed in three persons: God is the source, Christ is the expression of God, and the Holy Spirit is the transmission bringing God in Christ into man. Thus, the three persons of the Trinity become the three successive steps in the process of God's economy. (Witness Lee, "The Economy of God\_1, 12)

According to God's economy, Christ passed through the process of incarnation, crucifixion, resurrection, and ascension. By His allinclusive death he accomplished redemption and solved all our problems. Now. resurrection, he is the all-inclusive life-giving Spirit, ready for us to receive and enjoy... As long as we are one with him in our spirit, our whole being will be permeated with the Spirit of holiness, and we shall become separate, absolutely different, from everything other than God. We

shall also be permeated with God's living in us. (Witness Lee, "The Spirit and Body, 106-107)

In summary, Witness Lee's doctrine of God means that Father, Son, and Holy Spirit are one God divided into three steps by the God for transmission of the God to the human race. In other words, the God in the Old Testament who only had the divinity became "God-Man" by incarnation and finally became the Spirit by the Resurrection, in Witness Lee'a insistence. His insistence shows the God's transformation process and this is a typical Sabellianism.

Cult/Heresy Research Report published by the Presbyterian Church of Korea (Tonghap) criticized Witness Lee's such Sabellianism that "his interpretation on the God is directly conflict with not only the God's almighty, but also the eternity and constancy of the God."

In Korean society, the Local Church became stood out after Witness Lee's visit to Korea in 1980s. The Local Church's doctrines and insistence are unorthodox and different from the traditional Christian doctrines and many denominations decided the Local Church as a heresy, but the number of followers has increased. The Local Church is a heresy without significant ethical issues in the Korean society, but its theories and doctrines are heretical.

## 5. 地方教会

地方教会来自中国,从1966年开始在韩国,因主张样态论和神人合一的异端思想,被韩国主要教派[高神]和[统合]等定为异端。

#### (1) 地方教会流入韩国现状

韩国的地方教会在中国解放之后,由自称倪柝声直系门徒的王重生(韩文原名:权益元)的指导下从 1966年开始。注重权威主义并封闭的地方教会与李常受的地方教会无任何联系。但是王重生死亡后进入 80年代开始与中国的地方教会活跃的交流,因此,李常受每年都会访韩一两次,并引导全国修炼会,在美国和台湾等地活动的领导人也开始访韩。此时他们开始积极的活动不单是在大城市而且在中小城市也积极扩展势力增加很多聚会场所,并且创办韩国福音书院(www.kgbr.co.kr)积极开展福音文书工作。

现在韩国地方教会约有 90个聚会场所,信徒约有 1万名。在首尔,釜山,大田等 20几个地区拥有教会,每个教会都组织细胞小组聚会所,信徒在聚会所以小规模为单位聚会。1974年建立了地方教会出版社韩国福音书院,正在出书。在他们的出版社网站(www.kgbr.co.kr)介绍以 "丰富的圣经理解感动全世界基督徒的倪柝声和李常受的书籍。"

#### (2) 地方教会创始人

通常韩国教会认为地方教会是,接受倪柝声徒弟李常受的错误解释圣经的影响,但有另外一些观点认为倪柝声的思想存在着问题,并把倪柝声当作地方教会的创始人,那么倪柝声和李常受是何人?

#### 1) 倪柝声

倪柝声 1903年 11月 4日出生在中国的湖州,1920年 4月参加一位女传道士多里亚所引导的奋兴聚会时接受耶稣为自己的救主,之后就读湖州的三一大学专注于讲道和教导。

1927年患上肺结核的倪柝声疗养 2年期间撰写他的代表著作"属灵的人",并主张把人分为灵,魂,体的三分说。

倪柝声在中日战争的影响下受难,但从 1942年开始为给开拓者和教会领袖提供经济资助为目的运营一家化学工厂。日本投降 1945年第二次世界大战结束后脱离工厂经营专注于讲道和教导,之后中华人民共和国建立,1952年 4月以腐败经营为嫌疑被捕判 15年徒刑。

服刑 15年被释放前夕1967年以难以改造为理由加刑5-7年,1972年 6月倪柝声去世,公开原因是心脏病但根据周围情况判断有可能被行刑而死。

倪柝声为重现新约教会类型而拒绝使用教派名称,把信徒简单称为"基督徒"把聚会的场所称为"聚会所。"

#### 2) 李常受

李常受1905年出生在中国的烟台芝罘(Chefoo),1927年研究倪柝声团队发行的 杂志后参与到他们的团队开始讲道事工,向后数年时间里带领"小群运动。" 之后受邀请来湖州帮助倪柝声的事工,成为上海与菲律宾地区负责人。

倪柝声入狱之后李常受"小群运动"与其他领袖之间产生分裂,李常受带领台湾和菲律宾信徒中大多数人建立独立的教会。以倪柝声和追随者使用的"小群运动"的方法展开工作,1962年李常受在美国的洛杉矶建立第一所美国地方教会,从此这所教会成为地方教会世界本部。

#### (3) 地方教会主要主张

#### 1) 神与人的联合 - 神人合一思想

李常受主张神创造人的理由是神为把自己供应到人里面使人成为神。

神的经纶是神把自己供应到人里面,祂如同拥有巨大资本有能力的企业家,神在宇宙中有一件要做的事情,祂巨大的财产就是他的资本。(略)透过这些资本神计划大量 "生产"自己(《神的经纶》李常受)。

今日神在诸天之上做一件事情,那就是祂使得救重生的所有的人成为神。(略)祂在这些信徒里面使他们圣洁, 更新和变化他们,使他们成为神。这样的变化就是使他们神化,变化的目的是人为了拥

有与神同样的形象直到一步步变化完全成为神(《为凌晨复兴的神圣话语》继承一切的时代理想,倪柝声&李常受,2005年,19页)。

马生的是马,从身为灵的神所出的我们就是灵,这灵就是神(《神-人的生活》,李常受,21页)。

如上所述根据李常受的主张来看神创造人的目的就是为了大量生产自己,因此创造主神与被造物人之间的关系变得模糊,差异也模糊。

对李常受的主张大韩耶稣教长老会(统合)所出版的《邪教异端研究报告集》里批判"要承认全能的创造主神与被造物之间有无法逾越的鸿沟,因此李常受的观点正面违背我们的观点。"

#### 2) 耶稣所披戴的肉体是撒旦居住的地方

李常受主张耶稣为拯救人类披戴有罪的肉身来到我们中间,因此在复活之前耶稣并不是神的儿子。

神披戴了肉身,就是披戴了被撒旦居住的人的样子。神所穿戴的人是被撒旦所诱惑之后堕落的样子。所以神所穿戴的不是纯粹的人,而是被撒旦破坏的腐败之人。(略)因此主耶稣穿戴肉体的时候穿戴的是"戴罪的肉身"。在他里面没有罪,但肉体却是有罪的。(《神的经纶》李常受、155-156页)。

基督成为人来临的时候披戴了人性,但这人性并不圣洁,因为这与我们的品性相同, 唯一的不同点就是,我们的品性中有罪,但耶稣的品性没有罪。他的肉身没有罪也不圣洁,因此披戴人性的基督也需要圣洁,这一点基督通过复活得到了完全(《那灵与身体》李常受,76页)。

总的来讲,李常受的基督论在耶稣的人性上有了变化,神的独生子只有神性, 没有被认可为神的儿子的人性,通过复活,耶稣成为了既有神性也有人性的大 儿子。 对李常受的主张大韩耶稣教长老会(统合)所出版的《邪教异端研究报告集》里 批判结果是,出自人能够成为神的神人合一思想。这违背我们所主张耶稣从出 生到升天都是真神真人的神人两性教义。

#### 3) 三一神是样态论

现有教会讲神论的时候使用"三位一体"这个词,这个词代表着神同有一个本质和三个位格。但三位一体因自身的奥妙而难以解释。若过于强调一位神就容易陷入样态论,若过于强调三位格就容易理解成三神论。李常受代替三位一体所主张的是三一神,也就是主张样态论思想。那么,什么是样态论呢?神学词典中定义"神是创造主的时候是圣父,救主的时候是圣子,圣化的主的时候出现为圣灵,"样态论并不是三位一体,是一位一体,那么李常受的三一神教义是怎样的呢?

神,基督,圣灵是出现在三个位格当中的一位神,神是根本,基督是神的表现,圣灵在基督里把神传达给人,因此三一性的三个位格是在神的经纶过程里所延续的三个阶段(《神的经纶》李常受,12页)。

神是经过神性,十字架,复活,升天过程的神。经过这些过程的神 现今是包含万有的赐给生命的灵,在神的经纶中经历了一切过程的 神,就是包容万有的灵,要生在我们里面,我们也要因这灵出生 (《那灵与身体》李常受、106-107页)。

李常受所主张的三一神是经历过程的三一神,神为了将自己分配给人而经历的过程。在旧约神只有神性,经过道成肉身成为 "神-人" 透过复活成为包含人性的灵,经历神成为儿子,儿子成为那灵的过程,这样的主张是样态论思想。

对李常受的三一神主张大韩耶稣教长老会(统合)所出版的《邪教异端研究报告集》里批判"李常受虽然以变形的方式主张样态论思想,但这的确是样态论, 其违背神的全能性,神昨日今日都一样神,神拥有不变性和永远性,这李常受的主张分明是错的。" 韩国对地方教会的认知从 1980年李常受来到韩国浮出水面,因主张脱离正统教会信仰的内容而成为教会警戒的对相,但其教势还是逐渐成长。地方教会虽然在道德方面无显著问题,但与正统教会所守护的信心告白相比较可发现明显 差距。

# 6 사랑하는교회

Beloved Church 相爱的教会

## 6. 사랑하는교회

사랑하는교회(대표 변승우, 구 큰믿음교회)는 한국 교계에서 많은 논란을 일으키고 있는 단체 중 하나다. 설립자인 변승우씨는 구원관과 신비주의적인 신앙 형태로 한국 교계의 주목과 의심을 받았지만, 이에 아랑곳하지않는 행보로 2008년 고신 측을 시작으로 통합, 합동, 백석, 기성, 예성, 기감 측에서 이단, 참여금지, 교류금지, 예의주시 등으로 결의됐다. 사랑하는교회는 서울특별시 송파구 위례성대로22길 27-22(오금동)에 새 건물을 마련했다. 교회 명칭을 '큰믿음교회'에서 '사랑하는교회'로 바꾸고 2015년 12월 20일 새 건물에서 첫 예배를 진행했다.

#### (1) 변승우는 누구인가?

변승우씨는 성결교신학교(현 성결대학교) 신학과를 졸업하고 군복무를 마친 후 서울에서 교회를 개척했다. 그러나 5년 동안의 교회 개척은 실패로 끝났고 이후 울산으로 내려가 10년 넘게 20여 명의 교인들을 대상으로 목회를 했다. 2005년 변씨는 다시 울산을 떠나 서울 방배동에 사랑하는교회(당시 큰믿음교회)를 개척, 교세 확장에 주력했고, 교회는 급성장하기 시작했다.

서울 논현동 인근으로 옮긴 후 사랑하는교회는 5000여 신도가 모이는 대형 교회로 성장해 한국교회의 주목을 받게 되지만 '이단성' 논란에 빠지게된다. 2009년 예장고신 교단은 변씨의 구원관, 계시관, 신사도적운동 추구, 다림줄, 신학 및 교리 경시, 한국교회를 폄하하는 발언 등으로 "참여금지", 예장통합 교단은 변씨의 구원관, 입신, 예언, 방언 등 극단적인 신비주의 신앙 형태 등으로 "이단"으로 결의했다.

예장합동 교단은 "집회참석금지", 예장합신은 "이단성이 있어 참여 및 교류금지"로 각각 결의했다. 예성은 2012년에 원판 변질, 개인체험에 의한성경해석, 급진적 신비주의를 추구한다는 이유로 "이단", 기감은 2014년 "예의주시"로 결의했다.

이에 변씨는 2009년 9월 27일 사랑하는교회 1부 예배에서 "현대교회의 어두움이 얼마나 심각한 상태인지는 이번 총회 때 교단들이 내린 불의하

고 불법적인 결정들이 그대로 보여주고 있다"고 주장, 교단들의 결의내용을 비판했고, 2009년 12월 7일 "대한예수교장로회 부흥교단"을 창립해 지속적으로 자신의 교리를 전파하고 있다.

#### (2) 변승우씨의 주장

#### 1) 행위가 포함된 조건적 구원

변승우씨는 그의 저서 『진짜 구원 받은 사람도 진짜 버림 받을 수 있다』에서 "한 번 구원받은 사람도 버림받고 멸망 받을 수 있다"고 말했다. 즉 변씨의 주장에 따르면 믿음의 성도도 구원받지 못할 수 있다는 것이다. 변씨는 『지옥에 가는 크리스천들』에서 "오늘날 많은 사람들이 믿음으로 구원받는 것이기 때문에 믿기만 하면 천국에 간다고 생각한다. 심지어 어떤 사람들은 '구원은 믿음으로 받고 상급은 행함으로 받는 것이기 때문에하나님의 말씀에 순종하지 못하고 죄 가운데 살아도 구원은 받을 수 있다'고 생각한다. 이런 생각들은 모두 성경이 말하는 믿음이 무엇인지를 모르기 때문에 생긴 매우 위험한 생각들이다"라고 주장했다.

변씨의 주장을 좀 더 살펴보면 다음과 같다.

누구든지 하나님의 말씀대로 살지 않는 자는 결단코 천국에 들어가지 못합니다. 이것은 믿는 자들도 예외가 될 수 없습니다. (『지옥에 가는 크리스천들』, 98)

"믿음이 있노라 하고 행함이 없으면" 단순히 상급이 아니라 "구 원을 받을 수 없다"는 말이 됩니다. (『지옥에 가는 크리스천들』, 104)

믿음이 있노라 하고 복음적인 순종이 없는 자는 실제적인 믿음을 가지고 있는 자가 아니며 천국에 들어가지 못합니다. (『지옥에 가는 크리스천들』, 118)

사람은 마음 속에 있는 믿음으로만 의롭다함을 얻는 것이 아니라, 마치 몸의 움직임과 활동이 몸에 있는 생명의 표현이듯 믿

음이 가지고 있는 생명의 표현인 행위들로도 의롭다함을 얻는다는 말입니다. (『지옥에 가는 크리스천들』, 127)

성도의 궁극적인 구원은 조건적인 것입니다. 구원받은 성도가다 궁극적인 구원을 받는 것이 아니라 조건을 충족시킨 사람만 버림받지 않고 천국에 들어갑니다. (『진짜 구원받은 사람도 진짜 버림받을 수 있다』, 153)

그저 예수를 믿고 입으로 고백하면 구원받는다는 것은 본래 이 단 사설입니다. (2006년 5월 26일 설교)

정리하면 변씨의 구원관은 '나의 의'가 필요한 구원관이라 말할 수 있다. 이는 정통교회의 주장과 달리 '행위'로 구원받는다는 주장이다. 이러한 변씨의 주장에 대해 총신대학원 심창섭 교수는 연구자료 <변승우(큰믿음교회)씨의 주장은 무엇이 다른가?>에서 "변승우씨는 오직 믿음으로만 구원받는다는 기존 교회의 신앙을 인정하는 것처럼 말하지만 그 믿음이 선행을 수반하지 않는다면 구원받을 수 없는 믿음이라고 주장한다"며 "성경은인간의 행위가 아니고 믿음으로 의롭게 된다고 가르치고, 바울은 로마서에서 이 진리를 확인해 주고 있다"고 주장했다.

또 "바울은 믿음으로 의롭다하심을 받은 자들의 성화적인 삶에 대해서 강조하고 있지만 그는 결코 그 선행이 우리를 의롭게 하는 믿음에 이르게한다고는 말하지 아니한다"며 "변승우씨는 이신칭의 진리를 왜곡되게 이해했다"고 비판했다.

# 2) 계시와 예언 그리고 입신

변승우씨는 『다림줄』 서문에서 자신에 대한 샨 볼츠의 예언을 빌려 저술의도를 밝혔다. 샨 볼츠는 변씨에 대해 "이 시간 기록을 담당하고 있는 천사 중 직위가 높고 강력한 천사가 변승우 목사님 곁에 와 있습니다. 바울이 서신서들을 저술할 때에 바울과 함께 서 있었던 역할을 감당하기에 합당했던 바로 그 천사입니다. (중략) 변 목사님, 바로 이 천사가 바울이로마교회 성도들과 갈라디아교회 성도들에게 서신서를 썼을 때에 바울과함께 있었습니다"라고 예언했다. 샨 볼츠의 예언을 들은 변씨는 "그 천사

가 자신과 함께 있음을 느낄 수 있었다"고 말했다. 이처럼 변씨는 직접적 인 계시를 통해 설교 및 저술을 한다고 주장하고 있다.

또한 변씨는 『특별히 예언을 하려고 하라』에서 "현재 요엘이 예언한 대로 꿈과 환상과 예언이 전 세계적으로 급증하고 있다"며 "꿈과 환상과 예언 의 증가와 더불어 반드시 입신의 증가를 보게 될 것이다"라고 말했다. 또 "입신을 통해 예수님을 만나고, 앞서간 성도들과 만나서 교제할 수 있다", "성경 진리에 대한 큰 이해력을 얻을 수 있고 미래에 대한 놀라운 계시를 받을 수 있다"고 주장했다.

이러한 변씨의 신비주의적인 신앙에 대해 예장통합 교단은 2009년 94회 총회에서 "극단적인 신비주의 신앙 형태 등을 갖고 있는 비성경적 기독교 이단이다"라고 밝혔다. 예장합신 교단은 2009년 94회 총회에서 "하나님의 계시의 방편이 직통계시라고 주장하며 지금도 선지자학교를 세워 예언을 가르치고 각 개인의 신상에 대해 예언을 해주고 있다"며 "자신의 신학 논리를 성경의 근거보다 개인적인 체험과 다른 사람들의 예언에다 두는 경우가 많다"고 비판했다.

# (3) 사랑하는교회 포교활동

사랑하는교회는 일반예배뿐 아니라 성령신학교, 북한선교회, 부부학교, 신유·축사모임, 금요영성집회, 중보기도학교, 탈북민 예배, 365일 기도회 등 각종 집회 및 모임을 통해 믿음의 성도들을 미혹, 포교하고 있다. 또한 인터넷 홈페이지(www.belovedc.com) 및 사랑하는교회 인터넷 카페를 활용해 설교 및 집회 현황을 중계하고 있다.

# 1) 성령신학교

성령신학교는 2009년 10월 1일에 설립하였으며 학장은 변승우 목사, 성령신학연구원 원장은 이동기 목사다. 그 외에 교수진으로 이주섭(과목: 예수님 비유 해석과 설교에의 적용), 허작(과목: 이스라엘 지혜 문학의 독특성), 김옥경(과목: 예언과 치유), 진성원(과목: 실천목회학), 양병일(과목: 존재&관계신학), 이윤석(과목: 실전 야고보서 이해), 김국희(과목: 목회자의자기점검) 교수가 강의하고 있다. 수업 과정은 정규과정과 비정규과정으로

나뉜다. 정규과정은 성령신학교(4년), 성령 신학 연구원(3년), 비정규과정은 목회자반, 4년 수료과정, 평신도반이 있다.

#### 2) 인터넷 포교

사랑하는교회는 인터넷 홈페이지, 사랑하는교회 인터넷 카페를 통해 변승 우씨 설교 동영상 및 샨 볼츠, 밥 존스, 바비 코너, 하이디 베이커, 제프 젠슨 등 국외 강사들의 집회 현황을 올려 누구나 쉽게 설교를 듣고 집회 현장을 볼 수 있도록 하고 있다. 또 인터넷 사이트 "천국의 도서관"을 통해 변승우씨 저서 및 국외 강사들의 저서를 소개하고 있다.

#### (4) 사랑하는교회 국내외 현황

사랑하는교회 주장에 따르면 사랑하는교회 재적 성도는 1만 8000여 명이 된다. 2005년 서울에 사랑하는교회를 개척, 수년 만에 수천 명이 모이는 대형교회로 성장했다. 사랑하는교회는 자신들의 교세를 확장하기 위해 전국 지교회를 설립 중에 있으며, 국외까지 자신들의 영역을 확대시키고 있다. 사랑하는교회 국내 지교회 현황을 살펴보면 서울·경기지역에는 남양주, 부천, 수원, 안산, 안양, 인천, 일산, 용인, 의정부, 화성에 있고, 그 외에 지역으로 강릉, 경주, 구미, 광주, 대전, 대구, 목포, 부산, 서산, 순천, 안동, 양산, 울산, 원주, 익산, 전주, 제천, 제주, 창원, 청주, 춘천, 통영, 평택, 포항에 있다. 국외에는 뉴욕, 버까시, 밴쿠버, 시드니, 애틀랜타, 오사카, 프랑크푸르트에 지교회가 있다.

#### 6. Beloved Church

The Beloved Church (represented by Seungwoo Byun, former [Big Faith Church]) is a heresy organization which causes much troubles in the Korean Christian society. Mr. Seung-woo Byun, the founder of the Beloved Church, and his theories related to redemption(Salvation) and occultism have been suspected by the Korean churches. Mr. Byun's church has been decided as a heresy and/or a cult organization by authentic and traditional Korean churches, such as the Koshin Presbyterian Church in Korea (Koshin), the Presbysterian Church of Korea (Tonghap), the General Assembly of Presbyterian Church of Korea(Hapdong), The Presbyterian Church in Korea(Baekseok), the Korea Evangelical Holiness Church (Kiseong), Jesus Korea Sungkyul Church(Yeosung), and the Korean Methodist Church (Kigam). Mr. Byun changed the name of Church from "Big Faith Church" to the "Beloved Church" and re-started his ministry of this cult organization in a newly built building on December 20th, 2015.

#### (1) Who is Mr. Seung-woo Byun?

Mr. Byun graduated his undergraduate course in the school of Theology of Sungkyul University. After his military service, he started to run a church in Seoul. However, the church that Mr. Byun firstly established and ran for five(5) years failed and he went to Ulsan, a city located in Southern part of Korea. In Ulsan, he started a new church with twenty(20) followers. In 2005, he left Ulsan, and started another new church, named "Big Faith Church", in Bangbae-dong, Seoul. This new church has been operated by Mr. Byun and has been expanded, since then.

He moved the church from Bangbae-dong to Nonhyun-dong in Seoul,

and the Beloved Church which has 5,000 followers, became one of mega-churches in Korea, but soon after becoming a mega church, it has been suspected as a heresy. In 2009, Koshin strongly recommended its believers "not to participate in any event of the Beloved Church", because of Mr. Byun's theories and comments related to the Salvation (Redemption), Revelation, the New Apostolic Movement and other theological doctrines. Tonghap determined the Beloved Church as a "heresy", because of Mr. Byun's wrongful theories related to the Salvation, divineness, prediction, glossolalia and other mysticism theological theories.

Hapdong strongly recommended its believers "not to participate" in any event of the Beloved Church, and the Korean Presbysterian Church (Hapsin) decided that Hapsin's believers shall "not participate in any event of the Beloved Church and they shall not communicate with anyone belonging to the Beloved Church". Yesung decided the Beloved Church as a "heresy", because of wrongful interpretation of the Bible and extreme occultism, in 2012. And in 2014, Kigam decided to treat the Beloved Church as a "danger" to be watched out by its believers.

After being decided and judged as a heresy or a cult by authentic and traditional churches, Mr. Byun criticized these churches' decisions and argued that "the decisions of churches show how all denominations of churches in present Korea are seriously dark and bad. These decisions are wrongful and illegal decisions made by churches." at his sermon preached in the first service of the Beloved Church on September 27th, 2009. Mr. Byun founded a new kind of denomination called "the Korean Presbyterian Church, Booheung (Revival)" and he has still been arguing his theories and doctrines.

#### (2) Mr. Byun's Arguments

#### 1) Conditional Salvation which requires works

In accordance with a book titled "A person already redeemed could be truly dumped", written by Mr. Byun, Mr. Byun argued that a person who was already redeemed could be doomed. In other words, Mr. Byun insists that a Christian who accepts Jesus Christ as his/her savior could be excepted from the Redemption and the Salvation. According to Mr. Byun's book titled "Christians going to Hell", he wrote that "Many people believes in Jesus Christ, since they believe that only faith redeems the people's souls. Many people thinks that the Salvation is a gift of faith and the prize will be determined by the works. And these people say that a person who commits offenses and does not obey God's words could be redeemed by his faith at the final moment. This thought is very dangerous, since it is based on an ignorance of the Bible."

Details of Mr. Byun's arguments are as follows:

Any person who does not obey the God's words shall not enter into the Heaven. This principle applies to everyone, including Christians. ([Christians going to Hell] 98)

If you have a faith, but no works followed by such faith, there will be neither prize nor the Salvation. ([Christians going to Hell], 104)

A person who has a faith but no obedience to God's words is not a person with real faith and he/she shall not enter into the Heaven ([Christian going to Hell], 118)

A person who has only faith shall not become righteous. As acts of a body shows the truth that the body is alive, the righteousness could be shown by the behaviors and works of faith.([Christians going to Hell], 127)

The final salvation of a Christian is conditional. The final salvation is not guaranteed to any redeemed Christian, but to Christian who fulfills every condition to the final salvation. ([A person who was already redeemed could be dumped], 153)

If there is any doctrine that only the confession of faith to Jesus Christ redeems the confessor, such doctrine is a heresy doctrine. (His sermon on May 26th, 2006)

In summary of details above, Mr. Byun's argument for the Salvation requires a person's will and his righteousness. This argument is totally conflict to the authentic and traditional Churches' salvation theory which requires only faith for the Salvation and such Salvation is only from the ability of the God. According to the Research Report titled "What are the difference between Beloved Church and the authentic and traditional churches?", written by Professor Chang Seob Sim, Chongshin University, Professor Sim wrote that "Mr. Byun superficially admits the authentic and traditional churches' doctrine of the Salvation, but he truly insists that the Salvation shall be conditioned by obedience and works of Christians. In Romans, New Testament of the Holy Bible, Paul wrote that the Salvation could be achieved by faith, not works of a person".

Also, Professor Sim criticized that "Paul emphasized Christians' holy life style which shall be came from the righteousness of the God,

but such holy life style neither mean a real faith nor a condition to the final Salvation, therefore, Mr. Byun wrongfully understands the Justification of Faith".

#### 2) Revelation, Prediction and divineness

Mr. Byun disclosed his intention to write the book titled "Plumb Line (Darimzul)" by quoting Shawn Bolz's prediction, at the book's introduction. Shawn Bolz made a prediction related to Mr. Byun. He said that "one of the strongest and high ranked angels in charge of time recording in the Heaven is next to Mr. Byun. This angel is the same angel with the one who was next to Paul at the time when he was writing letters... Mr. Byun, this angel next to you is the angel who was next to Paul writing the letters to the believers in Roman Church and Galatian Church." Mr. Byun answered to such Mr. Bolz's prediction that "I can feel the angel's presence right next to me." As you can see, Mr. Byun argues that he preaches and writes in accordance with direct revelation.

Moreover, in his book titled [Try to make special prediction], Mr. Byun argued that "Recently prediction with dream and fantasy increases. With this increase of prediction, the divineness will increase, as well. Christians will meet Jesus Christ through this divineness and may communicate with Christians in the Heaven. This divineness will give Christians a great understanding of the Bible and special prediction."

The Tonghap officially published that the "the Beloved Church is a heresy which teaches extreme occultism and anti-bible theories" in the 94th General Assembly. The Hapsin officially criticized the Beloved Church as follows: "the Beloved Church argues that direct

revelation is only revelation method which a Christian receives message from the God and it established a Prophet School and teaches student how to directly receive revelation. In addition, this School's teaching staffs give prediction for all students. Followers of the Beloved Church also listen and receive the revelation and prediction from the Beloved Church. Natually they follows not the Bible, but these revlation and prediction for their life."

#### (3) Beloved Church's activities

The Beloved Church seduces Christians of authentic churches by holding various assemblies and meeting, such as "Spirit Seminarium & Institute", "North Korea Mission", "Couple School", "Divine healing and deliverance meeting", "Friday Spirituality Assembly", "Intercessory Prayer School", "Service for North Korean Defectors" and "Prayer Service for 365 days". Also, the Beloved Church uploads and broadcasts videos of its services and assemblies through its website (www.belovedc.com) and internet café.

#### 1) SPIRIT SEMINARIUM & INSTITUTE

Spirit Seminarium & Institute (or SPIRIT THEOLOGICAL SEMINARIUM) (hereinafter referred to as "Seminarium") was established on October 1st 2009. The dean of this Seminarium is Mr. Byun, and the director is Mr. Dong Ki Lee. The teaching staffs are as follows: Joo Seob Lee (Subject: Interpretation of figures in the Bible and application of figures to the preach), Jak Heo (Subject: Specialty of Israeli Wisdom Literature), Ok Kyung Kim (Subject: Prediction and Healing), Sung Won Jin (Subject: Practical Pastoral Theology), Byung Il Yang (Subject: Theology of Existence and Relationship), Yoon Seok Lee (Subject: Practical Understanding of Epistle of James) and Kook

Hee Kim (Subject: Self-check of ministry). There are two kinds of courses provided by this Seminarium; Regular courses and Temporary courses. The Regular Course consists of the Spirit Theological Seminarium (4 years) and Spirit Theological Institute (3 years). The Temporary courses are Ministry Course, 4 year long course, and course for layman.

#### 2) Internet Activities

The Beloved Church uploads sermon and service videos of Mr. Byun, Shawn Bolz, Bob Jones, Bobi Corner, Heidi Baker, and Jeff Jenson, in its website and internet café. Also, it introduces Mr. Byun's books in the internet website titled "Heavenly Library" (www.gfcbook.com).

#### (4) Current Status of the Beloved Church in Korea/Foreign Countries

According to the argument of the Beloved Church, the number of followers on register is about 18,000. In 2005, the Beloved Church was established and became a mega church. The Beloved Church has established camps in various areas in Korea and foreign countries. Camps in Korea are located at Namyangju, Bucheon, Suwon, Ansan, Anyang, Incheon, Ilsan, Yongin, Uijeongbu, Hwaseong, Gangneung, Gyeongju, Gumi, Gwangju, Daejeon, Daegu, Mokpo, Busan, Seosan, Sooncheon, Andong, Yangsan, Ulsan, Wonju, Iksan, Jeonju, Jecheon, Jeju, Changwon, Cheongju, Chuncheon, Tongyeung, Pyeongtaek, and Pohang. Camps in foreign countries are located at New York, Bekasi, Vancouver, Sydney, Atlanta, Osaka, and Frankfurt.

# 6. 相爱的教会

相爱的教会(代表:下胜宇,旧大信心教会)在韩国教界引发重大争论。创始人下胜宇因其救赎观和神秘主义信仰色彩早已受到韩国教界的注目和怀疑。但下胜宇对此并不理会, 2008年从[高神]开始先后在[统合],[合同],[白石],[基圣],[耶圣],[基监]等教派被判定为异端,禁止参与,禁止交流,敏锐注视等阶段。相爱的教会在首尔松坡区慰礼城大路 22道 27-22购买新的建筑,把教会名称从"大信心教会"改为"相爱的教会"2015年12月 20日在新的建筑里举行第一场礼拜。

#### (1) 卞胜宇是谁?

卞胜宇毕业于圣洁教神学院(现圣洁大学)神学系,军队复员后在首尔开拓教会。但5年的开拓以失败告终,来到蔚山牧会 20多人 10年。2005年他再次回到首尔的方背洞开拓相爱的教会(当时大信心教会),之后极力扩展教势,教会快速成长。

搬迁到首尔论岘洞之后相爱的教会成长为5000多信徒的大型教会受到韩国教会的关心,但陷入异端争论。2009年高神教派因他的救赎观,启示观,追求新使徒运动,准绳,轻视神学和教义,贬低韩国教会的发言,判定"禁止参与",并且以他的救赎观,通灵,预言,方言等极端神秘主义信仰形态判为异端。

耶长合同教派判 "禁止参与",耶长合神判 "具有异端性禁止参与和交流",耶圣在2012年判断其"变质圣经原文",根据个人体验解释圣经,追求激进性神秘主义为理由定为异端,基监在2014年判为"敏锐注视"。

2009年9月27日卞胜宇在相爱的教会第一场礼拜里主张 "现代教会的黑暗如此严重,在这次总会里表现出对于各教派不法和不义的决定",并批判教会的决议。2009年 12月 7日创立 "大韩耶稣教长老会复兴教派" 持续传播自己的教义。

#### (2) 卞胜宇的主张

#### 1) 包括行为的有条件救赎

下胜宇在自己的著书《真正得救的人也有可能成为真正被抛弃的》中主张,得救的人也有可能被抛弃和灭亡。下胜宇主张有信心的圣徒也有可能没有得救。 下胜宇在《走向地狱的基督徒》一书中写道 "今日很多人认为因信得救所以只要信就可以去天国,甚至有些人认为得救是凭着信心,奖赏是透过行为获得,因此即使无法顺从神的话语生活在罪恶当中也能得救,这些想法都是因为没有明确认识圣经对我们所说的内容而产生的危险想法。"

#### 进一步观察卞胜宇的观点;

无论是谁不按着神的话语生活绝不能进天国,对于这一点有信心的子女也不能例外(《走向地狱的基督徒》,98页)。

说自己有信心却没有行为,不仅得不到奖赏同时也得不到救赎(《走向地狱的基督徒》,104页)。

自称为有信心却没有顺从的并不是拥有实际信心,也无法进入天国 (《走向地狱的基督徒》,118页)。

人并不是只靠内心的信心被称为义,这如同身体的动作和活动表现出身体里的生命,通过信心所表现出的行为也能够被称为义(《走向地狱的基督徒》,127页)。

圣徒最终的得救是有条件的,得救的信徒并不都能获得最终的救赎,只有满足条件的人才能不被抛弃进入天国(《走向地狱的基督徒》,153页)。

信耶稣口里承认就能得救的观点是异端邪说(2006年 5月 26日讲道)。

卞胜宇的救赎观是需要"自己义"的救赎观,主张透过行为得救,这与正统教会的主张不同。对他这样的主张,总神大学院沈昌燮教授在自己的研究资料〈卞胜宇(大信心教会)的主张有何不同?〉里批判"卞胜宇看起来好像是接受唯独靠着信心得救的正统教会信仰,但接着主张若不伴随善行就无法得救。"沈教授接着写道"圣经教导并不是靠行为而是靠信心称义,并且保罗在罗马书里确认了这一真理。"

"保罗虽强调因信称义之人圣化的生活,但他并没有说善行能使我们称义,因此卞胜宇对因信称义的理解是扭曲的。"

#### 2) 启示与预言和通灵

卞胜宇在《准绳》的序文中接着塞恩•波尔兹的预言说明自己著作的意图。塞恩说卞胜宇预言"此时负责记录的天使中职位最高最强的天使在卞胜宇牧师身边,保罗写书信的时候配得站在他身边的那位天使,(略)卞牧师!保罗写罗马书与加拉太书的时候这位天使与他同在。"对塞恩•波尔兹的预言卞胜宇说"我能感受到天使与我同在,因此卞胜宇主张自己透过直接启示著书并预备讲道。"

并且卞胜宇在《尤其要科目说预言》一书中说"现今按着约珥所预言的梦,异象与预言在全世界遽增,随着梦与异象以及预言的增加必定要看到通灵的增加,通过通灵可以遇见耶稣,与那些先前离世的圣徒相见,可获得对圣经大能的理解力,可获得对未来惊人的启示。"

对卞胜宇这些神秘主义信仰,耶长统合教派在2009年第 94次总会判为"具有极端神秘主义信仰形态脱离圣经的异端。"耶长合神在2009年第94次总会批判"他仍然主张神启示的方法是直接启示,现今仍然运营先知学校教导预言并且给预言信徒个人状况,常常建立个人信仰理论时比起圣经的根据更加注重个人体验与其他人的预言。"

#### (3) 相爱的教会传教活动

相爱的教会不单通过主日礼拜,也通过圣灵学校,北朝鲜宣教会,夫妻学校,周五灵性集会,中保祷告学校,脱北者礼拜,365祷告会等各种集会迷惑有信心的信徒和传教。并透过他们的网站(www.belovedc.com)和微薄转播讲道和集会现场。

# 1) 圣灵学校

圣灵学校是在2009年10月1日建立,校长是卞胜宇牧师,圣灵神学研究院院长是李东基牧师,除此之外教授有李珠燮(课程:耶稣比喻解释与讲道应用),许

作(课程:以色列智慧文学的独特性),金玉静(课程:预言和治愈)陈圣元(课程:实践牧会学),杨炳日(课程:存在&关系神学),李润石(课程:实战雅各书理解),金菊姬(课程:牧会者自我检验)。课程分为正规课程与非正规课程,正规课程有圣灵神学院(4年),圣灵神学研究院(3年),非正规课程有牧会者班,4年结业平信徒班。

#### 2) 网络传教

相爱的教会通过网页和微薄传播卞胜宇,塞恩•波尔兹,鲍伯•约翰斯,芭比• 考诺尔,海迪•贝克,捷普•捷恩斯等国内外讲师的集会状况,使更多人可轻易 听到讲道,看到集会现场,并且还通过 "天国图书馆"网页介绍卞胜宇的著 作及国外讲师们的著作。

## (4) 相爱的教会国内外现状

根据相爱的教会主张他们的信徒有1万8千人,2005年在首尔开拓相爱的教会,几年之内成为数千人聚会的大型教会。他们为扩展自己的教势正在全国建立下属教会,甚至把影响力扩展到国外,他们的下属教会所在地区为江陵,庆州,龟尾,光州,大田,大邱,木浦,釜山,瑞山,顺川,安东,梁山,蔚山,原州,益山,全州,济川,济州岛,昌元,清州,春川,平泽,通营,浦项,海外有纽约,勿加泗,温哥华,悉尼,亚特兰大,大阪,法兰克福等地的下属教会。

# 7 통일교(세계평화통일가정연합)

The Unification Church
(Family Federation for World Peace and Unification)
统一教(世界和平统一家庭联合)

# 7. 통일교(세계평화통일가정연합)

통일교는 문선명 사망 후 후계 문제로 혼란이 가중되고 있다. 부인 한학자와 아들 문형진은 서로 자신이 후계자라고 주장하고 있으며, 이로 인해법적인 싸움이 진행 중이다. 한학자는 자신을 6000년 만에 탄생한 독생녀로 주장하고, 문형진은 한학자를 음녀, 사탄의 핏줄이라고 비난하며 불안한 발걸음을 이어가고 있다.

#### (1) 문선명은 누구인가?

문선명씨는 1920년 1월 6일 평안북도 정주군 덕언면 상사리 2221번지에서 기독교 가정의 농민의 아들로 태어났다. 문씨는 학생시절부터 신비주의적인 체험에 열광했고, 16세 되던 1936년 4월 17일 하늘의 계시를 받고 하나님의 음성을 듣게 됐다고 주장했다. 서울에서 고등보통학교를 마친 문씨는 일본 와세다 대학에서 전기 공학을 전공했으며, 해방되자 일본으로부터 귀국하여 평양에 광해교회를 세웠다.

1946년 경기도 파주에 있던 김백문씨의 이스라엘수도원을 찾아가 김씨 밑에서 6개월간 성경공부를 한 후 6월 6일 다시 월북해 평양에 도착해 신비주의 운동을 하다가 사회질서혼란혐의(혼음)로 구속, 또 본처를 두고 여신도 김모씨와 결혼식을 거행해 간음혐의로 구속되는 등 사회적 물의를 일으켰다. 1·4후퇴 때 부산에 내려온 문씨는 자신을 따르던 몇몇 신도와 1951년 1월 27일부터 범일동, 수정동, 영도 등지에서 통일교회를 창설해 포교 활동을 시작했다.

1954년 5월 1일 서울에 올라온 문씨는 성동구 북학동 초가집에 통일교회라는 간판을 걸고 전도활동을 시작, 성화기독학생회를 조직했고, 1955년 1월 17일에 북학동에서 성동구 홍인동으로 이전해 동년 3월 27일 기관지『성화』를 창간했다. 1955년 7월 4일 문씨는 '사회질서혼란 및 풍기문란혐의'로 경찰에 다시 구속됐다.

출감 후 10월 7일 서울시 용산구 청파동으로 본부를 이전해 본격적인 포교활동에 박차를가하는 한편, 1958년 초부터 해외 선교를 전개해 교세를 확장했다. 1963년 정부에 사회단체를 등록했고, 1965년 10개월간 40개국

을 순방했으며 『원리해설』스페인어, 화란어, 프랑스어판을 출판했다. 이후 『원리해설』 자체의 허점을 보완하여 『원리강론』을 출판했다.

#### (2) 통일교는 무엇을 주장하는가?

통일교는 성서를 구약, 신약, 성약(成約)으로 구분하는데 이 성약서가 통일교 교리서인 『원리강론』이며, 핵심적인 주요 교리는 타락론과 복귀론(구원론)이다. 『원리강론』은 통일교의 독자적인 교리체계라기보다는, 김백문의『기독교근본원리』의 형식과 내용을 그대로 차용하고 있다.

## 1) 사탄과 영적 간음한 하와

통일교 원리강론에서는 창세기 2장 17절의 선악과 사건을 놓고 다음과 같이 설명하고 있다.

> 해와는 사탄을 중심한 악의 사랑으로 악과(惡果)를 따먹고 악의 피와 살을 받아 악의 혈통을 번식하여 죄악의 사회를 이루었다. 따라서 해와가 선악과를 따먹었다고 하는 것은 그가 사탄을 중 심한 사랑에 의하여 서로 혈연관계(血緣關係)를 맺었다는 것을 뜻하는 것이다. (『원리강론』, 81~82)

> 해와가 미완성기에서 천사장과 불륜한 혈연관계(血緣關係)를 맺은 후, 다시 뒤미처 아담과 부부의 관계를 맺었기 때문에 아담도 역시 미완성기에서 타락되었다. (『원리강론』, 88)

즉 하와가 사탄과 더불어 불륜한 음행관계를 가짐으로써 미완성기에 사탄의 혈통을 받았고, 하나님의 허락 없이 역시 미완성기에 있는 아담과 육적 혈연을 맺음으로 아담 또한 사탄의 더러운 혈통을 이어받게 됐다는 것이다. 그러므로 사탄의 혈통을 받아 아담과 하와 사이에서 태어난 인류는 자손 대대로 사탄의 자식들이 되어 원죄가 있는 악인들이며, 이런 악인들로 구성된 이 세상은 사탄의 지배 하에 악의 주권이 지배한다고 주장하고 있다.

따라서 통일교는 하나님께서 아담, 하와, 원죄 없는 선한 자녀로 형성된

사위기대(四位基均)를 완성하여 지상천국을 이루고, 창조이상세계를 이루고 죽은 후에는 천상천국을 건설한다고 주장하고 있다.

#### 2) 예수의 육적 구속 사업의 실패

통일교는 예수님의 신성을 부정한다. 또한 예수의 구속사업은 영적인 면에서만 완성됐고, 육적인 면에서는 실패했다고 주장하고 있다.

예수님은 지상에 있어서도 원죄(原罪)가 없다는 점을 제외한다면 그는 우리와 조금도 다름이 없는 인간이었고, 또 부활 후 영계 에 있어서도 제자들과 다름없이 영인체로서 계신다. (『원리강 론』, 231)

만일 예수님이 하나님 자신이라면, 어떻게 하나님이 사탄의 시험을 받고 또 사탄에 몰려 십자가에 달리는 등의 일이 있을 수있을 것인가? (『원리강론』, 231)

예수님이 메시아로 강림하셨던 목적이 구원 섭리를 완수하시려는 데 있었으므로, 그는 영적 구원과 육적 구원을 아울러 완성하셔야만 되었다. (중략) 그러나 유대인들이 예수님을 불신하여그를 십자가에 내주었으므로 그의 육신은 사탄의 침범을 당하여마침내 살해되었던 것이다. 그러므로 육신에 사탄의 침범을 당한 예수님을 믿어 그와 한 몸을 이룬 신도들의 육신도 그대로사탄의 침범을 당하게 된 것이다. 이렇게 되어 아무리 독실한신앙자라도 예수님의 십자가의 속죄로써는 육적 구원은 완성할수 없게 되었다. (『원리강론』, 160~161)

이처럼 통일교는 타락한 인류 구원을 위해 예수는 십자가를 통해서 영적 구속사업을 완성했으나 육적 구속사업에 실패했으므로 재림주가 나타나 영육이 완성된 구속사업을 해야 한다고 주장하고 있다.

#### 3) 동방의 재림주 문선명

통일교는 재림할 메시아는 어느 특정한 지역에 재림할 것을 주장하고 있

다. 요한계시록 7장 2절의 "동방의 해 돋는 나라"에 재림주가 임한다는 성서의 기록을 인용하여 그 "해 돋는 나라는 바로 한국"이라고 말하고 있 다.

자고로 동방나라는 한국, 일본, 중국 등 동양 3국을 말한다. 그런데 그중의 일본은 대대로 천조대신을 숭배해온 나라로서, 더구나 전체주의국가로서 재림기를 당하였었고, (중략) 중국은 공산화해 온 나라이다. 그렇기 때문에 이 두 나라는 모두 사탄편의 국가인 것이다. 그러므로 단적으로 말해서 예수님이 재림하실 동방의 그 나라는 바로 한국인 것이다. (『원리강론』, 550~551)

그렇다면 통일교에서 주장하는 한국에 재림할 재림주는 누구일까? 『원리 강론』 총서에 의하면 "하나님은 이미 이 땅 위에 인생과 우주의 근본 문제를 해결하게 하시기 위하여 한 분을 보내셨으니, 그분이 바로 문선명 선생이시다"라고 주장, 문씨가 한국에 재림한 메시아임을 밝히고 있다.

이러한 통일교의 주장에 대해 한국 기독교 교단들은 "이단", "사이비"로 결의했다. 대한예수교장로회 통합 측에서 발간한 『기독교의 이단들』에는 통일교를 가리켜 "예수 그리스도의 완전한 구속적 사건을 무시하고, 구원을 얻기 위해서는 수수작용을 통하여 가능하다고 주장, 재림에 대해서는 억지 해석과 특정 지역의 재림을 주장하고 있다"며 "정통 기독교와 길을 달리하는 분명한 '이단'이다"라고 정리했다.

# (3) 통일교 국내 현황 및 근황

현재 국내 통일교는 서울, 경기, 인천, 강원, 충청, 전라, 경상, 제주도 등 전국적으로 210여 교회가 있다. 문형진(전 통일교 세계회장)씨는 2011년 1월 18일 서울 종로 프레스센터에서 열린 기자간담회에서 국내 신도 수가 2010년 말 현재 1만 9000명이라고 밝혔다. 통일교는 용산구민회관을 매입, 천복궁교회를 건립했다.

문선명씨 사망 이후 문형진씨가 통일교 세계회장으로 취임하는 등 후계구 도 안정에 박차를 가하는 것으로 보였으나, 어머니 한학자씨가 문선명씨 와 동등권을 주장하는 등의 문제로 둘은 갈라졌다. 이후 장녀 문선진씨가 세계회장으로 취임했고, 문형진씨는 미국 펜실베이니아주에서 생츄어리처 치를 개척해 독자노선을 구축했다.

문선명이 부재한 통일교는 좀처럼 안정되지 않고 있다. 한학자를 따르자니 자신을 독생녀라고 선포하는 등 새로운 교리가 혼란스럽고 문형진에비해 정통성이 떨어진다. 문형진을 따르자니 평화군 경찰을 조직한다며총 칼을 갖추라는 주장을 수긍하기 어렵다. 하지만 튼튼한 기업이 뒷받침되고 있어 통일교가 쉽게 무너질 것으로 보이지는 않는다. 이단 전문가들은 많은 신도가 통일교를 떠나 그들만의 통일교를 만들어 소규모 공동체를 유지할 것으로 내다보는 가운데, 통일교의 미래가 주목된다.

# 7. The Unification Church (Family Federation for World Peace and Unification)

The Unification Church (Family Federation for World Peace and Unification) (hereinafter the "Unification Church") has been in a serious chaos, after the death of Mr. Sun Myung Moon, the leader of the Unification Church(hereinafter referred to as "Leader Moon" or "Leader"), since the Unification Church fails to conclude who will be an official and sole successor of this huge cult organization and Leader. Ms Hak Ja Han, Leader's wife and Mr.Hyung Jin Moon, the last son of Leader radically insist that she or he is only successor of Leader Moon, respectively, and they are in the middle of lawsuit to figure out the true heir of Leader Moon. Ms Han insists that she is the only begotten daughter of God in last six thousand year long of human history, but Mr.Moon criticizes his mother, Ms Han, as a lewd woman and a blood of Satan.

#### (1) Who is the Leader Moon?

Leader Moon, a son of a farmer from a Christian family, was born at 2221, Sangsa-ri, Deokeonmyeon, Jungju-gun, Pyeonganbukdo, on January 6th, 1920. Leader Moon was fascinated by mysticism and occultism in his school days and he claimed that he listened God's voice and received message from God, on April 17th, 1936, when he became sixteen. Leader Moon graduated his high school located at Seoul and he went to Japan for his university life. He attended at Waseda University and his major was the electricity engineering. When Japan lost the Second World War and Korea became an independent nation, Leader Moon came back to Korea and established Gwanghye Church in Pyongyang.

In 1946, Leader Moon attended to the Israel Abbey founded by Mr. Baek Moon Kim and located at Paju, Gyeonggi-do. Leader Moon studied Mr. Kim's wrongful interpretation of Bible for six months.<sup>7)</sup> On June 6th, 1946, Leader Moon crossed the border of South and North Korea and went to Pyongyang and led the mysticism movement. But he was arrested for disturbing public order, specifically gang rape, and adultery(bigamy), since he married a woman, whereas he already had a wife. At the time of January Fourth Retreat,<sup>8)</sup> Leader Moon retreated to Busan with some of his followers. He founded the Unification Church in Beomil-dong, Sujeong-dong, and Yeong-do of Busan, on January 27th, 1951, and his churches started propagation activities.

On May 1st, 1954, Leader Moon came back to Seoul. He chose a cottage located at Bukhakdong, Seongdong-gu (Present Muhak-dong), for his church and started propagation activities. He organized the 'Sanctification Christian Student Union'. And the Unification Church moved from Bukhak-dong to Hongik-dong on January 17th, 1955, and published its magazine named 'Sanctification', on March 27th, 1955. On July 4th, 1955, Leader Moon was arrested for disturbing public order and indecency, again.

The Unification Church moved its headquarter to Cheongpa-dong, Yongsan, Seoul, on October 7th, 1955, after his imprisonment, and it aggressively put its efforts on the propagation activities. In the

<sup>7)</sup> Mr. Kim's interpretation of the Holy Bible has been determined and confirmed as a heresy by traditional churches.

<sup>8)</sup> It was a battle of the Korean War, which took place from December 31, 1950, to January 7, 1951, around the South Korean capital of Seoul.

beginning of 1958, the Unification Church started its propagation activities in foreign countries and expanded its influence over the world. In 1963, it was registered as a social organization by Korean government authority. Leader Moon visited forty (40) countries for ten months, in 1965, and his book named 'Explanation of the Divine Principle' was translated in Spanish, Dutch, and French. The 'Explanation of the Divine Principle' had some holes in its theories. These holes were supplemented by the 'Divine Principle', another book of Leader Moon.

#### (2) What does the Unification Church insist?

The Unification Church divides the Holy Bible into three parts: Old Testament, New Testament, and Completed Testament. In the Unification Church, the Completed Testament is the 'Divine Principle', the doctrine book of the Unification Church. The main doctrines of the Unification Church area) the doctrine of depravity and b) the doctrine of redemption-salvation. However, the Divine Principle is not a new theology independently created by Leader Moon, but only a copy of 'Basic Principle of Christianity' written by Mr.Baek Moon Kim.

#### 1) Eve who had spiritual adultery with Satan

The event of the Tree of Knowledge in the Genesis of the Holy Bible was explained in the Divine Principle as follows:

> Eve ate the fruit of Satan, a symbol of the love between Eve and the Satan, and she gave birth of the Satan's heirs. Such love created the sinful human history and society. The event of the Tree of Knowledge means sexual connection

between Eve and Satan, based on the love for Satan. (The Divine Principle, 81-82)

Directly after Eve had a relationship with a fallen angel in the non-completed period, she had relationship with Adam. Adam became doomed and corrupted, because of Eve's relationship with Satan. (The Divine Principle, 88)

In other words, the Unification Church claims that Eve and Satan had an adultery relationship and Eve's body was corrupted by such relationship. It argues that, since Adam had relationship with Eve without God's permission in the non-completed period, Adam and Eve's relationship was also corrupted, and their children were children of Satan. In the Unification Church's doctrine, this world is under control of heirs of Adam and Eve and this means this world is under control of Satan.

Accordingly, the Unification Church insists that God will bring the heaven on the earth by completing the Four Position Foundation which consists of Adam, Eve, and children without original sins, and after their death, God will create heaven in the sky.

#### 2) Jesus Christ's Failure

The Unification Church denies sanctity of Jesus Christ and it insists that Jesus Christ completes only redemption and salvation for soul and spirit, not for body and flesh of humans.

Jesus Christ was a human without original sin, and became a spiritual man, so did his disciples in the spiritual world, after Jesus Christ's resurrection. (the Divine Principle, 231) If Jesus Christ was God himself, how could God be tested by Satan and hung at the Cross? (the Divine Principle, 231)

Since Jesus Christ came to the world as the Messiah for saving the world and accomplishing redemption and salvation for human be-ings, he had to complete the salvation for both spirit and body of human beings. ...... However, Jewish did not believe Jesus Christ as the Messiah, and hung him at the Cross. At this event of the Cross, Jesus Christ was murdered with Satan's interruption. Therefore, Christians who believe in Jesus Christ whose body was intruded by Satan are also deemed as intruded by Satan. Even though they are such devout Christians, their bodies may not be redeemed by Jesus Christ's Cross. (the Divine Principle, 160~161)

As mentioned above, the Unification Church claims that the Second Coming of Christ is required for completed redemption and salvation for body and flesh of human beings, since Jesus Christ only redeemed spirits and souls, but not body and flesh of human beings.

#### 3) Second Coming of Christ from the East

The Unification Church insists that the Second Coming Christ will be born in a specific area. The Unification Church quotes the Revelation Chapter 7, verse 2 that 'ascending from the East having the seal of the living God' and insists that 'the East' is Korea.

In common sense, the 'East' usually means Korea, Japan and China. Japan is a nation which traditionally believes in

Japanese Emperor... China is a communist country. Therefore, Japan and China belongs to the earth and Satan who controls the earth. Conclusively, the East where the Second Coming Christ will be born is Korea. (the Divine Principle, 550~551)

Then who is the Second Coming Christ from the East? According to the Divine Principle, 'God sent a person for solving fundamental issues of lives of humans and space in the sky. The person is Mr. Sun Myung Moon'. In other words, the Unification Church's Second Coming Christ is Leader Moon.

Traditional and conventional churches in Korea confirm the Unification Church as aheresy and/or a cult organization. According to 'Heresies in Korea' published by the Presbyterian Church of Korea (Tonghap), quotes that 'the Unification Church is obviously a heresy, since it denies the completed redemption and salvation by Jesus Christ and it argues that the salvation accomplished by Jesus Christ is not perfect and also it claims that the Second Coming Christ was already born in a specific country.'

#### (3) Current Status of the Unification Church

There are about two hundred and ten (210) Unification Churches in Korea; Seoul, Gyeonggido, Incheon, Gangwon, Chungcheong, Jeolla, Gyeongsang, and Jeju. At the press conference held on January 18th, 2011, Mr. Hyung Jin Moon (Former chairman of the Unification Church) disclosed that the number of followers of the Unification Church in Korea was nineteen thousand(19,000), as of the end of 2010. The Unification Church purchased Yongsan district's community center building and restructured it to the Cheon Bok Gung Church, its headquarter.

After Leader Moon's death, Mr. Hyung Jin Moon was appointed as a successor and became the world chairman of the Unification Church. However, Ms Han, his mother insists that she has very same authority and power with Leader Moon, and the Unification Church is sharply divided into two parts; Mr. Moon and Ms Han. Ms Sun Jin Moon, the first daughter of Leader Moon and Ms Han, became the world chairman of the Unification Church. And Mr. Hyung Jin Moon founded Sanctuary Church in Pennsylvania, USA which is independent from the main stream of the Unification Church under control of his mother.

The Unification Church without powerful leadership of Leader Moon goes through very unstable stage. Ms Han argues that she is the only begotten daughter of God and there is a huge gap between her argument and old doctrine of Leader Moon. Mr. Hyung Jin Moon requests his followers for being fully armed during the service for formation of Peace Army and his insistence does not make clear sense to the followers. However, the Unification Church will not be easily collapsed, since it owns many companies which are financially stable. Many heresy professionals anticipate that many followers of the Unification Church will leave two main streams of the Unification Church and will form small groups for themselves.

# 7. 统一教(世界和平统一家庭联合)

统一教在文鲜明死后因继承权问题混乱在加重,其夫人韩鹤子与儿子文亨珍各自主张自己是真正的继承者,不惜进行各种法律诉讼。韩鹤子主张自己是6000年出生一次的独生女,文亨珍一直辱骂韩鹤子为淫女和撒旦的血脉。

#### (1) 文鲜明是谁?

1920年 1月 6日文鲜明在朝鲜平安北道定州郡德彦面上思里 2221号的农民基督徒家庭出生。文鲜明从学生时期就狂热于神秘体验,并说自己1936年 4月 17日 16岁时听到从天上而来的启示和声音。首尔高中毕业后在日本早稻田大学攻读电力工学专业,1945年解放后回到平壤建立光海教会。

1946年来到京畿道坡州金百文的以色列修道院,在这里半年学习圣经,同年6月6日重新回到平壤进行神秘主义运动,并因混乱社会秩序为罪名(聚众淫乱)被捕。甚至在原配妻子之外与姓金的女信徒也举行了婚礼,以奸淫嫌疑被拘留等, 引发各种社会问题。在韩国战争1•4后退时文鲜明来到釜山先后与信徒们在凡一洞,水晶洞,影岛等地创立统一教开展传教活动。

1954年5月1日文鲜明来到首尔城东区北鹤洞一间茅草屋前挂上'统一教会'招牌开展传道活动组织开展圣化基督学生会。1955年1月17日从北鹤洞搬迁到城东区洪仁洞,同年3月27日创办内部刊物《圣化》,1955年7月4日文鲜明以混乱社会秩序和紊乱风气罪名被捕。

释放后,10月7日把本部移到首尔市龙山区青坡洞集力于传教,从1958年初开始通过开展海外宣教壮大教势。1963年在政府正式完成社会团体登记,1965年用10个月的时间巡访40个国家,用西班牙语,荷兰语,法语出版《原理解说》,之后对此书加以补充和修整后出版《原理讲论》。

#### (2) 统一教主张是什么?

统一教把圣经分为旧约,新约和成约,成约就是统一教的教义书《原理讲论》,主要核心教义是堕落论和复归论。《原理讲论》并不是统一教自创,是借用金百文《基督教根本原理》写成。

#### 1) 夏娃与撒旦犯录里的奸淫

在统一教原理讲论中对创世记2:17中的事件给予如下解释。

夏娃以撒旦为中心的邪恶之爱吃了恶果,接受恶的血和肉繁殖恶的血统,成就罪恶的社会。夏娃吃善恶果意味着她以撒旦为中心的爱结下血缘关系。(《原理讲论》81-82页)

夏娃在未完成期与天使发生不伦的血缘关系,之后又与亚当结下夫妻关系,因此亚当也在未完成期堕落。(《原理讲论》88页)

夏娃与撒旦发生不伦关系,由此在未完成期接受撒旦的血统。在未经过神允许的情况下与身处未完成期的亚当结下肉体血缘关系,因此亚当也继承撒旦肮脏的血统。接受撒旦的血统后亚当和夏娃之间出生的人类子孙成为撒旦的子女,这些都是有原罪的恶人,这些恶人构成的世界在撒旦的支配下被恶的主权所支配。

所以统一教试图通过无原罪的良善子女所组成的四位基坮成就地上天国,成就 "创造理想世界"死后建设天上天国。

#### 2) 耶稣肉体救赎事业的失败

统一教否认耶稣的神性,主张耶稣的救赎事工在属灵方面获得成功的但在肉体 方面是失败的。

耶稣除了在世上的时候无罪之外与我们无任何区别,复活后在灵界与门徒相同成为灵人体。(《原理讲论》231页)

耶稣若是神本身,那么神怎能受撒旦的试探,怎能被撒旦逼到十字架上呢?(《原理讲论》231页)

耶稣成为弥赛亚降临的目的就是完成神救赎的摄理,因此他必须同时完成属灵救赎和肉体的救赎(略)。但犹太人不相信耶稣把他让给十字架上,因此他的肉体受到撒旦的侵害最终被杀害。 因为相信的

是肉体被撒旦受到污染的耶稣,当信徒与耶稣合一的时候也会受到撒旦的浸染。即使再虔诚的信徒单靠耶稣十字架的赎罪是无法完成肉体的救赎。(《原理讲论》160-161页)

统一教主张耶稣为救赎堕落的人类通过十字架完成属灵救赎事工。但在肉体救赎方面失败,因此需要出现另一位再临主完成灵魂和肉体的救赎事工。

#### 3) 东方的再临主, 文鲜明

统一教主张弥赛亚会再临于特定的地区。他们引用约翰启示录7:2经文中再临 主降临在"东方日出之地"经文,主张这个日出之地就是韩国。

自古以来东方之国是韩国,加上中国和日本就被称为东洋三国,日本崇拜天照大神,并且日本成为极权主义国家承受再临期【译者注,文鲜明出生的时候,日本是帝国主义国家体制】(略)。中国是共产化国家因此这两个国家都站在撒旦一边,总而言之耶稣再临的国家就是韩国。(《原理讲论》550-551页)

那么统一教所主张的再临主是谁呢?根据《原理讲论》记载"神为解决这地上人生和宇宙最根本的问题而差派一位使者,这位就是文鲜明,他就是在韩国再临的弥赛亚。"

对文鲜明这些主张被韩国基督教教派定为"异端"和"似是而非(邪教)",大韩耶稣教长老会统合方出刊的《基督教异端》上指统一教为"藐视耶稣基督完全的救赎事件,主张为得到救赎要修补耶稣未完成的部分,关于再临也通过牵强的解释主张特定地区的再临,因此文鲜明是与正统基督教走向不同的真正的异端。"

#### (3) 统一教国内现状及近况

在韩国国内以首尔,京畿道,仁川,江原道,忠清道,全罗道,庆尚道,济州等地共有210家教会。文亨珍(前统一教世界会长)在2011年1月18日在首尔钟路新闻中心举行的记者会中表明,直到2010年末韩国内统一教信徒(追随文亨珍的信徒)总数为19,000名,统一教购买龙山居民会馆建立了天福宫教会。

文鲜明死后文亨珍成为会长,看起来教内走向稳定化,但因其母韩鹤子主张与文鲜明同等权柄,为此他们分裂。之后长女文善珍成为世界会长,文亨珍在美国宾夕法尼亚州开拓至圣所教会(Sanctuary Church)寻求独自路线。

文鲜明不在的统一教无法恢复平静,想要跟随韩鹤子,却因自称独生女的教义心中混乱,比起文亨珍缺乏正统性。想要跟随文亨珍,却很难接受建立和平军警察需要佩戴刀枪的主张。不过旗下因有许多强有力的企业支持所以一时没有解散可能性。异端研究专家们认为会有很多信徒将离开统一教建立属于自己的统一教来维持小规模聚会。

# 8 기독교복음선교회(JMS)

Christian Gospel Mission (Providence: Religious Movement) JMS 基督教福音宣教会(JMS)

# 8. 기독교복음선교회(JMS)

기독교복음선교회(JMS)는 대표자의 성범죄로 인해 시사고발 프로그램에서 도 여러 번 방영된 단체다. 대표 정명석은 준강간 혐의로 징역 10년을 복역한 후 2018년 2월 출소했다. 기독교복음선교회는 구원, 삼위일체, 부활, 재림 등의 이유로 예장고신, 통합, 합동, 기감 등에서 이단으로 결의되었다.

#### (1) 정명석은 누구인가?

JMS 설립자 정명석은 1945년 2월 17일 충남 금산에서 태어났다. 초등학교만 졸업한 정씨는 중학교 진학을 포기하고 산을 오르내리며 기도원 생활을 했다. 22세가 되던 1966년, 군에 입대한 후 두 차례 월남에 참전했고, 1969년 9월 전역했다. 전역 후 정씨는 성결교회에 잠시 다녔지만 이내 나운몽 장로의 용문산기도원, 삼각산기도원 등을 전전하며 다시 산기도 생활을 시작했다. 40세에 하나님으로부터 사명을 받았다며 산을 내려온 정씨는 고향에 있는 통일교에 입교했고, 그곳에서 국제승공연합 반공강사로 2년간 활동했다. 이후 1980년 통일교를 나와 젊은이 다섯 명을 포섭해 '신촌 5형제'란 이름으로 의형제를 맺고 애천교회를 조직, 전도에 박자를 가하며 교세를 확장시켜 나갔다.

그러나 정씨의 여신도 성추문 소문이 꼬리를 물고 등장하자 단체의 점진적 분열 조짐의 싹이 보이기 시작했다. 본지 1984년 9월호에 성추문과 관련한 기사가 게재되어 정씨의 성스캔들이 처음으로 외부에 노출됐고, 이후로도 관련 기사가 여러 매체를 통해 보도됨으로 사회에 큰 파장을 일으켰다. 2003년 정씨는 홍콩에서 불법체류혐의로 붙잡혔으나 보석금을 내고풀려났고, 다시 중국으로 도주, 랴오닝성 첸산에 있는 별장 등에서 숨어지내다 2007년 5월 16일 중국 공안당국에 의해 체포됐다. 2008년 2월 20일 국내로 송환된 정씨는 2009년 4월 23일 대법원에서 강간 등 혐의로 징역 10년형이 확정돼 대전 교도소에 수감된 후 2018년 2월 18일 출소했다.

#### (2) JMS 주요 주장

#### 1) 인간 창조와 타락

정씨는 인간의 타락을 영적 타락과 육적 타락으로 구분한다. 정씨의 저서 『구원의 말씀』에 의하면 하나님은 에덴동산에서 아담과 하와를 택하시고 생육하고 번성케 해 가정 천국, 민족 천국, 세계 천국을 실현함으로 땅에 보이는 천국과 보이지 않는 하늘의 천국을 이루려 하셨다. 그러나 하와가 사탄과 성적인 관계를 행함으로 영적 타락을 했고, 타락한 몸으로 다시 아담과 성관계를 통해 육적 타락을 했다고 주장한다.

하와는 십대 때 하나님의 말씀으로 성장도 않고 하나님의 말씀을 불순종해 뱀으로 비유한 천사장 루시퍼에게 사랑의 꾀임을 받고서 호기심에 사랑의 충동감을 참지 못하고 하나님과의 사랑을 끊고 그와 사랑의 관계를 맺어 이성의 타락을 함으로 영, 육으로 타락을 하게된 것이다. 뿐만 아니라 하와는 그 타락한 몸을 가지고 아담을 사랑함으로 또 아담을 타락하게 했다. (정명석, 『구원의 말씀』, 207~209)

이러한 성적 모티브를 통한 타락론은 통일교의 타락론과 상통한다. 원리 강론에서는 인간 타락에 대해 "해와가 미완성기에서 천사장과 불륜한 혈 연관계(血緣關係)를 맺은 후, 다시 뒤미처 아담과 부부의 관계를 맺었기 때문에 아담도 역시 미완성기에서 타락됐다"고 주장한다.

#### 2) 인간 구원의 방법

정씨는 인간을 구원하기 위해 하나님께서 시대별로 구원자를 보내주셨다고 주장한다. 육 구원이 영 구원이라고 주장하며 시대에 보낸 사명자의 말을 믿고 따라 행하는 삶이 육의 구원이라고 주장한다.

하나님은 시대마다 구원자를 보내어 그들을 구원시켜 주셨고, 신약시대 때는 더 큰 구원과 소망을 이루도록 메시아 예수님을 세상에 보내주어 그를 믿게 함으로 그 영이 영원히 멸망치 않고 구원을 받게 하셨다. (정명석,『구원의 말씀』, 63)

하나님께서 메시아를 보내어 육적인 구원 역사를 하시게 한 것

이다. 메시아와 일체 돼 하나님을 사랑하며 그 뜻대로 사는 것이 육신 구원이며, 지상에서 천국을 이룬 삶이다. 영혼도 이에 따라 구원을 받아 살다가 천국으로 가게 하신다. (정명석, 『구원의 말씀』, 97)

#### 3) 시대성을 띤 구원

정씨는 통일교와 마찬가지로 구약, 신약, 성약으로 시대를 구분 짓고, 각 시대마다 하나님께서 메시아를 보냈다고 주장한다. 그러나 정씨는 한 단 계 더 나아가 각 시대별 구원의 한계를 거론하며 성약에서의 구원을 완성 된 구원으로 본다. 말씀을 가진 메시아를 통해 구원이 이루어진다며, 이 말씀을 가진 자가 바로 '정명석' 본인임을 자처하고 있다.

어느 시대든지 하나님이 주신 말씀을 전할 때 믿고 따라오면 구원을 받는 것이다. 구약은 모세를 중심해 율법 말씀으로 구원을 시켜왔고, 신약은 예수님을 중심해 신약 말씀으로 구원을 시켜왔으며, 이 시대는 이 성약 말씀으로 구원 역사를 펴나가신다. (정명석, 『구원의 말씀』, 225)

메시아가 오면 하나님의 생명의 말씀을 가지고 오므로 그 말씀을 들음으로 말씀을 통한 구원이 이루어짐을 깨달아야 되겠다. (중략) 오직 메시아만이 구원할 수 있는 생명의 말씀을 가지고나타난다. (정명석,『구원의 말씀』, 245)

이 시대 하나님께서 택한 자들의 영혼을 구원하려면 하나님의 시대 말씀이 필요하다고 나를 깨우쳐 주었다. (정명석, 『구원의 말씀』, 262)

금식과 각종 고뇌, 번뇌, 걱정, 염려 속에서 하늘의 시대 말씀을 하나하나 받고 깨닫게 됐고 배우게 됐다. 세상 사람 중에서는 누가 가르쳐주는 사람이 없었다. 내가 조건이 갖춰졌을 때 오직 예수님이 나타나 하나하나 가르쳐 주시고 떠나셨다. (정명석, 『구원의 말씀』, 263)

이러한 정씨의 구원론을 요약하면 하나님은 구약 아담 때부터 시작해 4000년 동안 종급에 있는 자들에게 선지자를 보냈고, 신약시대에는 예수님을 보내 2000년 동안 아들급 구원역사를 펴셨으며, 성약시대 때 정씨를 보내 신부급 구원 역사를 펴게 하신 것이다.

#### 4) 재림부활과 중생부활

정씨는 부활을 중생부활과 재림부활로 구분 짓는다. 중생부활은 아직 죽지 않은 사람이 메시아를 맞이해 믿으므로 부활되는 것을 가리키고, 재림부활은 이미 죽은 사람이 영으로 지상에 와서 메시아를 영접해 부활하는 것을 말한다.

육신을 썼을 때 주를 맞이해 그의 말씀을 믿고 따라서 부활되는 것은 중생부활이다. (정명석, 『30개론 강의안』, 114)

신약시대에 예수가 오셨을 때도 구약의 중심자 모세와 엘리야가 강림해 주를 따랐다. (중략) 하나님의 약속인 구원을 기다리는 구약의 중심자들도 이렇게 영으로 나타나 메시아를 따랐음을 볼수 있다. 이들이 메시아를 믿고 따를 때 재림 부활구원을 받는 것이다. 종급에서 아들급으로 변화된 구원이다. (정명석, 『구원의 말씀』, 119)

더 나아가 정씨는 타 종교를 믿거나, 종교를 믿지 않은 사람이 죽으면 영계에서 고통받다가 메시아가 가서 복음을 전할 때 믿으면 구원을 받는다고 주장한다.

살았을 때 육으로 메시아를 믿지 않았든지 하나님을 불신함으로 육이 심판받고 그 영이 그대로 지옥에 가기도 하지만, 영계에서 영이 흑암권에 갇혀있다가 새로운 시대 메시아의 말씀을 들음으 로 다시 구원을 얻을 수 있는 기회를 얻어 구원받기도 한다. (정 명석, 『구원의 말씀』, 154)

이처럼 정씨가 주장하는 인간 타락과 하나님의 구원 섭리는 통일교 교리 서인 『원리강론』과 그 맥이 상통한다. 이는 통일교 신도로 활동했던 정씨 의 경력이 자신의 교리에 상당한 영향을 미쳤음을 알 수 있다.

정씨가 수감 중에 과거에 없던 새로운 교리가 생기기도 했다. 100선, 200선, 300선 등으로 천국의 단계를 나눈다. 더 높은 곳에 가기 위해 많은 기도와 노력이 필요하다. 가장 높은 곳에 있는 황금성에 들어가는 것이 최종 목표다. 황금성은 이 시대의 JMS 회원만 갈 수 있고, 100선, 200선, 300선을 지나야 입장이 가능하다고 주장한다.

#### (3) JMS 주요 활동

#### 1) 기독교복음선교회

기독교복음선교회는 현재 JMS 단체가 사용하는 정식 명칭이다. 대부분 대학에서는 CGM이란 동아리명으로 활동하고 있으며, 주로 문화, 예술, 스포츠 등과 관련한 취미 코드로 대학생들에게 접근하고 있다. 정통 기독동아리 학생들의 증언에 의하면 CGM은 여행, 운동 등 취미 동아리로 위장해활동했으며, 연결된 사람에게 성경공부를 요구하고, 이후 JMS 단체로 포교했다. 인터넷 사이트 "기독교복음선교회"에는 정명석씨의 생애와 사상을알리고 있고, 단체의 사역을 소개하고있다. 또한 사회에 노출된 정씨의 부정적 이미지를 쇄신시키기 위한 변증의 장(場)을 개설, 나아가 일부 언론에 보도된 정씨의 긍정적인 기사를 홍보하고 있다.

#### 2) 예술, 모델단 활동

JMS는 전문 예술단인 '일출예술단'과 모델 전문 양성 기관인 '스타모델단'을 운영하고 있다. 이러한 예술단과 모델단을 통해 관심있는 청년들을 포교하고 있고, 대외적인 활동을 통해 JMS 단체를 적극적으로 홍보하고 있다. JMS에서 발간한 잡지「알아라 山」에 의하면 '일출 예술단'은 경음악, 국악, 오케스트라, 뮤지컬, 현대무용, 재즈 댄스 등 40여 개 부분에서 전국 5000명의 회원이 활동하고 있고, '스타모델단'은 '개성의 계발'이라는 기치 아래 전국 대도시를 중심으로 세계 15개국에서 500여 명의 모델들이 활동하고 있다. 예술성과 스타성을 띤 활동은 성장기에 있는 학생과, 청년들의 흥미와 감각을 자극하기에 충분하다. JMS 탈퇴자의 증언에 따르면 이러한 예술단과 모델단의 활동들은 이미 JMS에 소속된 학생들에게 동경의 대상이 되고 있다. 현재는 썬예술단, 썬스타 등의 명칭으로 활동한다.

#### 3) 평창 동계올림픽 사칭해 홍보단 모집

JMS는 2018년 평창 동계올림픽을 앞두고 홍보단을 사칭해 모집했다. 캠퍼스 내에서 눈에 띄는 키가 크고 스타일 좋은 여학생이 주요 타깃층이며, 유동인구가 많은 역 근처에서도 진행했다. 모집에 참여한 한 여학생에따르면, 4주 이상 워킹, 의전, 비즈니스 영어 등의 수업을 진행했고, 나중에는 좋은 말씀을 들어보겠냐며 멘토를 소개해 주고 JMS 교리를 듣도록했다.

#### (4) JMS 최근 동향

2015년에는 정명석씨 생일인 3월 16일을 '성자승천일'이라며 특별한 날로 지정했다. 또한 정씨의 수감번호였던 '1178'을 근거로 117기도를 권장했다. 오후 1시, 저녁 7시, 새벽 1시에 기도하는 것인데, 이는 정씨가 기도하는 시간이라며, 이 시간에 정씨가 깨달을 수 있도록 정씨를 위해 기도하라는 것이다. JMS는 정조은, 정범석을 두 감람나무로 칭한다. 정범석씨는 정명석씨의 동생으로 육적 증거자, 정조은씨는 영적 증거자라고 말한다. 경기도 분당에 세운 주님의흰돌교회를 중심으로 부산, 인천 송도 등에 큰교회를 마련했다. 기존의 몇몇 교회를 합쳐 교회 수는 줄었으나 단독 건물을 세웠고, 담임 목사는 나이가 많은 남성에서 젊은 여성으로 바뀌었다.

# 8. Christian Gospel Mission (Providence: Religious Movement) JMS

'Christian Gospel Mission' or 'Providence: Religious Movement' (hereinafter referred to as "JMS") is a cult organization of which leader was exposed to the media, since he was arrested for his sex crimes. Mr. Myeong Seok Jung, the leader of JMS was sentenced for ten(10) year imprisonment for sexual abuse, attempted assault and rape. He was released from the prison in February 2018. JMS has been declared as a heresy and cult organization by the Koshin Korea. Presbyterian Church in the Presbyterian Church Korea(Tonghap), the General Assembly of Presbyterian Church of Korea (Hapdong), and the Korean Methodist Church and other traditional churches in Korea.

#### (1) Who is Mr. Jung?

The founder and leader of JMS was born in the Geunm-san, Chungchungnam-do, on February 17th, 1945. Mr. Jung graduated the elementary school and this is his only educational background. He gave up applying for junior school, and he attended at isolated prayer houses located in mountains. In 1966, when he became 22, he served his military duties in Vietnam twice. He left the army in September, 1969. After his military service, he briefly attended at a normal church of which religious body was Korea Evangelical Holiness Church. However, he did not get used to the normal and traditional church life and went back to the isolated prayer houses, such as Yong Moon Mountain prayer house founded by the elder Un Mong Nah, and Sam-gak mountain prayer house. Mr. Jung insisted that he received God's call and joined the Unification

Church founded by Mr. Sun Myung Moon, when he was forty (40) years old. In the Unification Church, Mr. Jung worked as an Anti-Communism lecturer of the International Federation for Victory over Communism (a private federation established by the Unification Church) for two (2) years. He left the Unification Church in 1980 and formed brotherly ties with five (5) young people. He founded Ae-Cheon Church and worked for propagation of his church theologies based on this sworn brother tie.

However, the brother tie started to be cracked, since sexual scandals of Mr. Jung never stopped. We, Modern Religion Monthly, published a news article regarding Mr. Jung's sexual scandals in the September issue of 1984 for the first time and it was the first media exposure of Mr. Jung's sex scandals. And other media and press started to deal with this shocking news. In 2003, Mr. Jung was arrested for illegal stay in HongKong and released by paying bail out. He moved to Main Land China and hid in his private villa located at Qianshan Liaoning. He was arrested by Chinese Police, on May 16th, 2007. He was sent to Korea for his accusation on February 20th, 2008. He was arrested for the sexual abuse and rape and held to be guilty of such charges by the Supreme Court of South Korea. He was sentenced for ten (10)year imprisonment, on April 23rd, 2009. He served his sentence in Daejeon Prison, and he was released, on February 18th, 2018.

#### (2) Main Arguments insisted by JMS

#### 1) Creation and Corruption of Human

Mr. Jung divides the human's corruption into two parts: body's corruption and spiritual corruption. According to the book named

"Words of Salvation" written by Mr. Jung, God chose Adam and Eve among people in the Garden of Eden and encouraged the prosperity of this family, in order to make a holy family, since the creation of the holy family was to make the holy people and the holy world which equals to the heaven on the earth and co-exists with the Heaven in the sky. However, in Mr. Jung's insistence, Eve had a sexual relationship with Satan and this sexual relationship caused her spiritual corruption. After this unfaithful relationship, Eve had a sexual relationship with Adam and this caused Adam to be corrupted, as well.

Eve did not follow God's words at her teenage, and disobeyed God's words. She was tempted by and finally had sexual relationship with Lucifer in the figure of snake. This relationship corrupted her body and soul, since their relationship prevent God's love toward her. Moreover, Adam became corrupted since Eve had relationship right after the relationship with Lucifer. (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation," 207-209)

You may notice, this JMS's doctrine resembles a doctrine of the Unification Church. According to the Divine Principle, a book of the Unification Church, it is written that "directly after Eve had a relationship with a fallen angel in the non-completed period, she had relationship with Adam. Adam became doomed and corrupted, because of Eve's relationship with Satan"

#### 2) The method of Salvation

Mr. Jung insists that God has sent a saviour for each era. He insists that the salvation of body equals to the spiritual salvation and such

salvation of body could be acquired by following the saviour's words in each era.

God sent a saviour for each era and redeemed people. In the era of the New Testament, God sent Jesus Christ, a messiah, for bigger salvation. Human beings were saved, not destructed because of this messiah. (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation, 63)

God sent a messiah for salvation of body. The salvation of body means living in God's will by being united with the messiah. This unity also means the heaven on the earth. Souls of humans are also redeemed by such salvation of body and they go to the heaven after such salvation (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation,", 97)

#### 3) Salvation for each era

Mr. Jung categorizes human history and time into three eras; the era of the Old Testament, the era of the New Testament and the era of the Completed Testament, and God sent a messiah for each era, respectively, just as Mr. Moon of the Unification Church did. In addition to the doctrine of Mr. Moon, Mr. Jung mentions limits of each era's salvation and the salvation in the Completed Testament era is a only completed salvation. He argues that the salvation is accomplished by the messiah with words of God and the messiah for the Completed Testament is himself.

In any era, the salvation is given to someone who spreads, follows and believes in God's words. In the Old Testament era, the salvation was given to someone who follows the

commandments gifted to human beings via Moses. In the New Testament era, the words in the New Testament given by Jesus Christ was a key to the salvation. In this Completed Testament era, the salvation is given to followers who follows and believes in this era's words. (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation", 225)

A messiah is coming with God's words of life and the salvation is given by listening such words. (omitted). Only messiah brings the words of life which gives the salvation (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation\_J, 245)

In this era, I realized that the God's words specifically for this era are required, in order to redeem the souls of sons and daughters chosen by God. (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation,", 262)

I learned the words of God in this Completed Testament era with fast, egony, worries, concerns, and many thoughts. No one told me correct words of God. When I was ready, Jesus Christ appeared to me, taught me his words and left me. (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation,", 263)

In conclusion of Mr. Jung's insistences, God sent a prophet in the level of slave for the Old Testament era which lasted for about four thousand (4000) years from Adam's birth, and another messiah in the level of son for next two thousand (2000) years in the New Testament era. Also, Mr. Jung insists that, in the era of the Completed Testament, the messiah in the level of a spouse is sent.

#### 4) Second Coming Resurrection and People Resurrection

Mr. Jung divides the Resurrection into two types; the People Resurrection and the Second Coming Resurrection. The People Resurrection means that alive people meets messiah and this meeting means resurrection. The Second Coming Resurrection means that dead person's soul comes to the earth and meets messiah for resurrection.

The People Resurrection means resurrection achieved by following God's words, when you are alive. (Myeong Seok Jung, \$\mathbb{\sigma}\$30 Lessons \$\mathbb{\sigma}\$, \$114)

In the era of the New Testament when Jesus Christ came to the world, Moses and Elijah, key persons of the Old Testament era came to the world and followed the Chirst. (omitted). Key persons in the Old Testament era also waited for the salvation which was God's promise and they followed the messiah. When they believed in and followed the messiah, the Second Coming Resurrection was given and they were redeemed. The salvation was changed to the level of son from the level of slave. (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation,", 119)

Moreover, Mr. Jung argues that in case where anyone who believes in other religions or does not have any religion dies, he suffers from the hell, but he could be redeemed if he believes the gospel, when messiah spreads gospel.

When an alive person does not believe in messiah or God, his body will be judged and his soul will be sent to the hell after his death. However, in the spiritual world, his soul captured in the darkness may be redeemed by

listening messiah's words in the new era. (Myeong Seok Jung, "Words of Salvation", 154)

As you recognized from Mr. Jung's arguments above, doctrines of human's corruption and salvation of JMS resemble the doctrines of the Unification Church written in the Divine Principle. Mr. Jung attended at the Unification Church in his 40s and such his religious background has definitely affected to JMS's doctrines.

During the sentence of Mr. Jung, new doctrine and order emerged in JMS. According to this new doctrine, the Heaven is divided into several levels; such as 100 level, 200 level, 300 level, and others. For higher Heaven, more prayers and efforts are required. The Golden Castle, the highest level of the Heaven is the final target. The Golden Castle is only accessible by JMS members and this Golden Castle could be accessed by passing 100 level, 200 level, and 300 level through.

#### (3) Main activities of JMS

#### 1) CGM (Christian Gospel Mission)

The official name of JMS is Christian Gospel Mission (hereinafter referred to as "CGM"). In most universities and colleges of Korea, student groups named CGM exists. These groups recruit its members for culture, art, sports and other hobbies. According to statements of traditional church group's students, CGM fakes itself as a travel, exercise or other hobby group and forces the bible study to the members. After the bible study, they teach JMS's doctrines to the members. The official website of CGM introduces Mr. Jung's doctrines and his life history and JMS's propagation activities. In

order to change the negative images of Mr. Jung who was arrested and sentenced for his sexual offences, the webpage for defense is open for positive articles and/or media exposure of Mr. Jung.

#### 2) Art Group and Modeling Group

JMS operates professional art organization 'Sunrise Art Association' and the institution for professional model, "Star Model Association". These organizations approach to young people who are interested in art and modeling and actively promote JMS with their activities. According to the 「KNOW, the Mountain」, a magazine published by JMS, 'Sunrise Art Association' has five thousand (5,000) members in forty (40) areas, such as casual classic, Korean traditional music, orchestra, musical, modern dance, jazz dance and 'Star Model Association' has five hundred (500) models in fifteen (15) countries over the world. Teenagers and young students are tempted and attracted by this artistic and glamorous activities. According to the statements of peoples who left JMS, many teenagers and young students long for such model and art activities. The name of groups are changed to Sun Art Association and Sun Star.

## 3) Recruitment of promotional units by fraudulent misrepresentation as Pyeong Chang Winter Olympics members

JMS recruited its promotional units by falsely representing themselves as Pyeong Chang Winter Olympics 2018 members. The target was female university students with model figure, within university campuses. According to the statement of a student who was target, JMS taught cat walk, etiquette as practiced on formal events and ceremony, and business English skills for four (4) weeks. After these lectures, JMS recommended to listen bible study and introduced a mentor for JMS doctrines and orders.

#### (4) Recent Activities of JMS

JMS designated "March 16th", birthday date of Mr. Jung, as the "Holy Son's Ascension Day". Also, JMS recommended its follower to pray 117 prayer which is based on the Mr. Jung's prisoner number, 1178. This 117 prayer means prayer at 1 PM, 7 PM, and 1 AM, in everyday. JMS insists that these times are Mr. Jung's prayer time in the prison. JMS officially appoints Jo-eun Jung and Beom Seok Jung as olive trees. In JMS, Beom Seok Jung, a brother of Mr. Jung is a witness of body and Jo Eun Jung is a spiritual witness. JMS built Lord's White Stone Church in Bundang, Gyeonggi-do, and big churches in Busan, Incheon Songdo and other areas. Existing JMS churches have been integrated with other JMS churches, so the total number of JMS churches decreased. However, a number of followers are not affected and many main pastors of JMS are changed from male to female pastors.

#### 8. 基督教福音宣教会(JMS)

基督教福音宣教会JMS因其代表郑明锡的性犯罪在电视台时事告发栏目中多次报道,郑明锡因强奸女性嫌疑入狱十年2018年10月出狱。基督教福音宣教会因救赎论,三位一体论,复活论,再临论等教义方面的问题被耶长高神,统合,合同,基监等教派判为异端。

#### (1) 郑明锡是谁?

JMS创立者郑明锡于1945年2月17日出生在忠南锦山,小学毕业后他放弃学业常常到山上的祷告院祷告。1966年22岁的郑明锡参军曾两次到越南参战。1969年9月复员后在圣洁教会出席一段时间,之后就开始到罗云梦长老的龙门山祷告院和三角山祷告院频繁进行山上祷告。40岁时自称从神得到使命下山出席自己家乡的统一教会,担任国际胜共联合反共讲师两年。1980年离开统一教笼络五名年轻人以"新村五兄弟"为名结拜,开拓'爱天教会'奋力传教扩展其教势。

郑明锡对女信徒的性丑闻接连暴露,其团体逐渐显露出分裂迹象。本刊1984年9月号第一次披露郑明锡性丑闻事件,之后相关新闻通过各媒体报出给社会带来巨大波动。2003年郑明锡在香港因非法居留被捕,保释出狱后逃到中国。在辽宁等地的别墅里躲避,2007年5月16日被公安逮捕,2009年4月23日在韩国大法院因强奸等嫌疑被判入狱10年,并于2018年2月18日出狱。

#### (2) JMS的主要主张

#### 1) 人的创造和堕落

郑明锡把人的堕落分为灵魂的堕落与肉体的堕落。在自己的书《救赎的话语》里记录,神在伊甸园拣选亚当和夏娃,让他们生育繁盛,透过他们实现家庭天国,民族天国和世界天国来成就看得见的天国与看不见的天国,不过夏娃与撒旦发生性关系灵里堕落,之后夏娃又与亚当发生性关系肉体也随之堕落。

夏娃在十几岁的时候不愿意通过神的话语成长,不顺从神的话语,被比喻为蛇的天使长路西弗的甜言蜜语所欺骗,因为好奇心和爱的

冲动,切断与神的爱与路西弗结下爱的关系而在性方面堕落,因此 灵魂和肉体一同堕落。并且夏娃通过堕落的身体爱亚当,亚当也随 之堕落。(《救赎的话语》,郑明锡,207-209页)

以性为主题的堕落论与统一教的思想相同,原理讲论在有关人的堕落解释"夏娃在未完成期与天使长发生不伦的血缘关系,之后与亚当结下夫妻关系,因此亚当也在未完成期堕落。"

#### 2) 人类救赎的方法

郑明锡主张神为拯救人类每个时代都差派救赎者。并说肉体的救赎就是灵的救赎,相信和遵行这个时代被差派使命者话语就是肉体的救赎。

神每个时代都差派救赎者拯救他们,在新约时代为成就更大的救赎与盼望差派耶稣到世界上使人相信他,使他们的灵魂永远不至于灭亡。(《救赎的话语》,郑明锡,63页)

神差派弥赛亚拯救人的肉体,与弥赛亚成为一体,爱神并按着他的 旨意生活,这就是肉体的救赎,就是建造地上天国的生活,随之灵 魂也会得救将来进入天国。(《救赎的话语》, 郑明锡, 97页)

#### 3) 带有时代性的救赎

郑明锡把圣经分为旧约,新约,圣约,这与统一教的观点相同,在每个时代神差派弥赛亚。但郑明锡更上一层楼,谈到每个时代救赎的局限性,主张只有圣约时期的救赎是完全的。他主张救赎要通过拥有话语的弥赛亚成就,这位拥有话语者就是'郑明锡'本人。

任何时代传播神所赐的话语时, 信而得救。旧约时期以摩西为中心通过律法的话语给予救赎。新约时期以耶稣为中心通过新约话语给予救赎, 在这个时代通过圣约话语开展救赎事工。(《救赎的话语》, 郑明锡, 225页)

弥赛亚来临的时候带来生命的话语,因此要明白听这些话语获得通

过话语的救赎(略),只有弥赛亚拥有救赎人的生命的话语。(《救赎的话语》,郑明锡,245页)

神启示我说:为拯救这个时代被神拣选之人的灵魂,需要神时代的话语。(《救赎的话语》,郑明锡,262页)

我自己在禁食,各种苦恼,烦恼,担心和顾虑中领受和领悟到神时代的话语,在世人中没有人教导我,当我自己条件满足的时候耶稣出现教导我后离开。(《救赎的话语》,郑明锡,263页)

如果简单归纳郑明锡的救恩论,神从旧约亚当时代开始4000年的时间派遣先知给仆人级的百姓。到了新约时代神派遣耶稣用2000年的时间成就儿女级别百姓的救恩。到了圣约时代,神派遣郑明锡拯救新妇级别百姓的救恩。

#### 4) 再临复活与重生复活

郑明锡把复活分为重生复活与再临复活,重生复活是人活着的时候迎接弥赛亚通过信心复活,再临复活是已死之人的灵来到地上迎接弥赛亚复活。

通过肉体迎接主,相信他的话语并随之复活,这就是重生复活。 (《救赎的话语》,郑明锡,114页)

新约时代耶稣来临的时候,旧约的中心人物摩西与以利亚降临并跟随耶稣。(略)等候神救赎约定的旧约中心人物成为灵跟随弥赛亚,他们信而跟随弥赛亚的时候就获得了再临复活救赎,这是从仆人等级上升到儿子等级的救赎。(《救赎的话语》,郑明锡,119页)

郑明锡甚至主张信其它宗教或没有宗教信仰的人死后在灵界受痛苦,但弥赛亚去到他们那里传福音的时候相信就会得救。

在活着的时候没有相信弥赛亚或者因不信神受到肉体的审判,灵会下地狱被黑暗的权柄关锁。但是,因着听新时代弥赛亚的话语能够 重新得到救赎的机会从而得救。(《救赎的话语》,郑明锡,154页) 如上所述,郑明锡所主张人的堕落与神救赎的原理与统一教经典《原理讲论》 一脉相通,这意味着郑明锡过去成为统一教信徒的经历给他的教义带来巨大影响。

郑明锡下在监狱里的时候编写了过去没有的教义,就是透过100级,200级,300级来区分天国的阶段。为提升到更高的位置需要更多的祷告与努力,上升到最高之处的黄金城是最终目标,黄金城只有这个时代的JMS成员才能去,经过100级,200级,300级才能进入。

#### (3) JMS主要活动

#### 1) 基督教福音宣教会

JMS现在的名称是基督教福音宣教会,在许多的大学以CGM名称进行团契活动,主要以文化,艺术,体育等方式接近大学生。根据正统基督教团契学生证言得知,CGM伪装成旅行和运动等团契进行活动,要求入团学生参加圣经学习,之后带领到JMS团契内。在"基督教福音宣教会"网站上大肆宣传郑明锡的生平与思想,介绍团体事工,开设试图更换郑明锡在社会负面印象的辩证平台,并集中宣传在部分媒体曾经报道过郑明锡的一些积极的新闻。

#### 2) 艺术,模特团活动

JMS在运营专业艺术团 "日出艺术团" 和 "明星模特团" 通过这样的团体 向感兴趣的年轻人传教,并通过对外活动积极宣传JMS团体。根据JMS所创办的 杂志《认识山》中所刊登的内容所知,"日出艺术团"在轻音乐,国乐,交响 乐,歌剧,现代舞蹈,爵士舞等40多个分类拥有5000多名全国会员。"明星模特团"在'开发个性'旗帜下以全国大城市为中心,在全世界有500多名模特 在活动。具有艺术性和明星色彩的活动对成长期的学生和青年极具吸引力。根据脱离JMS前成员的证言,艺术团与模特团活动在JMS属下学生中成为向往的对象,现在以太阳艺术团和太阳明星等名称活动。

#### 3) 以平昌冬季奥运会名义组织宣传团队

2018年平昌冬季奥运会前, JMS招募宣传队。主要对象是大学校园内个子高容

貌出众的女学生。有些时候还在地铁口和流动人口多的地方进行宣传。根据被招的女学生证言,首先对她们进行4周左右的走台、衣装、商务英语等训练。 之后引诱她们听宝贵的话语给她们介绍导师,让她们听JMS教义。

#### (4) JMS最近动向

2015年JMS把郑明锡的生日3月16日定为'圣者升天日'并且以郑明锡的收监号1178为根据,鼓励信徒进行117祷告。下午1点,晚上7点,凌晨1点祷告,主张这是郑明锡祷告的时间,因此信徒要为郑明锡在这个时间有更好的领悟而祷告。JMS称郑照恩,郑范锡二人成为两棵橄榄树,郑范锡是郑明锡的弟弟,是肉体见证者,郑照恩是灵的见证者,他们以建立在京畿道盆唐 '主的白石教会' 为中心在釜山,仁川和松岛等地建立大规模教会。他们把现有的几个小教会合并起来建立独立建筑,把主任牧师更换为年轻女性。

### 9 제칠일안식일예수재림교회

Seventh-day Adventist Church 第七日安息日耶稣再临教会

#### 9. 제칠일안식일예수재림교회

제칠일안식일예수재림교회(안식교)는 한국 근대화를 위한 많은 사회 활동을 전개해 긍정적인 기여를 했고, 지금껏 그 명맥을 이어 다양한 사회 활동에 참여하고 있다. 안식교는 자신들의 교리에 입각해 윤리적으로 결점 없는 삶을 살기 위해 노력하는 종교 단체다. 그러나 기성교회와 성경 해석에 다른 입장을 고수하고 있고, 정통 교리에서 이탈한 주장을 하므로한국 교계에서 "이단"으로 결의됐다.

#### (1) 윌리엄 밀러와 엘렌 지 화이트

안식교의 시작을 연 윌리엄 밀러(William Miller)는 1782년 2월 15일 미국 미사츄세츠주 피츠필드에서 출생했다. 그는 전형적인 침례교인으로서 열성파에 속했고, 16년 동안 종말론에 관해 성경연구를 했다. 그리고 1843년, 1844년 두 차례에 걸쳐 그리스도의 재림에 관한 예언을 했지만 실패, 그 후 엘렌 지 화이트(Ellen G. White)가 1915년 죽기까지 안식교 지도자로 활약했다.

1844년 "대 실망 사건"(재림 예언 실패) 직후 화이트는 재림파 신도들이 하나님의 찬란한 도성에 도달할 때까지의 여행을 하는 첫 환상을 경험했고, 이후 두 번째 환상을 보며 그 내용을 말하기 시작했다. 이에 재림파 추종세력들은 화이트가 환상과 예언을 따르는 참 여선지자로 믿기 시작, 메인주 포틀랜드 주변에서 큰 집단을 형성했다.

1847년 화이트는 거룩한 지성소에서 언약궤 안에 있는 십계명과 십계명 중 안식일 계명 부분이 영광의 광채가 빛나는 환상을 보았다고 주장했다. 화이트는 자신의 환상 체험을 다양한 주제들에서 언급했고, 따라서 안식교 신앙과 활동이 대부분 화이트의 환상이나 예언에 근거하고 있다.

#### (2) 안식교의 주요 주장

#### 1) 선지자 엘렌 지 화이트

엘렌 지 화이트는 자신의 해석이 성경과 비슷한 권위를 갖는 것으로 간주

했다. 안식교 신도들도 화이트의 권위를 인정하고 있으며 "선지자"로 호칭한다. 안식교 잡지「The Adventist Review and Herald」1928년 10월 4일자에는 "제칠일안식일예수재림교회는 엘렌 지 화이트가 오늘날 그리스도교회에 대해 선지(先知)였음을 믿는다"고 고백하고, 안식교 한국 잡지「교회지남」에서도 엘렌 지 화이트의 글을 다루면서 "오늘을 위한 현대 선지자의 증언"이라고 가리키고 있다. 안식교 기본신조 18 "예언의 선물"에는 "하나님의 사자로서, 그(엘렌 지 화이트)의 저술들은 지속적이고도 권위있는 원천으로서 교회에 위로와 인도와 교훈과 교정을 제공한다"고 주장,엘렌 지 화이트가 하나님께 속한 하나님의 메신저로 믿고 있다.

#### 2) 2300주야와 조사심판

안식교는 다니엘 8장 14절, 9장 25절, 에스라 7장 11절부터 26절 등 2300주야와 관련된 성구를 인용해 예수 그리스도의 재림 시기를 예언했다. 다니엘 8장 14절에서 다니엘이 본 환상으로서 "그가 내게 이르되 2300주야까지니 그때에 성소가 정결함을 입으리라"고 기록됐고, 이 2300주야에 대한 환상을 다니엘 9장 25절의 예루살렘을 중건하라는 말과 연결시켰으며, 그것을 다시 에스라 7장 11절부터 26절에 나오는 아닥사스다왕이 에스라에게 내린 조서와 연결시켰다.

아닥사스다왕의 조서가 내려진 때를 B.C. 457년으로 정한 후에 2300주야를 2300년으로 계산, 결과는 A.D. 1844년에 예수 그리스도가 재림한다는 것이다. 그러나 1844년 예수 그리스도 재림 예언이 실패하자 안식교 신도들의 큰 실망을 경계한 화이트와 몇몇 안식교 신도들은 교리 변증을 시작해 또 다른 해석을 감행함으로 "조사심판" 교리를 창시했다.

예수께서 하늘 성전 첫째 칸인 성소에 계시다가 1844년 10월 22일에야 하늘 성전 둘째 칸인 지성소에 들어가셔서 지상 인간들의 행위를 살펴보고 흠과 티가 없는 자만 구원받게 하기 위해 조사심판을 하고 있다고 주장한다.

다니엘 8장 14절 말씀으로 예언적 기간이 1844년 가을로 마치게 되는 것으로 나타났고, 재림 신자들 역시 다른 일반 그리스 도인들처럼 성소가 이 세상 혹은 세상의 어떤 지역이라는 견해 를 가지고 있었다. 그들은 성소의 정결이란 마지막 큰 날에 이세상이 불로 정결해지는 것을 말하고 그 일은 재림의 때에 이루어질 것이라고 이해했다. (엘렌 지 화이트, 『예언과 역사』, 403)

하나님 앞에 속죄 제물의 피를 드리고 이스라엘 자손들의 기도와 함께 올라간 향을 피우는 것은 매일의 봉사에서 제사장이 하는 일인 것처럼 그리스도께서는 죄인을 위해 당신의 피를 가지시고 아버지께 탄원하며, 회개한 신자들의 기도를 당신의 귀중한 의의 향기와 함께 그분 앞에 드리신다. 그와 같은 것이 하늘성소의 첫째 칸에서 행하는 봉사 사업이었다. (엘렌 지 화이트,『예언과 역사』, 412~413)

약 1800년 동안 성소의 첫째 칸에서 이 봉사 사업이 계속됐다. 회개한 죄인들은 그들을 위해 애소하시는 그리스도의 피로 말미암아 죄의 용서를 얻고 아버지께 가납되었으나 그들의 죄는 여전히 기록책에 남아있었다. 모형적 봉사에서 일년의 마지막 속죄 사업이 있었던 것처럼 인류의 구속을 위한 그리스도의 사업이 마치기 전에 성소에서 죄를 도말하기 위한 속죄 사업이 있게된다. 그것은 2300주야가 끝났을 때 시작된 사업이다. (엘렌 지화이트, 『예언과 역사』, 413)

예언의 말씀의 빛을 따른 사람들이 깨달은 바와 같이 2300 주 야가 마치는 1844년에 그리스도께서 이 세상에 오시는 것이 아니라 당신의 재림의 준비로 속죄 사업을 마치기 위해 하늘 성소의 지성소에 들어가셨다. (엘렌 지 화이트, 『예언과 역사』, 414)

품성을 검사하는 일, 곧 누가 하나님의 나라에 들어갈 준비가 됐는지 결정하는 것이 곧 조사심판이요, 하늘 성소에서 하는 마 지막 사업이다. (엘렌 지 화이트, 『예언과역사』, 420)

안식교의 2300주야와 조사심판에 대해 진용식 목사는 『안식교의 5대 오류』에서 "예언의 1일을 1년으로 계산하는 것은 성경에 근거 없는 오류"라고 주장했고, B.C. 457년에 아닥사스 다왕이 조서를 내렸다는 주장에 대해 "예루살렘 성전은 B.C. 516년에 완공됐다. 59년 전에 완공돼 낙성식까지했던 예루살렘을 왜 또 중건령을 내리겠는가"라고 비판했다.

#### 3) 토요일 안식일 준수

안식교는 토요일 안식일 준수 여부를 구원의 조건으로 보고 있다.

안식일은 그리스도 안에 있는 구속의 상징이요, 성화의 징표이며, 우리의 충성됨의 표현이며, 하나님의 나라에서 경험할 우리의 영원한 미래를 미리 맛보는 시간이다. 안식일은 하나님과 그분의 백성 사이의 영원한 약속을 나타내는 중요한 관계에 대한표식이다. (『행복을 나누는 이웃』, 25)

A.D. 321년 로마 황제 콘스탄틴의 주재로 개최된 역사적인 니케 아 종교회의 칙령에 포함된 감독들에게 보낸 서한을 통해 동방에 있는 교회들도 유대인과 함께하지 말고, 로마 교회와 같은 날을 부활절로 기념하라고 명령함으로써 오랜 부활절-일요일 논쟁에서 로마 교회가 승리했음을 공인했다. (신계훈, 『어두움이 빛을 이기지 못하더라』, 120)

일요일과 함께 부활절 자체가 태양과 관련된 이교도 축제였음은 명백한 사실이다. (신계훈, 『어두움이 빛을 이기지 못하더라』, 124)

이러한 안식교의 안식일 주장에 대해 진용식 목사는 『안식교 5대 오류』에서 "콘스탄틴이 A.D. 321년에 일요일에 휴업하고 예배하라는 칙령은 기독교를 핍박하기 위해 안식일을 지키지 못하게 하고 억지로 우상숭배 하는 일요일을 지키라고 내린 법령이 아니고, 이미 주일에 예배하고 있는 기독교인들을 돕기 위해 내린 법령이었다"며 "당시의 교회가 안식일(토요일) 예배를 하고 있었다면 기독교를 위한 이 법령이 강제로 날짜를 바꿀이유가 없다"고 반박했다.

또 "유대인의 구약적인 안식일(토요일)은 신약에 와서 폐했다"며 "신약성경에 구약의 폐한 안식일(토요일)을 거룩히 구별해 지키라고 명령한 곳이한 구절도 없다"고 밝혔다.

#### 4) 율법준수로 얻는 구원

안식교는 구원을 큰 구원과 영원한 구원으로 나눈다. 큰 구원은 믿음으로 얻는 구원이나 취소될 수 있는 불완전한 구원이고 영원한 구원은 율법을 지킴으로 얻어지는 구원으로서 흠도 티도 없어야 받는 완전한 구원이라고 주장한다. 즉 다시 말해 율법 준수 여부에 따라 구원이 결정된다는 것이 다.

> 주의 이름을 믿는다고 해서 모두 구원을 얻는 것이 아니라 조사 심판의 결과에 따라 구원이 확정된다는 사실을 기억하자. 조사 심판에 의해 우리의 말과 생각, 행동, 동기와 목적, 선악 간에 끼친 감화 등 드러난 범죄는 물론 은밀한 것들이 심판을 받게 될 것이며 하나님의 율법은 조사심판의 기준이 될 것이다. (강대 천,『세 천사의 기별을 경험하라』, 94)

안식일의 "율법준수에 따른 구원 여부"에 대해 진용식 목사는 『안식교 5 대 오류』에서 "예수 그리스도의 십자가는 인간의 노력으로 구원받을 수 없기에 우리의 죄를 구속하신 것인데 율법을 완전히 지킬 수 있다면 예수님의 구속이 왜 필요하겠는가?"라며 "성경은 분명히 살아있는 동안 완전성화가 불가능하다고 가르치고 있다"고 율법준수 교리를 비판했다. 이어모두 구원을 얻는 것이 아니라 조사심판의 결과에 따라 구원이 확정된다는 사실을 기억하자. 조사심판에 의해 우리의 말과 생각, 행동, 동기와 목적, 선악 간에 끼친 감화 등 드러난 범죄는 물론 은밀한 것들이 심판을받게 될 것이며 하나님의 율법은 조사심판의 기준이 될 것이다. (『세 천사의 기별을 경험하라』, 강대천, 94)

안식일의 "율법준수에 따른 구원 여부"에 대해 진용식 목사는 『안식교 5 대 오류』에서 "예수 그리스도의 십자가는 인간의 노력으로 구원받을 수 없기에 우리의 죄를 구속하신 것인데 율법을 완전히 지킬 수 있다면 예수 님의 구속이 왜 필요하겠는가?"라며 "성경은 분명히 살아있는 동안 완전 성화가 불가능하다고 가르치고 있다"고 율법준수 교리를 비판했다. 이어 "오직 구원은 예수 그리스도를 믿음으로 얻는 것임을 밝히 깨달아야 한다"고 강조했다.

#### 5) 부정하고 가증한 음식

안식교는 레위기 11장에 나오는 말씀을 토대로 부정하고 가증한 음식을 구분해 먹는 것을 금지하고 있다. 또한 육식을 금하며 채식을 강조하고 있고 심지어 음식 규례 준수 여부를 구원으로 연결하고 있다.

사람이 피조물의 생명을 먹는 일은 하나님의 계획이 아니다. 그러므로 육식을 폐하기로 목표를 세우지 않고 하나님의 창조하신 동물의 생명을 취하고 그 고기를 먹는 자들은 하늘 나라에서 베풀어질 만찬에는 초청받지 못할 것이다. (강대천,『세 천사의 기별을 경험하라』, 153)

채소와 과실과 곡식들이 우리의 식물로 구성되어야 할 것이다. 약간의 고기도 우리의 위장에 들어가지 않게 할 것이다. (강대 천,『세 천사의 기별을 경험하라』, 154)

안식일의 음식 규례에 대해 진용식 목사는 『안식교 5대 오류』에서 "신약에는 부정과 가증의 규례가 없어졌다. 부정한 음식을 금하라고 하는 곳은한 구절도 없다"며 "육식은 사람이 스스로 먹기 시작한 것이 아니고 하나님께서 인간에게 직접 허락하신 것"이라며 안식일 음식 규례를 부정했다. 나아가 "우리의 모본되시는 예수님도 잡수셨고, 선지자, 사도들도 먹었던육식을 화이트는 왜 금하라 하는가?"라고 물으며 디모데전서 4장 1~5절말씀을 인용, "식물을 폐하라 하는 자는 마귀의 영을 받은 자"라고 비판했다.

안식교는 교회의 전통적 신앙고백과는 차별화된 교리를 가지고 있다. 1844년 시한부종말론 문제와 배타적인 구원관으로 인해 이단 혹은 기독교와는 다른 단체로 받아들여지고 있으며, 비록 긍정적인 사회적 공헌을 해온 것은 사실이지만 이러한 교리적 차이는 안식교를 이단으로 분류하는 이유가 되고 있다.

#### 9. Seventh-day Adventist Church

Seventh-day Adventist Church (hereinafter referred to as "SDA") contributed modernization of the Republic of Korea (hereinafter referred to as "Korea") by pursuing social activities. Based on this history and its own tradition, SDA has been participating in various social activities in Korea. SDA is a religious organization which forces its followers to live ethically clean and flawless lives under its doctrines. However, its doctrines are apparently different from the doctrines of the traditional churches, and SDA has been decided as a "heresy" by traditional churches.

#### (1) Willian Miller and Ellen G. White

William Miller who started SDA was born on February 15th, 1782, in Pittsfield, Massachusetts. He was a typical and very loyal Baptist. He studied eschatology (apocalypse) for sixteen (16) years. In 1843 and 1844, he prophesied the second coming of Jesus Christ, on two separate occasions, but his prophecies failed. He had worked as a leader of SDA until the death of Ellen G. White in 1915.

In 1844, right after the "Great Disappointment (Failure of the prophecy of second coming of Jesus Christ)", Ellen G. White started to claim that she received her first vision which showed a journey to the God's splendorous castle (temple) and that she received her second vision. The followers of SDA, a.k.a Adventists started to believe Ellen G. White as a prophetess who receives visions and gives prophecies. And the Adventists formed a big group around the Portland, Maine.

In 1847, Ellen G. White claimed that she received a vision which showed shining 'Ten Commandment and the fourth commandment which mentions the sabbath day' in the Ark of the Covenant, at the holy sanctuary. Ellen G. White insisted that she received various visions in various topics and her insistence is the basis of the doctrines of SDA.

#### (2) Main Arguments of SDA

#### 1) Prophetess, Ellen G. White

Ellen G. White regarded her interpretation of the Bible as similar to the Bible. Followers of SDA, the Adventists, recognize Ellen G. White's authority and name her as a "prophetess" in modern days. In the 'the Adventist Review and Herald', an SDA magazine, SDA declared published on October 4th. 1928. acknowledges and recognizes Ellen G. White as a prophetess for modern days. Also, in Korea, the 'Adventist Review', the Korean SDA magazine, published articles quoting writings of Ellen G. White and in the article, SDA declared that the writings of Ellen G. White are the testimonies of a modern-day prophetess. Under the fundamental belief 18of SDA, "the Gift of Prophecy", it is prescribed that "the writings of Ellen G. White, a herald of the God, are continuous and authoritative resources for consolidation, guidance, lessons and rectification". According to this fundamental belief, Ellen G. White is believed as a messenger of God.

#### 2) 2300 evenings and mornings & the Investigative Judgment

SDA officially prophesied the timing of Jesus Christ's second coming, by quoting Daniel Chapter 8 Verse 14, and Ezra Chapter 7 Verse

11~26. In Daniel Chapter 8 Verse 14, it quotes that "He said to me, "It will take 2300 evenings and mornings; then the sanctuary will be reconsecrated." SDA connects this verse to "restoration and rebuilding of Jerusalem" in Daniel Chapter 9 Verse 25 and to the letter of King Artaxerxes given to Ezra in Ezra Chapter 7 Verse 11~26.

Under SDA's doctrines, the time when the letter of King Artaxerxes was written in B.C. 457 and 2300 evenings and mornings mean 2300 years. SDA argued that the second coming of Jesus Christ would be in A.D. 1844 which is 2300 years after B.C. 457. However, the prophecy of second coming of Jesus Christ failed, Ellen G. White and a part of the Adventists who were wary about such big disappointment changed the doctrines and created a new religious doctrine of "Investigative Judgment".

Under this doctrine of Investigative Judgment, Jesus Christ was in the first apartment of the Heaven, but he entered into the second apartment of the Heaven on October 22nd, 1844, for investigating and judging people's behaviors, in order to save only pure and flawless souls.

"Unto two thousand and three hundred days; then shall the sanctuary be cleansed." Daniel Chapter 8 Verse 14... These prophetic days had been shown to terminate in the autumn of 1844. In common with the rest of the Christian world, Adventists then held that the earth, or some portion of it, was the sanctuary. They understood that the cleansing of the sanctuary was the purification of the earth by the fires of the last great day, and that this would take place at the second advent. Hence the conclusion that

Christ would return to the earth in 1844. (The Great Controversy, Ellen G. White, 409)

As high priests offered atonement of blood for sins and burnt incenses with Jewish' prayers, Jesus Christ pleads for your sins and burns incenses of righteousness with penitent's prayers. Such pleading and burning incenses are his ministration in the first apartment of the Heaven. (The Great Controversy, Ellen G. White, 412~413)

For eighteen centuries, this work of ministration continued in the first apartment of the sanctuary. The blood of Christ, pleaded in behalf of penitent believers, secured their pardon and acceptance with the Father, yet their sins still remained upon the books of record. As in the typical service there was a work of atonement at the close of the year, so before Christ's work for the redemption of men is completed there is a work of atonement for the removal of sin from the sanctuary. This is the service which began when the 2300 days ended. (The Great Controversy, Ellen G. White, 413)

As people who follows the light of prophecies realize, Jesus Christ did not come to the world, but entered into the heavenly sanctuary for completing the atonement ministration for preparation of his second coming, in 1844. (The Great Controversy, Ellen G. White, 414)

The Investigative Judgment is the last ministration of the heavenly sanctuary and it judges the characters of the Adventists and it decides who may enter into the God's land. (The Great Controversy, Ellen G. White, 420)

The theories of 2300 evenings and mornings and the Investigative Judgment are criticized by many traditional churches and Christians, including Pastor Yong Sik Jin. In his journal named "Five Errors of SDA", he criticized that SDA's interpretation which counts one day as a year is groundless and baseless. Also, he criticized SDA's argument regarding the timing of Artaxerxes' letter, B.C. 457, as being groundless. In his journal, he wrote that "the Jerusalem temple was completed in B.C. 516. It would be a non-sense that the temple was ordered to be re-built, if the temple was completely built and its completion was celebrated 59 years ago"

#### 3) Saturday as sabbath day

Saturday is a sabbath day of SDA which shall be observed for the salvation

The sabbath day is a symbol of redemption and sanctification and an expression of our loyalty. Also it is a day of chance of experience of God's land and our future in his land. The sabbath day is a sign of important relationship which shows eternal promise between the God and his people. (Neighbors sharing happiness, 25)

According to the letters to the supervisors included in the Edict of Religion Council of Nicaea held by Constantine, the Roman Emperor, in A.D. 321, the letters ordered churches in East not to follow the Jewish rules, but to celebrate the Easter day of Roman Church. As it ordered above, it officially said that the Roman Church won the old Easter-Sunday debate. (The Darkness may not win the light, Gye Hoon Shin, 120)

It is an obvious truth that Sunday and the Easter day are festival days of the heathens who worship the sun (The Darkness may not win the light, Gye Hoon Shin, 124)

In his journal named "Five Errors of SDA", Pastor Jin rebutted SDA's sabbath day argument as follows:

"The Edict of Constantine made in A.D. 321 for worship on Sunday was not a law to persecute the Christians for their religious belief, but a law to help Christians who had already worshiped on every Sunday. If the sabbath day were Saturday at that time, there would be no reason that the Edict and the law changed the day of worship."

Also, he criticized SDA's argument of sabbath day as groundless. He wrote as follows in his journal: "Jewish's sabbath day (Saturday) mentioned in the Old Testament is abolished in the New Testament. In the New Testament, there is no verse which says the abolished sabbath day (Saturday) shall be divinely kept."

#### 4) Salvation obtained by keeping commandments

SDA divides the salvation into two parts; Big Salvation and Eternal Salvation. The Big Salvation means a salvation given by faith of followers, but this is an incomplete salvation which could be canceled. The Eternal Salvation means a salvation which could be achieved by followers without any ethical flaw by keeping commandments. In other words, SDA's salvation is decided whether or not a follower keeps commandments.

We must remember that the salvation is determined by the results of the Investigative Judgment, not by our faith. God will judge our words, thoughts, behaviors, motives, purposes, feelings, and sins disclosed and concealed, by the Investigative Judgment, and God's commandments are the standards of the Investigative Judgment. (Experience three angels' messages, Dae Cheon Kang, 94)

Pastor Jin criticized SDA's salvation theory as follows in his journal named "Five Errors of SDA"; "Why do humans require Jesus Christ's redemption, if we, humans, are able to completely keep commandments? The Holy Cross of Jesus Christ redeems human race's sins, since humans may not be redeemed by our efforts. Bible teaches us that human beings may not achieve complete sanctification. The only and sole salvation and redemption shall be achieved by faith for Jesus Christ."

#### 5) Unclean Food

SDA divides foods into two parts; clean and unclean foods, as mentioned in Leviticus Chapter 11 and prohibits the unclean foods. Also, it bans meats and forces its followers to have vegetarian diet. This food doctrine is also connected to the salvation of followers.

A dietary life which consumes other creatures is not the God's plan. Therefore, a person who eats meats of the other creatures and does not plan to prohibit meat diet will not be invited by the Lord's supper. (Experience three angels' messages, Dae Cheon Kang, 153)

Our food shall consist of vegetables, fruits and grains. Even a little of meat will not be put in our organs. (Experience three angels' messages, Dae Cheon Kang, 154)

Regarding SDA's dietary doctrine, Pastor Yong Sik Jin criticized SDA's doctrine as follows: "In the New Testament, rules and regulations related to the unclean food are gone. There is no verse prohibiting unclean food in the New Testament. Meat diet was not started by human beings, but it was directly allowed by God. And the rules and regulations related to the sabbath day's food shall be denied. Why does Ellen G. White prohibit meat that Jesus Christ, many prophets, and disciples had?" Also he criticized SDA's diet doctrine by quoting Timothy 4:1~5 "someone who taught by demons will order to abstain from certain foods"

SDA has doctrines different from the doctrines of traditional churches. SDA is recognized as a heresy or an organization not related to the traditional and authentic Christianity, based on its 1884 apocalypse and closed and limited salvation theory. Even though it has contributed social modernization and welfare, such difference in doctrines makes SDA a heresy.

#### 9. 第七日安息日耶稣再临教会

第七日安息日耶稣再临教会(安息教)为韩国近代化展开诸多社会活动作出了积极贡献。现今他们仍然继承这些传统参与社会活动。安息教根据他们的教义在伦理上为维持无瑕疵的生活努力,但在圣经解释方面与现有教会保持不同路线,固守着脱离正统教义的主张,因此在韩国被定为异端。

#### (1) 威廉米勒与怀爱伦

安息教的创始人是威廉米勒(William Miller),1782年2月15日出生在马萨诸塞州的皮茨菲尔德。他是典型的浸礼会激进派信徒。他研究16年末世论,1843年和1844年曾两次预言耶稣的再临但以失败告终,之后怀爱伦(Ellen G. White)成为安息教领袖直到1915年去世。

在1844年'大失望事件'(再临预言失败)以后怀爱伦第一次体验异象,她与再临派信徒一同旅行到神的灿烂都城,之后看到第二次异象的时候就开始说出这些内容。从此再临派信徒开始相信怀爱伦就是伴随异象和预言的真先知,在缅因州波特兰附近形成了他们的一个大集团。

1847年怀爱伦主张自己看到圣洁的至圣所,在其内的十诫命中安息日诫命上闪烁着光芒。怀爱伦在多个主题上提到自己的体验,因此安息教信仰和活动大多根据怀爱伦的异象和预言。

#### (2) 安息教主要主张

#### 1) 先知怀爱伦

怀爱伦主张自己的解释拥有与圣经相同的权威。安息教信徒承认怀爱伦的权威并称她为'先知'。安息日杂志「The Adventist Review and Herald」1928年10月4日刊登内容中记载"第七日安息日耶稣再临教会相信怀爱伦就是现今基督教会的先知"。韩国安息教杂志《教会指南》提到怀爱伦著作时称"这是为今日所记录的现代先知的证言"。安息教基本信条第18条主张,作为神的使者她(怀爱伦)的著作是持续带有权威的源泉,为教会带来安慰,引导,教导和纠正,他们相信怀爱伦就是属神的使者。

## 2) 2300昼夜与调查审判

安息教引用但以理书8:14, 9:25,以斯拉记7:11-26等经文中有关2300日的经文预言基督再临的时间。但以理书8:14记录但以理所看见"到二千三百日,圣所就必洁净"的异象,他们把二千三百日与但以理书9:25中重建耶路撒冷的话语,和以斯拉记7:11-26中亚达薛西王所下达给以斯拉的谕旨联系起来。

他们把亚达薛西下达谕旨的时间定为B. C. 457年并把2300日解释为2300年,结果算出A. D. 1844年耶稣再临。但1844年耶稣再临的预言失败,为防止安息教信徒大失望,怀爱伦与几位安息教信徒用新的辩证和解释创建 "调查审判" 教义。

他们主张耶稣之前一直在天上圣殿第一个房间圣所里,直到1844年10月22日才进入天上圣殿第二间至圣所查验地上人类的行为,为拯救无瑕疵的人进行调查审判。

根据但以理书8:14预言时间在1844年秋结束,因此主张再临的信徒也与普通信徒同样认为圣所就是这世界或世界的某一个地方。认为洁净圣殿这句话意味着在最后的大日这世界将要被火洁净,这些事情要在耶稣再临的时候成就。(《语言与历史》,怀爱伦。403页)

祭司每日所做的是在神面前献上赎罪的血以及点上与祷告一同上升的。,基督也为罪人带着自己的血向父神恳求,并且把悔改信徒的祷告与自己宝贵义的香气一同献在神面前,这就是耶稣在天上圣所的第一个房间所行的服事。(《语言与历史》,怀爱伦。412-413页)

耶稣在天上圣所第一个房间服事了约1800年,悔改的罪人因着为他们恳求的基督的血获得饶恕被神所接纳,但他们的罪仍然留在记录册里。就像在模型(旧约)服事中每年年末有赎罪的事工一样,基督在人类的救赎事工结束之前,需要在圣所中做灭罪的事工。这事工会在2300昼夜结束之后开始。(《语言与历史》,怀爱伦。413页)

如追随预言话语光芒的人所领悟的,基督并不是在2300昼夜结束的 1844年再临,为预备再临完成救赎事工进入天上圣所的至圣所。 (《语言与历史》,怀爱伦。414页) 查验品性,决定谁做好进入神国的准备,这就是调查审判,也是基督在天上圣所所做的最后事工。(《语言与历史》,怀爱伦。420页)

关于安息教2300昼夜与调查审判陈勇植牧师在《安息教五大误区》一文中主张 "把圣经中的1日换算为1年是不符合圣经的错误",关于把亚达薛西下谕旨的 时间定为B. C. 457年的主张,回应"耶路撒冷圣殿在B. C. 516年完工,59年前已完工后经过落成典礼的圣殿没有必要再次下达重建令"。

### 3) 周六守安息日

安息教把是否在周六守安息日作为救赎的条件。

安息日是在基督里救赎的象征,是圣化的标记,是我们忠诚的表现,经历将来在神国体验永恒未来的时间。安息日是展现神与祂百姓之间永恒之约重要关系的象征。(《分享幸福的邻居》,25页)

A. D. 321年罗马皇帝君斯坦丁组织的历史性尼西亚宗教会议敕令中发给各教会监督的书信中记录,东方的教会不要与犹太人相同,要在与罗马教会相同的一天守复活节,由此宣告在一直以来的"复活节- 主日争论"中罗马教会胜利。(《黑暗无法胜过光》,申计勋。120页)

星期日与复活节原来是与太阳相关的异教徒庆典,这是明确的事实。(《黑暗无法胜过光》,申计勋。124页)

对于安息教这些主张陈勇植牧师在《安息教五大误区》一文中说明"君斯坦丁在A.D.321年的敕令中要求在主日休业敬拜神,这并不是逼迫教会不允许守安息日强制性使信徒们守崇拜偶像的星期日,而是为帮助早已在主日敬拜神的教会",并说明"若当时的教会都在安息日(周六)敬拜那么没有必要强制性把日子改为主日。"

"犹太人根据旧约所守的安息日(周六)在新约已废弃"并且"在新约圣经记录中并没有让信徒们分别准守被废弃的旧约安息日(周六)。"

## 4) 透过守律法所得的救赎

安息教把救赎分为大救赎与永恒的救赎,大救赎是通过信心所得的救赎,但这是可以被取消的不完全救赎。永恒的救赎是通过守律法所得到的救赎,这个救赎只有那些无瑕疵的人才能得到的完全救赎。换一句话说就是,根据遵守律法来决定是否得救。

我们要记住,信靠主名的并不都能得救,根据调查审判的结果确定是否得救,调查审判显露出我们的言语,思想,行为,动机,目的和善恶之间的感化等显而易见的罪和隐秘的罪,这些都要受到审判,神的律法成为调查审判的标准。(《体验三位天使所传的信息》,姜大川。94页)

关于"根据守律法的得救与否" 陈勇植牧师在《安息教五大误区》中记录"耶稣基督的十字架是因为人无法靠自己的努力得救,人若能完全守律法为何还需要耶稣的十字架呢?"并且"圣经分明教导信徒在活着的时候不可能完全圣化"接着说明"我们要明白得救只能通过相信耶稣基督。"

## 5) 不洁和可憎的饮食

安息教根据利未记11章的话语禁止吃不洁净和可憎的食物,并且禁止吃肉主张吃素,甚至把是否遵守饮食规条与救赎结合在一起。

人吃被造物的生命并不是神的计划,因此不立志向废弃肉食,取神所创造的动物性命吃其肉的不能被邀请到神在天国摆设的宴席。 (《体验三位天使所传的信息》,姜大川。153页)

我们的食物应以素菜,水果和谷物所组成,不能允许一点肉进入我们的胃脏。(《体验三位天使所传的信息》,姜大川。154页)

关于安息日饮食规条陈勇植牧师在《安息教五大误区》一文中记录"新约圣经中有关洁净和不洁净的规条已消失,无法找到禁止不洁净食物的经文"并且"肉食并不是人自己选择吃的而是神亲自允许人吃"由此否定安息教有关饮食规定。他进一步说明 "成为我们模范的耶稣也吃过,先知使徒也吃过的肉食

怀爱伦为何禁止呢?"并引用提摩太前书4:1-4批评"主张废弃食物者领受了魔鬼的灵。"

安息教所拥有的是与传统信仰告白不同的教义,因着1844年时限末世论和排他 性救赎观早已被认为是异端和非基督教团体,他们虽做出一些积极的社会贡献 但教义的差异成为把安息教定为异端的根据。

# 10 예수중심교회

Jesus Centered Church 耶稣中心教会

# 10. 예수중심교회

예수중심교회 대표 이초석씨를 가리켜 혹자는 "김기동 귀신론의 아류"로 평가한다. 이씨의 주된 사상은 김씨의 귀신론과 연결돼 있으며, 귀신을 쫓아내는 축사에 기반을 둔 집회 활동이 대부분이다. 따라서 이씨는 극단적 신비주의 추종과 주관적 성경해석으로 한국 교계에서 "이단"으로 결의됐다

## (1) 이초석은 누구인가?

이초석(본명 이춘석)씨는 1951년 11월 21일 서울에서 출생했다. 1984년 예장성합 측 바울신학교를 졸업한 후 경기도 광명시에 예루살렘교회를 개척했지만, 김기동씨의 "귀신론"을 추종한다하여 1984년 12월 교단으로부터 제명처리 됐다. 이후 이씨는 교회를 인천시 남구 숭의동으로 이전해교회명을 한국예루살렘교회로 개명했고, 1985년 "초석예수전도단(현 땅끝예수전도단)"을 조직해 단장이 됐다.

1988년 5월 8일부터 6월 18일까지 천국에 다녀왔다는 미국 펄시 콜레의 "천국성회 간증집회"를 유치하면서 세간에 주목을 받기 시작했다. 특히 단상에 오르다 쓰러진 펄시 콜레를 안수기도해 살려내는 등 능력을 과시했고, 이러한 명성(?)에 힘입어 교세는 급속도로 성장하기 시작했다. 1991년한국 교계로부터 "이단"으로 결의됐지만 변함없는 행보를 유지하며 교세를 확장하고 있다.

# (2) 예수중심교회 주요 주장

이초석씨의 주요 주장은 "귀신론"에 바탕을 두고 있으며 귀신론에 맞춰 자의적으로 성경을 해석해 정통교회의 믿음의 고백에서 크게 벗어나고 있 다.

# 1) 타락한 영들의 정체

이씨는 타락해 변질된 영적 존재를 가리켜 "마귀, 악령, 귀신"이라고 주장 한다. 그는 악한 영들이 마치 계급을 형성한 것처럼 조직을 이루어 활동 하고 있다고 주장한다.

마귀: 요한계시록 20장 2절에 "옛 용이요 뱀이요 사탄이요 마귀라"하는 존재는 단수(段數), 곧 한 명을 말하는 것이다. (중략) 그는 원래 하늘나라에서 하나님을 찬양하며 하나님께 영광 돌리던 천사들 중의 장(長)으로 루시엘(Luciel)이란 이름을 가지고 있었다. (중략) 그가 자신의 위치를 망각하고 스스로 교만해져 "내가하나님처럼 높아져 저 천상 위에 나의 보좌를 높이리라. 지극히 높으신 하나님과 비기리라"고 하며 하나님께 반역의 마음을 품었던 것. (중략) 그래서 우리는 이 땅에서 그를 타락한 자, 하나님께 대적했던 자, 사단이요 혹은 마귀라고 부르고 있다. (이초석, 『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인 은 무엇인가!』, 44~45)

마귀의 역할: 하나님과 나 사이에 쐐기인 귀신을 박아서 하나님으로부터 멀어지고 또한 하나님을 의심케 하고 시험에 들게 하고 병들게해 결국은 우리 인간을 파괴시키는 것이 그의 목적인 것이다. 또한 나와 남 사이를 이간질해 괜히 이유 없이 미워하게 하고 오해를 불러일으키게 하며 싸움을 시키며 남과 공동생활을 평화롭지 못하게 하는 쐐기를 박는 것이 그의 목적이요 나의 영과 나의 육 사이에 귀신을 투입해 쐐기를 박음으로 우리몸에 병을 일으키는 것이다. (이초석, 『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 46)

악령: 마귀와 함께 하늘나라에서 하나님께 반란을 일으키려 마음을 먹었던 삼분의 일의 타락한 천사는 자기 지위를 지키지 아니하고 자기 처소를 떠났으므로 큰날 심판 때까지 영원한 결박으로 가두셨다고 유다서 6절에 말씀하시고 또한 베드로후서 2장4절에 하나님이 범죄한 천사들을 용서하지 아니하시고 지옥에던져 어두운 구덩이에 두어 심판 때까지 지키게 하셨다고 기록하고 있으니 이들이 악령이며 바로 타락한 천사들이다. (이초석,『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 48)

악령의 역할: 마귀를 도와 사탄 왕국의 참모로서 그의 사자(使者) 역할을 하는 자들인데 그들은 귀신들을 부려서 한 사람이라

도 더 자기네 수중에 넣으려고 우는 이리떼와 같이 떠돌아다니는 영적 존재들이다. (이초석, 『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 49)

귀신(불신자 사후의 존재): 시편 106편 28절에 이스라엘 백성들이 죽은 자에게 제사하며 음식을 먹는다 하여 격노하신 하나님께서 재앙을 내린 사건이 기록돼 있다. 이것으로 보건대 예수를 믿지 않고 죽은 자들이 이 땅에서 제사를 지내게 하는 영적 존재가 된 것이 분명하다. (중략) 사도행전 16장 16절에 보면 바울에게 드러난 귀신은 점을 쳐주는 귀신이라고 말하며, 우리 믿는사람이 점을 보는 것은 귀신의 장난에 놀아나는 것임을 알려주고 있다. (중략) 신접한 무당이 귀신에 의해 움직이며 유혹한다는 것도 자세히 드러내 주고, 그 귀신은 불신자의 사후의 영이라 말씀하신다. (이초석,『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 54~55)

귀신의 역할: 이 귀신이 우리 인간이 병과 저주와 가난과 죄악을 일으키는 원인 제공자라는 것을 밝혀두며 나는 오늘 귀신의 정체가 불신자 사후의 영이라는 것을 밝히고자 하는 바이다. (중략) 귀신은 자기가 이 땅에 살 때 가지고 있던 인격을 그대로 자기가 들어간 사람에게 접목시키며 또한 자기가 앓던 병을 그대로 그 육체에 접목시켜 준다는 것을 잊지 말고 추방하지 않으면 당할 수밖에 없다는 것을 명심하기 바란다. (중략) 우리를 가난하게 하는 귀신, 자동차 사고 나게 하는 귀신, 자살하게 하는 귀신, 각종 병을 들게 하는 귀신들은 모두가 자신의 옛 속성을 그 사람들에게 드러나게 하며 또한 자신이 죽을 때 상황을 그대로 재현시켜준다는 것을 깨달아야 한다. (이초석,『인류 최대의적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 56~57)

1988년 기독교한국침례회 총회보고서에 따르면 "불신자 사후의 존재가 귀신"이란 주장에 대해 다음과 같이 비판했다.

사람(불신자)의 영이 귀신이 돼 세상을 떠돈다는 주장은 전통적 인 정령숭배 사상에서 나온 미신일 뿐 성경의 가르침은 아니다. 성경은 신자건 불신자건 사람이 죽으면 육체를 떠난 영혼은 즉시 신자는 낙원으로 불신자는 음부로 들어가서 다가올 심판의 날을 기다리게 된다고 가르치고 있다. 이 사실은 나사로와 부자의 이야기 가운데서 분명하게 설명됐으며(눅16:19~26) 십자가우편의 강도에게 예수께서, 내가 진실로 진실로 네게 이르노니오늘 네가 나와 함께 낙원에 있으리라"(눅23:43)라고 하신 말씀도 이를 증명하고 있다. 또한 성경은, 마귀는 타락한 천사의 일부로서 무저갱(벧후2:4; 유1:6)에 감금되지 않고 세상에 풀려나온 존재라고 가르치고 있다(엡6:12).

# 2) 모든 질병의 근원은 귀신

이씨는 모든 질병의 원인이 귀신이라고 단정 짓는다. 더 나아가 이씨는 불신자 사후의 존재가 귀신이고, 이 귀신이 질병을 가져다준 사실을 알려 주기 위해 하나님이 예수를 이 땅에 보냈다고 한다. 이러한 논리로 이씨 는 사람의 육체에 들어온 귀신을 쫓아내야 병을 치료받을 수 있다고 주장 한다.

깊이 성경을 연구한 끝에 인간의 병이라는 문제의 원인을 제공하고 있는 영적 존재는 바로 마귀의 종, 귀신이라는 것을 발견하기에 이르렀다. (이초석, 『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 17)

하나님께서는 인류가 병으로 고통받는 것을 보시고 그 병의 원인에 대해 가르쳐주시려 하늘나라에서 이 땅으로 그 아들 예수 그리스도를 보내셨다. 그리하여 이 땅의 병과 저주와 가난과 고통과 죄악의 원인은 마귀와 그의 추종자 악령과 귀신이라는 영적 존재들이 제공하고 있다는 것을 우리에게 가르쳐줬다. (이초석, 『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 16)

우리 육체에 들어온 귀신을 제거한다면 우리를 만드신 하나님의 창조의 법칙으로 완치될 수 있다. (이초석, 『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 17) 이씨는 불신자 사후 존재인 귀신은 인간의 육체에 들어와 병을 일으키고, 사람의 육체를 멸망시킨다고 주장한다. 이러한 "질병의 원인은 귀신"이란 주장에 대해 목창균 교수(서울신대)는 그의 논문에서 "성경 역시 귀신에 의해 병이 일어날 수 있음을 말하고 있으나 모든 병이 그렇다고는 보지 않았다"며 "성서에 기초한 것이 아닌 질병을 혼령의 인체 침입으로 보는 무속신앙에 기초한 것이다"라고 비판했다. 한편 이씨의 주장대로 모든 질 병의 근원이 귀신이고 귀신을 쫓아내야 질병을 치료받을 수 있다고 한다 면 현대 의학은 질병을 치료할 수 없다는 자연스런 결론에 도달하게 된 다. 따라서 신도들은 현대 의학적 치료를 무시해 치료시기를 놓치게 되는 위험한 결과를 초래할 수 있다.

### 3) 사람이 사는 세상이 바로 음부

이씨는 세상이 성경에서 말하는 음부이며 마귀가 활동하는 왕국이라고 주 장한다.

하나님은 사람을 신자(信者)와 불신자(不信者)로 나누셨다. 신자는 죽은 후에 믿음으로 말미암아 구원을 받아서 낙원을 거쳐 천국에 들어가게 하시고 불신자는 음부에서 무저갱을 거쳐 지옥에 가게 하셨다는 것을 성경을 통해 말씀하신다. 또한 음부는 마귀가 있는 곳이라고 했다. 그런데 예수께서 이 땅에 오셔서 제일먼저 마귀를 만나셨다. 마태복음 4장에 마귀에게 시험받은 사건이 기록돼 있다. 그렇다면 이 땅이 음부라는 것 아닌가? 즉 마귀의 왕국이라는 것이다. (이초석,『인류 최대의 적 병, 그 원인은 무엇인가!』, 52~53)

이씨의 주장대로 이 세상이 음부라면 세상을 창조하신 하나님께서 "보시기에 좋았다"(창1)라고 말씀하실 수 있었을까? 이러한 "세상이 음부"라는 주장에 대해 목창균 교수는 그의 논문에서 "음부는 죽은 영혼이 가는 곳이지, 살아있는 사람이 생활하는 곳이 아니다"라며 "예수님은 거지 나사로와 부자의 비유를 통해 불신자의 사후 존재는 음부에 있다는 것과 이 세상을 배회하거나 이 세상으로는 올라오는 것은 불가능하다는 것을 교훈하였다(눅16:19~31)"고 비판했다.

예수중심교회는 극단적이며 열광적인 귀신 축사행위에 기초해 많은 신도들을 미혹시키고 있다. 귀신이 나가야 병이 나을 수 있다는 이씨의 주장에 미혹된 신도들은 병원보다 이씨의 집회를 찾고, 의사의 조언보다 이씨의 설교에 귀를 기울이며, 현대 의학적 치료보다 귀신 쫓는 행위에 몰두하고 있다. 이러한 예수중심교회에 대한 한국교회의 신중한 대처가 요구된다. 특히 해마다 국내외 수많은 지역을 돌며 집회를 개최하는 이씨의행보에 주목해야 할 것이다.

### 10. Jesus Centered Church

Cho Seok Lee, a founder of Jesus Centered Church is recognized as an imitator of Ki Dong Kim, a demonologist. Mr. Lee's main theory is based on the Ki Dong Kim's demonology and his exorcism performance is a main event in his assemblies. He has been decided as a heresy, based on his extreme occultism and wrongful interpretation of the Bible, by traditional and orthodox churches in the Republic of Korea("Korea").

### (1) Who is Mr. Cho Seok Lee?

Mr. Cho Seok Lee (real name: Choon Seok Lee) was born in Seoul, 21st, 1951. He graduated the Paul on November Seminary established by the Presbyterian Church of Korea in 1984 and founded 'Jerusalem Church' in Gwangmyeongsi, Gveonggi-do. However, in December 1984, he was expelled from the Presbyterian Church of Korea, since he pursued extreme exorcism and Mr. Ki Dong Kim's demonology. He moved his church to the Soong Eui dong, Namgu, Incheon city and changed the name of church to 'Korea Jerusalem Church'. In 1985, he organized a group named 'Choseok Jesus Mission' (as known as "Jesus Centered Mission") and became the group's leader.

He launched public assemblies of Percy Collet who insists that he visited the Heaven, for the period from May 8th to June 18th in 1988 and the media gave attention to Mr. Lee for these assemblies. The media passionately gave attention to Mr. Lee, since he cured Percy Collet who fell down on the stage during one of his

assemblies. His church expanded based on this media exposure. In 1991, he was decided as a heresy, again, but he has been acting as a pastor and spreading his influence toward the society.

### (2) Main arguments of Jesus Centered Church

Mr. Lee's main arguments are based on the exorcism and demonology. He interprets the Bible based on such demonology and exorcism, and this approach is out of range of traditional and orthodox church's interpretation of the Bible.

### 1) Existence of corrupted spirits

Mr. Lee argues that the spiritual existences corrupted and degenerated are "Satan, evil spirits, and ghosts". He argues that evil existences have their own hierarchy and classes to act within the world.

Satan: "The dragon, that old serpent, which is the Devil, and Satan" quoted from Revelation 20:2 means the one fallen angel, Satan... He had a name called 'Luciel' and he was a leader of arc angels in the Heaven... He forgot his position and became too prideful to be at such position. He said "I will become just like God and I will high-en my throne. I will be at the position same with God's." It was a treason against God... That is why we call him as a Satan, Demon, and opponent. (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 44~45)

Role of Satan: Satan acts for making conflict between

human race and God and separating us from God. This separation causes humans to suspect God, to be tested, and to become ill. The final goal of Satan is to destruct human race. Satan tries to make people hate each other and to destroy people's peaceful church lives. Also, Satan causes disease and sickeness to people by sending a ghost to such people's soul and flesh. (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 46)

Evil Spirit: In Jude verse 6, quote "one third of the fallen angel did not keep their position and abandoned their own home, and he has kept in darkness, bound with everlasting chains for judgment on thegreat day". Also, in 2 Peter 2:4, quote "for if God did not spare angels when they sinned but sent them to hell, putting them into gloomy dungeons to be held for judgment". They are the evil spirits and fallen angels. (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 48)

Role of Evil Spirit: Evil Spirits are advisers and messengers of Satan and they support the Satan's kingdom. They manage ghosts for capturing more people. They are spiritual existences wandering around. (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 49)

Ghost(Deceased un-believer): Psalms 106:28 prescribes an event which God did harm the Israel people who yoked themselves to the Baal of Peor and ate sacrifices offered to lifeless gods. According to this event, it is obvious that,

after their death, un-believer becomes spiritual existence who forces people to offer sacrifices to them... Acts 16:16 describes Baal's ghost as a spirit which predicts the future and this shows that the fortune telling is a ghost's game which plays with Christians (believers)... A fortune teller with a ghost is controlled by such ghost, spirit of the deceased unbeliever. (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 54~55)

Role of Ghost: A ghost is an existence which causes disease, curse, poverty and sins to humans. I declare that a ghost is a spirit of deceased un-believer... A ghost has its own personality which combines to the host's personality and it gives its own disease and illness to the host human. Therefore, such ghost shall be expelled. If not, you will be damaged and harmed by it... We must realize the existence of ghost which causes poverty, car accident, suicide, various diseases. Also, we must realize that such ghost shows itself via the host person and it reproduces the situation when he/she dies. (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 56~57)

According to the General Assembly Report of the Korea Baptist Convention published in 1988, Mr. Lee's insistence that "the ghost is a spiritual existence of a deceased unbeliever" was criticized as follows:

Mr. Lee's insistence on the existence of ghost, a spirit of a deceased unbeliever is from a traditional spiritism, not the Holy Bible. In the Holy Bible, after someone's death, a spirit of believer directly goes to the Heaven and a spirit

of unbeliever goes to hell and they will wait for the judgment day. This is explained in the event of the rich man and Lazarus (Luke 16:19~26). Also, Jesus Christ said to the criminal hung with Jesus Christ "I tell you the truth, today you will be with me in paradise (Luke23:43)" and his answer to the criminal proves that spirits of deceased directly goes to the Heaven or hell. Furthermore, in the Holy Bible, Satan is a part of the fallen angel, an existence who is not kept in Apollyon (2 Peter 2:4, Jude 1:6), but released to the world (Ephesians 6:12).

### 2) Ghost, the Cause of All Diseases

Mr. Lee concludes that all diseases are caused by ghost. Furthermore, Mr. Lee has insisted that ghost is a deceased unbeliever's spirit and Jesus Christ came to the world for teaching us that the ghost causes all diseases. Based on his theory, Mr. Lee insists that exorcism cures the sick people.

After deep study on the Bible, I realized that ghost, servent of Satan causes all and any diseases to humans (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 17)

God who sees human race suffering from various diseases, sent Jesus Christ, his only son to the world from the Heaven in order to teach the people about the origin of disease. Jesus Christ taught us that cause and origin of disease, curse, poverty, pain and sin is Satan, evil spirits and ghost. (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 16)

When a ghost is removed from our bodies, we will be cured by God's rule of creation (What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 17)

Mr. Lee insists that ghost causes disease and it destroys a person by possession of the person. This insistence criticized by Pastor Chang Kyun Mok that "Bible mentions some events that ghost may cause diseases to persons, but not all diseases in human beings. The insistence on the diseases caused by ghost is based on shamanism." Also, Mr. Lee insistence naturally arrives at a conclusion that modern medicine may not cure any disease nor illness. As a result, Mr. Lee's followers who are ill may lose their right chance to take medicine and/or medical help and this lost chance may put his followers in danger.

## 3) The world where people live is hell

Mr. Lee insists that this world is the hell mentioned in the Bible and a kingdom in where Satan acts.

God divides human races into two parts: believers and non-believers. In the Holy Bible, believers are people who are redeemed by their faith and go to the Heaven after their death, but non-believers are people who go to the hell via abyss. The hell is at where Satan lives. However, Jesus Christ came to the world and met the Satan. In Matthew Chapter 4, the tempter came to the Jesus. This means that this world is the hell. In other words, this world is a kingdom of the Satan. What is the reason of disease, the biggest enemy of human race, Cho Seok Lee, 52~53)

If this world was the hell, then could the God have said that it was good? (GenesisChapter 1) Pastor Mok criticized such Mr. Lee's insistence as follows: "the hell is a place to where the dead souls go, not a place at where people are living. Jesus Christ taught us that dead non-believer stays at the hell and it may neither wander around nor come to this world, in the description of the Rich man and Lazarus (Luke 16:19~31)".

Jesus Centered Church tempts Christians by extreme exorcism activities. Mr. Lee's followers go to the Mr. Lee's assemblies rather than hospital, when they are ill, since they are persuaded by Mr. Lee's insistence that any disease shall be cured only by exorcism. Clear and clever strategies against Jesus Centered Church and Mr. Lee who holds worldwide assemblies and services in every year are required by traditional and orthodox churches in Korea.

# 10. 耶稣中心教会

多数人认知耶稣中心教会的代表李础石是"金基东魔鬼论分枝"。李础石主要思想与金基东的鬼论相关,大多数聚会都以驱鬼行为为基础,李础石因追求极端神秘主义和恣意性圣经解释被韩国教派定为异端。

### (1) 李础石是谁?

李础石(原名 李春石)于1951年11月21日出生在首尔,1984年在耶长圣合保罗神学校毕业后来到京畿道光明市开拓耶路撒冷教会。但在1984年12月因追从金基东"魔鬼论"被教派除名。李础石把教会搬到仁川南区崇义洞并改名为韩国耶路撒冷教会,1985年建立"础石耶稣传道团(现地极耶稣传道团)"成为团长。

从1988年5月8日到6月18日邀请曾主张去过天国的珀西•科雷特举办"天国圣会见证集会"而受到关注。聚会当日珀西•科雷上讲台时昏厥,李础石按手在他身上使他恢复,这样的名声使他的教势迅速扩张。1991年李础石被韩国教界判定为"异端",但他们仍然致力于扩大教势。

### (2) 耶稣中心教会的主张

李础石的主要主张以"魔鬼论"和恣意性圣经解释为基础,这些已远离正统教会主张。

#### 1) 堕落灵的真相

李础石指堕落和变质的灵就是"魔鬼,恶灵,鬼",这些恶灵形成阶级和组织活动。

魔鬼:约翰启示录20:2中记录"他捉住那龙,就是古蛇,又叫魔鬼,也叫撒但"这些所指的是一个。(略),它原来在天国赞美神,是把荣耀归给神的天使长中的一位,他的名字叫路西珥(Luciel),他离开自己的位置骄傲的说"我要像神一样升高,在天上高立我的宝座,要与至高的神相比"向神反叛。(略),所以我

们在地上称它为堕落者,敌对神者和魔鬼。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,44-45页)

魔鬼的作用:在神与我之间鬼成为塞子使我们远离神,怀疑神,患上疾病,最终破坏人是它们的目的。离间我与他人之间的关系,仇恨对方,产生误会,相互争斗,使人无法与对方和平相处,这就是魔鬼的目的,就是在我的灵与肉体之间塞进鬼,使我们的身体患上疾病。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,46页)

恶灵:与魔鬼一同在天上国度决心向神反叛的堕落的三分之一天使,没有守住自己的位置离开自己的处所,因此主用锁链把他们永远拘留在黑暗里,等候大日的审判。这些内容记录在犹大书6节。在彼得后书2:4记载神不会饶恕犯罪的天使把他们丢进地狱,交在黑暗坑中,等候审判的时候。这些就是恶灵和堕落的天使。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,48页)

恶灵的作用:在撒旦的王国帮助魔鬼的参谋,同时是魔鬼的使者,他们仆役这些鬼试图把更多的人掌握在他们手中,如同吼叫的狼群到处流窜的灵体。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,49页)

鬼(不信者死后状态):诗篇106:28中记载神震怒以色列百姓给死人献祭并一同分享献祭的食物,从此可见在这世界上未信耶稣死亡的人成为灵体使活人向他献祭。(略),使徒行传16:16中记载出现在保罗面前的鬼是占卜的鬼,告诉我们信的人占卜是被鬼调戏的行为。(略),被鬼附的巫师被鬼操纵和诱惑,这清楚说明鬼就是不信者死后的灵。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,54-55页)

鬼的作用:我清楚的告诉大家鬼就是人类疾病,咒诅,贫穷并引发罪恶的提供者。鬼就是不信者死后的灵。(略),希望大家牢记,鬼带着他活在这世上的时候所拥有的人格进入并结合在他人身体中。把自己过去所拥有的疾病完全结合在他人肉体上,因此不驱除会受巨大影响。(略),使我们贫穷的鬼,发生交通事故的鬼,使

人自杀的鬼,患各种疾病的鬼,这所有的鬼都会在他人身上展现其过去的属性,可完全重现其死亡时的情形。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,56-57页)

1988年基督教韩国浸礼会总会报告书里对"鬼就是不信者死后灵"的主张给予如下批评;

人(不信者)的灵成为鬼游荡在世上的主张是出自传统的精灵崇拜思想,是迷信并不是圣经的教导。圣经教导无论信的或不信的人死后灵魂离开肉体,信徒的灵去往乐园,不信者的灵会去阴间。这些内容在拉撒路与财主的故事中清楚的表现出来(路16:19-26),耶稣对十字架右边的强盗说'我实在告诉你:今日你要同我在乐园里了'(路23:43),圣经教导我们魔鬼是一些堕落天使,没有被关进无底坑(彼后2:4,犹1:6)被放逐到世上(弗6:12)。

### 2) 所有疾病的根源是鬼

李础石断定所有疾病的根源就是鬼。他进一步主张不信者死后的状态就是鬼,神为了把鬼给人类带来疾病的事实告诉人类把耶稣差派到世上,根据这样的理论李础石主张当人把进入人体内的鬼赶出去疾病才能得到医治。

经过用心研究圣经发现给人类带来疾病的灵体就是鬼(魔鬼的仆役)。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,17页)

神看到人类因疾病受痛苦,为教导人疾病的根源, 从天国把耶稣基督差派到地上,教导我们在地上疾病,咒诅,贫穷,痛苦和罪恶的原因就是魔鬼和其追随者恶灵和鬼等灵体。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,16页)

若把进入我们体内的鬼除掉,人的身体就会通过创造我们的神所创造的法则获得医治。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,17页)

李础石主张不信者死后的存在(鬼)进入人的肉体中引发疾病使人的肉体灭亡。对"疾病的原因是魔鬼"的主张,穆昌均教授(首尔神学)在自己的论文中反驳"圣经记录人有可能因为鬼患上一些疾病,但并不认为所有疾病都是如此"并且"这样的观点并不是出于圣经,对于把疾病看做灵体侵入的巫俗信仰"。同时说明,若是按着李础石的主张,疾病来自鬼,把鬼赶出去疾病才能得到医。这就意味着现代医学根本无法医治任何疾病。这会给信徒带来藐视现代医学错过最佳治疗时期的危险结果。

### 3) 人所生活的地方就是阴间

李础石主张这世界就是圣经中所说的阴间和魔鬼所活动的王国。

圣经告诉我们神把人分为信者与不信者,信者死后会通过信心得救经过乐园进入天国,不信者在阴间经过无底坑落入地狱,并且阴间是魔鬼所在的地方。但耶稣来到世上先与魔鬼相见,马太福音4章记录耶稣受魔鬼试探的事件,这不就是说这地上就是阴间吗?就是魔鬼的王国。(《人类最大的仇敌;疾病,其原因是什么!》,李础石,52-53页)

根据李础石的主张这世界若是阴间,那么神怎能看这个世界是好的呢?(创1章)关于"这世界就是阴间"的主张穆昌均教授在自己的论文中批判"阴间是死人灵魂所去的地方,并不是活人生活的地方,耶稣透过拉撒路与财主的比喻教导我们,不信者死后会落入阴间因此不可能来到或徘徊在世上(路16:19-31)"

耶稣中心教会根据极端狂热的驱鬼行为迷惑诸多信徒,被李础石赶鬼疾病才能获得医治的主张所迷惑的信徒比起医院先来到他的集会,比起医生的诊断更愿意聆听李础石的讲道,比起现代医学治疗更专注于驱鬼行为。韩国教会需要慎重面对李础石和耶稣中心教会,尤其要注意每年李础石来往于海内外举办的许多集会。

# 11 만민중앙교회

Manmin Central Church 万民中央教会

# 11. 만민중앙교회

이재록(만민중앙교회 당회장)씨는 1982년 신학교 시절부터 "대언의 말씀"으로 이단시비를 받았고, 신학교 졸업 후에도 성경의 자의적인 해석, 극단적인 신비주의로 한국교회로부터 "이단"으로 결의됐다. 이씨는 상습준강간혐의 등으로 대법원에서 16년형을 선고받았다.

## (1) 이재록은 누구인가?

이재록은 1943년 전남 무안에서 3남 3년 중 막내로 태어났다. 이씨의 저서 『죽음 앞에서 영생을 맛보며 』에 의하면, 1972년 위궤양, 신경성 노이로제, 심한 두통, 악성 빈혈, 축농증, 중이염, 동상, 습진, 피부염, 인파선염, 관절염 등 수많은 질병을 앓았다. 1974년 둘째 누나와 함께 현신애권사 제단에 갔다가 앓고 있던 모든 질병을 치료 받는 신비 체험을 하게되었다. 이후 아내와 함께 교회에 출석하기 시작했다.

1978년 기도 중에 "내가 너를 3년 연단했으니 3년 말씀을 준비하라"는 하나님의 음성을 듣고, 성결교신학교(연합)에 입학했다고 한다. 1982년 만민 중앙교회 개척을 준비하기 시작했고, 1983년 2월 신학교를 졸업했다. 1990년 예수교대한성결 교단에서 "이단"으로 결의됨에 따라 제명처분을 받게 된다. 이에 이씨는 1991년 7월 자체적으로 예수교대한연합성결 교단을 창립, 변함없는 행보로 오늘날 10만 성도를 자랑하며 그 세를 국외까지 확장시키고 있다.

# (2) 만민중앙교회는 무엇을 주장하는가?

# 1) 이재록씨 신격화

이씨는 자신을 가리켜 알파와 오메가요, 처음이자 끝이라며, 심판의 권세자, 죄사함의 권세가 있다고 주장하고 있다. 심지어 자신이 하나님의 친아들이며 아브라함도 자신이 부르면 온다고 한다. 1998년 7월 5일 주일 저녁 집회에서 이씨는 자신이 "피가름"을 통해 원죄와 자범죄가 없어졌다고설교했다. 이어 이씨는 자신에게서 원죄가 없어졌기 때문에 죽음이 자신을 피해가고, 무한한 권능이 생겼다고 주장했다.

내가 피 흘렸을 때 8일 동안 피를 흘리면서 부모로부터 받은 피를 모두 다 쏟았고, 8일 동안 물을 마셔 피가 됐다. 물은 영적인말씀, 영생이다. 이 말씀은 하나님 말씀으로 내 피를 만드셨기때문에 이 피 안에는 죄성이 없다.

그리고 나서 (피가름 후) 저번에 말씀하신 것 봤는데 "너(이재록)는 그때 피를 흘림으로 네게 원죄가 없어졌고 따라서 죽음이 너를 피해 가는 것이고, 악한 자가 너를 만지지 못한다"고 말씀하셨다. 주님이 가지신 무한한 권능이 "네게도 주어져 너도 그 이상으로 역사를 이룰 것이다"고 하셨다.

이 외에도 이씨는 수많은 설교를 통해 자신을 신격화했다. 자신의 영이하나님 보좌 좌편에 앉아 있으며(1998년 7월 5일), 물 위를 걷는 것 외에 66권의 모든 말씀을 이루었다고 했고 (1998년 6월 21일), 자신과 하나님이 하나가 됐으며(1998년 6월 28일), 심판 날에 주님 옆에서 성도들을 위해 직접 변호해 줄 것(1998년 7월 5일)이라는 등 수도 없이 자신을 신격화했다. 이처럼 이씨는 마치 자신이 구세주요 자기를 통해 구원을 얻을수 있다는 인상을 심겨주고 있다. 이씨 자신의 신격화 주장은 본인 스스로가 이단임을 자처하고 있는 것이다.

### 2) 믿음의 5단계, 천국의 5단계

이씨는 믿음의 분량마다 갈 수 있는 천국이 다르다며, 2006년 6월 25일 "믿음의 5단계"에 대해 다음과 같이 설교했다.

복음을 듣고 믿음으로 성령을 받으면 구원받을 수 있는 믿음의 1단계에 들어선다.

말씀을 배우고 행하려고 노력하기 시작하면 믿음의 2단계로 들어서게 된다.

좀 더 믿음이 자라 3단계에 들어서면 어느 정도 말씀대로 지켜 행할 수 있는 능력이 생기게 된다. 자연스럽게 말씀대로 행할 수 있는 안정적인 믿음의 단계로 접어드는 것이다.

하나님의 말씀대로 행하면서 범죄하지 않을 뿐 아니라 마음에

있는 근본 죄성까지 벗어 버리면 믿음의 4단계에 들어서게 되는데 비로소 거룩하고 성결한 하나님의 참자녀가 된 것이다.

4단계에서 본성 깊은 곳에 숨겨져 있는 육의 흔적과 같은 것들까지 버려 나가고 모든 영적인 열매들이 주렁주렁 맺히게 되면 최고의 믿음인 5단계에 들어선다.

이처럼 이씨가 믿음에 단계를 구분 짓는 이유는 믿음의 단계마다 들어가는 천국이 다르며 천국의 삶이 확연하게 차이 나기 때문이다. 이씨가 말하는 천국은 믿음의 1단계에 속한 사이 들어가는 낙원, 믿음의 2단계에속한 사람이 들어가는 1천층, 믿음의 3단계에 속한 사람이 들어가는 2천층, 믿음의 4단계에 속한 사람이 들어가는 3천층, 믿음의 5단계에 속한 사람이 들어가는 새예루살렘으로 구분된다.

2007년 4월 22일 이씨는 천국에 대해 다음과 같이 설교했다.

낙원은 어떠한 개인 소유집이 없다. 많은 영혼이 함께 거할 수 있는 공공건물이 있는데 마치 이 땅의 복지관 같은 건물이다. 자신이 일정 시간 동안 쉬었으면 다른 사람을 위해 비워 줘야한다.

1천층부터 상급이 주어지므로 개인 소유의 집이 주어진다. 1천층의 집들은 이 땅에 있는 다세대 주택이나 아파트 같은 형태의집이다. 이 땅의 아파트와 달리 계단이 없으며, 아름답게 장식된엘리베이터만 있다. 1천층의 엘리베이터는 올라타기만 하면 자동으로 원하는 층으로 이동하게 되고 고장 나는 일도 없다.

2천층의 집은 완전히 독립된 단층의 개인 주택 형태이다. 크고 웅장하며, 꽃과 나무들로 화려하게 단장돼 있다. 정금과 각색 보 석들로 만들어진 수영장, 호수, 무도회장, 산책길 등 원하는 것 중에서 가장 좋아하는 단 한 가지가 주어진다.

3천층의 집들은 화려하고 웅장하며 거대한 규모의 복층 구조로 돼 있다. 호수, 골프장, 수영장, 호수, 산책길, 무도회장 등 원하 는 시설 모두 소유할 수 있다. 새예루살렘 성안의 집들에도 주인이 원하는 모든 시설이 갖춰져 있다. 3천층의 집들과 비교할 때 그 규모나 아름다움과 영화로 움의 정도가 훨씬 뛰어나다.

만민중앙교회 이재록에 대해 대한예수교장로회 합신 교단은 "하나님의 신성을 모독하며, 그리스도의 구속을 왜곡 축소시키므로 많은 영혼들을 유린하는 자"라며 "거짓 선지자, 삯군 목자, 이단 중의 이단"이라고 정리했다. 이 밖에도 대한예수교장로회 통합 교단에서도 "신론, 구원론, 인간론, 성령론, 교회론, 종말(내세)론"의 문제로 "이단"으로 결의, 예수교대한성결교도 "이단"으로 결의했다.

## (3) 만민중앙교회 주요활동

만민중앙교회는 이재록씨의 도서홍보에 전력 질주하고 있다. 도서출판 우림북은 만민중앙교회 온라인 서점으로 1987년 설립해 100여 권의 이씨 저서와 번역 도서를 판매하고 있다. 이씨의 책은 영어를 비롯해 일어, 러시아어, 스페인어, 독일어, 타밀어, 아랍어, 타갈로그어, 중국어, 불어, 히브리어, 몽골어, 이탈리아어, 네팔어, 인도네시아어, 우르드어 등으로 번역됐으며, 국제도서전을 통해 꾸준히 홍보되고 있다.

만민중앙교회는 홈페이지에 이씨의 설교와 신도들의 치유에 대한 간증을 게재하고 있고, 기적과 표적에 대한 신비 체험 관련 사진을 올려 사람들 의 관심과 이목을 끌고 있다. 또한 만민중앙교회와 관련해 일부 언론에서 보도한 긍정적인 기사를 전문 게재함으로 단체의 부정적인 이미지를 환기 시키고, 건전 단체인 것처럼 보이도록 유도하고 있다.

또 GCN 인터넷 TV를 운영하고 있는데, "위성, 케이블, 공중파 방송 등을 통해 전 세계를 커버하는 기독선교방송 네트워크를 구축, 세계 모든 만민 에게 그리스도의 복음을 효과적으로 전파(한다)"고 목적을 밝히고 있다.

이씨가 안수기도한 손수건을 아픈 곳에 대고 기도하면 치료된다고 주장하며 손수건 집회를 개최하고 있다. 만민중앙교회에서는 손수건 집회를 통해 기적적인 일들이 일어난다며 치유된 사람들의 간증과 사례들을 적극적으로 홍보하고 있다.

만민중앙교회는 출애굽기 15장에서 쓴물이 단물로 변한 하나님의 역사가 이씨의 기도로 전남 무안지역에서 일어났다고 주장하고 있다. 이씨의 고향인 전남 무안 지역을 성지화하고 있으며, 신비적인 치료의 효과를 내세워 대대적인 홍보를 감행하고 있다. '무안단물'이라고 불리는 이물은 미국 FDA(식품의약국)에서 안전성과 우수성을 인정받았다고 홍보하고 있으나, MBC <뉴스 후>(2006년 9월 21일)는 유명대학 연구소에서 무안단물성분을 분석한 결과 음용수 부적격 판정을 받았고, 대장균 포함 8개 항목에서 기준치가 초과됐다고 보도했다.

## (4) 만민중앙교회 교세 현황

만민중앙교회는 지교회 및 지성전이 전국에 걸쳐 분포돼 있으며, 지교회 25개, 지성전 12개 총 37개 교회가 설립돼 있다. 해외에는 아시아 17곳, 유럽 8곳, 아프리카 7곳, 북미 6곳, 중남미 3곳, 중동 3곳에서 선교사가 활동하고 있다. (만민중앙교회 홈페이지 참고) 연합성결신학교와 만민국제 신학교 등 교육기관을 설립해 전문 사역자를 양성, 지도자 재생산에 열을 올리고 있다. 만민복지타운, 만민기도원, 만민선교원 등 자체 부설 기관을 보유함으로 교세 확장에 집중하고 있다. 국내 신도 수는 약 10여만 명에 이르렀으나, 이재록 성 파문 이후 신도가 줄어든 것으로 파악되며, 이씨의 셋째 딸 이수진이 당회장 대행으로 활동하고 있다.

# 11. Manmin Central Church

Mr. Jae Rok Lee is a leader and senior pastor of Manmin Central Church. He has been suspected as heresy for long time. The first suspicion was raised in 1982 when Mr. Lee was a student of a seminary, as he argued that "he speaks for God". Since then, he has been decided as a heresy by orthodox and traditional churches in South Korea, as his interpretation on the Holy Bible has been arbitrary and he has continuously pursued extreme occultism. He was convicted of several rapes and he was sentenced to sixteen (16) year long imprisonment by the Supreme Court in South Korea.

### (1) Who is Mr. Jae Rok Lee?

Mr. Jae Rok Lee was born as the youngest child of a family having six (6) children (three (3) sons and three (3) daughters) at Muan, Jeollanam-do, in 1943. In his book named [TASTING ETERNAL LIFE BEFORE DEATH], he wrote that he suffered from stomach ulcer, neuroticism, serious headache, pernicious anemia, ozena, otitis media, frostbite, eczema, dermatitis, lymphadenitis, joint inflammation and other many diseases in 1972. In 1974, he attended at the assembly of Ms. Shin Ae Hyun (an exhorter) with his second eldest sister. Mr. Lee asserts that, during the attendance of the assembly, all of his illnesses were cured. After this experience, he started to go to a church with his wife.

According to Mr. Lee's insistence, in 1978, he heard God's words saying "I (God) trained you in last three (3) years. So you shall prepare to work for my words in next coming three (3) years". Based on this experience that he received this message from God, he applied for Sungkyul Theological College and Seminary and he

was admitted it. In 1982, he started to prepare for founding Manmin Central Church, and in February 1983, he graduated the seminary. In 1990, he was decided as a heresy by and expelled from the Jesus Korea Sungkyul Church where he originally belonged. He founded a religious body named 'United Holiness Church of Korea' for his church, Manmin Central Church. His church has internationally about one hundred thousand (100,000) followers, at present.

### (2) Arguments made by Manmin Central Church

### 1) Deification of Jae Rok Lee

Mr. Lee insists that he is the alpha and omega and the beginning and the end. Also, he insists that he has the power of judgment and forgiveness of sins. Moreover, he asserts that he is a son of God and he may call Abraham to visit him. On July 5th, 1998, during his evening assembly, Mr. Lee said that his original sin and actual sin were gone by shedding the blood. And in the same assembly, he asserted that he will not die and is allowed to have infinite powers, since his original sin disappeared. Main arguments are quoted as follows:

When I bled blood for eight (8) days, all of my blood from my parents gushed out. At the same time, I drank waters and the water became my blood. Water symbolizes God's words and eternal life. During this event, God's words created my blood and there is no sin within my blood.

After shedding the blood, I heard God's words. God told me that "you, Jae Rok, has no sin, since your blood from

your parents are all gone. You will not die and will not be harmed by any evil." Also, God told me that "I give you my infinite power and you will create the history more than the history made by Jesus Christ."

Mr. Lee deified himself by giving various sermons. He deified himself by insisting that his spirit sits left hand of God the Father almighty (the sermon given on July 5th, 1998) and that he fulfilled all of God's words in the Bible, including but not limited to the walking on water (the sermon given on June 21st, 1998). Mr. Lee also asserted that he and God became one (the sermon given on June 28th, 1998), and that he will stand next to Jesus and defend his followers on the Judgment Day(the sermon given on July 5th, 1998). Mr. Lee has been giving an impression to his followers that he is the Savior and the redeemer. Mr. Lee's self-deification shows why Mr. Lee's church is categorized as a heresy.

### 2) Five steps of Faith, Five levels of Heaven

Mr. Lee divides the holy Heaven into five levels, based on the measure of faith. On June 25th, 2006, he gave a sermon regarding "Five steps of Faith". The important points of his sermon are as follows:

A person enters into the Faith Step 1 by hearing the Gospel and starting to have faith.

A person enters into the Faith Step 2 by studying God's words and making his/her effort to live as God says.

A person enters into the Faith Step 3 when he/she starts

to have an ability to live as God says. His/her faith is deemed as stable in this step.

A person enters into the Faith Step 4, when he/she neither commit any crime nor have sinful thought, and he/she lives as God says. In this step, he/she becomes a real child of the holy God.

A person in the Faith Step 4 may enter into the Faith Step 5, the highest step of faith, when he/she breaks away from all sins hidden in his/her flesh and obtains fruits/gifts of the Holy Spirits.

According to Mr. Lee's argument, the Faith Step is important, since the Holy Heaven is also divided into five heavens and a person in a certain Faith Step goes to a certain level of heaven. Each heaven is different from other heavens. The Faith Step 1 is connected to the Paradise, the Faith Step 2 is connected to one thousand level heaven, the Faith Step 3 is connected to the two thousand level heaven, the Faith Step 4 is connected to the three thousand level heaven, and lastly, the Faith Step 5 is connected to the New Jerusalem, respectively.

On April 22nd, 2007, Mr. Lee gave a sermon regarding the heaven, as follows:

In the Paradise, there is no personal house. There is a big public building in where many souls stay and this building is like a welfare center in this world. If a soul stays in this building for some time, then it has to vacate its place for other souls.

For the one thousand level heaven, a private house is given to the soul in this heaven. It is either of a multi-unit house or an apartment type. It does not have any stair, but only beautiful elevators which directly go to the relevant floor and they never break down.

For the two thousand level heaven, a private residence of single floor is provided to the soul enters into this heaven. It is a big house decorated with flowers and trees. It has one of swimming pool, lake, ballroom, or esplanade decorated with gold and jewels. Only one option chosen by the owner of house is given.

For the three thousand level heaven, a private residence which has two floors is given to the soul who enters into this heaven. It has all of swimming pool, golf course, lake, esplanade, and ballroom. Any facility the owner desire could be installed.

In the New Jerusalem, a private residence with all facilities the owner desires is given. The house is bigger and much more beautiful than the house in the three thousand level heaven.

The Korean Presbyterian Church (Hapsin) concluded that "Mr. Jae Rok Lee of Manmin Central Church insults the divinity of God, downsizes the value of redemption and Salvation, and destroys many souls. He is a false prophet, hireling, and heresy of many heresies." The Presbyterian Church of Korea (Tonghap) ruled that Mr. Lee is a heresy based on his wrongful interpretation of bible and doctrines related to the human race, Holy Spirit, church, and Armageddon

(Eternal life). Jesus Korea Sungkyul Church also determines Mr. Lee and his church as heresy.

### (3) Main Activities of Manmin Central Church

Manmin Central Church passionately advertises Mr. Lee's writings. Urim Books, running in website, a publishing company of Manmin Central Church was established in 1987. It is selling about one hundred (100) writings written by Mr. Lee. Mr. Lee's writings are translated in various languages; such as Japanese, Russian, Spanish, German, Tamil, Arabic, Tagalog, Chinese, French, Hebrew, Mongolian, Italian, Nepali, Indonesian, and Urd. His writings are stably and consistently promoted in many international book fairs.

Manmin Central Church continuously posts sermons of Mr. Lee and testimonies of healing given by its followers in its website. Also it posts photographs and insists that these photographs show performance of miracles and signs of God. Also, Manmin Central Church publishes positive articles in some media in order to appeal to people that Manmin Central Church is a sound church.

Also, Manmin Central Church runs GCN Internet TV. In its website, Manmin Central Church declares that this internet TV system which covers satellite television, cable TV and public TV, is launched to spread the Gospel of Christ to all creations (Manmin) in the world.

Also, Manmin Central Church asserts that a handkerchief on which Mr. Lee's hands laid heals disease and illness. According to this assertion, Manmin Central Church holds regular handkerchief assemblies. Manmin Central Church promotes testimonies of healing from these handkerchief assemblies.

Manmin Central Church argues that Mr. Lee changed bitter water to sweet water in Muan district, Korea, just as God did in the Exodus Chapter 15. It tries to make Muan, Mr. Lee's hometown, as a sacred place and passionately promotes that the Muan sweetwater has mysterious and surprising therapy effect. Also it advertises that the Muan sweetwater is approved by FDA (Food and Drug Administration) in US, as safe and excellent for therapy purpose. However, an R&D Center established by a famous university in South Korea tested this Muan sweetwater and concluded that this water is not for drinking and has excessively too much bacteria for drinking, including colon bacillus. This test was requested by "News Who" a program of MBC, a public broadcasting system in South Korea. The program was on air on September 21st, 2006.

## (4) Current Status of Manmin Central Church

Manmin Central Church has its local churches and sanctuaries all over the country of South Korea. It has twenty five (25) local churches and twelve (12) local sanctuaries. It dispatches missionaries to overseas, including seventeen (17) missionaries to Asia, eight (8) missionaries to Europe, seven (7) missionaries to Africa, six (6) missionaries to North America, three (3) missionaries to South America, and three (3) missionaries to Middle East Asia (referred to Manmin Central Church Website). Also it established the Alliance Holiness Theological Seminary and Manmin International Seminary for training its own ministers. Manmin Central Church runs its own welfare centers, prayer houses and mission centers. The number of its followers was about one hundred thousand (100,000), but it is presumed to decrease by Mr. Lee's sexual crimes. His third daughter, Ms. Soo Jin Lee works as a proxy of Mr. Lee, at present.

# 11. 万民中央教会

从1982年神学院在读时期开始,李载禄(万民中央教会堂会长)就主张"代言的话语"受到异端争议。神学院毕业后又因恣意解释圣经和极端神秘主义倾向被韩国教会判为异端,李载禄因固习性强奸嫌疑被法院判16年徒刑。

### (1) 李载禄是谁?

李载禄1943年出生在全罗南道务安,是3男3女家庭中的老幺。李载禄在自己的著作《面对死亡尝到永生》中记载,他曾患有胃溃疡,神经衰弱,严重头痛,恶性贫血,鼻窦炎,中耳炎,冻伤,湿疹,皮肤病,淋巴腺炎,关节炎等疾病。1974年与自己的二姐一起到玄信爱劝士的聚会中,经历所有疾病被医治的神秘体验,与妻子一同出席教会。

1978年在祷告中听到"我磨炼你3年,因此你要预备3年话语"后进入圣洁教神学院(联合)。1982年开始预备建立万民中央教会,1983年2月神学毕业,1990年被耶稣教大韩圣洁教派判定为异端并除名。因此李载禄创立耶稣教大韩联合圣洁教派持续扩展,现有10万信徒并且把自己的势力扩张到国外。

### (2) 万民中央教会主张什么?

### 1) 李载禄的神格化

李载禄称自己为阿拉法与俄梅戛,是起初和结尾,是审判的权势者。主张自己拥有赦罪的权势,甚至说自己是神的亲生儿子。若自己呼召,亚伯拉罕也会来到自己面前。1998年7月5日主日晚间聚会中李载禄说自己通过"换血"除掉了原罪和自犯罪,正因为自己没有原罪所以死亡会躲开他,自己拥有了无限的权能。

我流血的时候8天里把从父母获得的所有血都流尽,8天中所喝的水变成血液,水是属灵的话语,既是永生,神的话语造出我的血,因此这血里没有罪性。

之后(换血以后)我看见之前说话的那位,他对我说"你(李载禄)当

时通过流血除掉了原罪,因此死亡会躲开你,恶者也无法触碰你" 主告诉我说"我会把我无限的权能赐给你,你会成就更伟大的历 史。"

除此之外李载禄通过多次讲道的机会把自己神格化。他主张自己的灵坐在神宝座的左边(1998年7月5日),除了行走在水面上之外自己成就圣经66卷当中所有的话语(1998年6月21日)。主张自己与神合为一体(1998年6月28日),审判之日自己会站在主的旁边亲自保护信徒(1998年7月5日)。他这些言语让人们感到李载禄就是救世主透过他才能得救,李载禄的自身神格化证明他的确是异端。

#### 2) 信心的5个阶段,天国的5个阶段

李载禄主张,根据信心分量的不同所去天国的位置也会不同,2006年6月25日他在讲道中如此传讲"信心的5个阶段"。

听了福音信而领受圣灵就会进入信心的第一阶段。

学习话语努力去行就会进入信心的第二阶段。

信心稍微成长就会进入第三阶段,产生一些能够遵着神话语行出的能力,这意味着进入自然按着话语生活的信心稳定阶段。

若按着神话语去行,不去犯罪和脱去根本罪性就会进入信心的第四阶段,这才能成为神圣洁的真子女。

在第四阶段,把隐藏在本性深处的肉体的痕迹除掉,结出丰盛属灵的 果子就会进入信心的第五阶段。

李载禄区分信心的阶段,是因为每个阶段所能进入天国的阶段不同,在天国里的生活也会有巨大区别。李载禄把天国分为信心第一阶段信徒所进入的乐园,第二阶段信徒所进入的1重天,第三阶段信徒所进入的2重天,第四阶段信徒所进入的3重天,第五阶段信徒所进入的新耶路撒冷。

2007年4月22日李载禄在讲道中如此介绍天国。

乐园中没有个属于人的房屋,只有许多灵魂共同居住的建筑,如同福利院,自己休息一段时间后要让给其他人。

从1重天开始会有奖赏,有属于个人的房屋,1重天里的房屋隔得很近如同居民楼。与世上的居民楼不同的是没有楼梯只有装饰豪华的电梯,1重天的电梯乘坐后将自动送到想要去的楼层,不会有任何故障。

2重天里的房屋是完全独立的单层住宅,房屋大而雄伟,用鲜花和树木装饰。在用精金和宝石建造的泳池,湖,舞厅和山间小路中可选择自己喜欢的一项。

3重天的房屋豪华雄伟,是巨大规模的复层楼,在用精金和宝石建造的泳池,湖,舞厅和山间小路中可拥有自己喜欢的一切选项。

新耶路撒冷房屋里具备主人所喜欢的一切选项,在规模,美丽和豪华程度上大大超过3重天的房屋。

大韩耶稣教长老会合神教派把李载禄定为"李载禄亵渎神的神性,歪曲和缩小基督的救赎,是诸多灵魂的掳掠者,假先知,骗取的牧者,异端中的异端"。 大韩耶稣教长老会统合教派因"神论,救赎论,人论,圣灵论,教会论,末世论"方面的问题把李载禄判为异端。大韩耶稣教圣洁教派也把李载禄定为异端。

#### (3) 万民中央教会主要活动

万民中央教会全力以赴宣传李载禄的著书,乌陵出版是万民中央教会的网上书店,1987年建立销售100多种李载禄的著书与译本。李载禄的书被翻译为英语,俄语,西班牙语,德语,泰米尔语,阿拉伯语,塔加拉族语,汉语,法语,希伯来语,蒙语,意大利语,尼泊尔语,印尼语,乌鲁德语等国家语言,通过国际图书展持续宣传。

他们在万民中央教会网站里上传李载禄的讲道和信徒获得医治的见证,也有很多有关奇迹和神迹等神秘体验的照片。上传一些媒体对万民中央教会的正面新

闻,试图淡化社会对他们的负面印象,把自己宣传为健康的社会团体。 他们运营GCN网络电视台,其目的是"建立以卫星,有线,无线电视台为中心 覆盖全球的基督教宣教广播网络,向世界万民更有效传播基督的福音"。

李载禄主张把自己按手过的手绢放在患处后祷告就会得到医治,万民中央教会通过一些信徒的见证与事例宣传,在手绢聚会中出现许多奇迹。

万民中央教会主张旧约出埃及记15章里记录苦水变甘水的事件在全罗南道务安也同样出现,李载禄试图把自己的故乡务安圣地化,以神秘医治功效为借口大肆宣传。他们宣传,被称为"务安甘水"的水被FDA(美国食品医药局)认定其安全性和优秀性,但MBC "新闻后" 栏目(2006年9月21日)披露,一家有名大学研究所分析务安甘水后认为,此水不适合人饮用,有包括大肠杆菌在内8中有害物质超标。

#### (4) 万民中央教会教势与现状

万民中央教会分殿分布在全国,共有37个教会(25个支教会, 12个支圣殿)。 海外方面亚洲有17个圣殿,欧洲8个,非洲7个,北美6个,中南美3个,中东3个(参考万民中央教会网页)。他们建立联合圣洁神学院与万民国际神学院等教育机构,热心培养专业传道人和领袖。通过万民福利村,万民祷告院,万民宣教院等自建机构持续扩展其教势。韩国内信徒数约10万人,在李载禄性丑闻被披露后其数量有所减少,现今李载禄的三女李秀珍代行堂会长职务。

## 12 여호와의 증인

Jehovah's Witnesses 耶和华见证人

#### 12. 여호와의 증인

여호와의 증인은 정통 기독교가 믿고 있는 주요 교리들을 대부분 부정한다. 또 수혈이나 병역을 거부하고, 국가체제를 사탄으로 규정하는 등 사회 윤리적인 문제를 일으킨다. 여호와의 증인은 어떤 단체인가?

#### (1) 창교자 및 연혁

찰스 럿셀 (Charles Taze Russell)은 1852년 2월 16일 미국 펜실베니아주 알레거니(Allegheny)지방에서 태어났다. 그는 20세 때 당시 안식교 지도자 J. H. 페인트의 저서를 탐독하다 예수의 재림시기에 관심을 갖게 됐다. 이후 자신과 동일한 생각과 신앙을 가진 사람들을 모아 성경연구 모임을 갖기 시작했고, 1879년 「아침의 여명(THE Herald of the Morning)」이란 잡지를 냈다. 이 잡지의 이름은 이후 「파수대」로 변경됐다.

럿셀은 1874년 이미 예수 그리스도가 인간의 눈에 보이지 않게 재림했다고 주장, 이방인 시대의 종말은 1914년 아마겟돈 전쟁이 일어나 세상 정치권력이 멸망하고 천년왕국의 시작이 있을 것이라고 강조했다. 그러나 예언이 빗나가자 충격을 받았고, 1916년 10월 31일 캘리포니아에서 설교를 하고 집으로 돌아오다 중도에 사망했다.

럿셀이 죽자 J. F. 루터포드가 제2대 교주가 됐다. 그는 1975년 다시 10월에 아마겟돈 전쟁이 있을 거라고 예언했지만 실패했다. 럿셀이 실패한 1914년 예언을 세상 끝 날이 아닌 끝 날의 시작이라며 조만간 아마겟돈 전쟁이 일어날 것이라고 했다. 나아가 예수의 재림은 육적인 것이 아닌 영적인 것이며 그리스도가 이미 1914년 인간의 눈으로 보이지 않게 영적으로 재림해 1918년 그의 성소에 들어가 하늘 정부를 세우고 모든 기성교인들을 정죄 심판하고 파수대의 교리에 불응하는 자는 무조건 정죄 받는다고 주장했다.

1942년 1월 8일 루터포드가 사망하자 나단 노르(Nathan H. Knorr)가 제3 대 교주가 됐다. 노르체제는 1950년대에 부분적으로 출간된 신세계번역판 성경을 자체에서 완역했다. 노르가 죽자 1977년 프레드릭 프란츠(Fredrick. W. Franz)가 제4대 교주가 됐다. 프란츠는 불과 몇 년밖에 일을 못했지만 100만 명이 넘는 신도들을 확보했다.

#### (2) 여호와의 증인의 주요 주장

#### 1) 삼위일체(三位一體) 부정: 예수는 피조물, 성령은 활동력

여호와의 증인은 삼위일체를 부정한다. 이들은 삼위일체란 용어가 성경에 없으므로 비성서적이라고 주장한다. 예수와 성령도 하나님이 될 수 없다. 이들은 예수를 하나님으로부터 창조된 피조물로 간주하며 예수의 신성을 부인하고, 심지어 예수를 미가엘 천사장이라고 주장한다. 성령은 단지 하나님의 활동력이라고 주장하며 성령의 인격성을 부인한다.

성서 가운데 "삼위일체"라는 말이 전혀 나오지 않는데도 그분을 "삼위일체"라고 주장하는 사람들이 있다. (『우리는 지상낙원에서 영원히 살 수 있다』, 38)

예수께서는 "하느님의 유일하게 태어난 아들"이라고 불리셨는데, 그것은 여호와께서 그분을 직접 창조하셨기 때문이다. (『영원한 생명으로 인도하는 지식』, 38)

성서에는 미가엘과 그의 천사들이라는 표현도 나오고 예수와 그의 천사들이라는 표현도 나온다. (중략) 따라서 미가엘은 바로하늘에서 자신의 역할을 수행하고 계신 예수 그리스도라고 결론지을 수 있다. (『성서는 실제로 무엇을 가르치는가』, 219)

성신, 혹은 성령에 관하여는 한위(位) 혹은 한 인격체가 아니라 하느님의 활동력이다. (『우리는 지상낙원에서 영원히 살 수 있 다』, 40)

성경은 예수 그리스도가 육신으로 현현하신 성자 하나님임을(빌2:5~10), 완전한 신성과 인성을 소유한 분임을(롬9:5), 모든 피조물보다 먼저 나신 분임을(골1:15) 증거하고 있다. 또 성령에 대해 "그"로 호칭(요16:13), 인격체임을 분명히 밝히고 있으며, 지식이 있고(고전2:11), 감정이 있고(엡4:30), 주관적인 의지(고전12:11)가 있음을 우리에게 분명히 알려주고 있다

#### 2) 1914년 영으로 재림한 예수

여호와의 증인은 요한계시록 12장 말씀을 인용해 예수가 1914년 하나님의 하늘 정부의 왕으로서 통치를 시작했다고 주장한다. 1914년이란 결과는 어떻게 도출한 것인가? 다음은 『우리는 지상낙원에서 영원히 살 수 있다』에서 발췌한 내용이다.

"나무"로 상징된 하나님의 통치권은 기원전 607년에 잘리었다. 더는 지상에 하나님의 통치권을 대표하는 정부가 존재하지 않았다. 그리하여 기원전 607년에 예수 그리스도께서 후에 "열국의지정된 때" 혹은 "이방인의 때"라고 말씀하신 기간이 시작됐다.

계시록 12장 6절과 14절을 보면 우리는 1260일이 "한 때와 두 때와 반 때"와 같은 기간임을 알게된다. (중략) 따라서 "일곱 때"는 360의 7배 곧 2520일이 된다. 이제 우리가 성서 법칙에 따라 하루를 일 년으로 계산하면 "일곱 때"는 2520년이 된다.

"열국의 지정된 때"는 기원전 607년에 시작됐다. 그러므로 그때부터 2520년을 계산하면 기원 1914년에 도달하게 된다. 그 해가 바로 이 "지정된 때"가 끝난 해이다. (중략) 이것은 예수그리스도께서 1914년에 하나님의 하늘 정부의 왕으로서 통치를 시작했음을 의미하는 것이다.

#### 3) 영혼멸절, 지옥부재

여호와의 증인은 영혼의 불멸을 부정한다. 인간은 생리적이고 물리적인 죽음으로 끝난다며 영혼 존재를 부인한다. 이들에게 "영"은 사람에게 전기 처럼 감정도 생명도 없는 일종의 비인격적인 힘이다. 여호와의 증인은 지 옥이 존재하지 않는다고 단정 짓는다. 지옥 존재에 대해 가르치는 종교는 하나님께 불명예를 돌리는 죄악이라고 주장한다.

사람이 죽을 때, 영(생명력)이 몸의 세포들에 생명을 주는 일은 중단된다. 전기가 나가면 전등이 꺼지는 것과 같다. 생명력이 인간의 몸을 유지시켜 주는 일을 멈추면, 사람-영혼-은 죽게 된다. (『영원한 생명으로 인도하는 지식』, 82)

사탄은 거짓 종교를 이용해 사람들로 하여금 몸이 죽은 후에도 자기들이 영들의 세계에서 계속 살 것이라고 믿게 만든다.

성경 여러 곳에는 지옥에 대해 말하고 있다. 그러나 이들은 성경에 등장하는 지옥과 관련해 자의적으로 해석, 자신들의 교리를 합리화하고 있다. 『우리는 지상낙원에서 영원히 살 수 있다』에는 "스올"과 "하데스"를 가리켜 단순한 "무덤"으로, "게헨나"를 가리켜 "쓰레기 처리장"으로, "불못"을 가리켜 의식을 지닌 상태의 고초가 아닌 "영원한 죽음"으로 해석하고 있다.

#### 4) 부활과 십사만사천

여호와의 증인은 믿는 자뿐 아니라 여호와를 알지 못하는 자들도 부활할 것이며, 천 년 동안 여호와를 섬길 기회를 얻는다고 주장한다. 또한, 예수 이전 시대의 사람들은 지상 백성의 일부로 부활하며 예수 이후 극소수의 거듭난 사람들, 즉 십사만사천의 여호와의 증인만 하늘에서 살도록 부활돼 지상 낙원을 통치한다고 한다.

여호와에 대해 전혀 알지 못해서 그분을 섬기지 못했거나 그분께 순종하지 못한 사람들은 모두 어떻게 될 것인가? (중략) 그들 또한 부활될 것이며, 참 하느님에 관해 배우고 그분을 섬길 시간이 주어질 것이다. 천 년 동안 이 죽은 사람들은 부활돼 충실한 사람들과 함께 땅에서 여호와를 섬길 기회를 얻게 될 것이다. (『성서는 실제로 무엇을 가르치는가?』, 72)

제한된 수의 인간 남녀는 하늘 생명으로 부활될 것이다. (중략) 하느님께서는 얼마나 되는 사람들을 그리스도와 함께 통치하도 록 하늘로 데려가실 것인가? 성서에 의하면 단지 십사만사천 명 뿐이다. (『영원한 생명으로 인도하는 지식』, 88)

#### (3) 여호와의 증인 사회적 문제

여호와의 증인 신도들은 국기에 대한 경례 및 애국가 제창은 우상이므로 하면 안 된다고 주장한다. 나아가 의무교육도 포기하며, 국가 공무원이 되 는 일은 단호하게 거부한다. 국토방위를 위한 병역의무를 기피하고 공공 선거 등 정치활동에도 참여하지 않는다. 여호와의 증인 신도들의 이러한 반국가적인 행위 이유는 세상 정부를 사탄 체제로 보기 때문이다.

여호와의 증인은 성경에서 "피를 멀리하라(행15:20)", "피를 먹지 말라(레 17:14)"를 오역해 신도들에게 수혈을 금지시키고 있다. 따라서 수혈을 하지 못해 죽음을 맞이하는 안타까운 상황들이 지속적으로 발생하고 있다.

#### (4) 여호와의 증인 주요 활동

여호와의 증인 신도들은 두 명씩 짝을 이루어 가가호호 방문해 「파수대」, 「깨어라」등 홍보지를 나눠주거나, 사람들이 많이 다니는 길거리에 가판 대를 설치에 홍보지 및 소책자를 무료로 배포한다. 불특정 다수에게 손편지나 문자를 보내 여호와의 증인을 홍보하기도 한다. 여호와의 증인 공식웹 사이트 "WATCHTOWER"(watchtower.org)는 자신들의 교리를 체계화해알리고 있고, 자신들의 의학적 견해 및 일상생활을 위한 방침을 제시하고 있다.

여호와의 증인은 꾸준한 포교활동으로 성장했지만, 기독교 정통 교리를 정면으로 부정하며 성경을 자의적으로 해석해 한국교회로부터 "이단"으로 결의됐다. 반국가적, 반사회적인 문제로 인해 기독교인뿐 아니라 비기독교인에게도 경계의 대상이 되고 있다. 그러나 여호와의 증인은 더욱 조직적으로 움직이며 많은 사람들을 미혹하고 있다.

#### 12. Jehovah's Witnesses

Jehovah's Witnesses contradicts main doctrines of traditional and orthodox churches. Followers of Jehovah's Witnesses reject the blood transfusion and military service duty in Korea. Also, Jehovah's Witnesses treats a state (or national) system as Satan and causes social problems. What is the Jehovah's Witnesses?

#### (1) Founder and History

Charles Taze Russel was born in Allegheny, Pennsylvania, USA, on February 16th, 1852. He had passion in reading books written by J.H Paton, a leader of the Seventh Adventist Church, and in the timing of the Second Coming of Jesus Christ, when he was twenty (20). He had a bible study group meeting with people who has same ideas and faith as his. In 1879, this group published a magazine named The Herald of the Morning. Later, this magazine changed its name to The Watchtower.

In 1874, Mr. Russel insisted that Jesus Christ came to this world in an invisible form. In his prediction, the age of Gentiles would be ended in 1914 by the occurrence of Armageddon. Also, he predicted that governments in this world would be destructed and God's kingdom would be established in 1914. However, his prediction failed. He was shocked by this failure and died on October 31st, 1916, on his way to his home, after giving a preach in California.

After Russel's death, J.F. Rutherford became the second leader of this group. He predicted that this world would be destructed in October 1975 by Armageddon. But, as we all know, this prediction also failed. He insisted that the year of 1914 mentioned in the

Russel's prediction did not mean the end of Armageddon, but the start of Armageddon. He also said that the battles for Armageddon will start very soon. Further, Rutherford claimed that Jesus Christ already came to this world in spirit in 1914. He claimed that Jesus Christ entered into the holy place in 1918 and established a heavenly government, in order to judge Christians in traditional churches who reject doctrines of Jehovah's Witnesses.

On January 8th, 1942, Rutherford died and Nathan H. Knorr became the third leader of this group, Jehovah's Witnesses. Knorr completed all of Jenovah's Witnesses' books in English in 1950s. Knorr died in 1977 and Fredrick. W. Franz became the fourth leader of this organization. Under Franz's leadership, the number of followers became over one million.

#### (2) Main Insistence of Jehovah's Witnesses

### Denial of Holy Trinity: Jesus Christ is a creature and Holy Spirit represents God's activism

Jehovah's Witnesses rejects the Trinity, since they say that there is no definition of Trinity in the Bible. Under Jehovah's Witnesses' doctrine, Jesus Christ and Holy Spirit cannot be God. Jehovah's Witnesses treats Jesus Christ and Holy Spirit as creatures of God and denies the divinity and personality of them. It claims that Jesus Christ is an arc angel, Michael and that Holy Spirit is only God's activism.

There is no "Trinity" in the Holy Bible, but there are people who insists the Trinity. ("You can live forever in Paradise on Earth\_1, 38)

Jesus Christ has been called as "God's only Son", since God creates him. ("Knowledge that leads to Everlasting life\_1, 38)

In Bible, there are the phrases 'Michael and his angels', but also 'Jesus Christ and

his angels'. (omitted) Therefore, we can conclude that Michael is Jesus Christ working in heaven. ("What does Bible really teach?,, 219)

Regarding the Holy Spirit, it is neither the third person of Trinity nor a personality of God, but it is only God's activism. ("You can live forever in Paradise on earth,", 40)

Bible clearly shows us that Jesus Christ is the only son of God and God in flesh and blood (Phillips 2:5~10) and that he has the perfect and complete divinity and person-ality (Rome 9:5). Also, Bible indicates that Jesus Christ has been existing from the very first, prior to the all creatures' birth (Colossians 1:15). Regarding the Holy Spirit, Bible describes him as "he" (Johns 16:13) which shows his personality. Also Bible exactly and clearly shows us that Holy Spirit has his own knowledge (1 Corinthians 2:11), emotions (Ephesians 4:30), and his own will (1 Corinthians 12:11).

# 2) Jesus Christ came again to this world in a spiritual form in 1914

Jehovah's Witnesses insists that Jesus Christ has ruled the heaven as a king of heavenly government since 1914, by quoting the words from Revelation Chapter 12. How do they make the conclusion that Jesus Christ came again in 1914? The answer is in the book titled Tyou can live forever in Paradise on Earth...

God's sovereignty symbolized as a 'tree' stopped in B.C. 607. There is no government which represents the God's sovereignty on earth. It was B.C. 607 when the "time of all countries decided" or "the time of Gentiles" mentioned by Jesus Christ started.

In Revelation Chapter 12, Verse 6 and Verse 14, we can realize that 1260 day period means 'a time, times and half a time' mentioned in Revelation. (omitted) Therefore, "seven times" means 2520 days which could be resulted by multiplying 360 and 7. Under the Bible's calendar, one day means a year, so "seven times" means 2520 years.

"Time of all countries decided" started in B.C. 607. Count 2520 years from B.C. 607, then you will approach to A.D. 1914. This is the year when the 'appointed time' ended. (omitted). This means Jesus Christ has ruled and controlled God's heavenly government, since 1914.

#### 3) No eternity of Soul and No hell of fiery torment

Jehovah's Witnesses denies eternity of human's soul. Under its doctrine, human existence disappears with its biological and physical death. 'Soul' is deemed as a kind of power, just like electricity, without any emotion nor life. Jehovah's Witnesses does not believe the existence of hell. It insists that teaching the existence of hell is dishonor to God.

When a person dies, his/her soul (life) stops supplying its power to cells in his/her body. A light bulb turns off when electricity is gone. A death causes a soul to stop maintaining human's body. (『Knowledge that leads to Everlasting life』, 82)

Satan uses false religion and makes people to believe that soul eternally lives in the heaven after biological death.

In Bible, there are many references to hell. However, Jehovah's Witnesses arbitrarily interprets 'hell' mentioned in Bible and justifies its doctrine that there is no hell. According to the book named "You can live forever in Paradise on Earth", 'Hades' or 'Sheol' means a grave and 'Gehenna' means 'waste disposal site'. Also, it interprets "the lake of fire" as "eternal death", not a spiritual status.

# 4) Resurrection and one hundred forty four thousand (144,000) followers

Jehovah's Witnesses insists that not only its followers, but also other people will resurrect and have same opportunity to serve Jehovah for one thousand years. Also, they insist that people born before Christ's birth will resurrect on earth and some renewed people born after Christ's birth of which number is 144000 people, Jehovah's Witnesses, will live in heaven and control the paradise on earth.

How will the people who does not know, serve or obey Jehovah? (omitted) They will resurrect and be given an opportunity to learn and serve God. For a thousand years, deceased people will resurrect on earth and have same opportunity to serve Jehovah with faithful people who resurrects. ("What does the bible really teach?, 72)

A limited number of men and women will resurrect in heaven (omitted). How many people will God take to heaven? According to the Bible, only 144000 will be taken by God. ("Knoweldge that leads to everlasting life.", 88)

#### (3) Social Problems caused by Jehovah's Witnesses

Followers of Jehovah's Witnesses never salute the national flag nor sing the national anthem. Furthermore, they give up the compulsory education supplied by the government and they never apply for public offices. They reject compulsory military service and do not participate in any political activities. Jehovah's Witnesses treats governments in the world as Satan's systems and they do anti-national activities.

Jehovah's Witnesses falsely interpretes phrases in the Bible, such as "abstain from blood (Acts 15:20)", "you must not eat blood of any creature (Leviticus 17:14)" and forces its followers not to have any blood transfusion. Such doctrine has continuously caused deaths of followers who could have survived, if they receive blood transfusion.

#### (4) Main activities of Jehovah's Witnesses

For spreading its doctrines, followers of Jehovah's Witnesses visit people from house to house for distributing Jehovah's Witness publications and literature, such as <code>fthe Watchtower\_</code> and <code>fawake\_</code>. Also they install newsstands and give free brochures and small books to people. Sometimes, they send letters or text messages to many and unspecified persons. Also Jehovah's Witnesses runs WATCHTOWER(watchtower.org), the official website of Jehovah's Witnesses and uploads its doctrines, medical opinions and its policies

for common life.

Jehovah's Witnesses has grown its influence in Korea, but it is decided as a heresy, since its doctrines are completely opposite to the doctrines of orthodox and traditional churches and Jehovah's Witnesses arbitrarily and falsely interprets the Bible. It becomes serious cause of many problems, as its doctrines are anti-socilal and antinational. However, its systemic propagation activities seduces many people.

#### 12. 耶和华见证人

耶和华见证人否定正统基督教主张的大多数教义,并拒绝输血和服兵役,还将及国家体系看做撒旦的会,从而引发社会问题。那么耶和华见证人是怎样的一个团体呢?

#### (1) 创立者及历史

查尔斯·泰兹·拉塞尔于1852年2月16日出生在美国宾夕法尼亚州阿勒格尼,20岁热读当时安息教领袖J·H·佩因特著作时引发对耶稣再临时期的关注。之后招聚与自己拥有相同信仰和思维的人研究圣经,1879年创办杂志《清晨黎明》(THE Herald of the Morning),之后又改名为《守望台》。

拉塞尔主张耶稣早已在1874年以人的肉眼无法看到的方式再临,他强调外邦人时代的终结在1914年,此时将引发哈米吉多頓战争,世上政治权利灭亡,随着会迎来千年王国。因预言没有成就受到巨大打击,1916年10月31日在加利福尼亚讲道后于归家途中死亡。

拉塞尔死后J • F •卢瑟福成为第二代教主,他预言1975年10月将发生哈米吉多顿战争但还是没有应验。他解释拉塞尔所预言的1914年并不是世界的终结而是末世的开始,将在不久的未来发生哈米吉多顿战争。他认为耶稣的再临并不是肉体的再临而是灵的再临,基督早在1914年以人的肉眼无法看见的方式再临,1918年进入圣所建立天上政府定罪和审判所有基督徒,与守望台教义不符的所有人都被定罪。

1942年1月8日卢瑟福死亡,南森•诺尔(Nathan H. Knorr)成为第三代教主,1950年他们完译新世界译本圣经。诺尔死后1977年弗雷德里克•弗朗茨(Fredrick.W. Franz)成为第四代教主,虽然弗朗茨只做了几年教主,却扩张了百多万信徒。

#### (2) 耶和华见证人主要主张

1) 否定三位一体:耶稣是被造物, 圣灵是活动力

耶和华见证人否定三位一体,他们主张这个单词在圣经中没有出现因此不符合 圣经。耶稣与圣灵也不是神,他们认为耶稣是所创造的被造物,否认耶稣的神 性,圣灵只是神的活动力,否认圣灵的位格。

圣经中从未出现"三位一体" 这个词,但有很多人主张神是三位一体。(《我们可以在地上乐园永远生活》,38页)

耶稣称自己为"神唯一的儿子",这是因为耶和华亲自创造了他。 (《引向永恒生命的知识》,38页)

圣经中有"米迦勒与其天使们"的句子,并且还出现 "耶稣与其天使们" 的句子,(略) 因此可最终判定米迦勒就是在天上完成期作用的耶稣基督。(《圣经实际上在教导什么》,219页)

圣灵并不是一个位格体,是神的活动力。(《我们可以在地上乐园永远生活》,40页)

圣经分明向我们见证耶稣基督就是显现为肉体的圣子神( $\sharp$ 1:15),拥有完整的神性和人性( $\sharp$ 9:5),在所有被造物以先( $\sharp$ 1:15)。并且称圣灵为"祂"(约16:13),这分明告诉我们圣灵是位格体,有知识(林前2:11),有情感(弗4:30)。有意志(林前12:11)。

#### 2) 1914年以灵体再临的耶稣

耶和华见证人引用启示录12章经文主张耶稣在1914年作为天上政府的王开始统治。那么1914年是怎样导出的呢?以下内容是在《我们可以在地上乐园永远生活》一书中抽取的内容。

以"树"作为象征的神王权统治在B. C607年已被砍断,从此之后地上再无代表神统治的政府。因此B. C. 607年就是耶稣基督所说的"对列国指定的时期"和"外邦人的时期"的开始。

通过启示录12:6,14我们可发现1260日就是"一载二载半载", (略) 因此七载就是360日的七倍就是2520日。我们按着圣经的法则 把一日换算为一年七载就是2520年。

"对列国指定的时期"从B. C. 607年开始,因此2520年减掉607年就会得出A. D. 1914年。这一年就是"所制定的时期"结束的哪一年, (略) 汶意味着耶稣基督从1914年开始在神天上的政府掌王权。

#### 3) 灵魂灭绝,没有地狱

耶和华见证人否定灵魂不灭,他们觉得人会随着生理和物理的死亡终结,因此 否认灵魂的存在。对他们来讲灵魂如同电力没有情感和生命,是一种非人格的 能力。耶和华见证人断定没有地狱,并且主张凡教导地狱存在的宗教都是羞辱 神的宗教。

人死的时候灵(生命力)将终止向身体细胞传达生命的工作,这如同断电后灯会熄灭。生命力停止维持人体生命力的工作,那么人-灵-就会死。(《引向永恒生命的知识》,82页)

撒旦通过虚假的宗教让人相信人身体死后他们的灵仍然可以在世界 上生活。

圣经多处记录有关地狱的内容,但这些人对圣经中有关地狱的经文进行恣意的解释,并为自己的教义合理化。在《我们可以在地上乐园永远生活》中把"Sheo1"和"Hades"翻译为"坟墓",把"Gehenna"翻译为垃圾处理场,但是他们认为"火湖"并不是在有意识状态下的痛苦而是 "永恒的死"。

#### 4) 复活与十四万四千

耶和华见证人主张不单是信徒就连那些不信者也要复活,将获得侍奉耶和华千年的机会。在耶稣之前的世代死去的人将复活成为地上百姓的一部分,在耶稣以后那些极少数重生的人,只有十四万四千耶和华见证人为生活在天上而复活统治地上乐园。

那些从未听过耶和华的名字所以无法服事和顺从祂的人会怎样呢? (略)他们也要复活,会给他们机会学习真神并服事祂的机会。一千年来,这些死去的人复活与那些忠诚的人一起在地上获得服事耶和华的机会。(《圣经实际上在教导什么》,72页)

一部分男女将复活为天上生命,(略)神会使多少人为与基督一同统治而带到天上呢?根据圣经只有十四万四千人。(《引向永恒生命的知识》,88页)

#### (3) 耶和华见证人引发的社会问题

耶和华见证人主张,对国旗的敬礼和唱国歌都是拜偶像,所以禁止这些行为。 他们拒绝义务教育,坚决反对成为国家公务员,逃避为国土防卫所服的兵役, 也不参加公共选举和政治活动。耶和华见证人这些反国家行为的理由是因为他 们把政府看做撒旦的体制。

耶和华见证人误译圣经中禁戒血(徒15:20)和禁止吃血(利17:14)的经文,要求信徒禁止输血,因此未能及时输血而死亡的事件持续发生。

#### (4) 耶和华见证人主要活动

耶和华见证人组成二人一组家家户户进行访问发放《守望台》和《要警醒》等宣传物,并且在人流量多的地方摆设支架分发宣传物和小册子。向不特定多数人写书信或通过发短信的方法宣传耶和华见证人,他们的网页"WATCHTOWER"(watchtower.org)更系统的传播他们的教义,并提示他们的医学观点和日常生活的方针。

耶和华见证人通过持续的传教获得成长,但因正面否定基督教正统教义及恣意解释圣经被韩国教会判定为"异端"。因反国家和反社会问题不单被基督徒,甚至被非基督徒也被视为警戒对象,但他们更加有组织地行动,很多人被他们所迷惑。

## 예수그리스도후기성도교회(몰몬교)

The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saint (Mormon Church)

耶稣基督后期圣徒教会 (摩门教)

#### 13. 예수그리스도후기성도교회(몰몬교)

예수그리스도후기성도교회(몰몬교)는 그 스스로를 유일한 예수 그리스도의 교회라고 주장한다. 그 이름에서 보여지는 것처럼 몰몬교는 그 시작부터 기독교와 밀접히 관련되어 있었다. 교주인 조셉 스미스 스스로가 몰몬교를 세우기 전에는 독실한 기독교인이었을 뿐만 아니라 몰몬교는 성경신구약을 모두 그들의 경전으로 받아들이고 있으며, 또한 몰몬경은 성경으로부터 수많은 인용을 하고 있다.

#### (1) 예언자 조셉 스미스

몰몬교 예언자 조셉 스미스는 14세에 1820년대 초반에 일어난 제2차 대 각성운동을 통해 깊은 영향을 받게 된다. 스미스는 뉴욕주 맨체스터에서 교파주의의 부정적인 면들을 경험하게 된다. 스미스에 따르면, 그가 어느 교파에 소속되어야 할지를 고민하던 중에 성부와 성자를 만나게 되고, 그 분들로부터 모든 교파들은 잘못되었으니 그 어느 교파에도 가입하지 말라 는 이야기를 듣게 된다.

스미스에 따르면, 계속되는 환상을 통해 그는 1827년 9월 22일 몰몬경의 내용이 기록된 금판을 발견하였고, 이것을 번역하여 1830년 3월에 몰몬경을 출판한다. 그리고 1830년 4월 6일 뉴욕주 파이엇(Fayette)에 측근 6명과 함께 몰몬교를 공식적으로 조직한 후, 1831년에는 오하이오주와 미조리주로 그의 교회를 확장해 나아간다. 그리고 1840년 스미스는 일리노이주 나부(Nauvoo)에 몰몬교도들을 위한 아름다운 도시를 건설하였고, 나부는 그 당시 몰몬교의 중심이 된다.

그 후로 스미스와 그가 받았다고 하는 계시들은 몰몬교의 절대적이고 중요한 교리가 되었다. 브리감 영(Brigham Young, 1801~1877)이 스미스가 죽은 후 몰몬교의 새로운 지도자가 되었다. 영은 오하이오주 커크랜드 (Kirkland)에서 스미스를 처음 만났고, 몰몬교가 십이사도위원회를 구성했을 때, 스미스에 이어 제2인자의 위치를 차지하게 된다.

스미스처럼 영도 절대적 영향력을 가진 영적지도자인 동시에 정치지도자 였다. 그는 공개적으로 일부다처제를 지지하였다. 하지만 1862년 7월 8일 아브라함 링컨 대통령이 승인한 반일부다처법률(Morrill Anti-Bigamy Act) 이 제정된 후, 이로 인해 1863년 스미스는 체포된다. 몰몬교도들을 솔트 레이크계곡에 성공적으로 정착하도록 이끈 영은 조셉 스미스의 이름을 부르며 1877년 8월 29일 사망했다.

#### (2) 몰몬교 주요 교리

몰몬교는 신성시하는 네 개의 경전이 있다: 즉 '성경', '몰몬경', '교리와 성약' 그리고 '값진 진주'이다. 이를 근거로 몰몬교는 지상천국의 건설을 주장하고 있다. 몰몬경은 가장 기본이 되는 중요한 교리서로써, 몰몬교에 따르면, 여기에는 기원전 6세기경 예루살렘에서 아메리카로 이주해온 고대인들에 대한 이야기가 기록되어 있는데, 시기적으로 몰몬경은 기원전 600년경부터 기원 후 421년까지의 이야기가 기록되어 있다고 믿고 있다.

몰몬경에 따르면, "이 기록은 많은 고대 위대한 문명을 이룩한 두 민족에 대해 설명하고 있다. 이들 중 한 민족은 기원전 600년에 예루살렘으로부터 왔으며 후에 니파이인과 레이맨인이라고 하는 두 민족으로 나뉘어졌다. 또 다른 민족은 바벨탑을 쌓을 때 즉 주님께서 언어를 혼란시키실 때 떠나온 민족이다. 이 민족은 야렛인으로 알려져 있다. 수천 년이 지난 후레이맨인을 제외한 모든 민족이 멸망되었으며 이들 레이맨인이 바로 아메리카 인디언의 조상인 것이다. 몰몬경에 기록된 가장 중대한 사건은 주예수 그리스도께서 부활하시고 나서 바로 니파이인들에게 친히 성역을 베푸신 일이다. 몰몬경에는 복음 교리와 구원의 계획이 설명되어 있을 뿐만아니라 인간이 현세에서 평화를 얻고, 내세에서 영원한 구원을 얻기 위해마땅히 행할 일도 설명되어 있다"고 몰몬경 서문에서 설명하고 있다.

몰몬교는 몰몬경이 예언자이면서 역사가인 몰몬에 의해 금판에 기록되었다고 믿는다. 몰몬이 기록한 이 금판을 그의 아들 모로나이에게 주었고, 그가 이 금판을 뉴욕주 맨체스터의 커머라 언덕(Hill Cumorah)에 421년에 묻었다는 것이다. 그리고 부활한 모로나이의 도움을 받아 조셉 스미스가 1823년에 이 금판들을 발견했다는 것이다.

무엇보다도 몰몬교는 몰몬경과 함께 '살아있는 예언자들(Living Prophets, 몰몬교의 세 명의 최고 지도자들)'을 통한 지속적인 계시를 성경과 동등한 권위로 받아들인다. 몰몬교는 이들 최고지도자들이 스미스의 후계자라고 믿으며, 이들의 지시를 절대적으로 순종한다. 조셉 스미스가 작성했다고 하는 총 13개조로 이루어진 몰몬교의 "신앙개조"는 몰몬교의 교리가 간략 히 잘 나타나 있으며, '성경과 몰몬경의 동등권위'와 '미국대륙으로의 지상 천국 건설'등 기성교회와의 현저한 교리적 차이점들이 분명하게 드러나 있다.

몰몬교는 가족은 교회와 사회의 기본적인 단위(the basic unit)이며, 그 필요성과 중요성은 모든 것에 우선한다고 믿는다. 또한 모든 인간은 하늘의 부모(heavenly parents)에게서 받은 영(a spirit)을 가지고 있으며, 하나님처럼 되기 위해서 이 땅에 태어나게 되었다고 믿는다. 하지만, 인간의 타락으로 인해 이러한 창조의 계획이 성취되지 못했고, 타락으로부터 회복되기 위해서 지상천국을 건설해야만 했으며, 그래서 지상에서의 결혼을 통해서만 지상천국이 지상에 건설되어질 수 있다고 믿는다.

이렇게 이루어진 가족은, 영적인 자녀들(spirit children)을 생산할 수 있고, 이로 인해 가족은 가장 기본적인 사회와 교회의 단위가 된다고 주장한다. 몰몬성전에서만 거행되어야 하는, 이 결혼을 영원한 결혼(Eternal Marriage), 그리고 이를 통해 이루어지는 가족을 영원한 가족(Eternal Family)이라고 부른다.

#### (3) 몰몬교 조직

조셉 스미스에 의해서 선포된 교리들은 권위주의적이고 체계적인 몰몬교의 조직을 통해 구체적으로 실행되고 있다. 제일정원회(First Presidency)는 몰몬교의 최고 조직이다. 대관장이라 불리는 예언자와 두 명의 보좌회장이 있고, 그 밑에는 십이사도정원회(Quorums of the Twelve)라고 불리는 십이인의 선지자들이 있다.

제일정원회는 조셉 스미스와 브리감 영처럼 계시를 받으며 교회의 정책을 결정하고 추진한다. 몰몬교에서 제일정원회의 결정은 절대적이며, 대관장은 지상에 유일한 선지자로 숭배된다. 제일정원회의 결정은 그 어떤 질문도 없이 그대로 받아들여진다. 대관장이 죽으면 두 명의 보좌회장 중 선임회장이 대관장이 된다.

십이사도정원회는 1835년 2월 14일 조직된 이래, 제일정원회를 보좌하는 최고행정기구의 역할을 수행해오고 있다. 만약 제일정원회의 회장단이 유고인 경우 십이사도정원회에서 제일정원회를 구성한다. 그 아래로 칠십인 정원회(Quorums ofthe Seventy)가 있으며, 그리고 그 아래에 지역회장단 (Area Presidency)이 있다. 칠십인정원회에도 제일정원회처럼 세 명의 회장단이 구성되어 있다.

지역조직으로는 스테이크(Stakes)와 와드(Wards)가 있는데, 스테이크는 미국에서는 일반적으로 약 2000~7000명으로 구성되어 있으며, 각 스테이크는 독자적인 체제로 조직되어 있다. 스테이크는 역시 스테이크회장단(회장과 두 명의 보좌회장으로 구성)이 있으며, 와드는 약 200~800명으로 구성되며, 감독과 두 명의 보좌감독으로 지도부가 구성되어 있다. 한국에는 2013년 현재 전국에 16개의 스테이크(교구)와 128개의 와드(교회)에 8만 6000여 명의 회원이 있다.

세계 여러 나라에 독특한 형태의 몰몬성전들이 건축되고 있고, 한국에는 남산에 그 성전이 있다. 이 성전들이 세워진 나라들은 곧 몰몬교의 선교가 일정한 수준에 이르렀다는 것을 의미하는데, 정치문화적으로 미국의 영향력에 있는 나라들(독일, 일본, 필리핀, 한국 등)과 백인중심의 사회(호주, 남아프리카 공화국 등)에서 몰몬교가 성공적으로 정착하고 성장하는 것은, 몰몬교가 '미국적'이며 '백인중심적'인 면이 있다는 것을 보여주고 있다.

저명한 사회학자 잰 쉽(Jan Shipp)을 비롯한 많은 학자들은 몰몬교가 이제 기독교라고 주장하는 것을 넘어서서, 하나의 종교(a religion)로서 그정체성을 확립해야 한다고 주장하고 있다. 이것은 성장을 근거한 자신감의 표현인 한편, 기독교와의 이단 시비를 벗어나기 위한 시도로도 볼 수있다.

하지만 이런 시도에도 불구하고 (1)몰몬교의 최고지도조직인 제일정원회의 회장들은 몰몬교가 기독교라고 공식적으로 밝히고 있으며 (2) 또한 몰몬교는 성경을 그들의 경전으로 사용하고 있으며, 그리고 몰몬경은 성경으로부터 셀 수 없는 인용을 하고 있고 (3) 과거의 계시(몰몬경)와 현재의계시(살아있는 예언자들의 가르침)를 통해 자신들이 기독교라고 밝히고

있으며 (4) 하지만 기독교와는 다른 교리를 신앙하고 실천하고 포교하는 한 몰몬교는 기독교 이단으로 규정될 수밖에 없다.

물론 몰몬교가 윤리적이며 경건한 종교인 것으로 많이 비춰지는 것이 사실이다. 또한 '비윤리적인 기성교회'보다는 '윤리적인 이단'을 차라리 선호하는 것이 현재 한국사회의 현실인 것도 사실이며, 그리고 교회의 심오한교리적 이단 규정이 이루어지는 동안, 교회가 소금과 빛의 역할을 소홀히함으로 인해 교회에 대한 사회의 부정적 시각은 커져만 가고 있는 것도 사실이다. 하지만 이러한 현실이 윤리적으로 엄격하다는 몰몬교를 이단으로 규정하는 걸림돌이 될 수는 없다. 몰몬교가 자신의 정체성을 "유일하고 참된 예수 그리스도의 교회"로서 규정하는 한 몰몬교는 기독교 이단으로 분류될 수밖에 없다.

### The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saint (Mormon Church)

The Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-day Saint (Mormon Church) (hereinafter referred to "Mormon Church") insists by itself that Mormon Church is only church of Jesus Christ. As you may notice from its name, the start of this Mormon Church was deeply related to the Christianity. Joseph Smith, the founder of Mormon Church was a devout Christian before he founded this Mormon Church. Also, Mormon Church uses both Old and New Testaments for its scriptures. Also, Book of Mormon, Mormon Church's own scripture, contains many quotes from the Holy Bible.

#### (1) Joseph Smith, Prophet

Joseph Smith, a prophet of Mormon Church, was significantly influenced by the Second Great Awakening in early 1820, when he was 14. His family moved to Manchester, New York State. In this town, his family went through negative experiences caused by denominationalism. According to Smith's insistence, he met God and Jesus Christ when he could not make his mind at which denomination he would attend. In his story, God and Jesus Christ told him that all denominations are wrong and he shall not be a part of any of them.

According to Smith's insistence, he had received many visions and found buried golden plates which contain the contents of present Book of Mormon. He interpreted the contents of the golden plates and published it named Book of Mormon in March 1830. On April 6th, 1830, he officially organized the Mormon Church with his six

(6) colleges in Fayette, New York State. And his church spread to Ohio and Missouri. And he founded a city for Mormons at Nauvoo, Illinois, in 1840. At that time, Nauvoo was the center of Mormon Church.

Smith insisted that he received visions and these visions have become absolute and important doctrines of Mormon Church. After Mr. Smith's death, Brigham Young became a new leader of Mormon Church. Mr. Young first met Mr. Smith in Kirkland, Ohio, and he became No. 2 man, when Mormon Church organized the Quorum of the Twelve Apostles, for the first time.

He was not only a spiritual leader as Joseph Smith, but also a political leader of Mormon Church. He openly supported the bigamy. He was arrested in 1863, since the President Lincoln signed Morrill Anti-Bigamy Act on July 8th, 1862. He successfully led Mormon Church and made Mormon Church to settle in Salt Lake City. Mr. On August 29th, 1877 when Mr. Young died, he yelled Joseph Smith's name.

#### (2) Main Doctrines of Mormon Church

Mormon Church has four main scriptures: Bible, Book of Mormon, Doctrines and Covenants, and Pearl of Great Price. Based on these scriptures, Mormon Church insists that they found and will found a heaven on the earth. Book of Mormon is the basic and main scripture of Mormon Church. According to Mormon Church's insistence, Book of Mormon was written by ancient men who moved from Jerusalem to America, in B.C. 6th Century, and they wrote this book for the period from B.C. 600 to A.D. 421.

According to Book of Mormon, Book of Mormon is the record of two peoples who achieved great civilizations in the ancient time. One of them came from Jerusalem in B.C. 600 and divided into two ethnic groups; Nephites and Rayman. Also, Book of Mormon claims that there were other people named Jared who left Jerusalem when Babel Tower was built and God brought into existence of multiple languages. In accordance to this book, all peoples, except Rayman, were collapsed and Rayman became the ancestor of American Indians. The most important event in Book of Mormon is Jesus Christ's ministry to the Nephites after his resurrection. In the introduction of Book of Mormon, there is a brief explanation that Book of Mormon will prescribe its doctrines regarding gospel, plan for salvation, and duties and obligations for achieving peace and eternal salvation.

Mormon Church believes that Book of Mormon has same contents with the golden plates' contents written by Mormon, a historian and prophet. They believe that Mormon gave these golden plates to his son Moroni and Moroni buried these plates in Hill Cumorah, Manchester, New York State in A.D. 421. Also, Mormon Church members claim that Joseph Smith found out these plates with support of resurrected Moroni.

Most of all, Mormon Church accepts continuous instructions given by 'Living Prophets (Mormon Church's top three leaders)' as much authoritative as Holy Bible. Mormon Church treats these Living Prophets as successors of Joseph Smith and church members follow their instructions without any objections. "Articles of Faith" which consists of 13 Articles written by Joseph Smith also prescribes Mormon Church's general doctrines. These Articles claim that 'Book of Mormon has same authority with Holy Bible' and Mormon Church

will 'build a heaven on the earth in American Continent'. These doctrines and Articles clearly show that Mormon Church's doctrines are significantly different from traditional churches'.

Mormon Church believes that a family is the basic unit of church and society and the importance of family prevails over everything. Also, all people receives a spirit from heavenly parents, and at very first, mankind was born to become just like God. However, the fall of mankind interrupted such plan of creation and mankind shall build a heaven on the earth for recovering from such fall. In Mormon Church, marriage on the earth is only way to build the heaven on the earth.

Under Mormon Church's doctrine, only families united as instructed by Mormon Church may have birth of spiritual children and these families are basic units of society and church. Eternal family could be organized only by eternal marriage which shall be done in the Mormon Church.

#### (3) Organization and Structure of Mormon Church

Mormon Church is operated in accordance with authoritative and organized groups and system. The First Presidency which consists of Mormon Church's president and two counselors is the highest group in Mormon Church. The Quorum of the Twelve Apostles, the second highest group in the church, is under the First Presidency and it consists of twelve prophets.

The First Presidency insists that it receives visions just like Joseph Smith and Brigham Young. It decides and makes policies for Mormon Church. Its decision is absolute and may not be objected.

The president is only prophet who is worshiped by church members. Any decision made by the First Presidency shall not be objected nor questioned. When the president is dead, one of two counselors will be the next president of church.

Ever since its foundation on February 14th, 1835, the Quorum of the Twelve Apostles performs the highest administrative roles for Mormon Church and it closely supports the First Presidency. In case where the First Presidency is not available for any reason, the Quorum of the Twelve Apostles will organize another First Presidency. The hierarchy of Mormon Church is in following order: the First Presidency, Quorum of the Twelve Apostles, Quorums of the Seventy, Area Presidency. In the Quorum of the Seventy, there is also top three leaders.

For small areas, there are Stakes and Wards. Stakes generally consists of about 2000~7000 church members in the United States. Each Stake is an independent organization. A Stake has also Stake Presidency (one president and two counselors). Ward is a group consisting of about 200~800 church members. A Ward has a leader group which has one director and two vice directors. In Korea, there are 16 Stakes and 128 wards of Mormon Church. The number of church members in Korea was about 86000, as of 2013.

Mormon Church builds unique chapel buildings for their churches in many countries over the world. In Korea, Mormon Church's chapel is located at Nam San Mountain. This building means that the country at where the chapel building is built has certain number of church members. Mormon Church's chapels are built in countries where has an political and cultural connection with America (Germany, Japan, Phillipine, Korea and etc.) and countries where the white community

has power (Australia, South Africa, etc.) . It shows that Mormon Church is originally from United State of America and pursues white community.

Many academic scholars, including Jan Shipp, a famous socialist insist that Mormon Church shall be categorized as a new religion, not a Christianity. This is one of way how Mormon Church tries to escape from the heresy debates with Christianity. And, of course, it shows off its growth and big influence.

Despite of such trials, Mormon Church insists followings: (1) All of church leading groups, including the First Presidency, officially claim that Mormon Church is Christianity. (2) Mormon Church uses Holy Bible as its scripture, but also Book of Mormon which has many quotes from Holy Bible; and (3) Mormon Church claims that it is a Christianity based on the Book of Mormon (revelation from the past) and instructions from Living Prophets (revelation from the present). (4) However, Mormon Church's doctrines are significantly different from traditional churches'. It shall be categorized as a heresy.

It is true that Mormon Church is recognized by the public as a holy and ethical religion. In Korea, it is sad, but ethical heresy is preferred to unethical traditional churches. During traditional churches judge heresy churches, traditional churches who caused serious social problems fail to be light and salt in the society. And such failure has made serious criticism against traditional churches and Christianity. However, such failure cannot justify and allow heresies and their doctrines. Mormon Church shall be categorized as a heresy, if it calls itself as only and sole church of Jesus Christ.

#### 13. 耶稣基督后期圣徒教会 (摩门教)

耶稣基督后期圣徒教会(摩门教)主张他们是唯一耶稣基督的教会,在其名称中所看到的摩门教从一开始就与基督教密切相关。教主约瑟夫•史密斯在创建摩门教之前是虔诚的基督徒,摩门教把新旧约圣经完整收纳在自己的经典中,并且摩门经也在圣经中引用诸多经文。

#### (1) 先知约瑟夫·史密斯(Joseph Smith)

摩门教先知约瑟夫•史密斯在14岁的时候受1820年初期兴起的第二次大觉醒运动影响,之后史密斯在纽约州曼彻斯特体验教派主义负面影响。史密斯说他在考虑选择所属教派时遇见圣父和圣子,从他们听到这些教派都是错误的所以不要隶属于任何教派的劝阻。

史密斯证言自己持续体验异象,1827年9月22日发现记录摩门经的金板,1830年3月翻译出版摩门经。1830年4月6日在纽约州菲也特(Fayette)与6名亲信正式组织摩门教,在1831年把教势扩张到俄亥俄州和密苏里州。1840年史密斯在伊利诺伊州的诺伍市(Nauvoo)为摩门教徒建设美丽城市,之后诺伍市成为摩门教中心。

之后史密斯所得到的启示成为摩门教绝对而重要的教义,史密斯死后杨百翰 (Brigham Young, 1801-1877)成为摩门教新领袖。杨百翰在俄亥俄州的柯克 兰(Kirkland)第一次遇见史密斯,并在摩门教组成十二使徒委员会的时候继承 史密斯占据第二把交椅。

和史密斯一样杨百翰也是一位具有绝对影响力的属灵领袖,同时也是一位政治领袖,他公开支持一夫多妻制,但林肯总统制定反一夫多妻制法律(Morrill Anti-Bigamy Act)后1863年被捕。之后顺利带领摩门教徒在盐湖城定居。杨百翰于1877年8月29日高声喊着史密斯的名字离世。

#### (2) 摩门教主要教义

摩门教拥有自己视为神圣的四个经卷,就是"圣经","摩门经","教义与圣约","宝贵的珍珠",摩门教根据这些经卷主张地上天国的建设。摩门经

是最基本的重要教义书,根据他们介绍,其中记录着B. C. 6世纪从耶路撒冷移居到美洲古人的故事,他们相信摩门经记录着B. C. 600年到A. D. 421年之间的事件。

根据摩门经记载,经书中记录着有关在古代创建两个伟大文明的民族,其中一个民族在B. C. 600年来自耶路撒冷,后来分为尼法族人和雷曼族人(Nephites and Rayman)。另外一个民族是在建造巴别塔时神使他们的语言混乱的时候离开的民族,这个民族叫雅列族人(Jared)。经过数千年之后只有雷曼人存留,他们就是美洲印第安人的祖先。摩门经所记录最重大的事件是,耶稣基督在复活后亲自向尼法族人行圣工。摩门经不仅记录了福音的教义和救赎的计划,也记录了人们能够在现世得到和平,在来世得到永恒救赎所必须做的事情,这些内容在摩门经的前言中有所记载。

摩门教相信摩门经被身为先知和历史学家的摩门记录在金板上,魔门把这金板给了自己的儿子摩罗尼,他在421年把金板埋在纽约州曼彻斯特的克莫拉丘(Hill Cumorah)。之后史密斯被复活的摩罗尼帮助在1823年发现这个金板。

摩门教认为摩门经与"活着的先知"(Living Prophets,摩门教三位最高领袖)所说的持续的预言拥有与圣经同等权威。摩门教相信三位最高领袖是史密斯的继承者,绝对顺从他们的指示。在史密斯所制定共有13条的"摩门教信仰概要"中可清楚看到摩门教基本教义,可发现"圣经与摩门经同等权威"与"在美国大陆建立地上天国"等,与现今教会不同的教义。

摩门教相信家庭是教会与社会最基本的单位(the basic unit),其必要性与重要性优先于一切。所有人都拥有从天上父母(heavenly parents)所得到的灵(a spirit),为成为像神一样的存在而出生在地上。但因着人的堕落这些创造计划未能成就,为从堕落中恢复只有建设地上天国,因此只有通过在地上的婚姻才能建设地上天国。

这样的家庭能够生出属灵的子女(spirit children),并让家庭成为社会和教会的最基本单位。只有在摩门教圣殿里举办的婚礼才是永恒的婚礼(Eternal Marriage),通过这样的过程所建立的家族是永远的家族(Eternal Family)。

#### (3) 摩门教组织

由约瑟夫•史密斯宣布的教义通过一个权威并系统的摩门教组织来具体实施。第一定员会(First Presidency)是摩门教最高组织。他们由两位被称为大官长先知和两位補佐会长组成,旗下有被称为十二使徒定员会(Quorums of the Twelve)的十二先知。

第一定员会像史密斯和杨百翰那样领受启示并决定教会政策,大官长被崇拜为地上唯一的先知。对第一定员会的决定不能有任何质疑,大官长死后在两名補佐会长中先任会长成为大官长。

十二使徒定员会从1835年2月14日组织以来承担着辅助第一定员会最高行政机构的职能。若是第一定员会会长团有事时十二使徒定员会将组成第一定员会,其下还有七十人定员会(Quorums of the Seventy),其下还有地方会长团(Area Presidency),七十人定员会如同第一定员会一样由三名会员组成会长闭。

地方组织有斯提克斯(Stakes)与沃兹(Wards),斯提克斯在美国由2000-7000人组成,各斯提克斯以独立体制运行,斯提克斯中也有会长团(由会长与两名辅佐人员组成)。沃兹约有200-800名组成,领导层由一名监督与两名辅佐监督组成。在韩国直到2013年全国有16个斯提克斯(教区)与128个沃兹(教会),共有8万6000名信徒。

在世界各地建有很多独特形态摩门教圣殿,在韩国南山也有这类圣殿。这些圣殿的建立意味着在这些国家摩门教宣教已达到一定水准。尤其在政治和文化上受美国影响大的国家(德国,日本,菲律宾,韩国等)、以白人为中心的社会(澳大利亚,南非共和国等)中摩门教成功扎根和成长,这意味着摩门教具有美国化和白人化特征。

包括著名社会学家贾恩•西普(Jan Shipp)在内许多学者主张,摩门教已超越自称为基督教的主张,应确立身为一个独立宗教(a religion)的自我意识。这是来源于其成长自信的表现,同时是为脱离基督教异端名声的企图。

虽然有这样的企图, (1) 但摩门教最高领导组织"第一定员会"仍然在正式场合称自己是基督教, (2) 并且摩门教接受圣经为他们的经卷,同时摩门经从圣经引用诸多经文, (3) 通过过去的启示(摩门经)与现在的启示(活着的先知们

的教导) 持续表明自己是基督教, (4) 但是他们若是一直坚持相信,实践和传播与基督教不同的教义,那么必定会被定为异端。

摩门教被人们看做是拥有伦理的敬虔宗教。现今的社会比起"非伦理的教会"也更容易接受"伦理的异端"。教会在建立深刻的异端规定的同时,却忘记了做光做盐的本分,从而导致社会对于教会抱着否定的视角,这也是需要面对的事实。但摩门教大伦理性不能成为判定其异端方面的绊脚石,只要摩门教把自己的身份定格为"耶稣基督唯一而真正的教会",那么摩门教必定被判定为基督教异端。

# 14 전능하신 하나님 교회

The Church of Almighty God 全能神教会

# 14. 전능하신 하나님 교회

전능하신 하나님 교회(전능신교, 교주 양향빈)는 중국계 이단사이비 종교인 '동방번개'가 한국으로 넘어와 사용하고 있는 이름이다. 전능신교의 창교자는 한국에서 이단으로 결의하고 있는 지방교회(윗트니스 리, 호함파)의 열렬한 추종자였던 조유산(짜오웨이샨)으로 알려져 있다.

# (1) 전능신교는 어떤 단체인가?

조유산은 1989년 지방교회를 이탈해 '영원교회'를 세운 뒤 근거지를 흑룡 강성에서 하남성으로 옮겼다. 하남성에서 '참하나님의교회'로 이름을 바꾸 고 교리를 만들어 세력을 키워가기 시작했다. 현재 교세는 300만 명 이상 으로 알려진다.

전능신교가 중국에서 사용한 명칭 동방번개는 "번개가 동편에서 나서 서편까지 번쩍임 같이 인자의 임함도 그러하리라"(마24:27)는 말씀을 왜곡해예수님께서 동방에서 번개처럼 재림한다고 주장해 붙여진 이름이다. 전능신교는 마태복음 24장 27절 말씀에 기록된 동방이 바로 중국이며, 초림예수는 남자로 죄사함을 위해 오셨고 재림 예수는 여자로 구원과 영생을위해 오는데 이미 재림해 있다고 믿는다.

조유산은 조직 중에 일곱 사람을 선택하고 그중 양향빈(楊向彬)에게 "전능"이라는 이름을 주었는데 그 이름이 "전능한 신"으로 바뀌었고 그녀가 동방번개의 여자 그리스도(교주)가 되었다. 양향빈은 입시시험에 떨어진후 정신질환을 앓아오다 지방교회 교리에 심취하게 된다. 급기야 "내가하나님의 말씀을 기록했다"는 말을 하기 시작했다. 이 소문을 들은 조유산이 양향빈을 성령에 쓰임 받는 사람이라고 부르며 사람들로 하여금 그녀를 받들게 했다.

이들은 동방번개 외에도 칠영파, 이차구주파, 참빛파라고 불리기도 한다. 한편 한국에선 '전능하신 하나님 교회(전능신교)', '애신교회(愛神敎會)'라는 기성교회와 유사한 이름을 사용하며 포교활동을 펼치고 있다.

# (2) 전능신교는 무엇을 주장하는가?

『이단 전능신을 밝힌다!」에 따르면 전능신교는 "시대를 율법시대, 은혜시대, 국도시대, 세 가지로 분류한다. 국도는 나라가 임하였다는 뜻이다. 특히 하나님에 대해서 율법시대는 여호와였고, 은혜시대는 예수였지만, 국도시대는 전능자라고 주장하며, 또 그 강림방법에 대해서 율법시대는 영으로 오셨으나, 은혜시대는 남자로 오셨고, 국도시대는 여자로 오셨다는 것이며, 또 그 모습에 대해서는 율법시대는 육신이 없는 영이었으나, 은혜시대는 유대인의 모습이었고, 국도시대는 중국인의 모습으로 왔다고 주장한다. 결론적으로 여 그리스도는 중국에서 사람으로 오신 전능하신 하나님"이라는 사상을 믿고 있다.

# (3) 전능신교의 교리

전능신교는 하나님의 삼위일체 되심을 부인한다. 그들은 근본적으로 삼위일체의 참 하나님을 믿지 않고 있다. "성부 성자 성령의 삼위일체 하나님은 근본적으로 존재하지 않는다. 이러한 사상은 사람들의 전통적 관념이고 잘못된 인식에서 비롯된 것이다"라고 주장하며 "성부가 변하여 성자가되고 성자가 변하여 성령이 된 것"이라는 양태론적인 주장을 한다. 이것은 중국 호함파의 영향을 받았기 때문으로 보이며, 용어와 예배 형태 또한 호함파와 비슷하다.

전능신교는 그리스도가 피조물이며, 그리스도의 구속사역은 불완전하다고 주장한다. 저들은, 예수는 지구상의 한 피조물이며 십자가에 못 박힌 것과 부활은 역사적인 사실이 아니라 단지 상징일 뿐이라고 가르친다. 뿐만 아니라 십자가 죽음과 부활이 사실이라 하더라도 구속사역은 구원의 효력은 갖기는 하지만, 사람들의 죄성을 제거할 수는 없다고 주장한다. 그들은 여그리스도를 죄인들의 진정한 구원자요 인류의 구원을 완성할 자라 여긴다.

전능신교는 성령이 삼위일체 하나님인 것을 부인한다. 때문에 성령의 존재와 사역, 능력을 자연스럽게 부인하고, 성령을 성부와 성자가 사용하는 공구(工具)라 지칭한다. 전능신교는 그리스도를 통한 구원을 부인한다. 구원을 얻기 위해서는 계명을 지켜야 할 것을 강조한다. 그러면서 "계명을지키고 하나님에게 순복하고 하나님(여 그리스도)를 사랑하라"고 가르친다. 전능신교의 주장은 결국 그리스도를 믿음으로 구원을 얻는 것이 아니

라, 오직 전능신교에 속하여 그들의 교리를 믿고 여 그리스도에게 순종하는 행위를 통해서만 구원을 얻을 수 있다고 주장한다.

전능신교는 성경과 기독교의 정통교리들을 부인하며 신자들로 하여금 자신의 신앙을 부인하게 하고 지상에는 전능신교에 속한 교회만이 진정한 교회라고 주장한다.

# (4) 중국에서 퇴출당한 전능신교

전능신교는 중국에서 과격하고 폭력적인 모습을 수차례 노출해 문제가 됐다. 지난 2014년 5월, 포교를 거부하는 여성을 구타해 사망케 한 사건이 중국 산둥성 맥도날드 매장에서 벌어졌다. 뿐만 아니라 전능신교를 비판한 삼자교회 목회자 테러, 조선족 지도자 납치 감금 등의 사건도 종종 일어났다. 중국의 한 선교사는 "2001년 안후이성(安徽省)에서는 포교를 거부했다는 이유만으로 사람들의 팔, 다리를 끊고 귀를 자르거나 눈을 팠던일도 있다"고 전했다. 전능신교는 폭력성 뿐만 아니라, 중국 공산당을 따홍롱(大紅龍: 큰 붉은 용, 사탄)이라고 비난하는 등 체제 저항적 태도를 보여 중국 사회의 골칫거리로 전락했다.

중국은 2012년 가을, 18대 중국공산당대회를 앞두고 사회정화활동을 목적으로 사이비종교 소탕작업을 진행했다. 체제 저항적인 동방번개는 숙청대상 1호였고 그해 12월에는 전능신교 신도 400여 명이 중국 공안에 의해체포됐다. 중국의 이단척결 정책이 심해지자 전능신교 신도들은 한국, 미국 등 외국으로 몸을 피했다. 특히 한국을 선호했는데, 한국이 종교의 자유를 인정하기 때문에 본인들의 활동에 큰 제재를 받지 않을 것이라 판단했을 가능성이 크다.

# (5) 한국에 침투하는 전능신교

실제로 교주 양향빈은 신도들에게 한국으로 가라는 지령을 내렸고, 조직 내 난민 신청을 통해 한국에 체류할 수 있도록 돕는 '난민팀'을 운영했다. 전능신교는 무사증 제도를 시행하는 제주도를 통해 한국 땅을 밟았고, 종 교적 이유로 난민을 신청해 체류하고 있다. 아직 난민으로 인정된 경우는 없지만 전능신교 신도들은 계속해서 난민신청을 통해 한국으로 들어오고 있다. 난민으로 인정되지 않더라도, 불허 이후 이의 신청 및 행정심판을 제기해 소송 기간 동안(최장 3년) 합법적으로 체류기간을 연장할 수 있기 때문이다.

난민법을 악용해 체류 기간을 연장한 전능신교 신도들은 서울시 구로구 가마산로 141, 서울 구로구 오리로 1330에 건물을 사들여 전능신교란 이름으로 세력을 확대하고 있다. 특히 강원도 횡성군 둔내면 화동삽교로 60-30(구 유토피아유스호스텔)을 매입해 700여 명이 집단생활을 하며 포교활동을 펼치고 있다.

최근엔 전능신교가 충청북도 보은군 산외면 중티길탕로 136에 위치한 "열림원유스호스텔"과 충청북도 괴산군 청천면에 위치한 "화양청소년수련원"을 매입해 새 근거지로 이용하고 있다. 보은군 지역엔 논, 밭, 축사 등 총1만 2500평, 괴산군엔 대지 4300평, 건물 1800평 규모의 수련원을 매입해 자급자족할 수 있는 여건을 갖춰놓은 것이 확인되었다.

# (6) 전능신교 국내 포교활동

전능신교가 서서히 교회에 접근을 시도하고 있다. 전능신교 신도들이 교회에 들어왔었다는 제보가 이어지는 상황이다. 문제는 전능신교의 포교방법이 한국교회에 큰 피해를 준 신천지와 유사하다는 점이다. 『중국교회이단 동방번개』(도서출판 목양, 김종구)에는 전능신교의 사업핸드북에 담긴 포교전략과 세칙들을 기록하고 있다.

먼저 '내부정탐' 단계가 있다. 교회 내부에 침입하여 호감과 신임을 얻어 교회의 교파, 교세, 인도자와 구성원들에 대한 세부 정보를 파악하는 일이다. 교회의 내부 상황을 파악하기 위한 기초 작업이다. 내부정탐은 그 대상 및 범위를 정하고 있다. 예수를 믿지 않는 사람, 지금도 계시를 받는다고 하는 사람, 신체적으로 심각한 장애를 가진 사람, 삼자교회 또는 삼자교회에 속해 있지는 않지만 직간접으로 삼자교회와 연결된 사람 등은 접촉 금지 대상자다.

다음으로 '사전공작' 단계가 있다. 친밀한 관계 형성 후 관념을 돌리도록 진리를 말하는 단계다. 쉽게 말하면, 성도들이 가진 성경에 대한 개념을 혼란하게 해서 자신들의 교리를 주입하는 방식이다. 사전공작이 없으면 목표를 이룰 수 없다고 할 만큼 이 단계를 중요하게 여긴다. 사전공작에 나서는 신도들은 말세에 대한 예언과 성경구절에 대한 지식을 갖춰야 하 고 임기응변 능력과 상대방의 심리를 장악할 수 있어야 한다.

동시에, 다투는 말투가 아닌 교제하는 말투로 사람의 형편에 대응할 수 있어야 한다; 너무 조급해서는 안 된다; 우리들이 사용하는 영적인 용어들을 너무 많이 말해서는 안 된다; 삼위일체를 부인하지 않고, 하나님의 성별을 말하지 말아야 한다; 신원이 완전히 파악되지 않는 사람에게는 별로 중요하지 않은 주소를 주어야 한다는 등의 지침을 가지고 있다.

종교의 자유가 보장된 한국으로 넘어와 본격적으로 활동에 들어간 전능신교. 교묘한 포교수법에 폭력성까지 더한 이 단체로 인한 끔찍한 피해사례가 나오기 전에, 정부 차원의 예방책이 필요하다.

# 14. The Church of Almighty God

The Church of Almighty God (of which leader is Yang Xiangbin) is the name of a Chinese cult organization known as Eastern Lightning in Korea. This organization was founded by Zhao Weishan, a passionate follower of the Local Church (founded by Witness Lee), an organization which has been decided as a heresy by Korean traditional churches.

# (1) What is the Church of Almighty God?

Zhao Weishan left the Local Church and established "The Church of Eternity" and moved this church from Heilong Jiang to Henan. In Henan, he changed the name of organization to "New Church of the Lord of Ability." In this time, he made doctrines and principles for his organization. Now, the followers of his organization is more than three millions.

'Eastern Lightning' is the name used by this organization in the People's Republic of China. It is from Matthew 24: 27 of the Holy Bible, quote 'For as lightning that come from the east is visible even in the west, so will be the coming of the Son of Man.' The Church of Almighty God insists that the 'east' mentioned in the Matthew 24:27 means China and the 'Son of Man' means a woman in China. They believe that the first coming Jesus Christ came to this world for forgiveness, and the second coming Jesus Christ is a woman who is already in the world, for salvation and immortality of humanity.

Zhao Weishan chose seven people from the organization and Yang Xiangbin was one of them. She was given the name of "Almighty"

by Zhao Weishan and this name was changed to the "Almighty God". And she became the woman Jesus Christ of Eastern Lightning (the leader of this organization). Yang Xiangbin suffered from mental disease for some time after her failure of university entrance examination in China. She was fascinated with doctrines of the Local Church. At that time, she publicly said that she wrote God's words. Zhao Weishan who heard her insistence started to treat her as a person with holy spirit and made followers to believe her as a holy existence.

This organization has many names, such as "Seven Holy Spirit denomination" "Second Coming Jesus Christ denomination" and "True Light denomination". In Korea, it uses name of "the Church of Almighty God" or "Loving God Church" which are quite similar to the traditional churches' names for its propagation activities.

# (2) What the Church of Almighty God insists?

According to the article named "The Truth of the Church of Almighty God, a Heresy", the Church of Almighty God divides human history into three ages: Age of Law, Age of Grace and Age of Kingdom. In this article, in the Age of Law, God was Jehovah who came to this world in spirit, and in the Age of Grace, God was Jesus Christ who came to the world as a Jewish man. And in the Age of Kingdom, God is a Chinese woman. According to doctrines of the Church of Almighty God explained in this article, this organization believes that a Chinese woman is an almighty God.

#### (3) Doctrines

The Church of Almighty God denies the Holy Trinity. This

organization basically does not believe in true God, the Holy Trinity. The Church of Almighty God insists that the Holy Trinity does not exist and it came from wrongful traditional concepts. Also it insists Sabellianism that the holy father changed to the holy son and the holy son changed to the holy spirit. This is probably from the Local Church. Terms and style of worship of the Church of Almighty God are quite similar the Local Church's.

The Church of Almighty God asserts that the Jesus Christ is only a creature. The followers believe that the Jesus Christ is only a creature and the holy cross and resurrection of Jesus Christ are only symbols, not historical events. Furthermore, they believe that crucifix and resurrection are only symbols and they do have salvation effect. Under its doctrine, crucifix and resurrection of Jesus Christ have not removed any sin from the humanity. The Church of Almighty God treats a woman Jesus Christ as their redeemer who will complete the salvation of the humanity.

The Church of Almighty God denies the Holy Spirit. Since it denies the Holy Trinity, it denies existence, works and ability of the Holy Spirit. In the doctrine of the Church of Almighty God, the Holy Spirit is only a tool used by Holy Father and Holy Son. The Church of Almighty God denies salvation through Jesus Christ. It emphasizes the obedience to its doctrines and commandments for salvation to its followers. Eastern Lightning's main doctrine is "obedience to God's words and love for God (the Chinese woman Christ)". The Church of Almighty God denies Jesus Christ's role in the Salvation, and it insists that the Salvation could be obtained by obeying its woman Christ.

The Church of Almighty God denies traditional church's doctrines

and Holy bible, and it insists that only itself is true church all over the world.

#### (4) Church of Almighty God Expelled by Chinese Govt.

The Church of Almighty God has caused serious social problems in China, because it has committed many cases of violence and aggressiveness. In May of 2014, followers of this organization assaulted a woman who refused their propagation activities and this assault which was committed in McDonald, Shandong of China, led her to the death. Also, they committed acts of terror to the Three-self Church pastor who criticized the Church of Almighty God and they kidnapped a leader of Korean immigrants living in China. A missionary in China witnessed that the followers of the Church of Almighty God cut people's arms, legs, and ears and dug out their eyes, only because victims refused followers' propagation activities in Anhui. The Church of Almighty God not only commits violent crimes, but also officially criticizes the Chinese Communist Party as the Red Dragon, Satan. This attitude has caused serious problems in the Chinese society.

The Chinese government swept cult organizations from China prior to its biggest event, the 18th National Congress of the Communist Party of China, in autumn of 2012. Eastern Lightening was the first on the government's black list, and 400 followers of Eastern Lightning were arrested in December 2012. Since Chinese government's anti-cult policy has been maintained and strengthened, followers of the Church of Almighty God moved to foreign countries, including Korea and USA. They prefer to Korea, since Korean government guarantees people's freedom of religion.

#### (5) The Church of Almighty God in Korea

The leader Yang instructed her followers to move to Korea and the Church of Almighty God operated a refugee team for helping its followers to stay in Korea for applying refugee status. They move to Jeju island (a Korean island) which does not require tourist visa for foreigners and apply for refugee status for freedom of religion. They have not been accepted as refugees yet, but they are still moving to Jeju island. Although they have not obtained refugee status, they may stay in Korea for maximum 3 years if they bring a motion for objection and administration trial.

Followers of this cult organization who abuse the Refugee Act stay in Korea. And this organization purchased two buildings. One is located at 141 Gamasan-ro, Guro-gu, Seoul and the other is located at 1330 Ori-ro, Guro-gu, Seoul. these buildings has name of the Church of Almighty God. This organization has started their propagation activities. Also, this organization purchased a building located in 60-30, Hwadongsapyo-ro, Dunnae-myeon, Hoengseong-gun, Gangwon-do, Republic of Korea. In this building 700 followers are staying and they are working for the Church of Almighty God.

Recently, the Church of Almighty God purchased "Yeol Rim Won youth hostel" located at 136, Jungtigiltang-ro, Sanoe-myeon, Boeun-gun, Chungcheongbuk-do, and "Hwayang Youth Training Center" located at Cheongcheon-myeon, Goesan-gun, Chungcheongbuk-do, Republic of Korea.

The organization uses these places as their new bases in the Republic of Korea. In the district of Boeun, the Church of Almighty God purchased land and farm of which size is collectively about 41,322.314m<sup>2</sup>. In the district of Geosan, it purchased land of which size is about 14,214.876m<sup>2</sup> and a building of size is about 5,950.413m<sup>2</sup>.

#### (6) Propagation Activities in Korea

The Church of Almighty God is now sneaking in traditional churches in Korea. There are many reports from churches that followers of the Eastern Lightning sneaked in their churches. The approach method of Eastern Lightning is quite similar to the approach method of Shincheonji Church. According to the book named "Chinese Heresy, Eastern Lightning" (published by Mokyang publishing company and written by Jong Gu Kim), it explains the approach method and strategy of the Eastern Lightning which has been described in the business handbook of the Church of Almighty God.

Firstly, step 1 is spying. The follower who enters into a target church shall obtain the trust from the existing members of the church and he/she shall spy on the detailed information of the members of the church. It is a basic process for figuring out the internal circumstances of the target church. The Church of Almighty God gives instructions to its followers for this step. The follower shall not contact to non-Christians, Christians who insists that he/she receives messages from God, disabled persons, and a person who is not a member of the Three-self Church, but who is related to the Three-self Church church.

Step 2 is the preparatory maneuvering. In this step, followers of Eastern Lightning starts to tell their doctrines to target members. They try to make target members confused by telling them doctrines of Eastern Lightning. This step is a very important step,

since they may not entice target members, without this maneuvering step. Followers shall master not only Eastern Lightning's doctrines regarding prophecy and bible, but also psychological techniques for domination.

Eastern Lightning gives following instructions to its followers in target churches: Followers shall use soft communication skills rather than aggressive communication skills; Followers shall not rush, Followers shall not use our own terms of Eastern Lightning; Followers shall not deny the trinity and shall not mention the sex of God. For person whose identity is not clearly figured out, followers shall not give exact address to such person.

The Church of Almighty God, a.k.a Eastern Lightning came to Korea where has a freedom of religion and started to spread their doctrines. Korean Government shall prepare strategies for this cult organization, before this organization commits any serious violence crimes.

# 14. 全能神教会

全能神教会(全能神教,教主杨向彬)是中国异端邪教"东方闪电"来到韩国后使用的正式名称,全能神教的创始人是曾追随过在韩国被定为异端地方教会(李常受,呼喊派)的赵维山。

# (1) 全能神教是怎样的团体?

赵维山在1989年脱离地方教会,建立"永源教会"后从黑龙江省搬到河南省, 在河南省把名称改为"真神教会",并开始制定教义扩张其势力,现今信徒数 约有300万左右。

全能神教在中国一般使用的名称是东方闪电,他们曲解"闪电从东边发出,直照到西边。人子降临,也要这样。"(太24:27)这句经文。主张耶稣的再临如同闪电在东方闪过。全能神教主张马太福音24:27中记录的"东方"就是中国,初临的耶稣是男性为赦免人的罪来临,再临的耶稣是女性为救赎和永生再临,他们相信这女人已经再临了。

赵维山在组织中抽出七个人,把"全能"这个名称赐给杨向彬,之后这个名称转换为"全能神"这个女人成为东方闪电的女基督(教主)。杨向彬在高考落榜后曾患上精神病,之后沉浸于地方教会教义,开始主张"我记录了神的话语"。听到这个消息后赵维山称杨向彬为被圣灵使用的人,鼓励人们高举她。

除了东方闪电之外他们还以七灵派,二次救主派,真光派等名称。最近常用"全能神教会(全能神教)"和"爱神教会"等与现有教会类似的名称。

#### (2) 全能神教主张什么?

《剖析异端全能神!》一书中记载,全能神把时代分为律法时代,恩典时代和国度时代三个时代,国度是他们的国家来临的意思。关于神,他们主张律法时代所代表的是耶和华,恩典时代是耶稣,国度时代是全能者。关于降临的方法,在律法时代以灵的形式出现,恩典时代以男人的方式来临,国度时代以女人的方式来临。关于神的形象,律法时代是没有身体的灵,恩典时代以犹太人的形象来临,国度时代以中国人的形象来临,就是说他们相信女基督是以人的形象来到中国的全能神。

# (3) 全能神教的教义

全能神教否定神的三位一体,他们根本不信三位一体真神,他们主张"圣父,圣子,圣灵三位一体神根本不存在,这样的思想是人的传统观念,是人对神错误的认知",他们主张"圣父转变为圣子,圣子转变为圣灵"的样态论,这些是受中国呼喊派影响,他们在用语和礼拜形态上与呼喊派类似。

全能神教主张基督是被造物,耶稣基督的救赎事工不完全。耶稣是地球上的一个被造物,耶稣被钉十字架和复活并不是历史事实,不过是一种象征。并且十字架上的受死即便是事实,救赎事工虽然有一些功效,但无法除掉罪性,他们认为女基督是罪人真正的救赎者,是人类救赎的完成者。

全能神教否定圣灵是三位一体神的一位,因此也否定圣灵的存在与工作,并主张圣灵是圣父与圣子所使用的工具。全能神教否定透过耶稣基督的救赎,强调为得救必须要守诫命,同时主张"守诫命顺服神爱神(女基督)"。全能神教的主张就是,并不是通过信基督得救,唯独加入全能神教,相信他们的教义,通过顺从女基督的行为才能得救。

全能神教否定圣经与基督教正统教义,使现有信徒否认自己的信仰,并主张在 地上只有属于全能神教会才是真正的教会。

#### (4) 在中国被退出的全能神教

在中国,全能神教因暴露出诸多过激和暴力的行为引发关注。2014年5月在山东省一家麦当劳殴打一名拒绝听他们传教的女性致死。除此之外,还攻击批判全能神教的三自教会牧师,绑架和监禁朝鲜族教会领袖等暴力事件频频发生。一位中国宣教士证言"2001年在安徽省因有人拒绝听他们传教,砍断人的胳膊和腿,割掉耳朵和挖出眼球"。除此之外他们称中国共产党为大红龙,表现出抵抗现有体制的态度,这给中国社会带来诸多麻烦。

中国在2012年第18次中国共产党大会前夕以净化社会净化为目的对邪教进行扫荡,具有抵抗体制性质的东方闪电成为首位打击对象 ,当年12月400名全能神教信徒被捕。中国异端打击力度加强,全能神教信徒躲避到韩国和美国等国外,他们尤其向往来到韩国,他们认为韩国承认宗教自由因此他们的活动相对会自由一些。

#### (5) 渗透到韩国的全能神教

教主杨向彬亲自下达指令让信徒逃往韩国,在其组织内运营 "难民队" 通过申请难民使其信徒持续留在韩国。全能神教利用济州岛的无签证制度趁机进入韩国后,因宗教原因申请难民滞留韩国。至今还没有人被认定为难民,但他们仍然以此目的来到韩国,虽未被认定为难民但被拒后可提出异议并通过行政审判提交诉讼(期间为3年)可合法延长逗留期限。

通过难民申请延长逗留期限后,他们在首尔九老区Gamasan路141号和首尔九老区Ori路1330号购买房产,并以全能神教的名义扩张其势力。尤其购买江原道横城郡屯內面Hwadongsapgyo路60-30(旧理想国旅店),700人在内集体生活并进行传教活动。

最近全能神教购买忠清北道报恩郡山外面Jungtigiltang路136号的"开放园旅店" 和忠清北道槐山郡青川面 "华阳青少年修炼院" 建立新根据地。他们在报恩郡地区购买稻田和畜牧场总面积1万2500平(约37500m2),槐山郡土地有4300平(约12900m2),建筑1800平(5400m2),这也意味着他们已创建自给自足的条件。

#### (6) 全能神教韩国内传教活动

全能神教逐渐把他们的手伸向教会,全能神教信徒入侵教会的举报渐渐增多,问题是全能神教传教的方法与给韩国教会带来巨大损失的新天地极为相似。 《中国教会异端东方闪电》一书中仔细介绍全能神教工作手册中记录的传教战略与细则。

首先是"内部侦查"阶段,就是渗透到教会内部引发好感,获得信任后详细掌握教会的教派,教势,带领者和成员等详细状况。这是为了了解教会的内部情况。内部侦查对其对象与范围有详细规划,其中不相信耶稣的人,主张现在领受启示者,身体严重残疾者,虽然不属于三自教会但直接或间接与三自教会有关系的人是禁止接触对象。

其次就是"事先工作"阶段,建立亲密关系之后为转变对方观念而传播真理的阶段,就是说,造成了信徒的原来圣经的理解混乱,趁机主张自己的教义。若

没有事先工作就无法达成目的,由此可见事先工作的重要性,投入到事先共作的信徒要熟知对末世的预言和相关圣经经文,要 随机应变和掌握他人心里变化。

同时 不要以吵架的语气,要用交际的语气对应对方状况, 不能操之过急, 不能过多使用我们的属灵用语,不能否定三位一体,也不能说神的性别, 没有完全掌握对方状况时只能给我们不重要的地址。

全能神教来到保障宗教自由的韩国活动,在巧妙的传教手段基础上还增添暴力性,在这个团体犯下惊人的伤害事例之前政府有必要推出相应对策。

# <sup>15</sup> 성락교회

Sungrak Church 圣乐教会

# 15. 성락교회

성락교회 대표 김기동씨는 귀신론을 강조하는 특징이 있다. 귀신이 불신 자의 사후의 영이고, 모든 질병이 귀신으로부터 온다고 주장한다. 비성경 적인 주장으로 기독교한국침례회, 대한예수교장로회 고신, 대한예수교장로 회 합동, 대한예수교장로회 통합 교단에서 이단으로 결의했다.

# (1) 김기동은 누구인가?

베뢰아아카데미 원장 김기동은 1938년 6월 25일 충남 서산에서 태어나 1964년 봄에 서울로 올라올 때까지 예산에 살았다. 고등학교까지 교회에 다니지 않았고, 1957년 10월에 예산 감리교회에 처음 등록을 하였다고 한다. 1963년 7월 용문산 기도원에서 40일 금식기도 후 1964년 대한신학교를 입학했고 1972년에 졸업하였다. 베뢰아아카데미는 1972년 12명을 중심으로 김기동 목사 자신이 깨달은 성경을 가르치기 시작한 모임이 모태가 되었다.

김기동 목사는 그가 속했던 침례교단으로부터 1987년 11월 16일 이단으로 규정되었다. 자신을 지지하던 교회들을 중심으로 미국 남침례교회와는 관계가 없는 기독교 남침례회란 이름으로 새로운 교단을 만들어 활동했다. 기독교베뢰아교회연합이란 이름으로 활동하다가 성락교회 김기동씨에 대한 문제가 불거지면서 해산하고, 현재는 세계베뢰아교회연맹을 창립했다.

# (2) 성락교회 주장

김기동씨는 귀신론에 대표 격인 인물이다. 김씨의 저서의 내용은 대부분 『베뢰아 원강』에서 나왔다고 볼 수 있다. 베뢰아 성경공부 6개월 과정을 기록한 책이다. 『베뢰아 원강』은 제1부 "성경을 보는 안경"에서 17개의 주제로, 제2부 "하나님의 의도"에서 16개 주제로, 제3부 "복음중재"에서 13개의 주제로 설명하고 있다. 그중에서도 귀신론이 가장 핵심교리라고할 수 있다.

# 1) 귀신은 불신자 사후의 영

"귀신은 불신자의 사후의 영이다." (『마귀론 중』77~78)

"귀신은 조상의 혼 사람의 죽은 영혼입니다."(『베뢰아 원강』 290) 사람이 죽으면 죽은 후에 사후의 영이 귀신이 된다고 주장한다. 죽은 사람의 혼이 떠돌아다니는 것이 귀신이라는 것이다. 이들은 국어사전에 "귀신은 죽은 사람의 영혼을 말한다"고 되어있다고 주장한다. 마귀론에서 "귀신은 불신자의 사후의 존재입니다. 귀신을 육체가 없는 인간으로 보는 것이 정확히보는 것입니다." (『마귀론』78)

귀신은 죽은 사람의 사후의 영인가? 귀신론자들에게 "사람이 죽어서 귀신된다는 것을 어떻게 아느냐?"고 물으면 "성경에서 말하는 것이 아니고 귀신 들린 사람에게 언제 죽었냐고 물어보니까 언제 죽었다고 말하더라"라고 한다. 그 사람들이 말하는 것을 들어보고 알았다는 것은 "경험에 의한 것"이라는 의미이다. 『베뢰아 원강』은 "수많은 귀신을 쫓아내고 귀신과 대화를 하고 경험에 의해서 나온 것이므로 정확한 것"이라고 한다. 이들의주장은 성경보다 귀신과의 대화를 한 경험을 통해 귀신론을 만들었다는의미가 된다.

# 2) 마귀는 타락한 천사이며 귀신과 구별된다

"귀신은 불신자의 사후의 영으로 마귀가 아니다. 마귀와 귀신은 전혀 다르다... 귀신이 타락한 천사라면 애당초 귀신을 타락한 천사 라고 쓰지 무엇 때문에 귀신이라고 씁니까?" (『베뢰아 원 강』 290)

"세상의 신과도 다릅니다. 세상의 신은 마귀와 함께 하늘에서 쫓겨 내려온 마귀와 사자들을 말하지만 귀신이란 죽은 사람의 영혼을 말합니다." (『마귀론』78).

마귀는 타락한 천사, 귀신은 죽은 사람의 영혼이라는 주장이다. 마귀와 귀신은 구별되는가? 귀신론자들은 마귀와 사단은 같은 존재이지만 귀신은 다른 존재라고 주장한다(계12:9; 마4:8~10).

"마귀라고도 하고 사단이라고도 한다(계12:9)" 즉 마귀와 사단은 같은 존

재임을 보여준다. 마태복음 4장 8~10절도 마귀와 사단을 동일한 존재라고 한다. 귀신과 마귀는 다른 존재일까? 귀신과 마귀는 같은 존재라고 소개하고 있다(눅13:11,16; 마12:22~26; 눅11:18).

귀신론자들은 귀신과 마귀는 다른 존재로 귀신은 사람의 죽은 영이고, 마귀는 타락한 천사로 본다. 그러나 마귀와 귀신은 같은 존재라고 성경은 증거하고 있다. "열여덟 해 동안이나 귀신 들려 앓으며 꼬부라져 조금도 펴지 못하는 한 여자가 있더라(눅13:11)"

귀신이 들렸다고 말하면서 "그러면 열여덟 해 동안 사탄에게 매인바 된이 아브라함의 딸을 안식일에 이 매임에서 푸는 것이 합당하지 아니하냐 (눅13:16)", 누가복음 13장 11절은 귀신, 16절은 사탄으로 귀신과 사단은 같은 존재라고 증거한다. 사람이 죽어 귀신이 되는 것이 아닌 사단의 수하에 있는 존재가 귀신이며 같은 존재로 소개하고 있는 것이다. "너희 말이 내가 바알세불을 힘입어 귀신을 쫓아낸다 하니 만일 사탄이 스스로 분쟁하면 그의 나라가 어떻게 서겠느냐(눅11:18)"

예수님이 귀신을 쫓아낼 때 바리새인들이 사탄에 힘입어 쫓아낸다고 하자 예수님께서는 사탄이 사탄을 쫓아내면 그 나라가 어떻게 서겠느냐고 말씀 하셨다. "내가 바알세불[사단]을 힘입어 귀신을 쫓아내면 너희 아들들은 누구를 힘입어 쫓아 내느냐 그러므로 그들이 너희 재판관이 되리라(눅 11:19)", "그러나 내가 만일 하나님의 손을 힘입어 귀신을 쫓아낸다면 하나님의 나라가 이미 너희에게 임하였느니라(눅11:20)" 이 본문을 통해서도 사단, 마귀, 귀신은 다 같은 존재로 소개하고 계신다. 김기동 목사의 주장은 성경과는 전혀 상관이 없는 주장일 뿐이다. 불신자의 사후의 영이 귀신이 된다는 말은 성경에 없다는 말이다.

# 3) 인간의 수명은 120년이다

"인간의 수명이 120년인데 그 기간을 살지 못하면 그 사람의 남은 기간은 귀신이 된다"는 주장이다. 자기 수명을 못 산 사람은 지옥에도 못 가고 120년을 채울 동안 귀신으로 돌아다니다가 120년이 차면 지옥에 간다고 주장한다. "여호와께서 이르시되나의 영이 영원히 사람과 함께 하지 아니하리니 이는 그들이 육

신이 됨이라 그러나 그들의 날은 백이십 년이 되리라 하시니라 (창6:3)"에서 인간의 수명이 120년이라는 것은 성경에 나와 있다고 주장한다. "노아 때부터 인간의 수명은 120년으로 제한되어 있습니다"(『베뢰아 원강』285).

그러므로 어떤 사람이 80살에 죽으면 40년 떠돌아다니는 것이다. 창세기 6장 3절에 대한 김기동 목사의 해석대로 인간수명이 120년으로 제한된 삶을 산다는 말씀일까? 이는 현대인성경을 보면 쉽게 이해할 수 있다. "그러자 여호와께서 이렇게 말씀하셨다. 사람은 죽어야 할 육체이므로 내 영이 영영 사람에게 머물러 있지 않을 것이다. 그러나 앞으로 내가 그들에게 120년 동안의 여유를 주겠다"(창6:3, 현대인의 성경) 즉 120년은 홍수가 날 때까지 인간의 수명에 대하여 유예기간을 주겠다고 번역되어 있다.

그러므로 그때부터 120년 후에 노아 홍수를 통해 모든 인간을 멸할 것이 기 때문에 그 당시 홍수 전에 살았던 사람들에게 120년의 유예 기간을 주시겠다는 말씀이다. 이런 황당한 성경해석을 통해 많은 신도를 두려움에 떨게 하고 바르게 성경을 보지 못하게 하며 진리를 왜곡시키는 것은 하나님의 말씀을 무시하고 베뢰아 신자들에게 범죄하는 행위와 같은 것이다.

# 4) 귀신이 질병, 사고, 잘못된 성품의 원인이 된다

모든 병은 귀신으로부터 온 것"이기 때문에 병들면 그 사람은 귀신들린 사람이다. 감기만 걸려도 귀신들린 사람이 된다. 그래서 귀신론자들은 어디가 조금만 아파도 "어느 귀신인가"라고 묻는다. 무좀이 걸리면 무좀도 귀신 때문이라고 한다. 죽은 조상이신경 계통을 타고 와서 괴롭힌다는 것이다. "모든 질병은 귀신병"이며, "귀신은 병의 원인도 되고 사고의 원인도 되고 성품의원인도 되고 갑자기 변한 탈선의 원인도 됩니다. 불신앙의 심성은 귀신이 들어와 역사할 수 있는 모든 원인을 제공합니다. (『마귀론』80).

그래서 귀신론자들은 조금만 아프다고 하면 "언제 죽은 귀신이냐?"라고 묻는다. 이런 모습을 교인들이 보고 놀라서 목소리도 자신의 목소리가 아 니 타성의 목소리로 "언제 죽은 귀신이다"라고 한다는 것이다. 본인의 목소리 아닌 다른 목소리가 조상귀신의 목소리라는 것이다.

병이 들거나 악한 성품이 나오는 것이 조상귀신이 들어간 것이라면 병든 사람을 병원에서 수술이나 약을 통해 병들을 고치고 있는데 의사의 수술 이나 약으로 귀신을 쫓아냈다는 말인가?

사후의 영 귀신은 성경적 근거가 전혀 없다. 조상귀신이 가족을 해롭게 한다는 말 역시 성경 그 어디에도 없다. 예수님과 사도들은 이런 것이 믿 어질 만한 어떤 말씀을 하신 적이 없다. 초대교회 역사에도, 종교개혁시대 에도 없는 주장이다. 이것은 김기동씨가 자의적인 성경해석을 통해 개발 한 교리일 뿐이다. 이는 한국 사람들의 무속 신앙을 가지고 김기동씨가 귀신들의 말을 듣고 만든 교리에 불과하다.

한편, 김씨는 2019년 7월 109억 원대 배임 · 횡령한 혐의로 실형을 선고받았다. 서울남부지법 형사합의13부(남부지법)는 김씨가 교회에 매도한 40억 원 상당의 건물을 아들에게 증여한 것과 69억 원 상당의 목회활동비를 사적으로 유용한 혐의가 인정되어 징역 3년 형을 선고했다. 재판부는 김씨가 "고령으로 건강 상태가 양호하지 않고, 벌금형 외에 형사 처벌을받은 전력이 없다"는 이유로 법정 구속은 하지 않았다. 현재 내분으로 인해 성략교회 측과 성략교회 개혁 측으로 나뉘어 분쟁이 지속되고 있다.

# 15. Sungrak Church

Mr. Ki Dong Kim, a leader of Sungrak Church, focuses on the demonology (theory of ghosts). In his theory, ghosts are spirits of non-believers and all diseases and sickness are caused by these ghosts. He has been decided as a heresy by traditional churches in Korea, such as the Korean Baptist Convention, the Koshin Presbyterian Church in Korea (Koshin), the General Assembly of Presbyterian Church of Korea(Hapdong), and the Presbyterian Church of Korea(Tonghap).

# (1) Who is Ki Dong Kim?

Mr. Ki Dong Kim, the president of Berea Academy was born in Seosan, Chungnam, on June 25th, 1938. He had lived in Yesan before he moved to Seoul in spring of 1964. He was not originally a Christian, but he started to attend at a church in October, 1957. The church at where he attended was Yesan Baptist Church. He fasted and prayed for forty days in Yong Moon Mountain in July, 1963. He entered into Daehan Theological Seminary in 1964 and graduated this Seminary in 1972. The Berea Academy was originated from a small group which consisted of twelve people. This group taught Mr. Kim's understanding regarding the Holy Bible and so does the Berea Academy.

Mr. Kim was decided as a heresy and expelled from the Korean Baptist Convention on November 16th, 1987. He organized a denomination named Korean southern baptist convention with churches which support his theories. This denomination has no link with the Southern Baptist Convention in USA. He also established an organization named "Christan Berea Church Union", but this

organization was dismissed because of his heresy controversies. Instead, Sungrak Church established the World Berea Church Fellowship.

# (2) Insistence of Sungrak Church

Ki Dong Kim is an originator of the ghost theory. Most of his books are based on the Original Teachings of Berea Academy which is a course book used for the Berea's bible study course (of which lasts for six (6) months). The "Glasses for the Bible", the first chapter of this book has seventeen subjects, the "God's will", the second chapter of this book consists of sixteen subjects, and "Arbitration of Gospel", the third chapter has thirteen subjects, respectively. The theory of ghosts is the main doctrine of Mr. Kim's church.

# 1) A ghost is a spirit of a dead unbeliever

A ghost is a spirit of a dead unbeliever (77~78, \( \text{What the} \) Devil is, written by Ki Dong Kim\( \text{J} \))

A ghost is a spirit of a deceased person and an ancestor" (290, "Original Teachings of Berea Academy.") Mr. Kim insists that a deceased person's spirit wandering around becomes a ghost. Also, Mr. Kim's church claims that, in the Korean dictionary, a ghost is defined as spirit of a dead person. Under Mr. Kim's theory, a ghost is an existence after the death of unbeliever. Under his theory, a ghost is a person without flesh. (78, "What the Devil is.")

So how do we know that the ghost is spirit of a dead unbeliever? If you ask this question to Mr. Kim and his followers, they will answer as follows: "it is not written in the Holy Bible, but we asked to people possessed by ghosts about the exact time when they died. They answered the exact time of their death." In other words, they learned this from their experiences. In the "Original Teaching of Berea Academy,", this theory is very accurate, since this is built upon many experiences of exorcism and conversation with ghosts. Mr. Kim's theory of ghosts and demonology are from conversation with ghosts, rather than the Holy Bible.

# 2) Demon is a fallen angel and he is not a ghost

A ghost is a spirit of dead unbeliever, not the Devil. A ghost is totally different from the Devil. If a ghost was a fallen angel, why could we just use the word 'fallen angel' instead of ghost? (290, "Original Teaching of Berea Academy.")

A ghost is different from the gods of this world. The gods of this world are referred to the Devil and its messengers who were expelled from the heaven, but a ghost means a spirit of a dead person. (78, "What the Devil is\_1)

Under Mr. Kim's theory, the Devil is fallen angel and a ghost is a spirit of a dead person. Is it true that a ghost is different from the Devil (Demon)? Mr. Kim and his followers insist that the Devil and Satan are same, but the ghost is different from them. (Revelation 12:9, Matthew 4:8~10)

"that ancient serpent called the Devil or Satan, who leads the whole world astray (Revelation 12:9). This quote from the Holy Bible shows that the Satan and Devil are same. Also, in accordance with

Matthew 4:8~10, the Devil and Satan are same existence. But can we conclude that the ghost and the Devil are different from each other? In the Holy Bible, the ghost and the Devil are same existence. (Luke 13:11, 16, Matthew 12:22~26, Luke 11:18)

Mr. Kim and his followers believe that the ghost, a spirit of a dead person, and the Devil, a fallen angel, are different from each other. However, as we may find exact verses in the Bible, the Devil and the ghost are same existenece. Please refer to following verses. "A woman was there who had been crippled by a spirit for eighteen years. she was bent over and could not straighten up at all (Luke 13:11)"

In this part of the Bible, she was possessed by a ghost. But she was also possessed by the Satan. In accordance with Luke 13:16, quotes "then should not this woman, a daughter of Abraham, whom Satan has kept bound for eighteen long years, be set free on the Sabbath day from what bound her?" These verses of Luke Chapter 13 show that the ghost is same existence with the Satan. In other words, the ghost is not a spirit of a dead person, but an existence under Satan's order, in accordance with Luke Chapter 13 of the Holy Bible. Also, we can find same conclusion in Luke 11:18. "If Satan is divided against himself, how can his kingdom stand? I say this because you claim that I drive out demons by Beelzebub"

This quote from Luke 11:18 is Jesus Christ's rebuttal against Pharisses's insistence that Jesus Christ drove out a ghost with the Satan's power. "Now if I drive out demons by Beelzebub, by whom do your followers drive them out? So then, they will be your judges" (Luke 11:19) "But if I drive out demons by the finger of God, then the kingdom of God has come to you (Luke 11:20)"

According to these verses from LukeChapter 11, the Satan, the Devil (Demon), and the ghost are same existence. Mr. Kim's theory of ghost is totally different from what the Holy Bible says. Also there is no verse that the ghost is a dead person's spirit, from the Holy Bible.

# 3) A person lives for 120 years

Mr. Kim insists that average man's lifespan is 120 years and a person who does not live for this lifespan will be a ghost for the remaining period of the lifespan. When the ghost wanders around and the remaining period expires, then this ghost goes to the hell. He insists that the man's lifespan is 120 years based on the verse of Genesis, quote "The Lord said My Spirit will not contend with man forever, for he is mortal his days will be a hundred and twenty years (Genesis 6:3)" It is also mentioned in the Original Teachings of Berea Academy. In the Original Teachings of Berea Academy, Mr. Kim wrote as follows: "Man's lifespan is 120 years since the Era of Noah" (285, "Original Teachings of Berea Academy.").

So, in case where a man dies at his age 80, then his spirit will wander around for 40 years as a ghost. Does the verse of Genesis 6:3 truly has the same meaning with Mr. Kim's insistence? The answer is no, and we can find the answer from the Bible. In Genesis 6:3, quote "Jehovah said my Spirit must not forever be disgraced in man, wholly evil as he is. I will give him 120 years to mend his ways" In other words, the 120 year period means a grace period which was provided to the human race by God before the Flood.

In Genesis 6:3, God (Jehovah) made his mind to destruct the whole human race by the Flood after 120 years from that moment. As you can see, Mr. Kim's insistence is totally different from the real meaning of this verse from the Holy Bible. His ridiculous insistence and wrongful interpretation of the Bible causes serious confusion and fear to his followers and members of Berea Academy. His insistence and interpretation are no less than a crime.

# 4) Ghost is a cause of disease, accident and wrongful personality

Under Mr. Kim's theory, a sick person is a person possessed by a ghost, since all diseases are from the ghost. If a person catches a cold, then he will be possessed by a ghost, under the theory of ghosts. In case where Mr. Kim's followers meet a sick or ill person, they always ask a question "what kind of ghost you are?" They believe that the athelet's foot is also caused by a ghost of athlete's foot. Also, they believe that an illness is caused by a dead ancestor's harassment. "All diseases are caused by the ghost and the ghost is a cause of disease, accident, temper, and deviation. If you do not believe in God, such mind will make you be possessed by a ghost and it will cause all kinds of troubles to you." (80, "What the Devil i s.")

When Mr. Kim's followers meet a sick or ill person, they ask a question "When did you die?" They insist that the sick person answers "the exact time of death", in an other person's voice. Followers believe that this voice is a voice of dead ancestor.

As they insist, if an illness or a bad personality came from an

ancestor's ghost, then how could they explain about the person who is treated and cured by surgery, medicine, or psychological counseling? Under Mr. Kim's theory, are doctors exorcists?

Mr. Kim's insistence that the ghost is a dead person's spirit has no proper grounds. Also, there is no verse from the Bible that an ancestor ghost hurts his descendants and family. Neither Jesus Christ nor disciples mentioned any of his insistence.

Furthermore, his insistence has never been claimed or mentioned in the early church era and the Reformation age. It is Mr. Kim's self indulgent and wrongful interpretation of the Bible, based on Korean shamanism.

Mr. Ki Dong Kim was sentenced to three years imprisonment for the crimes of embezzlement and misappropriation of 10.9 billion Korean Won ("won"), in July 2019. In Seoul Southern District Court (Criminal Part 13), Mr. Kim was sentenced to three years in prison, since he sold a building of which value is about 4 billion won to his church for illegal inheritance to his son and he privately used and appropriated 6.9 billion won which shall be used for his church. The court did not put him under court custody, because of his old age, bad health condition and the fact that he has no criminal record, except criminal penalty. In present, Sungrak church is divided into two parts; existing Sungrak church and reformist Sungrak church. These two parts are in serious conflict.

# 15. 圣乐教会

圣乐教会代表金基东强调魔鬼论,鬼是不信者死后的灵,所有疾病都来自于鬼,因不符合圣经的主张被基督教韩国浸礼会,大韩耶稣教长老会高神,大韩耶稣教长老会合同,大韩耶稣教长老会统合教派定为异端。

# (1) 金基东是谁?

庇哩亚学院院长金基东1938年6月25日出生于忠清南道瑞山,直到1964年春来到首尔之前一直生活在瑞山,上高中之前没有出席教会。1957年10月第一次在礼山监理教会登记,1963年7月在龙门山祷告院进行40日禁食祷告后,1964年考入大韩神学院,1972年毕业。1972年以12人为中心金基东牧师开始分享自己所领悟的圣经,这成为庇哩亚学院的母胎。

金基东牧师在1987年11月16日被自己所属的浸礼会定为异端,之后以支持自己的教会为中心建立与美国南浸礼会毫无相关的新教派基督教南浸礼会。以基督教庇哩亚教会联合会的名称活动一段时间。圣乐教会因金基东的诸多问题出现之后解散,现今创立世界庇哩亚教会联盟。

#### (2) 圣乐教会的主张

金基东是魔鬼论方面代表人物,他的著作中大多数内容出自《庇哩亚原讲》,这是记录庇哩亚6周圣经课程的书籍。《庇哩亚原讲》第一部"看圣经的眼镜"分17个主题,第二部"神的意图"分16个主题,第三部"福音仲裁"分13个主题,其中最核心主题就是魔鬼论。

# 1) 鬼是不信者死后的灵

鬼是不信者死后的灵。(《魔鬼论 中》77-78页)

"鬼是祖先的魂,是人死后的灵魂。"(《庇哩亚原讲》290页) 金基东主张人死后的灵成为鬼,死人的魂漂浮在世界上成为魂,他们主张韩国语词典中对鬼的定义就是"鬼是死人的灵魂"。魔鬼论记录"鬼是不信者死后的存在,对鬼正确的观点是,鬼是没有肉体的人。(《魔鬼论》78页)

鬼是否是人死后的灵呢?若是问魔鬼论者"你们怎么知道人死后成为鬼?"他们会回答"并不是圣经告诉我们,当我们问被鬼附的人你是什么时候去世,鬼会告诉我们自己的死亡日期",通过被鬼附的人得知意味着他们是"根据经验。"《庇哩亚原讲》说明"赶出许多的鬼,通过与鬼对话的经验得出结论",这意味着庇哩亚原讲比起圣经更加高举通过与鬼对话的经验。

# 2) 魔鬼是堕落天使有别于鬼

鬼是不信者死后的灵并不是魔鬼,鬼和魔鬼完全不同... 若鬼是堕落的天使那么为何没有称为堕落的天使反称为鬼呢?(《庇哩亚原讲》 290页)

鬼不同于世上的神,世上的神是与魔鬼一同从天上驱逐的魔鬼与其使者,但鬼是死者的灵魂。(《魔鬼论》78页)

他们主张魔鬼是堕落的天使,鬼是死者的灵魂,那么魔鬼和鬼是否相区别?魔鬼论者主张魔鬼和撒旦是同一存在,鬼是另外的存在。(启示录12:9,马太福音 $4:8^{\sim}10$ )

"名叫魔鬼,又叫撒但…"(启示录12:9),这意味着魔鬼和撒旦是同样的存在。马太福音4:8-10也记载魔鬼与撒旦是同样的存在。那么鬼和魔鬼是否是不同的存在呢?圣经告诉我们鬼和魔鬼是同样的存在。(路13:11,16,太12:22-26,路11:18)

魔鬼论者主张鬼和魔鬼是不同的存在,鬼是死者的灵魂,魔鬼是堕落的天使。但是圣经证言,鬼和魔鬼是同样的存在"有一个女人被鬼附着,病了十八年,腰蛮得一点直不起来。(路13:11)"

耶稣说这个女人被鬼附"况且这女人本是亚伯拉罕的后裔,被撒但捆绑了这十八年,不当在安息日解开她的绑吗?(路13:16)。"路加福音13:11称呼为鬼,16节称呼为撒旦因此鬼和撒旦是同样的存在。并不是人死后成为鬼,鬼是撒旦的手下,耶稣说"若撒但自相分争,他的国怎能站得住呢。因为你们说我是靠着别西卜赶鬼。"(路11:18)

耶稣赶鬼的时候法利赛人说耶稣靠着撒旦的能力赶鬼,耶稣反问难道撒旦驱赶撒旦吗?"我若靠着别西卜赶鬼,你们的子弟赶鬼,又靠着谁呢。这样,他们就要断定你们的是非。(路11:19)"又说:"我若靠着神的能力赶鬼,这就是神的国临到你们了。(路11:20)" 通过这些经文可以发现撒旦,魔鬼与鬼都是同样的存在,金基东牧师的主张与圣经没有任何关系,不信者死后的灵是鬼的说法圣经没有记载。

# 3) 人的寿命为120年

金基东主张"人的寿命有120年,但没有活到这些日子那么剩余的期间将会成为鬼,"没有活到规定时间的人无法落入地狱,直到120年飘荡为鬼日期满足后落入地狱。耶和华说:"人既属乎血气,我的灵就不永远住在他里面,然而他的日子还可到一百二十年。(创6:3)" 根据这段经文金基东主张人的寿命是120年,"从挪亚的时候开始人的寿命限制在120年。"(《庇哩亚原讲》285页)

所以他们的主张就是80岁死的人成为鬼游荡40年。那么是否按着金基东牧师对创世记6:3的解释人的寿命局限在120年呢?这个方面我们若查考现代语译本就很容易理解,"之后耶和华说,人是当死的肉体,我的灵不会永远留在人的身上,但将来我会给他们120年期限"(创6:3,现代语译本),就是说120年是直到洪水爆发那年的期限。

因为从那时起120年后神要通过洪水毁灭所有人类,这段经文告诉洪水之前活着的人类将给他们120年的期限。金基东用荒唐的解释使诸多信徒惧怕和恐慌,使他们无法正确看待圣经歪曲真理,这是藐视神的话语,是向庇哩亚信徒犯罪的行为。

#### 4) 鬼是提供疾病,事故,不好品性的原因

因为"所有的疾病来自鬼",因此患病等于被鬼附,魔鬼论者无论有任何疼痛都会问 "这是什么鬼?" 若是患上脚气他们就会认为脚气鬼上了身,并且还认为死了的祖先通过神经系统来搅扰自己。 "所有疾病是鬼病" 并且 "鬼是疾病的原因,事故,坏品性和突然出轨的原因,不信仰的心是鬼进入人体作恶的根本原因"。(《魔鬼论》80页)

因此魔鬼论者只要稍稍感到疼痛的患者,就会问 "你是什么时候死的鬼?" 遇到这样的情况患者会装出别人的声音回答 "我是某年某月死去的鬼",他 们认为患者所说异样的声音就是祖先鬼的声音。

比如患病或表现出恶的品性是受祖先鬼的影响,那么在医院通过手术和服用药物的方式医治的患者应该如何解释,难道说医生通过药物和手术赶出鬼了吗?

在圣经中无法发现人死后的灵成为鬼的经文,祖先鬼害自己子孙的主张也无法 在圣经中找到根据,耶稣与他的使徒也没有说任何相关的话语。这些主张是在 初期教会和宗教改革时期都无法寻索的观点,这只是金基东通过恣意的圣经解 释开发的教义,不过是他透过韩国巫俗信仰听到鬼所说的话自我创建的教义。

2019年7月金基东因挪用·贪污109亿韩元(约6540万人民币)被判刑,首尔南部法院刑事和解13部(南部支法)判金基东把相当于40亿韩元的地产赠给其儿子,把69亿韩元挪用为牧会活动费的事件为有罪,获有期徒刑3年。法庭考虑到金基东年纪老迈建康状态不佳并且之前除罚款之外无任何犯罪记录为理由没有进行逮捕,现今圣乐教会分裂为原圣乐教会派和圣乐教会改革派,其纷争扔在持续。

# <sup>16</sup> 은혜로교회

Grace Road Church 恩典之路教会

# 16. 은혜로교회

환난 날에 유일하게 살아남을 수 있는 마지막 도피처는 피지라며 신도들을 미혹했던 은혜로교회 신옥주씨. 무차별적인 폭언과 폭행으로 신도들의 삶을 유린하고 노동력을 착취하며 사회적인 물의를 빚었던 은혜로교회는 합신, 고신, 통합, 합동 측으로부터 각각 이단, 참여금지, 이단성, 집회 참석 금지로 결의되었다. '종말'이라는 무리수를 던지며 허황된 꿈을 심어준은혜로교회의 문제점은 무엇일까?

#### (1) 신옥주는 누구인가?

신옥주씨는 중앙총회신학을 졸업하고, 대한예수교장로회 해외합동총회 서북노회 소속 목사로 활동했다. 신씨는 중국에서 선교사로 활동하다가 2008년 은혜로교회를 개척했다. 2009년 8월에는 바울사관아카데미(원장신옥주)를 개원했다. 제98회 예장합신 이대위는 신옥주의 이단성에 대한보고서를 통해 은혜로교회가 경기도 과천시 주암동 159번지 9(전 경기도용인시 기흥구 중동)를 본원으로 활동하면서 대구분원(대구광역시 달서구이곡동 영광제일교회), 동경분원(마쯔도 사랑의교회) 등을 개원했고, 국내천안, 대전, 진주, 울산, 대구, 제주 등을 비롯해 일본 오사카, 호주 시드니, 미국 뉴욕과 중국에 지교회를 세웠다고 발표한 바 있다.

# (2) 은혜로교회는 무엇을 주장하는가?

# 1) 성경은 방언으로서 통역해야 한다고 주장

신옥주씨는 성경을 방언이라고 주장한다. 또한, 방언인 성경을 해석하는 것이 '방언통역'이며 그것이 곧 '예언'이라고 하여 자신의 성경 해석을 예 언처럼 만들었다.

성경은 하나님이 하신 일이며, 방언(말)으로 되어 있다. 방언은 다른 사람이 못 알아듣는다. 성경적인 방언은 통역이 필요하다. 그 통역은 아무나 할 수 없으며, 내가 할 수 있다. (2013년 4월 28일 설교)

성경은 방언이 아니며, 통역이 필요 없다. 이런 주장은 성경을 기록된 내용과 달리 비유와 상징으로 해석해야 한다는 다른 이단과 동일한 주장을 하므로 자신과 자신에게 속한 자들만이 성경을 해석하고 비밀을 풀어줄능력을 갖춘 집단처럼 말하고 있다.

#### 2) 성경은 비유라고 주장

2011년 8월 22~24일에 진행된 11차 공개세미나를 통해 신옥주씨는 한 단어에 대해 그 단어가 나오는 성경의 여러 구절을 읽으며 비유풀이했다.

비유는 유사한 말이며, 이를 다른 말로 표현하면 속담 또는 격 언이요 모습을 말하는 것을 뜻한다. 그래서 성경이 상징과 비유 로 기록되었다고 하는 것은 반드시 통역해서 전해야 알아들을 수 있다는 말과 같다. 다시 말하면 많은 비유로 말씀하셨다는 것은 유사하게 말씀하셨다는 뜻이므로 이를 정확하게 통역하라 는 뜻이다. (『방언통역과 방언』147)

허호익 교수(전 본지 편집자문위원)는 "전혀 문맥이 다른 글들을 여기저기서 끌어다가 제멋대로 해석하는 것은 이단들의 비유풀이와 같은 방법이다"라며 "성경은 전후 문맥에 맞춰 간단명료하게 해석해야 한다"고 말했다. 또한 "(신옥주씨는) 성서관, 성경해석, 기성교회의 부정에 문제점을 보인다"고 덧붙였다.

#### 3) 시대마다 들어 쓰는 지도자가 있다고 주장

신천지는 시대마다 들어 쓰는 지도자(구원자)가 있다. 각 시대마다 때를 따라 양식을 먹이는 종들이 있다고 주장한다. 신옥주씨도 마찬가지로 이 시대에 자신이 하나님이 들어 쓰시는 의식 있는 지도자라고 주장한다.

> 요한복음 15장 26절에서 내가 아버지께로부터 너희에게 보낼 보혜사 곧 아버지께로부터 나오시는 진리의 성령이 오실 때에 그가 나를 증언하실 것이라는 이 말씀이 바로 우리의 지난 10년 을 증명해 주는 말씀이다. 이 예언의 말씀대로 온 사람이 바로 나다! (2018년 11월 11일 설교)

신천지, 하나님의교회, 만민중앙교회, 기독교복음선교회 등과 같은 방법으로 신옥주씨도 자신을 신격화했다. 하나님을 내세워 자신을 우상화하려는 이단 교주의 세뇌방식을 신씨도 사용하고 있었다.

### 4) 예수는 육체, 그리스도는 영이라고 주장

신씨는 예수와 그리스도를 나누어 기독론을 왜곡했다. 예수는 인성이고 그리스도는 신성이라고 분리해 예수를 피조물이라고 주장하며 성부만이 하나님이라고 주장했다.

> 예수는 육체(사람), 그리스도는 영(하나님)이라 주장하며 성경의 문자적인 기록은 예수의 일이고 그 뜻을 풀면 그리스도라고 말했다. (『내 생각은 너희 생각과 다르고』, 53)

신씨는 그리스도를 신성, 영, 하나님으로 보는데, 그리스도가 육체로 온 것이 예수라는 주장은 잘못된 기독론이며, 예수라는 육체 안으로 영이신 그리스도가 들어왔다고 주장하는 것도 잘못된 기독론이다.

## 5) 대기근을 대비하기 위한 곳은 피지라고 주장

신옥주씨는 "장차 올 세상에 임할 기근"을 대비해 식량을 비축하고 종말을 피할 수 있는 땅은 '피지'라고 주장했다. 환란을 피하려면 피난처인 피지로 가야 한다며 피지로 신도들을 이주시켜 집단생활을 하도록 하고 있다. 하나님의 천년왕국을 건설한다는 명목이다. 400여 명의 신도는 피지가 구원의 땅이라 믿고 이주하여 살고 있다. 신씨는 창세기 10장 6절을통해 후손(함, 구스)이 사는 땅 곧 남쪽에 있는 섬나라(피지)를 약속의 땅으로 여겼다.

하나님이 주신 약속의 땅은 피지이며, 피지를 비웃거나 비방하지 말라. 그 약속의 땅은 직접 눈으로 봐야 한다. 피지로 이주하라. 환란을 피하려면 남태평양 피지로 가야 한다. (2017년 11월 27일 설교)

현재 신씨의 말을 믿고 피지로 이주한 은혜로교회 신도들은 집단생활을 하며 무임금으로 농사를 짓고 있다.

## 6) 타작마당은 종교의식이라고 주장

피지로 이주한 신도들은 자신의 재산을 교회에 위임한다는 각서를 쓰고 재산과 여권을 빼앗긴 채 감금된 생활을 하면서 열네 시간 넘게 일했다. 그뿐만 아니라 '타작마당'[편집자 주: 타작마당은 은혜로교회에서 뺨이나머리 등을 수차례 폭행하고 폭언을 일삼은 행위를 말한다. 교인들의 심판과 종교적인 정화 의식으로 비유하여 행해진다]이라는 종교의식을 통해자신의 죄를 고백하는 시간을 가졌다.

여호와여 일어나소서 나의 하나님이여 나를 구원하소서 주께서 나의 원수의 뺨을 치시며 악인의 이를 꺾으셨나이다 (시편 3편 7절)

70. 내 죄가 머리털과 같이 많아 말씀에 순종하여 회개하는 마음으로 스스로 머리털을 깎는 것은 성경적이다. [은혜로교회의 온전한 개혁 100]

71. 사도바울이 겐그리아에서 머리를 깎은 것은 자신의 모든 삶과 생각을 배설물로 여기고 무효화시키는 회개의 행위였다. [은 혜로교회의 온전한 개혁 100]

72. 자신의 죄를 회개하는 마음으로 머리털을 깎아 대머리 같게 하는 것은 하나님이 기뻐하시는 자녀로서 자신을 드리는 것이 다. [은혜로교회의 온전한 개혁 100]

신씨는 마태복음 3장 12절과 누가복음 3장 17절 말씀을 비유로 풀이하며 선악을 가라지와 알곡, 쭉정이와 곡식으로 믿는 자와 믿지 않는 자로 말했으며 이를 갈라내는 것을 '타작마당'이라고 했다. 이 집단폭행을 이겨내는 자는 알곡이며, 믿는 자로 인정받는다. 죄를 고백하는 당사자를 둘러싼 채 그의 이야기가 끝나기가 무섭게 폭언과 함께 폭행을 가한다. 엄마가딸을, 딸이 엄마의 뺨을 때리고 폭언을 일삼는 행위를 갖는가 하면, 집단폭력을 행사하기도 했다. 은혜로교회의 비윤리적인 행위는 2018년 8월에 SBS <그것이 알고 싶다>와 JTBC <이규연의 스포트라이트>를 통해 보도된 바 있다.

#### (3) 은혜로교회 최근 동향

신도를 감금하고 폭행한 혐의로 기소된 은혜로교회 신옥주는 2020년 2월 27일 징역 7년을 선고받아 복역 중이다.

은혜로교회 신도들은 2020년 3월 2일 유튜브를 통해 신옥주의 석방을 요구하는 입장문을 발표하며 신씨가 억울하게 복역 중임을 알렸다. 4월 24일에는 교회 측 페이스북 계정을 통해 "코로나19 전염병은 왜 발생하는 가"라는 제하의 글과 함께 "진리의 성령을 이단이니 사이비니 비방하고 핍박하여 옥에 가두었기 때문"이라며 "성령 신옥주 목사님과 성도들에게 행한 불법한 재판, 부당한 판결을 즉각 철회하라"며 코로나19가 발생한이유와 신씨의 죄를 결부시켰다. 또한 4월 29일 청와대 국민청원을 통해신옥주의 7년 판결에 대한 재심을 청원하는 글을 올리기도 했다.

남태평양 피지섬이 종말에 대비한 피난처라며 신도들을 이주시키고, 타작마당이란 명목으로 폭행과 폭언을 서슴지 않았던 은혜로교회 신옥주씨. 사회적인 문제를 양산하고 있는 은혜로교회의 논란은 현재진행형이다. 피지로 이주해 종말을 기다리는 신도들과 그들의 가족들을 위한 대책 마련이 시급하다.

#### 16. Grace Road Church

Ms Ok Joo Shin made her followers to move to Fiji Island, South Pacific, based on her insistence that Fiji Island is the last place for taking refugee from the days of troubles and the Armageddon. The Grace Road Church led by this woman committed several violence and assault cases against its followers and it is taking advantages of follower's free labor. Based on these cases, traditional churches in Korea, such as the Korean Presbyterian Church (Hapshin), the Koshin Presbyterian Church in Korea (Koshin), the Presbyterian Church of Korea (Tonghap), and the General Assembly of Presbyterian Church of Korea (Hapdong) determined this Grace Road Church as a heresy, a non-participatable organization, a heretical organization, and an organization which shall be banned to be participated by Christians, respectively. What are the Grace Road Church's main insistence treated as unreasonable by traditional churches? What are real problems caused by this organization?

#### (1) Who is Ms Ok Joo Shin?

Ms Shin graduated Joongang the Presbyterian General Assembly Seminary and worked as a minister of SeoBook (West North) branch of Foreign Hapdong General Assembly in the Presbyterian Church of Korea. After her short ministry, Ms Shin was dispatched as a missionary to the People's Republic of China ("China"). In 2008, she founded the Grace Road Church. In August, 2009, she founded the Paul Academy. The 98th Heresy Prevention Commission of the Korean Presbyterian Church (Hapsin) published its report regarding the Grace Road Church. In this report, it describes heretical tendency of Ms Shin and the Grace Road Church. Also, It shows that the Grace Road Church (of which principal office is located at 159-9 Juamdong, Gwacheon-si, Gyeonggi-do, Republic of Korea

("Korea")) founded its branches in Daegu and Tokyo and made its sub-churches in Cheonan, Daejeon, Jinju, Ulsan, Daegu, Jeju of Korea, Osaka of Japan, Sydney of Australia, New York of USA and several places in China.

#### (2) Main Insistence of Grace Road Church

# 1) Insistence that the Holy Bible shall be translated into glossolalia

Ms Shin insists that the Holy Bible is a book of glossolalia. Ms Shin claims that the Holy Bible shall be translated into normal languages and that her translation is a kind of prophecy.

The Bible is a record of God's words written in glossolalia. People may not understand this, so, translation is required for understanding the Bible. I am the person who can do the translation of the Bible written in glossolalia. (Sermon given by Ms Shin on April 28th, 2013)

However, as we all know, the Bible is not written in glossolalia, so it does not require such translation. Ms Shin's insistence that the Bible shall be translated is similar to the insistence of many heretical and cult organizations. Many heresies, including Ms Shin's Grace Road Church, claim that they are the only organizations or persons who can translate and interprete the secrets of the Bible.

#### 2) Insistence that the Bible consists of metaphors and similes

In her 11th open seminar held during the period from August 22nd to 24th, 2011, Ms Shin explained a word mentioned in a few verses as a metaphor.

a 'simile' or a 'metaphor' means a word with several meanings similar to other words. It could mean a proverb, saying or description. Therefore, the Bible shall be translated for normal people, since it is written in many symbols and metaphors. In other words, the Bible requires accurate translation, since more metaphors used in the Bible means more ambiguousness. (147, "the Translation of Glossolalia and Glossolalia" (Grace Road Missionary), Ok Joo Shin.)

Professor Ho Ik Heo (former the advisory consultant of The Modern Religion Monthly) said that "Ms Shin's insistence on the Bible is just same as the other heresies' insistence on the Bible. The Holy Bible shall be simply interpreted with nearby contexts. Ms Shin's idea of the Bible and her denial of the traditional churches cause serious problems."

#### 3) The insistence that each era has each leader

Shincheonji Church (led by Mr. Man Hee Lee) claims that each era has each leader (messiah) and each leader is the only servant for God's works for such era. This is same with Ms Shin's insistence that she is the leader and servant of this age.

Chapter 15 Verse 26 of the John, the Bible quotes, "When the Counselor comes, whom I will send to you from the Father, the Spirit of truth who goes out from the Father, he will testify about me." This is the verse which proves our last 10 year history. The person mentioned in this prophecy is me! (Sermon given by Ms Shin on November 11th, 2018)

This is how Ms Shin deifies herself. Shincheonji Church, World Mission Society Church of God, Manmin Central Church, and Christian Gospel Mission (JMS) have used same method to deify their leaders, as Ms Shin does. Ms Shin brainwashes her followers in the same way.

#### 4) Jesus means a body and Christ means a spirit?

Ms Shin wrongfully separates Jesus from Christ. She claims that Jesus means personality and Christ means holiness. In her insistence, Jesus is a creature, not the God, and the Holy Father is only God.

Jesus is a person and Christ is a spirit. The Bible records Jesus's works. When I translate the Jesus's works in the Bible, it will mean the Christ. (53, "What I think is different from what you think," written by Ok Joo Shin)

Ms Shin divides Christ into three parts: holiness, spirit, and God. In her insistence, Jesus is a flesh with Christ. She claims that Christ entered into Jesus, the human flesh. However this is a wrongful interpretation and christology.

#### 5) Insistence that Fiji is only refuge from the great famine

Ms Shin claims that Fiji Island is only land where people flees from the days of trouble and the great famine. She encourages her followers to move to Fiji and to live in a group. She insists that movement to Fiji is to establish the millennium, the holy kingdom of the God. Around 400 followers are living in Fiji, right in this moment. Ms Shin quotes Chapter 10 Verse 6 of the Genesis "the Sons of Hams: Cush, Mizraim, put and Canaan." and claims that Fiji

island is the land at where the Ham and Cush's heirs live and the land of promise.

God gives Fiji Island as the land of promise. You shall neither laugh at nor criticize Fiji land. The land of promise shall be witnessed with your own eyes. Move to Fiji Island. In order to avoid troubles, you must go to Fiji Island (Sermon given by Ok Joo Shin, on November 27th, 2017)

Ms Shin's followers who moved to Fiji Island, with loyalty to Ms Shin, are living and working under the control of the Grace Road Church in Fiji Island, without any privacy nor personal life.

# 6) Grace Road Church insists that violence and assault are the religious ceremony.

The Grace Road Church's followers moved to Fiji Island with belief that they will survive in the days of troubles and the great famine. They gave up and assigned their passports and all of their property to the Grace Road Church. They work at least 14 hours in a day under the harsh control of the Grace Road Church. Also, the Grace Road Church makes its followers to have "threshing floor" to each other for confessing their sins. (For clearance, "threshing floor" means beating followers' cheek or head several times. The Grace Road Church treats this "threshing floor" as a cleansing ritual)

Arise, O Lord! Deliver me, O my God! Strike all my enemies on the jaw; break the teeth of the wicked (Psalms Chapter 3 Verse 7)

70. As my sins are as many as my hairs, we have to cut

our own hairs with repentance in accordance with the God's words. [(The Complete Revolution of the Grace Road Church 100)]

- 71. Paul cut his hair in Cenchrea, since he thought that his life and thoughts until that moment are trash and excreta. This hair cut means repentance. [(The Complete Revolution of the Grace Road Church 100)]
- 72. When a person cuts his own hair with a mind of repentance, God is pleased for such person who give himself as a son of God. [(The Complete Revolution of the Grace Road Church 100)]

Ms Shin interpreted verses in the Bible, such as Chapter 3 Verse 12 of Matthew and Chapter 3 Verse 17 of Luke, in a wrongful way. She said that God will find out true believers, as he separates wheats from chaffs. She defined God's such separation work as "threshing floors". In her theory, a person who survives and endures such violence is a wheat and true believer. In this horrendous ritual, a person confesses his/her own sins, people around him/her starts to beat and assault this person with abusive languages. Under this ritual, a mother beats her daughter, a daughter beats her mother, and mass violence occurs. This unethical and violent ritual was reported in many TV documentary shows, such as <Want to Know that> (Broadcasting Station: SBS) and <Kyu Hyun Lee's Spotlight> (Broadcasting Station: JTBC) in August, 2018.

#### (3) Recent Status of Grace Road Church

Ms Shin is serving her sentence for seven (7) years for her charges of confinement and violence against her followers. Such decision was

held on February 27th, (2020).

Followers of the Grace Road Church published a video insisting that Ms Shin is not guilty and she is serving in the prison without any sins, via YouTube on March 2nd, (2020). On April 24th, the Grace Road Church published a piece of writing named "Why COVID-19 breaks out" via its Facebook account. Under this piece of writing, the Grace Road Church claims Ms Shin's discharge, and it insists that the break-out of COVID-19 is caused by wrongful arrest and verdict against Ms Shin, the Holy Spirit. On April 29th, (2020), the Grace Road Church uploaded a petition for retrial of Ms Shin in website of the Korean Presidential Residence of Cheongwadae.

Ms Shin, a leader of the Grace Road Church makes her followers to move to Fiji, based on her wrongful interpretation of the Bible, and slaps and beats her followers under the theory of threshing floor. She is now serving her sentence, but her crimes are still making serious results. There shall be a rescue measure for followers in Fiji and their families.

# 16. 恩典之路教会

申玉珠主张在患难中唯一能够躲避的地方就是斐济,她用各种恶言和暴力蹂躏信徒生活,剥削他们的劳动力,这样的行为给社会带来诸多混乱。恩典之路教会被合神,高神,统合,合同等教派定为异端,禁止参与,异端性,禁止参与其集会。以"末世"这一信仰主题使信徒陷入虚晃之梦的恩典之路教会问题是什么呢?

#### (1) 申玉珠是谁?

申玉珠毕业于中央总会神学院,是大韩耶稣教长老会海外合同总会西北老会牧师。申玉珠曾被差派到中国宣教,2008年回韩国建立恩典之路教会,2009年8月开设保罗学校。第98届耶长合神异端对策委员会在异端对策报告书中记录,以京畿道果川注岩洞159-9为根据地活动。先后开拓大邱分院(大邱直辖市达西区梨谷洞荣耀第一教会),东京分院(米兹多爱的教会)等教会。他们自称在韩国天安,大田,全州,蔚山,大邱,济州岛等地建立教会,在国外他们在日本大阪,噢大利亚悉尼,美国纽约,中国内地建立支教会。

#### (2) 恩典之路教会主张什么?

#### 1) 主张圣经要通过方言翻译出来

申玉珠主张圣经就是方言,所以解释圣经就是翻方言,这就是预言,由此她把自己的圣经解释演化为预言。

圣经就是神所说的话语,由方言(话)组成,其他人无法听懂方言, 圣经的方言需要翻译。并不是任何人都可以翻方言,我可以翻方言。(2013年 4月 28日讲道)

圣经并不是方言,所以没有必要翻出来。这样的主张和那些要通过比喻和象征的方式解释圣经的异端并无两样。她认为只有自己和属于自己的人才拥有解释 圣经并解开这些奥秘的能力。

#### 2) 主张圣经就是比喻

2011年8月22-24日申玉珠通过一次公开研讨会,申玉珠对一个词进行了比喻解释,并解读了出现那个词的圣经中的多个句子。

比喻都是相似的话语组成,类似俗语或者格言。圣经是由象征和比喻记录的,因此需要翻译传达才能够明白其意思。神用比喻说话就相当于说了许多相似的话语,因此需要准确的翻译。(《翻方言与方言》147页)

许虎益教授(本刊前编辑咨询委员)批评说"她把互不相关的经文拉过来按着恣意解释,这与一些异端的比喻解释相同"并且"圣经要对照前后文简而易懂的解释,申玉珠在圣经观和圣经解释方面否定现有教会,这就是她的问题所在"。

#### 3) 每个时代都有神所高举使用的领袖

新天地主张每个时代都有神高举使用的领袖(救赎者),各时代都有按时喂粮的仆人。申玉珠也同样主张自己也是在这世代神所高举使用有见识的领袖。

约翰福音15:26 "但我要从父那里差保惠师来,就是从父出来真理的圣灵,他来了,就要为我作见证",这个话语证明我们过去10年的经历,按着这预言的话语被差来的就是我!(2018年11月11日讲道)

申玉珠与新天地,上帝的教会,万民中央教会,基督教福音宣教会等相同,她 把自己神格化,她也使用以神为名试图把自己偶像化的异端教主的方式洗脑教 众。

#### 4) 主张耶稣是肉体,基督是灵

申玉珠歪曲基督论,她把耶稣与基督分割理解,主张耶稣是人性、基督是神性,由此强调耶稣是被造物只有圣父才是神。

主张耶稣是肉体(人),基督是灵(神),圣经文字记录是耶稣的工作,解释其意就是基督。(《我的意念与你们的意念不同》53页) 申玉珠认为基督是神性,灵与神,因此他所认为基督道成肉身成为耶稣的主张 是错误的基督论,并且基督以灵进入被称为耶稣之人肉体里面的主张也是错误的。

#### 5) 预备大饥荒的地方就是斐济

申玉珠主张"为预备将要临到世上饥荒"储备粮食躲避末世的土地就是"斐济"。她煽动为躲避患难要去避难处斐济,并把信徒移居到斐济集体生活,其理由就是建设神的千年王国。400名信徒深信斐济就是神救赎之地移居到哪里,申玉珠根据创世记10:6把后裔(含,古实)生活的土地以南的岛国(斐济)当做应许之地。

神所赐的应许之地就是斐济,不要嘲笑和诽谤斐济,要亲眼看见应许之地,要移居到斐济,为躲避患难我们要赶往南太平洋的斐济。 (2017年11月27日讲道)

现在听从申玉珠的话移居到斐济的信徒,集体无偿在斐济务农。

#### 6) 打麦场就是宗教仪式

移居斐济岛的信徒签下了将财产移交给教会的保证书后,被没收所有的财产和护照,每天工作14小时,过着监狱一般的生活。他们通过被称为打麦场【编者注:打麦场是在恩典之路教会激烈扇耳光和击打头部的行为,信徒把这样的行为当做审判和宗教净化行为】的宗教仪式告白自己的罪。

耶和华啊,求你起来!我的神啊,求你救我!因为你打了我一切仇 敌的腮骨(诗3:7)

- 70. 我的罪如同头发一样多,因此顺从话语以悔改的心自己把头发剃光是符合圣经的行为。[恩典之路教会完整的改革100]
- 71. 使徒保罗在坚革哩剪头发是他把否定自己所有生活和想法当做排泄物的悔改行为。「恩典之路教会完整的改革100]
- 72. 以悔改自己罪恶的心把头发剪掉如同秃头的人,这是神作为神喜悦的儿女献上自己的行为。「恩典之路教会完整的改革100]

申玉珠通过比喻解释法解释马太福音3:12与路加福音3:17,把善恶比喻为稗子和麦子,把信徒和非信徒比喻为秕糠和麦子,给这些分类的地方就是"打麦场"。能够胜过这些殴打是麦子,大家围着告白罪的当事者,告白结束就进行辱骂和殴打,母亲打女儿,女儿扇母亲的耳光并辱骂,有些时候还进行群殴,恩典之路教会这些非伦理性行为在2018年8月SBS《想知道这些》栏目与JTBC《李奎延的聚光灯》栏目中相继播出。

#### (3) 恩典之路教会最近动向

因监禁殴打信徒嫌疑,恩典之路教会申玉珠于2020年2月27日被判入狱7年正在服刑。

恩典之路教会信徒在2020年3月2日通过YOUTUBE网站发表请求释放申玉珠的立场文,表明申玉珠是冤枉的。4月24日教会通过FaceBook发表题为《新冠肺炎为何发生》的文章,主张"是因为把真理的圣灵当做异端和邪教逼迫关进了监狱"并要求"立即撤回对圣灵申玉珠牧师与信徒们进行的一切非法裁判和不公平的判决"。他们把新冠肺炎与申玉珠的罪关联起来,并于4月29日在青瓦台国民请愿网页上要求对申玉珠7年的判决进行再审。

以预备末世避难所的名义把信徒移居到南太平洋斐济岛,以打麦场的名义对信徒进行辱骂和殴打的恩典之路教会申玉珠。有关量产各种社会问题的恩典之路教会的争论正在进行,因此急需为移居到斐济等待末世的信徒与其家人研究相应对策。

# 부록 : 교단별 이단 규정 현황

Appendix: List of Cults Classified by Korean Churches

附录: 对16个团体的异端规定现状

| 대표자(명칭) 및 단체명      | 교단   | 년도/회기        | 결의           | 결의내용                      |
|--------------------|------|--------------|--------------|---------------------------|
|                    | 통합   | 1995/80      | 이단           | 계시론, 신론, 기독론, 구원론, 종말론    |
|                    |      | 1995/80      | 신학적 비판 가치    |                           |
|                    | 합동   | 1993/60      | 없음           |                           |
| 이만희                |      | 2007/93      | 이단           | 교주신격화, 잘못된 성경 해석 등        |
| 이년의<br>  신천지교회     | 기성   | 1999/93      | 이단           | 계시론, 신론, 기독론, 구원론, 종말론    |
| 전전시교회<br>  무료성경신학원 | 합신   | 2003/88      | 이단           |                           |
| 구표경상산익천<br>        | 고신   | 2005/55      | 이단           | 대표자 이만희 씨가 직통계시자,         |
|                    | 1 22 | 고선   2005/55 | <b>∀</b> 1.0 | 보혜사라 주장                   |
|                    | 대신   | 2008/43      | 이단           |                           |
|                    | 기감   | 2014/31      | 이단           |                           |
|                    | 고려   | 1995/45      | 비성경성         | 유사기독교운동, 사이비기독교운동         |
|                    |      | 1995/45      | 관련자 적절한      |                           |
|                    | 고신   | 1333/43      | 권징           |                           |
| 류광수                |      | 1997/47      | 불건전 운동       |                           |
| 다락방전도운동            |      | 2013/63      | 이단 유지        | 잘못을 고치겠다고 했으나 좀 더 지켜보기로 함 |
| 예장전도총회             | 통합   | 1996/81      | 사이비성         | 이단적 성격을 띤 불건전한 운동, 마귀론,   |
|                    |      | 1996/81      | 이단           | 기성교회 부정적 비판, 다락방식 영접      |
|                    | 합동   | 2014/00      | 이단 재확인       | 이단 재확인, 관련자 공직 제한         |
|                    |      | 2014/99      | 관련자 징계       | 이런 제확한, 한한지 승역 제한         |

|               | 기성   | 1997/91 | 사이비운동    |                             |
|---------------|------|---------|----------|-----------------------------|
|               | 기침   | 1997/87 | 이단성      |                             |
|               | 기감   | 1998/23 | 이단       |                             |
| 구원파           | 기성   | 1985/79 | 이단사이비집단  |                             |
| 권신찬·유병언       | 고신   | 1991/41 | 이단       |                             |
| 기독교복음침례회      | 통합   | 1992/77 | 이단       | 깨달음에 의한 구원, 회개, 죄인문제        |
|               | 합동   | 2008/93 | 이단       |                             |
| 박옥수           |      | 1995/80 | 이단       |                             |
| 기쁜소식선교회       | 합신   |         | 이단 재확인   | 나다서 느여비 ㅇㄷ겨 밥밥 소여스 그여서      |
|               | [ 합인 | 2014/99 | 구원파와 같은  | 서달석, 노영채, 오도경 부부, 손영수, 구영석, |
| 이요한           |      |         | 이단 교리    | 김동성 구원파와 같은 이단 교리<br>       |
| 대한예수교침례회      | 기감   | 2014/31 | 이단       |                             |
|               | 투하   | 2002/87 | 반기독교적 이단 | 교리적 탈선, 성경해석의 오류, 왜곡된 구원관   |
| 안상홍           | 통합   | 2011/96 | 이단       | 반기독교적                       |
| 안상홍증인회 하나님의교회 | 합신   | 2003/88 | 이단       |                             |
| 하나님의교회        | 합동   | 2008/93 | 이단       |                             |
| 세계복음선교협회      | 고신   | 2009/59 | 이단       |                             |
|               | 기감   | 2014/31 | 이단       |                             |
| 윗트니스리         | 고신   | 1991/41 | 이단       | 신론, 기독론, 인간론, 교회론           |

| 지방교회<br>한국복음서원 | 통합 | 1991/76  | 이단                             |  |
|----------------|----|----------|--------------------------------|--|
|                |    | 2008/58  | 주의                             | 불건전  |
|                | 고신 | 2009/59  | 참여금지                           | 구원관, 계시관, 신사도적 운동 추구, 다림줄,<br>신학 및 교리 경시, 한국 교회를 폄하하는 발언 |
|                | 통합 | 2009/94  | 이단                             | 구원론, 입신, 예언, 방언 등 극단적인 신비주의<br>신앙 형태 등                   |
|                | 합동 | 2009/94  | 집회참석금지                         | 알미니안주의 혹은 신율법주의  |
| 변승우<br>사랑하는교회  | 백석 | 2009/94  | 제명처리, 출교,<br>주의, 경계,<br>집회참여금지 | 계시관, 성경관, 구원관, 교회관                                       |
| (구 큰믿음교회)      | 합신 | 2009/94  | 이단성이 있어<br>참여 및 교류금지           | 구원론, 직통계시, 기성 교회 비판                                      |
|                | 기성 | 2011/105 | 집회참여,<br>교류금지                  | 성서해석의 오류, 비성서적   |
|                |    | 2019/113 | 교류금지 유지                        |  |
|                | 예성 | 2012/91  | 이단                             | 구원관 변질, 개인체험에 의한 성경해석, 급진적<br>신비주의 추구                    |
|                | 기감 | 2014/31  | 예의주시                           |  |

|                      |       | 1971/56 | 사이비 종교   | 전통적인 신학사상과는 극단적으로 다름              |
|----------------------|-------|---------|----------|-----------------------------------|
|                      |       | 1975/60 | 불인정 집단   | 가입 금지, 관련신문·잡지에 투고 금지             |
|                      | 트 승니  | 1976/61 | 엄하게 치리   | 교단화합 교회사명에 장애를 줌, 단호히 경고          |
| 문선명                  | 통합    | 1979/64 | 기독교 아님   | 기독교를 가장한 사이비 종교 집단임               |
| 통일교                  |       | 1988/73 | 불매 운동    | 문선명 집단 관련제품 조사하여 불매운동 전개          |
| 세계평화통일가정연합           |       | 1989/74 | 조사 처벌    | 통일교와 관련자 철저히 조사 색출하여 치리           |
|                      | 대신    | 2008/93 | 이단       |                                   |
|                      | 고신    | 2009/59 | 이단       |                                   |
|                      | 기감    | 2014/31 | 이단       |                                   |
|                      | 고신    | 1991/41 | 이단       |                                   |
| 정명석(JMS)             | 통합    | 2002/87 | 반기독교적 이단 | 성경해석, 교회, 삼위일체, 부활, 그리스도의 재림      |
| 기독교복음선교회<br>국제크리스챤연합 | 합동    | 2008/93 | 이단       | 성경관, 부활·재림관, 구원관 등 전분야에서<br>반기독교적 |
|                      | 기감    | 2014/31 | 이단       |                                   |
|                      | 예장 총회 | 1915/4  | 면직 제명    | 구원론, 안식일, 계시론                     |
| 안식교                  | 통합    | 1995/80 | 이단       | 영혼멸절, 영원지옥부재 등                    |
| 제칠일안식일예수재림교회         | 고신    | 2009/59 | 이단       |                                   |
|                      | 기감    | 2014/31 | 이단       |                                   |

|               |     |          | T    |                              |
|---------------|-----|----------|------|------------------------------|
|               | 고신  | 1991/41  | 이단   | 본인의 신격화, 극단적 신비주의 추종         |
| 이초석           |     | 2009/59  | 100  |                              |
| 예수중심교회        | Ε'n | 1001/76  | OLEL | 성서론, 신론, 창조론, 인간론, 기독론, 구원론, |
| (구 한국예루살렘교회)  | 통합  | 1991/76  | 이단   | 귀신론                          |
|               | 기성  | 1994/88  | 이단   | ,,==                         |
|               | 예성  | 1990/69  | 이단   |                              |
|               | ΕŚL | 1000/04  | OLE  | 신론, 구원론, 인간론, 성령론, 교회론,      |
| 이재록           | 통합  | 1999/84  | 이단   | 종말(내세)론                      |
| 만민중앙교회        | 합신  | 2000/85  | 참석금지 |                              |
|               | 고신  | 2009/59  | 이단   |                              |
|               | 기감  | 2014/31  | 예의주시 |                              |
|               | 기성  | 1993/87  | 이단   | 그이르 그치르 되으ㅂ케 사이이테 ㅂ이         |
| <br>  여호와의 증인 | 고신  | 2009/59  | 이단   | - 구원론, 교회론, 지옥부재, 삼위일체 부인    |
|               | 트하  | 2014/00  | OLEP | 심각한 성경해석오류, 삼위일체 부인, 그리스도와   |
| 왕국회관<br>      | 통합  | 2014/99  | 이단   | 성령하나님 신성 부인, 지옥 부인, 행위구원 주장  |
|               | 기감  | 2014/31  | 이단   |                              |
|               | 합신  | 1995/80  |      | 삼위일체부인, 예수의 신성부인, 대속부인,      |
|               | 고신  | 2009/59  | 이단   | 지옥부인                         |
| 몰몬교           | Ε±ι | 204.4.02 | OLEI | 영적교만, 편협성, 성경의 권위 훼손, 하나님의   |
| 예수그리스도후기성도교회  | 통합  | 2014/99  | 이단   | 신성 부인, 조셉 스미스 신격화            |
|               | 기감  | 2014/31  | 이단   |                              |

|                   | 고신       | 2013/63  | 이단      | 삼위일체론, 기독론, 구원관                   |
|-------------------|----------|----------|---------|-----------------------------------|
|                   | 통합       | 2013/98  | 이단 사이비  | 양향빈 재림주, 삼위일체 부정                  |
| <br>  전능하신 하나님 교회 | 기감       | 2014/31  | 이단      |                                   |
| 동방번개              | 백석대신     | 2018/103 | 이단      | 성경의 완전성 부인, 충족성 부인, 성경으로서는        |
| 0001              | ㅋㅋ네건     | 2010/103 | 이런      | 구원받을 수 없다고 주장                     |
|                   | 합신       | 2018/103 | 이단 사이비  | 계시의 연속성 주장, 왜곡된 성경해석과 짜깁기,        |
|                   | 872      | 2010/103 | 이는 사이미  | 조유산 신격화 및 양향빈 재림 예수 주장            |
|                   | 기침       | 1987/77  | 이단      |                                   |
| 김기동               | 고신       | 1991/41  | 이단      | <br>- 신론, 기독론, 계시론, 창조론, 인간론, 사탄론 |
| 귀신론(베뢰아아카데미)      | 합동       | 1991/76  | 이단      | ] 전문, 기득분, 게시본, 8호분, 한한분, 시한분<br> |
| 기독교베뢰아교회연합        | 통합       | 1992/77  | 이단      |                                   |
|                   | 기감       | 2014/31  | 예의 주시   |                                   |
|                   | 합신       | 2014/00  | 이단      | 성경론, 성경해석, 기독론, 삼위일체론, 종말론이       |
|                   | 합선       | 2014/99  | 역단      | 이단성으로 가득                          |
| 신옥주               | 고신       | 2015/65  | 참여금지    |                                   |
| 은혜로교회             | 통합       | 2016/101 | 이단성     | 자의적인 성경관, 기독론적 심각한 오류, 독특한        |
| 바울사관아카데미          | <u> </u> | 2010/101 | 시민경     | 방언 해석, 목회자 폄하                     |
| 영적군사훈련원           | 합동       | 2016/101 | 집회참석금지  | 방언 해석 문제, 목회자 폄하, 이상한 기독론         |
|                   | 백석대신     | 2018/103 | 이단      | 성경관, 해석의 방법, 기독론, 삼위일체론, 구원론,     |
|                   | ㅋㅋ네건     | 2010/103 | '3   역단 | 교회론, 종말론                          |

| Leader and Name of<br>Organization              | Church   | Year/<br>Session | Decision                          | Details  |
|---|----------|------------------|-----------------------------------|--|
|   | Tonghap  | 1995/80          | Heresy                            | Wrongful theories on revelation, God, prayer, salvation and eschatology            |
|   | Hapdong  | 1995/80          | No theological worth to criticize |  |
| Man Hee Lee                                     | riapaong | 2007/93          | Heresy                            | Deification of leader Wrongful interpretation of Bible                             |
| Shincheonji Church of Jesus Free Bible Seminary | Kiseong  | 1999/93          | Heresy                            | Wrongful theories on revelation, God, prayer, salvation and eschatology            |
| Free bible Selfillary                           | Hapshin  | 2003/88          | Heresy                            |  |
|   | Koshin   | 2005/55          | Heresy                            | Insistence that Mr. Man Hee Lee receives direct revelation and he is the paraclete |
|   | Daeshin  | 2008/43          | Heresy                            |  |
|   | Kigam    | 2014/31          | Heresy                            |  |
| Kwang Soo Ryu                                   | Koryeo   | 1995/45          | Anti-Bible                        | Pseudo Christianity  |
| Darakbang Church                                | Koshin   | 1995/45          | Punishment to any                 |  |

|       | 1997/47     | related People Unwholesome movement Maintenance as Heresy | This Organization revealed that it will apologize for any erroneous interpretation, but we will watch over it for further period. |
|-------|-------------|---|---|
| Tong  | nap 1996/81 | Pseudo  | Unwholesome movement which has heretical  |
|       | 1996/81     | Heresy  | characteristics, demonology, criticism against traditional churches, Reception in the way of Cenacle                              |
| Hapd  | ong 2014/99 | Reconfirmation as Heresy Punishment of related people     | Reconfirmation as heresy Expulsion of related people from traditional denominations   |
| Kised | ong 1997/91 | Cult movement   |   |
| Kich  | im 1997/87  | Heretical   |   |
| Kiga  | m 1998/23   | Heresy  |   |

| Salvation Sect (Guwonpa) | Wi      | 1005/70        | Heresy/Cult       |   |
|--------------------------|---------|----------------|-------------------|---|
|                          | Kiseong | 1985/79        | Organization      |   |
| Shin Chan Kwon           | Koshin  | 1991/41        | Heresy            | Salvation, repentance and sin could be only |
| Byung Eon Yoo            | Tonghap | 1992/77        | Heresy            | realized by spiritual enlightenment         |
| (Evangelical Baptist     | Hapdong | 2008/93        | Heresy            |   |
| Church of Korea)         |         | 1995/80        | Heresy            |   |
| Church of Rolea)         |         |                | Reconfirmation    | Dal Suk Seo, Young Chae Noh, a couple of    |
| Ok Soo Park              | Hapshin | 2014/00        | as heresy         | Do Kyung Oh, Young Soo Son, Young Suk       |
|                          |         | 2014/99        | Heretical         | Koo, Dong Sung Kim are the imitators of the |
| (Good News Mission)      |         |                | doctrines         | Salvation Sect                              |
| Yohan Lee                | Kigam   | 2014/31        | Harasy            |   |
| (Life Word Mission)      | Rigaili | 2014/31 Heresy |                   |   |
|                          |         |                |                   | Deviation from traditional doctrines        |
| Sahnghong Ahn            |         | 2002/07        | Anti-Christianity | Francia interpretation of Rible             |
| Witness of Ahn Sahng     | Tonghap | 2002/87        | Heresy            | Errors in interpretation of Bible           |
| hong Church of God       |         |                |                   | Distortion of traditional view of salvation |
| World Mission Society    |         | 2011/96        | Heresy            | Anti-Christ                                 |
| Church of God            | Hapshin | 2003/88        | Heresy            |   |
|                          | Hapdong | 2008/93        | Heresy            |   |

|  | Koshin   | 2009/59 | Heresy   |  |
|--|----------|---------|--|--|
|  | Kigam    | 2014/31 | Heresy   |  |
| Witness Lee                              | Koshin   | 1991/41 | Heresy   | Was a ful destricts of Cod annual lumina   |
| Local Churches<br>Korea Gospel Book Room | Tonghap  | 1991/76 | Heresy   | Wrongful doctrines of God, prayers, human and church   |
|  |          | 2008/58 | Caution  | Unwholesome  |
| Seung Woo Byun<br>Beloved Church         | Koshin   | 2009/59 | Prohibition against participation in any event             | Wrongful doctrines of salvation, revelation New Aposolic Movement Doctrine of plumb line Negligent in theology and doctrines Criticism against traditional churches Extreme occultism (occult doctrines of |
| (Old Name: Big Faith                     | Tonghap  | 2009/94 | Heresy   | salvation, divinity, prophecy and dialect)   |
| Church)                                  | Hapdong  | 2009/94 | Prohibition against participation in any seminars/assembly | Arminianism or Neonomianism  |
|  | Baekseok | 2009/94 | Expulsion  | Wrongful view toward revelation, bible,  |

|         |          | Caution Alert Prohibition against participation in any event Prohibition against     | salvation, and church  Wrongful view toward salvation    |
|---------|----------|--|--|
| Hapshin | 2009/94  | participate and to exchange  | Direct revelation Criticism against traditional churches |
| Kiseong | 2011/105 | Prohibition against participate any seminar and to exchange Maintenance of status of | Errors in interpretation of bible Anti-Bible             |

|   |         |         | "Prohibition against   |  |
|---|---------|---------|--|--|
|   |         |         | exchange"  |  |
| Yeosung   | 2012/91 | Heresy  | Deteriorated view of salvation Interpretation of Bible based on personal experiences |  |
|   |         |         |  | Extreme mysticism/occultism  |
|   | Kigam   | 2014/31 | Observation  |  |
|   |         | 1971/56 | Cult/ Pseudo organization  | Extremely different from traditional theology  |
| Sun Myung Moon Unification Church                       | Tonghon | 1975/60 | Non-recognition  | Prohibition against joining in Prohibition against writing any articles related to this organization |
| Family Federation for<br>World Peace and<br>Unification | Tonghap | 1976/61 | Strictly Warning   | Strictly warning It gives serious dishonor to the traditional christianity and churches              |
|   |         | 1979/64 | No Christianity  | Cult / Pseudo organization in the guise of Christianity  |

|                                     |          | 1988/73 | Boycott                      | Boycott of all products related to Sun Myung Moon   |
|-------------------------------------|----------|---------|------------------------------|---|
|                                     | 1989/74  | 1989/74 | Investigation/<br>Punishment | Investigate and find out any person related to the Unification Church and punish them (expulsion) |
|                                     | Daeshin  | 2008/93 | Heresy                       |   |
|                                     | Koshin   | 2009/59 | Heresy                       |   |
|                                     | Kigam    | 2014/31 | Heresy                       |   |
|                                     | Koshin   | 1991/41 | Heresy                       |   |
| Myung Seok Jung (JMS)               | T        | 2002/07 | Anti-Christ                  | Wrongful interpretation of Bible, church, Holy  |
| Christian Gospel Mission            | Tonghap  | 2002/87 | Heresy                       | Trinity, and the Second Coming of Christ  |
| International Christain Association | Hapdong  | 2008/93 | Heresy                       | Anti-Christ theories on bible, resurrection, the second coming of Christ, and salvation           |
|                                     | Kigam    | 2014/31 | Heresy                       |   |
|                                     | Yejang   |         | Diaminos                     | Washer the same of solution solution and  |
| Adventist Church                    | General  | 1915/4  | Dismissal                    | Wrongful theory of salvation, sabbath, and  |
| Seventh Day Advetist                | Assembly |         | Expulsion                    | revelation  |
| Church                              | Tonghap  | 1995/80 | Heresy                       | Annihilationism  Conditional Immortality  |

|                         | Koshin     | 2009/59     | Heresy           |   |
|-------------------------|------------|-------------|------------------|---|
|                         | Kigam      | 2014/31     | Heresy           |   |
| Cornerstone Lee         | l/ a alain | 1991/41     | 110,000          | Deification of leader                       |
|                         | Koshin     | 2009/59     | Heresy           | Extreme occultism                           |
| (Choseok Lee)           |            |             |                  | Wrongful theory on Bible, God, creation,    |
| Jesus Centered Church   | Tonghap    | 1991/76     | Heresy           | human, prayer, and salvation                |
| (Former Korea Jerusalem |            |             |                  |   |
| Church)                 |            |             |                  | Demonology                                  |
| Churchy                 | Kiseong    | 1994/88     | Heresy           |   |
|                         | Yeseong    | 1990/69     | Heresy           |   |
|                         | T l        | nap 1999/84 | /84 Heresy       | Wrongful theory on God, salvation, human,   |
|                         | Tonghap    |             |                  | Holy Spirit, church and eschatology         |
|                         |            |             | Prohibition      |   |
| Jae Rock Lee            |            |             | against          |   |
| Manmin Central Church   | Hapshin    | 2000/85     | participation in |   |
|                         |            |             | any event        |   |
|                         | Koshin     | 2009/59     | Heresy           |   |
|                         |            |             | Observation      |   |
|                         | Kigam      | 2014/31     | Observation      |   |
| Jehovah's Wintesses     | Kiseong    | 1993/87     | Heresy           | Wrongful soteriology and ecclesiology       |
| Kingdom Hall            | Koshin     | 2009/59     | Heresy           | No existence of hell Denial of Holy Trinity |

|                      | Kigam    | 2014/31 | Heresy | Deification of Joseph Smith                     |
|----------------------|----------|---------|--------|---|
|                      |          |         |        | Denial of God's divinity                        |
| Saints               | Tonghap  | 2014/99 | Heresy | Intolerance                                     |
| Christ of Latter Day |          |         |        | Distortion of Bible's authority                 |
| The Church of Jesus  |          |         |        | Spiritual arrogance,                            |
| Mormonism            |          |         |        | Denial of existence of hell                     |
|                      | Koshin   | 2009/59 | Heresy | Denial of Redemption                            |
|                      |          |         |        | Denial of divinity of Jesus Christ              |
|                      | Hapshin  | 1995/80 |        | Denial of Trinity                               |
|                      | Kigam    | 2014/31 | Heresy |   |
|                      |          |         |        | acts of followers                               |
|                      |          |         |        | Insistence that Salvation is only acquired by   |
|                      | 12.18.16 |         | ,      | Denial of existence of hell                     |
|                      | Tonghap  | 2014/99 | Heresy | and God   |
|                      |          |         |        | Denial of divinity of Jesus Christ, Holy Spirit |
|                      |          |         |        | Denial of Holy Trinity                          |
|                      |          |         |        | Serious errors in interpretation of Bible       |

|   | 1        | 1        | T           | T  |
|---|----------|----------|-------------|--|
|   | Koshin   | 2013/63  | Heresy      | Wrongful theories on Holy Trinity, prayer, and salvation |
|   |          |          |             |  |
|   |          |          |             | Leader Yang is treated as the second coming              |
|   | Tonghap  | 2013/98  | Heresy/Cult | Christ   |
|   |          |          |             | Denial of Holy Trinity                                   |
| The Church of Almighty                  | Kigam    | 2014/31  | Heresy      |  |
| God                                     | Baekseok | 2018/103 | Heresy      | Denial of integrity and completeness of Bible            |
| (Eastern Lightning)                     | daeshin  | 2010/103 | Tieresy     | Insistence that Bible cannot save believers              |
| (====================================== |          |          |             | Continuance of revelations is insisted                   |
|   |          |          |             | Distorted interpretation of Bible                        |
|   | Hapshin  | 2018/103 | Heresy/Cult | Deification of another Leader Cho                        |
|   |          |          |             | Leader Yang is treated as the second coming              |
|   |          |          |             | Christ   |
| Ki Dong Kim                             | Kichim   | 1987/77  | Heresy      |  |
| Ghost Theory (Berea                     | Koshin   | 1991/41  | Heresy      |  |
| Academy)                                | Hapdong  | 1991/76  | Heresy      | Wrongful doctrines of God, prayer, revelation,           |
|   | Tonghap  | 1992/77  | Heresy      | creation, human race, and satan.                         |
| World Berea Church Fellowship           | Kigam    | 2014/31  | Observation |  |

|  | Hapshin             | 2014/99  | Heresy  | Heretical theory of Bible, prayer, Holy Trinity, Eschatology   |
|--|---------------------|----------|---|--|
|  | Koshin              | 2015/65  | Prohibition against Participation in any seminar and assembly |  |
| Ok Joo Shin<br>Graceroad Church<br>Paul Academy<br>Spiritual Military Training | Tonghap             | 2016/101 | Heretical   | Arbitrary view on Bible Serious error in doctrines of prayers Special dialect interpretation Criticism against pastors/ministers in other denomination |
| Center   | Hapdong             | 2016/101 | Prohibition against participation in any assembly             | Serious problem in interpretation of Bible,<br>Criticism against pastors/ministers in other<br>denomination Strange doctrine of prayer                 |
|  | Baekseok<br>daeshin | 2018/103 | Heresy  | Wrongful doctrines of bible, interpretation, prayers, Holy Trinity, salvation, church, and eschatology   |

| 代表者(名称)与团体名    | 教团 | 年度/会期   | 决议               | 决议内容                   |
|----------------|----|---------|------------------|------------------------|
|                | 统合 | 1995/80 | 异端               | 启示论,神论,基督论,救赎论,末世论     |
|                |    | 1005/00 | 没有神学             |                        |
|                | 合同 | 1995/80 | 批评的价值            |                        |
| <br>  李万熙      |    | 2007/93 | 异端               | 教主神格化,错误的圣经解释等         |
| チガ点<br>  新天地教会 | 基圣 | 1999/93 | 异端               | 启示论,神论,基督论,救赎论,末世论     |
| (免费圣经神学院)      | 合神 | 2003/88 | 异端               |                        |
|                | 高神 | 2005/55 | 异端               | 代表者李万熙接受直接启示的主张,       |
|                | 回州 | 2000/00 | <del>//</del> /m | 李万熙是保惠师的主张             |
|                | 大神 | 2008/43 | 异端               |                        |
|                | 基监 | 2014/31 | 异端               |                        |
|                | 高丽 | 1995/45 | 不符合圣经            | 类似基督教运动,邪教基督教运动        |
|                |    | 1995/45 | 有关人权惩            |                        |
| <br>  柳光洙 ,    | 高神 | 1997/47 | 不健全运动            |                        |
|                |    | 2013/63 | 维持异端判定           | 虽说是要改正错误,但似乎还有待观察。     |
| 耶稣教长老会传道总会     | 统合 | 1996/81 | 邪教性              | 有异端性不健康运动,             |
|                |    | 1996/81 | 异端               | 魔鬼论,对现有教会无端批评,马可楼式信仰告白 |
|                | 合同 |         |                  |                        |
|                |    | 2014/99 | 重申异端,            | 重申异端,有关人限制圣职           |

|              |       |         | <b>右分</b> 1 扣征 |   |
|--------------|-------|---------|----------------|---|
|              |       |         | 有关人权惩          |   |
|              | 基圣    | 1997/91 | 邪教运动           |   |
|              | 基浸    | 1997/87 | 异端性            |   |
|              | 基监    | 1998/23 | 异端             |   |
| 救赎派(救恩派)     | 基圣    | 1985/79 | 异端邪教集团         |   |
| 权欣赞•柳炳言      | 高神    | 1991/41 | 异端             | ,<br> <br>  日有恐柄性有数略、性结构处不能很数、生真真耳      |
| (基督教福音浸礼会)   | 统合    | 1992/77 | 异端             | · 只有领悟才有救赎,持续悔改不能得救,告白自己<br>· 是罪人就不能得救, |
|              | 合同    | 2008/93 | 异端             | , 定非人就们能待效 ,<br>                        |
| 朴玉珠          |       | 1995/80 | 异端             |   |
| (好消息宣教会)     | 合神    | 2014/99 | 重申异端,          | 徐达石,卢荣采,吴道京夫妇,孙英秀,具永锡,                  |
|              |       | 2014/99 | 与救赎派一样的教义      | 金东圣,他们主张跟救赎派一样的教义                       |
| 李约翰          | # 115 | 0014/01 | <b>三</b>       |   |
| (大韩耶稣教浸礼会)   | 基监    | 2014/31 | 异端<br>         |   |
|              | 4± 🛆  | 2002/87 | 反基督教异端         | 脱离教义,圣经解释的错误,歪曲的救赎观                     |
| 安商洪          | 统合    | 2011/96 | 异端             | 反基督教性                                   |
| 安商洪证人会上帝的教会, | 合神    | 2003/88 | 异端             |   |
| 上帝的教会,       | 合同    | 2008/93 | 异端             |   |
| 世界福音宣教协会     | 高神    | 2009/59 | 异端             |   |
|              | 基监    | 2014/31 | 异端             |   |

| 李常受      | 高神    | 1991/41  | 异端           |                                 |
|----------|-------|----------|--------------|---------------------------------|
| 地方教会 ,   |       |          |              | 神论,基督论,人伦,教会论                   |
| 韩国福音书院   | 统合    | 1991/76  | 异端           |                                 |
|          |       | 2008/58  | 需要注意         | 不健康                             |
|          | 高神    | 2009/59  | 禁止参加         | 救赎观, 启示观, 追求新使徒运动, 准绳, 轻视       |
|          |       | 2009/39  | 示止           | 正统神学和教义,贬低韩国教会的发言               |
|          | /÷ ^  | 0000 /04 | э.ш.         | 救赎论,通灵,预言,方言等极端神秘主义信仰形          |
|          | 统合    | 2009/94  | 异端<br>       | 态                               |
|          | 合同    | 2009/94  | 禁止参加集会       | 亚米念主义或新律法主义                     |
|          |       |          | 除名处理,        |                                 |
| 卞胜宇      | 白石    | 2009/94  | │<br>│除教,注意, | <br>  启示观,圣经观,救赎观,教会观           |
| 相爱的教会    |       |          | 警戒,禁止参加集会    |                                 |
| (旧大信心教会) | 合神    | 2009/94  | 有异端性,禁止参与    | 数時週 - 直接巨子 - 计现 <b>与</b> 数人工端批逐 |
|          | 口加中   | 2009/94  | 。禁止交流        | 救赎观,直接启示,对现有教会无端批评<br>          |
|          |       | 2011/105 | 禁止参与,        | │<br>│圣经解释的错误,非圣经               |
|          | 基圣    | 2011/100 | 禁止交流         | 全经所样的组误,并全经<br>                 |
|          |       | 2019/113 | 维持禁止交流       |                                 |
|          | HII 🗸 | 2012/01  | 己地           | 变质救赎观,用个人的体验解释圣经,追求极端神          |
|          | 耶圣    | 2012/91  | │ 异端<br>│    | 秘主义                             |
|          | 基监    | 2014/31  | 严加警戒         |                                 |

|                           |      | 1971/56 | 邪教      | 与传统神学思想极端不同             |
|---------------------------|------|---------|---------|-------------------------|
|                           |      |         |         |                         |
|                           |      | 1975/60 | 不承认团体   | 禁止加入,禁止向有关他们的报纸投稿       |
| <br>  文鲜明                 | 统合   | 1976/61 | 严加惩戒    | 给教团和谐和教会的使命造成障碍,坚决警告    |
| X = + +0 ]                | 乳口   | 1979/64 | 不是基督教   | 冒充基督教的邪教集团              |
| /A +//                    |      | 1988/73 | 不买运动    | 调查文鲜明集团相关产品,展开抵制 销售运动   |
| 统一教<br> <br>  世界和平统一家庭联合会 |      | 1989/74 | 调查惩戒    | 彻底调查与统一教有关的人士 , 查出后进行惩戒 |
| 世乔州十统一家庭联立云<br>           | 大神   | 2008/93 | 异端      |                         |
|                           | 高神   | 2009/59 | 异端      |                         |
|                           | 基监   | 2014/31 | 异端      |                         |
| VRRD LD (TVO)             | 高神   | 1991/41 | 异端      |                         |
| 郑明锡(JMS)<br>基督教福音宣教会,     | 统合   | 2002/87 | 反基督教性异端 | 圣经解释,教会,三位一体,复活,基督的再临   |
| 基自教幅自旦教云 ,<br>  国际基督徒联合   | 合同   | 2008/93 | 异端      | 圣经观,复活观,再临观等 方面完全反基督教   |
|                           | 基监   | 2014/31 | 异端      |                         |
|                           | 耶长总会 | 1915/4  | 免职,除名   | 救赎论,安息日,启示论             |
| 安息日会                      | 统合   | 1995/80 | 异端      | 灵魂灭绝,永远地狱不存在            |
| 第七日安息日耶稣复临教会              | 高神   | 2009/59 | 异端      |                         |
|                           | 基监   | 2014/31 | 异端      |                         |

| 李础石          | 高神  | 1991/41 | 异端   | 自己神格化,追求极端性神秘主义                       |
|--------------|-----|---------|--|---------------------------------------|
|              | 回炉  | 2009/59 | <del>/  *</del>   <br>                           | 自己种格化,这水饭精性种物生人                       |
| <br>  耶稣中心教会 | 统合  | 1991/76 | 异端   | 圣经论,神论,创造论,人伦,基督论,救赎论,                |
| (旧耶路撒冷教会)    | り   | 1991/10 | <del>/                                    </del> | 魔鬼论                                   |
| (旧郊町駅/198五)  | 基圣  | 1994/88 | <br>  异端   |                                       |
|              |     | 1001,00 |  |                                       |
|              | 耶圣  | 1990/69 | 异端   |                                       |
| <br>  李载禄    | 统合  | 1999/84 | 异端   | 神论,救赎论,人伦,圣灵论,教会论,末世论(                |
| 子 \$1.7水<br> | シルロ | 1333/04 | <del>//</del> /m                                 | 来世论)                                  |
|              | 合神  | 2000/85 | 禁止参与   |                                       |
| 万民中央教会<br>   | 高神  | 2009/59 | 异端   |                                       |
|              | 基监  | 2014/31 | 严加警戒   |                                       |
|              | 基圣  | 1993/87 | 异端   | ************************************* |
| 耶和华见证人       | 高神  | 2009/59 | 异端   | · 救赎论,教会论,地狱不存在,否认三位一体<br>            |
|              |     |         |  | 严重的圣经解释错误 , 否认三位一体,                   |
| 王国会馆         | 统合  | 2014/99 | 异端   | 否认基督和圣灵的神性,否认地狱的存在,主张行                |
|              |     |         |  | 为得救                                   |
|              | 基监  | 2014/31 | 异端   |                                       |
| 摩门教          | 合神  | 1995/80 |  | 否认三位一体,否认耶稣的神性,否认耶稣的代赎                |
|              | 高神  | 2009/59 | 异端   | , 否认地狱的存在                             |

| 耶稣基督后期圣徒教会  | 统合   | 2014/99  | 异端      | 灵性骄傲,狭隘性,破坏圣经权威,<br>否认神的神性,约瑟夫•史密斯神格化             |
|-------------|------|----------|---------|---|
|             | 基监   | 2014/31  | 异端      |   |
|             | 高神   | 2013/63  | 异端      | 三位一体论,基督论,救赎观                                     |
|             | 统合   | 2013/98  | 异端 , 邪教 | 再临主杨向彬 , 否认三位一体                                   |
|             | 基监   | 2014/31  | 异端      |   |
| 全能神教会 东方闪电  | 白石大神 | 2018/103 | 异端      | 否认圣经的完整性和充足性,通过圣经不能得救                             |
|             | 合神   | 2018/103 | 异端 , 邪教 | 主张启示的连续性,歪曲圣经解释,<br>随私意解说的,赵维山神格化,主张杨向彬是再临<br>的耶稣 |
| 金基东         | 基浸   | 1987/77  | 异端      |   |
|             | 高神   | 1991/41  | 异端      |   |
| 庇哩亚学院       | 合同   | 1991/76  | 异端      |   |
|             | 统合   | 1992/77  | 异端      | ↑神论,基督论,启示论,创造论,人伦,撒旦论<br>┃<br>┃                  |
| 基督教庇哩亚教会联合会 | 基监   | 2014/31  | 严加警戒    |   |

| 申玉珠         | 合神   | 2014/99  | 异端     | 圣经论,<br>圣经解释,基督论,三位一体论,末世论等异端性<br>极大  |
|-------------|------|----------|--------|---------------------------------------|
|             | 高神   | 2015/65  | 禁止参与   |                                       |
| 保罗军官学校      | 统合   | 2016/101 | 异端性    | 恣意解释圣经, 基督论的严重错误,<br>独特的方言解释,贬低牧会者    |
| 灵性军事训练院<br> | 合同   | 2016/101 | 禁止参加集会 | 方言解释的问题 , 贬低牧会者,非正常的基督论               |
|             | 白石大神 | 2018/103 | 异端     | 圣经观,圣经解释的问题,基督论,三位一体论,<br>救赎论,教会论,末世论 |

값 10,000원



ISBN 978-89-85200-17-2 (PDF)